

# RIKEN IMS Annual Report 2017

**RIKEN** Center for Integrative Medical Sciences

## **RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences Organization Chart**



### **Core for Homeostatic Regulation**

### — Lab. for Cell Signaling: Takashi Saito

- Lab. for Lymphocyte Differentiation: Tomohiro Kurosaki
- Lab. for Transcriptional Regulation: Ichiro Taniuchi
- Lab. for Immune Cell Systems: Shigeo Koyasu
- Lab. for Human Disease Models: Fumihiko Ishikawa
- Lab. for Intestinal Ecosystem: Hiroshi Ohno
- Lab. for Mucosal Immunity: Sidonia Fagarasan
- Lab. for Gut Homeostasis: Kenya Honda

| <br>Lab. for Immune Homeostasis: Taishin Akiyama |
|--|
| <br>- Lab. for Skin Homeostasis: Masayuki Amagai |
| Lab. for Metabolic Homeostasis: Naoto Kubota     |
| <br>Lab. for Immune Crosstalk: Hilde Cheroutre   |
| Lab. for Inflammatory Regulation: Takashi Tanaka |
| Lab. for Cytokine Regulation: Masato Kubo        |
| Lab. for Innate Immune Systems: Kazuyo Moro      |

### Core for Precise Measuring and Modeling

- Lab. for Developmental Genetics: Haruhiko Koseki
- Lab. for Integrative Genomics: Osamu Ohara
- Lab. for Disease Systems Modeling: Hiroaki Kitano
- Lab. for Medical Science Mathematics: **Tatsuhiko Tsunoda**
- Lab. for Immunogenetics: Tadashi Yamamoto

| ——— Lab. for Integrated Bioinformatics: Todd Duane Taylo | r |
|--|---|
| ——— Lab. for Tissue Dynamics: <b>Takaharu Okada</b>      |   |
| ——— Lab. for Integrated Cellular Systems: Mariko Okada   |   |
| —— Lab. for Metabolomics: Makoto Arita                   |   |
| Lab for Microbiomo Sciences Masahira Hattori             |   |

### **Core for Genomic Medicine**

- Lab. for Genotyping Development: Yukihide Momozawa
- Lab. for Genome Sequencing Analysis: Hidewaki Nakagawa
- Lab. for Statistical Analysis: Yoichiro Kamatani
- Lab. for Pharmacogenomics: Taisei Mushiroda
- Lab. for International Alliance on Genomic Research: Taisei Mushiroda
- Lab. for Cardiovascular Diseases: **Kaoru Ito**



### **Program for Medical Innovations**

- Lab. for Immune Regulation: Masaru Taniguchi
- Lab. for Immunotherapy: Shin-ichiro Fujii

— Drug Discovery Antibody Platform Unit: Toshitada Takemori

### Young Chief Investigator Program

- YCI Laboratory for Immune Regeneration: Tomokatsu Ikawa
- YCI Laboratory for Cellular Bioenergetic Network:

### Toshimori Kitami

YCI Laboratory for Next-Generation Proteomics: Yibo Wu

YCI Laboratory for Trans-omics: Katsuyuki Yugi
YCI Laboratory for Immunological Transcriptomics:

Hideyuki Yoshida

## Contents

| Organization | Ι |
|--------------|---|
| Contents     | Π |

Director's Report ..... IV

I

### Part 1 **Research Highlights**

| Alternative pathway for NKT cell development             |   |
|--|---|
| Six new genetic loci associated with atrial fibrillation |   |
| are identified in the Japanese population                | 3 |
| Mast cells are crucial for induction of group 2          |   |
| innate lymphoid cells and clearance of helminth          |   |
| infections   | 4 |
| Mapping disease genes to immune cells                    |   |
| New link between Polycomb and Xist RNA for X             |   |
| chromosome inactivation                                  | 6 |
| BATF is a critical regulator of regulatory T cells       |   |
| in peripheral tissues                                    | 7 |
|  |   |

| Genome-wide association study reveals the                |
|--|
| involvement of B lymphocytes in obesity 8                |
| Ectopically colonized oral bacteria may induce           |
| inflammatory bowel disease                               |
| Activation of immune T cells leads to behavioral         |
| changes 10   |
| Blocking key pathways is a way to defeat cancer cells 11 |
| New asthma risk loci have been identified and            |
| found to colocalize with immune cell <i>cis</i> -acting  |
| regulatory elements 12                                   |
|  |

### Part 2 Lab Activities

| Core for Homeostatic Regulation 14           |
|--|
| Laboratory for Cell Signaling 15             |
| Laboratory for Lymphocyte Differentiation 16 |
| Laboratory for Transcriptional Regulation 17 |
| Laboratory for Immune Cell Systems 18        |
| Laboratory for Human Disease Models 19       |
| Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem 20       |
| Laboratory for Mucosal Immunity 21           |
| Laboratory for Gut Homeostasis 22            |
| Laboratory for Immune Homeostasis 23         |
| Laboratory for Skin Homeostasis 24           |
| Laboratory for Metabolic Homeostasis 25      |
| Laboratory for Immune Crosstalk 26           |
| Laboratory for Inflammatory Regulation 27    |
| Laboratory for Cytokine Regulation 28        |
| Laboratory for Innate Immune Systems 29      |
| Core for Precise Measuring and Modeling 30   |
| Laboratory for Developmental Genetics 31     |
| Laboratory for Integrative Genomics          |
| Laboratory for Disease Systems Modeling 33   |
|  |

| Laboratory for Medical Science Mathematics          |
|---|
| Laboratory for Immunogenetics                       |
| Laboratory for Integrated Bioinformatics            |
| Laboratory for Tissue Dynamics                      |
| Laboratory for Integrated Cellular Systems          |
| Laboratory for Metabolomics                         |
| Core for Genomic Medicine 40                        |
| Laboratory for Genotyping Development 41            |
| Laboratory for Genome Sequencing Analysis 42        |
| Laboratory for Statistical Analysis 43              |
| Laboratory for Pharmacogenomics 44                  |
| Laboratory for Cardiovascular Diseases 45           |
| Laboratory for Autoimmune Diseases                  |
| Laboratory for Digestive Diseases 47                |
| Laboratory for Bone and Joint Diseases 48           |
| Laboratory for Endocrinology, Metabolism and        |
| Kidney Diseases 49                                  |
| Laboratory for Respiratory and Allergic Diseases 50 |
| Program for Medical Innovations 51                  |
| Laboratory for Immune Regulation                    |

| Laboratory for Immunotherapy 53                     |   |
|---|---|
| Drug Discovery Antibody Platform Unit 54            |   |
| Young Chief Investigator Program                    |   |
| YCI Laboratory for Immune Regeneration 55           |   |
| YCI Laboratory for Cellular Bioenergetic Network 56 | , |
| YCI Laboratory for Trans-omics 57                   |   |
| YCI Laboratory for Immunological                    |   |
| Transcriptomics                                     |   |
| YCI Laboratory for Next-Generation Proteomics 59    |   |
| Central Facilities                                  |   |
| FACS Laboratory                                     | , |
|   |   |

| Confocal Laboratory                           | 60 |
|---|----|
| Genomics Laboratory                           | 61 |
| Animal Facility                               | 61 |
| Other Programs                                |    |
| RIKEN International Program Associate (IPA)   | 62 |
| RIKEN Foreign Postdoctoral Researcher (FPR)   |    |
| Program                                       | 62 |
| RIKEN Junior Research Associate (JRA) Program | 62 |
| RIKEN Special Postdoctoral Researcher (SPDR)  |    |
| Program                                       | 62 |
|   |    |

### Part 3 Research Projects

### Projects

| iPS project 64                          |
|---|
| Medical Sciences Innovation Hub Program |
| (MIH) 64                                |
| Integrated omics approach to elucidate  |
| the impact of the gut microbiome        |
| on the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes  |
| NKT cell projects                       |

| Linkage to RIKEN Program for Drug Discovery               |    |
|---|----|
| and Medical Technology Platforms (DMP)                    | 66 |
| PGRN-RIKEN IMS Project                                    | 66 |
| Collaboration with Asian institutes and SEAPharm $\ldots$ | 67 |
| International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC)             |    |
| and PCAWG   | 67 |
| Humanized mouse   | 68 |
| Award Winners 2017  | 68 |
|   |    |

### Part 4 **Events**

| RIKEN IMS Summer Program (RISP) 2017                | С |
|---|---|
| The IMS-JSI International Symposium on              |   |
| Immunology 2017                                     | С |
| 14th/15th PGRN-RIKEN Strategic Alliance Meetings 71 | 1 |
| RIKEN IMS-Luxembourg FNR Joint Symposium            | 1 |
|   |   |

| Tsinghua-RIKEN Joint Symposium on Immunology |    |
|--|----|
| and Immunotherapy                            | 72 |
| RIKEN IMS-McGill Symposium                   | 72 |
| Harvard Summer School 2017                   | 73 |
| Adjunct Professorship Programs               | 73 |
| Guest lectures 2017                          | 74 |
|  |    |

### Part 5 Data and Statistics

| Publications 2017             | 76 |
|-------------------------------|----|
| Budget, personnel and patents | 84 |

| Access to RIKEN Yokohama Campus | 8 | 85 |
|---------------------------------|---|----|
|                                 |   |    |

## **Director's Report**



Just over two years have passed since I became Director of the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences (IMS) in October 2015.

2017 was the last year of our center's five-year mid-term plan. RIKEN IMS was established in 2013 through the merging of two former centers, the Research Center for Allergy and Immunology and the Center for Genomic Medicine. The aim of the new center was to contribute to future medical care through establishment of innovative medical science by clarifying the mechanisms of disease development through a combination of genomic, immunological and omics analysis approaches. Looking back, I believe that we have achieved this aim but it is only the first of many steps to come as we strive towards our long-term goal of contributing to the next generation of medical science leading to a healthy longlived society.

Examples of how IMS researchers are driving innovative multidisciplinary science and laying the foundation for the next IMS mid-term plan include Kazuhiko Yamamoto's work on rheumatoid arthritis, a complex multi-genetic autoimmune disease, and Shin-ichiro Fujii's work on cell therapeutics. By using the results from genome-wide association studies (GWAS), Dr. Yamamoto's team studied how the associated genes in human were involved in disease pathogenesis by combing molecular biology approaches and animal disease models, essentially transforming one type of research (GWAS) to another (mechanistic). Dr. Fujii's laboratory launched a clinical trial study on NKT cell therapy for early stage lung cancer patients in collaboration with the National Hospital Organization. In addition, his group is investigating novel drug delivery systems that have the potential to enhance antitumor immunity, and efforts are currently underway for preclinical studies that could ultimately lead to clinical trials. Such translational research, or application of basic immunology research towards disease therapy, is an area that IMS plans to strengthen in the coming years, especially in the treatment of cancer and development of

the field of cancer immunology.

From the feedback we received at the IMS Advisory Council Meeting held in September 2016, and the RIKEN Advisory Council meeting held in December 2016, we began to plan for the second five-year center term that starts in April 2018. While both advisory councils agreed that IMS has made many important scientific contributions in the areas of immunology and genomics, they felt our center could make even more significant advances through the addition of a translational regulation division, specifically the Division of Genomic Technologies (DGT) led by Piero Carninci. We agreed that the inclusion of DGT would have a strong synergistic effect on our center's original goal to establish innovative medical research through multidisciplinary approaches, and I am happy to announce that, as of April 1, 2018, they will become part of the new IMS center. New collaborations and partnerships are already forming, and I look forward to seeing the unfolding of new research fields, platforms and technologies that result from this merger of complimentary expertises.

One program I am quite proud of is the IMS Young Chief Investigator (YCI) program. This program was established in 2011 with the hopes of nurturing young scientists who will become future leaders in multidisciplinary research. This year we welcomed two new scientists, Katsuyuki Yugi who heads the YCI Laboratory for Trans-omics, and Yibo Wu who heads the YCI Laboratory for Next-Generation Proteomics. Moreover, as demonstration of this program's success, Tomokatsu Ikawa, former head of the YCI Laboratory for Immune Regeneration, became an Associate Professor in Immunobiology at Tokyo University of Science.

Our researchers continued to perform outstanding research and publish papers in significant journals in 2017. Kenya Honda reported that TH1 cell induction and inflammation is driven by ectopic colonization of oral bacteria in the intestine (*Science*, 2017). Sidonia Fagarasan reported that brain monoamines and emotional behavior is perturbed in PD-1-deficient mice through metabolic shift induced by systemic activation of T cells (*Nature Immunology*, 2017). Fumihiko Ishikawa reported that inhibition of critical pathways overcomes mutational complexity in acute myeloid leukemia (*Science Translational Medicine*, 2017). There were 312 papers published from IMS in 2017.

With the approaching expansion of our center in 2018, I believe that IMS will have an even greater impact on the scientific community in the years ahead.

**Tadashi Yamamoto** Director, RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences



Part 1

Research Highlights

# Alternative pathway for NKT cell development

#### Figure: Novel alternative developmental pathway for NKT cells

In the genetic fate-mapping experiment, yellow fluorescent protein (shown in light green) is turned on starting at the CD4+CD8+ double-positive (DP) stage, thus making it possible to mark mature T and NKT cells that developed from DP stage thymocyte precursors. However, cells before the DP stage, i.e., at the CD4-CD8- double-negative stage as well as mature NKT cells that developed directly from DN stage precursors without passing through the DP stage, would not express the yellow fluorescent protein (shown in red).



The Natural killer T (NKT) cell is called the fourth type of lymphocyte, following the three major types known as T and B lymphocytes as well as natural killer (NK) cells. NKT cells are different from other lymphocytes because they function to activate various types of immune cells in the innate and acquired immune systems, resulting in establishing long-term memory responses against pathogens and tumors.

NKT cells have a single invariant T cell receptor (TCR) recognizing only glycolipid antigens, whereas the TCR repertoire of conventional T cells recognizes an almost unlimited number of peptide antigens. The NKT cell receptor gene is conserved among species by Darwinian-positive selection, thus, NKT cells are thought to be important for protection against pathogens and essential for the species survival. However, the question of how these cells develop remains a puzzle for researchers.

T-lineage cells generally pass through three developmental stages (Figure) as they differentiate in the thymus. The most immature thymic precursor cells, known as the double-negative stage, express neither CD4 nor CD8 surface markers. As these precursors differentiate further, they express both surface markers, called the double-positive stage, before finally maturing into either CD4 or CD8 single-positive T cells.

It has long been believed that NKT cells develop in the thymus through the double-positive stage along with conventional T cells. However as this conventional theory did not provide an explanation for functional differences between NKT and T cells, Nyambayar Dashtsoodol, Masaru Taniguchi and their colleagues

**Original Paper:** 

in IMS sought to resolve this dilemma by using genetically modified mice that completely lack gene rearrangement at the double-positive stage. If the conventional theory was correct, neither T cells nor NKT cells should exist in this mouse. Surprisingly, they could detect NKT cells, although their number was relatively reduced. "This result suggested the existence of an alternative NKT cell developmental pathway," commented Nyambayar.

To confirm this unexpected finding, they used a technique called genetic fate-mapping. They employed another genetically modified mouse expressing a yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) that turns on during the double-positive stage. While CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from the mice expressed the YFP, some NKT cells did not, indicating that they developed without passing through the double-positive stage. "Our findings demonstrated that some NKT cells can bypass the double-positive stage and differentiate directly from the double-negative stage, which means these cells were differentiated earlier than it was thought" remarked Nyambayar. They also demonstrated that NKT cells generated by this alternative pathway were mainly found in the liver and highly expressed IFN- $\gamma$ , a cytokine active against pathogens and tumor cells, and perforin and granzyme, proteins that are important for cytotoxic activity.

"NKT cells that develop via this alternative pathway have higher cytotoxic activity and are essential for body defenses. We hope to elucidate their function and contribute to cancer immune therapy in the future," says Masaru Taniguchi.

Dashtsoodol N, Shigeura T, Aihara M, Ozawa R, Kojo S, Harada M, Endo TA, Watanabe T, Ohara O, Taniguchi M. Alternative pathway for the development of Va14<sup>+</sup> NKT cells directly from CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> thymocytes that bypasses the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> stage. **Nat Immun** 18, 274–282 (2017)

## Six new genetic loci associated with atrial fibrillation are identified in the Japanese population

Figure: Atrial fibrillation associated with irregular and rapid heart rate ©The Japan Stroke Association and Japanese Heart Rhythm Society



trial fibrillation (A-fib) is the most common cardiac arigwedge rhythmia. It is associated with abnormal cardiac rhythm characterized by irregular and often rapid fibrillation of the atria, the upper chambers where blood enters the heart (Figure). Untreated, A-fib increases the risk of stroke, heart failure and other heart-related complications. In Japan and elsewhere, the prevalence of A-fib increases with age, reaching 3.2% among Japanese who are 80 years old. Several studies have indicated a relationship between genetic background and the prevalence of A-fib. For example, individuals who have at least one parent with A-fib have approximately three times greater risk of developing the disease than people without parents with A-fib. In addition, a large-scale cohort study has shown an increased risk of A-fib in populations of European ancestry compared to Africans, Hispanics or Asians. These observations suggested different A-fib pathogenesis and risk factors, especially genetic factors among different ancestry groups. Given the increasing aging population in Japan, the identification of predictive risk markers for A-fib is urgently needed.

To investigate the genetic loci associated with A-fib in the Japanese population, a research team at the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medicine conducted a genome-wide associated study (GWAS) with 8,180 A-fib patients and 28,612 controls, followed by an additional study with 3,120 patients and 125,064 controls from the Japanese population. Combining these two studies into a meta-analysis, the team successfully

**Original paper:** 

identified six new loci near the *KCND3*, *PPFIA4*, *SLC1A4-CEP68*, *HAND2*, *NEBL* and *SH3PXD2A* genes. Five of the six newly discovered loci were specific to the Japanese population, suggesting that there might be different genetic factors affecting susceptibility across ancestry groups.

Surprisingly, further expression quantitative trait locus (eQTL) analysis showed that *PPFIA4* and *SH3PXD2A* are involved in neural development processes, especially axon guidance and neural crest cell development. When the investigators analyzed these pathways, they discovered that several genes involved in these neural processes are significantly associated with A-fib. Further study is required to understand the molecular basis of the involvement of axon guidance as well as neural crest cells in A-fib pathogenesis.

The team also evaluated the risk of cumulative effects from a total of 15 associated genetic variants (the newly discovered 6 variants and 9 previously reported variants). In the group of patients who carried the most risk alleles, they predicted an approximately 7.0 times greater risk compared to individuals in the group with the fewest risk alleles. The implementation of a genetic risk score for A-fib could aid in identifying individuals who are at risk for cardiac arrhythmia.

The genotype data of the Japanese population used in this study is publicly available in an anonymous format at the National Bioscience Database Center, Japan Science and Technology Agency (NBDC, JST).

Low SK, Takahashi A, Ebana Y, Ozaki K, Christophersen IE, Ellinor PT, AFGen Consortium, Ogishima S, Yamamoto M, Satoh M, Sasaki M, Yamaji T, Iwasaki M, Tsugane S, Tanaka K, Naito M, Wakai K, Tanaka H, Furukawa T, Kubo M, Ito K, Kamatani Y, Tanaka T. Identification of six new genetic loci associated with atrial fibrillation in the Japanese population. **Nat Genet** 49, 953–958 (2017)

## Mast cells are crucial for induction of group 2 innate lymphoid cells and clearance of helminth infections

## Figure: Mechanism by which mast cells activate ILC2s for worm expulsion

Upon helminth infection, ATP is released from injured/ dying epithelial cells (top left) and activates mast cells through the P2X7 receptor (bottom left). Activated mast cells release IL-33 which in turn stimulates ILC2s leading to the production of IL-13 (bottom center). Finally, IL-13 promotes mucin secretion by goblet cells (top right) to expel worms.



The World Health Organization (WHO) reported that more than 1.5 billion people, or 24% of the world's population, suffer from helminth infections and that such infections are widely distributed in tropical and subtropical areas. Infections with intestinal helminths can cause anemia and malnutrition and are major socioeconomic problems in developing countries. There is thus an urgent need to elucidate the mechanism of protective immune responses against helminths.

Our body activates type 1 immune responses against pathogens such as bacteria and viruses, while type 2 immune responses are induced by helminths. A research group led by Hiroshi Ohno of the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences demonstrated that mast cells play a critical role for activation of group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s), which are responsible for parasite expulsion in the early phase of infection.

The researchers examined Spi-B-deficient (*Spib*<sup>-/-</sup>) mice, which exhibit mast cell hyperplasia due to altered myeloid cell differentiation. To analyze the role of Spi-B in intestinal helminth infection, they orally infected *Spib*<sup>-/-</sup> mice with *Heligmosomoides polygyrus* (Hp), an intestinal helminth, and found that the *Spib*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were better protected than wild-type (WT) mice. There were far fewer Hp eggs in the feces of *Spib*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice, and also fewer adult worms. In addition, the number of mucus-producing goblet cells was increased in *Spib*<sup>-/-</sup> mice. These findings re-

**Original paper:** 

vealed an unexpected resistance of *Spib*<sup>-/-</sup> mice to Hp infection. Since the depletion of mast cells in *Spib*<sup>-/-</sup> mice before the infection completely eliminated their Hp resistance, this resistance was dependent on mast cells.

They further found that ILC2s and IL-33, a cytokine that activates ILC2s, were increased in Spib<sup>-/-</sup> mice after Hp infection. It had been thought that intestinal epithelial cells release IL-33 to activate ILC2s; however, surprisingly, Ohno and colleagues found that mast cells are crucial for IL-33 production and ILC2 activation (Figure). "We found a new function of mast cells in innate immune responses against nematode infection. When the nematode invades the intestinal tissue, adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is released from the injured epithelial cells and stimulates mast cells. Activated mast cells secrete IL-33 and thereby stimulate ILC2s. Then, activated ILC2s produce IL-13, which promotes mucin secretion by goblet cells in the intestinal epithelia, leading to worm expulsion," says Ohno.

Increasing or activating mast cells can be an attractive and effective strategy for controlling helminth infections. However, at the same time, type 2 immune responses, despite the benefit of protection against helminth infections, can be a cause of allergy and inflammatory diseases. "Regulation of mast cell-derived type 2 immune responses could be a new preventive measure and therapy for these diseases," concludes Ohno.

Shimokawa C, Kanaya T, Hachisuka M, Ishiwata K, Hisaeda H, Kurashima Y, Kiyono H, Yoshimoto T, Kaisho T, Ohno H. Mast cells are crucial for induction of group 2 innate lymphoid cells and clearance of helminth infections. *Immunity* 46, 863–874 (2017)

## Mapping disease genes to immune cells



Figure: Researchers demonstrate a new way to identify gene variants associated with complex diseases

Gene variants tied to rheumatoid arthritis and other diseases can now be traced to particular faulty immune cells.

A valuable analytical tool developed by RIKEN researchers could help to reveal when multiple genes are all working through a common pathway in specific immune cells that underpin complex diseases such as diabetes or heart disease.

To demonstrate the tool's effectiveness, the scientists applied it to DNA datasets from rheumatoid arthritis sufferers and confirmed the importance of immune dysregulation through a cell-signaling protein called tumor necrosis factor (TNF). Anti-TNF drugs are some of the best-selling medicines in the world—a fact that Kazuyoshi Ishigaki of the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences says confirms the "robustness of our pipeline." As such, he adds, "It's reasonable to expect that our pipeline can be applied to other diseases."

To identify the genes and biological pathways involved in complex immune-related diseases, Ishigaki and his team led by Kazuhiko Yamamoto and Yuta Kochi, also from the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences—first looked for DNA sequences that explained gene activity levels in five kinds of immune cells as well as unfractionated peripheral blood (Figure). They used blood samples from 105 healthy Japanese individuals to build their 'expression quantitative trait loci' (eQTL) database for each of these cell types. The researchers then cross-referenced their database against a catalogue of published gene-sleuthing studies and showed that even some non-autoimmune diseases, such as Parkinson's disease and schizophrenia, have a large immune component. "By investigating critical immune pathways in these diseases, we might be able to develop novel immunologic treatments for them," Ishigaki says.

The RIKEN investigators next applied their cell-sorting model to genetics datasets from thousands of Japanese individuals with rheumatoid arthritis. They found that the combined action of 176 genes altered TNF signaling in a particular subset of immune cells known as helper T cells, which express a surface protein called CD4, but not in other types of immune cells.

According to Ishigaki, drug developers can use this finding to build a new generation of TNF-targeted drugs that target both TNF and CD4 receptors. This will give the drugs a more anti-inflammatory effect as they will act only in those cells that have gone awry in the autoimmune disease. "Our findings suggest that we can improve the efficiency of current anti-TNF therapy," he says.

Kochi hopes the research community will embrace his team's eQTL database for identifying genes implicated in particular cells in any disease of interest—and since "the prediction models are provided as supplemental data in the article," he says, "anyone can use them."

Original paper:

Ishigaki K, Kochi Y, Suzuki A, Tsuchida Y, Tsuchiya H, Sumitomo S, Yamaguchi K, Nagafuchi Y, Nakachi S, Kato R, et al. Polygenic burdens on cell-specific pathways underlie the risk of rheumatoid arthritis. **Nat Genet** 49, 1120–1125 (2017)

This article was reproduced from RIKEN Research http://www.riken.jp/en/research/rikenresearch /highlights/20170017/

## New link between Polycomb and Xist RNA for X chromosome inactivation

## Figure: New model of Polycomb-mediated gene silencing by Xist RNA

The classical model proposed a direct interaction between Xist RNA and PRC2, followed by the recruitment of the PCGF2/4-PRC1 complex through its chromobox-containing CBX protein subunit. Results of the present study have led to a new model in which Xist RNA instead recruits another PRC1 subcomplex, PCGF3/5-PRC1. Subsequent recruitment of PRC2 on the inactive X chromosome is dependent on monoubiquitylation of histone H2A catalyzed by PCGF3/5-PRC1. (Known subunits of the PRC1 and PRC2 complexes are indicated on the figure by their acronyms. Unlabeled subunits are accessory proteins.)

Ammalian females have two X sex chromosomes (XX) but males are XY, so females have twice as many X-linked genes as males. To balance X-linked gene dosage, females randomly silence one of the X chromosomes in individual cells early in development. This epigenetic process, called X chromosome inactivation, involves a noncoding RNA known as Xist and the Polycomb repressive complexes PRC1 and PRC2. Haruhiko Koseki and colleagues of the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences, in collaboration with Oxford University and the Kazusa DNA Institute, elucidated a key role of a specific PRC1 complex in initiating Polycomb recruitment by Xist RNA and showed that PRC recruitment is critical for Xist-mediated chromosome silencing and female embryogenesis.

Xist RNA recruits PRC1 and PRC2 to the future inactive X chromosome to deposit suppressive histone modifications, such as the ubiquitination of histone H2A lysine 119 (H2AK119ub1) and the methylation of histone H3 lysine 27 (H3K27me3). These histone modifications are thought to be important for the chromosome-wide gene silencing that occurs with X chromosome inactivation.

Previous studies revealed that Xist RNA directly binds to PRC2 and catalyzes the methylation of H3 Lysine 27. Following this epigenetic modification, the PRC1 complex was proposed to bind to H3K27me3 through its chromobox-containing CBX protein subunit, which has a high affinity for H3K27me3. Although this model is attractive for explaining how Xist RNA establishes Polycomb-mediated suppressive chromatin, experimental evidence to

**Original paper:** 



validate it was lacking. In addition, PRC1 was recently shown to exist as four different subcomplexes, making the story less straightforward.

In this study, by using Polycomb group ring finger (Pcgf3/5) conditional knockout mice, the collaborative research group showed that one of these four PRC1 subcomplexes, PCGF3/5-PRC1, is necessary for female embryogenesis and for both PRC1-mediated H2AK119 ubiquitylation and PRC2-mediated H3K27 methylation of the inactive X chromosome. Moreover, in this situation the recruitment of PRC2/H3K27me3 was dependent on the initial ubiquitylation of Histone H2A catalyzed by PCGF3/5-PRC1. They also demonstrated that the initiation of Xist-mediated gene silencing is greatly impaired in the absence of PCGF3/5-PRC1, indicating that PCGF3/5-PRC1 initiates Xist-mediated gene silencing by recruiting PRC1 and PRC2. Thus, the authors proposed a new model for the relationship between Xist RNA and Polycomb, in which Xist RNA first recruits PCGF3/5-PRC1 on the future inactive X chromosome to ubiquitylate underlying nucleosomes. PRC2 then binds to this epigenetic histone mark through recognition by the DNA-binding protein JARID2 or by an alternative but currently unknown mechanism (Figure).

"Next, we would like to determine whether other noncoding RNAs use the same mechanism to recruit Polycomb to their target chromatin loci. We hope that future research will reveal the whole picture of X chromosome inactivation" says Koseki.

Almeida M, Pintacuda G, Masui O, Koseki Y, Gdula M, Cerase A, Brown D, Mould A, Innocent C, Nakayama M, Schermelleh L, Nesterova TB, Koseki H, Brockdorff N. PCGF3/5-PRC1 initiates Polycomb recruitment in X chromosome inactivation. *Science* 356, 1081–1084 (2017)

### **Research highlights**

## BATF is a critical regulator of regulatory T cells in peripheral tissues

Figure: The A384T mutation impairs effector Treg (eTreg) cell homeostasis by repressing Batf expression.



Regulatory T cells (Tregs) establish and maintain immune tolerance by restraining excessive immune responses that lead to autoimmunity, inflammation and allergy, whereas excessive Treg activity suppresses immune responses against pathogens and tumors. Thus, it is important to regulate the delicate balance of Treg activity to maintain immune homeostasis.

Shohei Hori, Team Leader of RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences (IMS), and Shimon Sakaguchi, Professor of Osaka University, previously reported that the transcription factor Foxp3 acts as a master regulator for the development and immunosuppressive function of Tregs. However, Foxp3 binds to thousands of genomic sites and interacts with hundreds of other proteins. Because of this complex transcriptional network, the molecular mechanisms of Foxp3 function in Tregs remained a mystery.

Mutations in *Foxp3* cause a devastating multi-organ human autoimmune disease called IPEX (immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked) syndrome. To determine the molecular functions of Foxp3 in Tregs, Shohei Hori and his colleagues established mouse models harboring *Foxp3* mutations (I363V, R397W, and A384T) that had been identified in IPEX patients and predicted to affect Foxp3 DNA binding. Mice harboring either I363V or R397W mutations developed systemic multi-organ inflammation, similar to Foxp3-deficient mice, because of their impaired DNA binding activity. In contrast, A384T mice exhibited an autoimmune phenotype only in certain non-lymphoid tissues, such as skin, lung and colon. Although thymic Treg development was normal, the frequency of Tregs was reduced in those tissues, while inflammatory helper T cells were increased. "A384T mutation does not impair *in vitro* function of Tregs but results in a distinctive autoimmune disease. So, we decided to focus on this mutation," says Hori.

Tregs can be classified into two groups, "central" Treg (cTreg) cells enriched in lymphoid tissues, and "effector" or "memory" Treg (emTreg) cells localized in non-lymphoid tissues. Because cTregs differentiate into emTregs, they thought that the A384T mutation impairs differentiation and expansion of emTregs.

To study how the mutation impairs emTreg differentiation, they analyzed gene expression in A384T Tregs as well as A384T Foxp3 DNA binding. They combined results from these analyses and found that A384T is a gain-of-function mutation that enables Foxp3 binding to the promoter of a transcription factor gene, *Batf.* This binding suppressed BATF expression in Tregs, leading to the impaired differentiation of emTregs (Figure).

To further study the function of BATF, they analyzed Tregs in BATF-deficient mice. Indeed, BATF-deficient and A384T Tregs showed similar functional defects in that both were unable to prevent inflammation *in vivo*. When BATF was retrovirally transduced into A384T Tregs, differentiation to emTregs and their accumulation in peripheral tissues were rescued and immunosuppressive function was recovered.

"BATF has a fundamental function to coordinate the differentiation and accumulation of emTregs. Regulation of BATF expression or function will have a therapeutic possibility as a novel treatment of autoimmunity, inflammation, allergy and cancer," says Hori.

**Original paper:** 

Hayatsu N, Miyao T, Tachibana M, Murakami R, Kimura A, Kato T, Kawakami E, Endo TA, Setoguchi R, Watarai H, Nishikawa T, Yasuda T, Yoshida H, Hori S. Analyses of a mutant *Foxp3* allele reveal BATF as a critical transcription factor in the differentiation and accumulation of tissue regulatory T cells. *Immunity* 47, 268–283 (2017)

## Genome-wide association study reveals the involvement of B lymphocytes in obesity



#### Figure: Enrichment of identified variants in active enhancers

Enrichment of the variants in the active enhancers in 10 cell groups (a) and in immune-related cells (*red*) and the central nervous system (*blue*) (b). PMA-I: phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate plus ionomycin.

Obesity is a risk factor for a wide variety of health problems. Behavior, environment and genetic factors are thought to interact in causing obesity. However, the mechanisms of body weight regulation and potential differences among individuals remain unknown.

Yoichiro Kamatani and his colleagues at the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences (IMS), in collaboration with researchers in the Tohoku Medical Megabank Organization, the Iwate Tohoku Medical Megabank Organization and National Cancer Center Japan, identified 112 new loci associated with obesity. Their findings of the genetic links between body mass index (BMI) and diseases provided surprising evidence that B lymphocytes have a role in the pathogenesis of obesity.

To identify genetic loci associated with obesity, researchers conducted a genome-wide association study (GWAS) of 170 thousand Japanese people using roughly 6 million genetic variants followed by a study of an additional 15 thousand Japanese. By combining these studies, they successfully identified 85 loci including 51 newly discovered loci associated with BMI. They further conducted trans-ethnic meta-analysis using publicly available GWAS data of 350 thousand Europeans. Using a method called MANTRA (Meta-ANalysis of Transethnic Association studies), they identified 61 additional new loci associated with BMI. Thus, a total of 112 new loci were successfully identified in this large-scale GWAS of BMI.

**Original paper:** 

They next investigated biological functions of these newly identified genetic variants. They evaluated enrichment of the identified variants in cell-type-specific epigenetic regulators such as enhancers and promoters. "Unexpectedly, we found significant enrichment of the identified genetic variants in the active enhancers of immune cells, B cells specifically, in addition to cells in the central nervous system and in adipose tissues" said Kamatani. "Significant enrichment was also found in active promoters of B cells, pancreatic islets and brain cells (Figure). Our cell-type-specific analyses suggested a surprising involvement of lymphocytes in the regulation of body weight."

Lastly, they investigated genetic correlations between BMI and other traits. By evaluating the genetic correlations between this study and other previous GWAS studies conducted at RIKEN IMS, they found positive correlations of BMI with type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, asthma and ossification of posterior longitudinal ligament of the spine (OPLL). Significant negative correlations were observed in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis (AIS), schizophrenia and rheumatoid arthritis (RA). The results indicated that obese people have more risks for type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, asthma and OPLL, while thin people have more genetic risks for RA, AIS and schizophrenia. "Our findings provide insight into the links between BMI and complex diseases and provide genetic evidence that lymphocytes have a role in the pathogenesis of obesity" noted Kamatani.

Akiyama M, Okada Y, Kanai M, Takahashi A, Momozawa Y, Ikeda M, Iwata N, Ikegawa S, Hirata M, Matsuda K, Iwasaki M, Yamaji T, Sawada N, Hachiya T, Tanno K, Shimizu A, Hozawa A, Minegishi N, Tsugane S, Yamamoto M, Kubo M, Kamatani Y. Genome-wide association study identifies 112 new loci for body mass index in the Japanese population. **Nat Genet** 49, 1458–1467 (2017)

## Ectopically colonized oral bacteria may induce inflammatory bowel disease.

#### Figure:

The normal gut microbiota suppresses colonization by *Klebsiella* species, but imbalances in the gut microbiota will allow *Klebsiella* species to colonize and proliferate in the gut. This induces the accumulation of TH1 cells and could elicit pathological inflammation in a genetically susceptible host.



variety of bacteria reside in the gut and oral cavity and **1** they play important roles in maintaining our health by potently affecting our immune system and physiological functions. Intestinal colonization by bacteria of oral origin has been correlated with several negative health outcomes, including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). However, a causal role of oral bacteria ectopically colonizing the intestine remains unclear. A research group led by Kenya Honda of the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences and Keio University, and Masahira Hattori of RIKEN Integrative Medical Sciences and Waseda University showed that oral bacteria called Klebsiella species are strong inducers of T helper 1 (TH1) cells when they colonize in the gut. Excessive activation of TH1 cells may contribute to the development of inflammatory bowel diseases, such as Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC).

First, these investigators transplanted saliva samples from two patients with CD into germ-free mice. In mice receiving a saliva sample from one of the patients, they noticed a marked accumulation of interferon  $\gamma$  (INF- $\gamma$ )<sup>+</sup> TH1 cells in the intestinal lamina propria. From the feces of these mice they isolated and cultured many oral bacterial strains and inoculated them into other germ-free mice. These experiments identified *Klebsiella pneumoniae* 2H7 (Kp-2H7) as a strong inducer of TH1 cells.

Kp-2H7 was resistant to multiple antibiotics and tended to colonize when the intestinal microbiota was dysbiotic in

**Original paper:** 

specific-pathogen-free (SPF) mice. To test the influence of Kp-2H7 colonization on the development and exacerbation of CD, they orally administered Kp-2H7 into both wild-type and colitis-prone  $ll10^{-/-}$  mice. In the intestine of wild-type hosts, despite induction of TH1 cells, Kp-2H7 colonization did not induce any inflammatory changes, whereas Kp-2H7 colonization in colitis-prone  $ll10^{-/-}$  mice induced severe gut inflammation. These experiments suggested that Kp-2H7 acts as a gut pathobiont in the context of a genetically susceptible host (Figure).

In addition, they orally administered saliva samples from two healthy donors into germ-free wild-type mice. Unexpectedly, the sample from one healthy donor also induced a substantial increase in TH1 cells, suggesting that *Klebsiella* species with TH1 cell induction capability may exist in the oral cavity of not only IBD patients but also healthy individuals. This result suggests that taking excessive antibiotics over a long period would allow *Klebsiella* species to colonize in the gut of even a healthy person. Furthermore, persistence of *Klebsiella* species is also observed in several other diseases.

"Developing antibiotics to specifically target *Klebsiella* species, or inhibitors of their colonization in the gut could provide a novel therapeutic strategy for IBD. Also, identifying members of the normal gut microbiota that can provide colonization resistance against *Klebsiella* species could lead to new treatments for patients with infections from multi-drug-resistant *Klebsiella* species," says Honda.

Atarashi K, Suda W, Luo C, Kawaguchi, Motoo, Narushima S, Kiguchi Y, Yasuma K, Watanabe E, Tanoue T, Thaiss CA, Sato M, Toyooka K, Said HS, Yamagami H, Rice SA, Gevers D, Johnson RC, Segre JA, Chen K, Kolls JK, Elinav E, Morita H, Xavier RJ, Hattori M, Honda K. Ectopic colonization of oral bacteria in the intestine drives TH1 cell induction and inflammation. *Science* 358, 359–365 (2017)

# Activation of immune T cells leads to behavioral changes

Figure: Reduced levels of monoamine neurotransmitters in the brain of PD-1-deficient mice Microscopy of coronal brain sections of wild-type and PD-1 deficient mice (left), stained for tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH), serotonin (5-HT) and the DNA-binding dye DAPI; raphe nuclei (white insets) are enlarged in the panels on the right (single-color and overlay images). Scale bars, 1 mm.



S cientists from the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences in Japan and collaborators have found that prolonged activation of immune cells changes the body's metabolism, and that this activation actually leads to changes in behavior.

It is currently known that individual T cells change their metabolism to meet their energy needs after being activated, but the systemic metabolic effect of sustained activation of the immune system has remained unexplored. To understand the systemic effects, the group looked at T cell activation in mice designed to lack a surface receptor called PD-1, which is necessary for inhibiting the activity of T cells. T cells remain activated in mice without the receptor, similar to those in the immune systems of people with certain types of autoimmune disease. In these mice, they found that amino acids were depleted in the blood, and that they were increased in T cells themselves, implicating the T cells in the change.

The team tracked and imaged amino acids in many organs, and found that the depletion of amino acids from the blood was taking place due to the accumulation of amino acids in activated T cells in the lymph nodes, showing that strong or long-lasting immune responses can cause metabolic changes elsewhere in the body.

The remaining question was whether this depletion of amino acids was actually having any systemic effect. By ana-

lyzing the biochemistry of the brain, they found that the systemic decrease in the amino acids tryptophan and tyrosine in blood led to lower amounts available in the brain, limiting production of the neurotransmitters serotonin and dopamine (Figure). These neurotransmitters affect emotions, motivation and fear—for example, serotonin is often a target of drugs that combat depression. The researchers found that their depletion in mice without PD-1 resulted in behavioral changes dominated by anxiety and exacerbated fear responses, which could be remedied by providing a diet rich in an essential amino acid. "Together these data indicate that excessive activation of T cells causes a systemic metabolomic shift with consequences that extend beyond the immune system," says Michio Miyajima, one of the four first co-authors of this study.

According to Sidonia Fagarasan, the leader of the group, "We were fascinated to see that this happens, as it revealed the power of the immune system to influence many aspects of the body's physiology besides infection and immunity. It will be interesting in the future to investigate whether the trigger of fear and anxiety by T cell activation is merely a side effect of the process, or whether there is an evolutionary benefit of this adaptation. We would also like to further investigate these changes, as the blockade of PD-1 is being investigated as an anti-cancer therapy."

This article was redacted from RIKEN Press Release http://www.riken.jp/en/pr/press/2017/20171024\_1/ Original paper:

Miyajima M, Zhang B, Sugiura Y, Sonomura K, Guerrini MM, Tsutsui Y, Maruya M, Vogelzang A, Chamoto K, Honda K, Hikida K, Ito S, Qin H, Sanuki R, Suzuki K, Furukawa T, Ishihama Y, Matsuda F, Suematsu M, Honjo T, Fagarasan S. Metabolic shift induced by systemic T cell activation in PD-1-deficient mice perturbs brain monoamines and emotional behavior. **Nat Immunol** 18, 1342–1352 (2017)

# Blocking key pathways is a way to defeat cancer cells

Figure: Eradication of FLT3-ITD\* AML cells in vivo through combined inhibition of a leukemia-initiating mutation and an anti-apoptotic pathway Mice engrafted with AML derived from 12 patients received four different treatments (no treatment, ABT-199 (BCL-2 inhibitor) alone, RK-20449 alone, and combination). Frequencies of human AML cells in the recipient blood are shown over time.



Sciences and international collaborators have found that in humanized mice, a cocktail of drugs blocking certain key pathways is effective in eliminating acute myeloid leukemia (AML), a disease which is estimated to kill more than 250,000 people a year around the world.

The most difficult problem with AML is disease relapse, which occurs in a majority of patients being treated with chemotherapy. During the last decade or so, it has become recognized that cells called leukemia stem cells (LSCs) can cause relapse because they survive the onslaught of chemotherapy drugs and proliferate.

The group began to investigate compounds that could target these stem cells and in 2013 announced that they had discovered one—now known as RK-20449. This compound targets a certain class of tyrosine kinases—receptors that play an important role in signaling for cells in the bone marrow and blood, such as the ones that cause leukemia.

Now, in research published in Science Translational Medicine, the group has shown that targeting two important pathways simultaneously is a promising route for eliminating cancer.

One of the difficulties of developing targeted therapies against AML and other tumors is that the cancers can be very genetically diverse—cells in different patients and even cells in a single patient may harbor different mutations, making it hard to determine which are truly important for tumor growth or survival. Many of the mutations found in cancerous AML cells, for example, are also found in the cells of people—especially aged people—without leukemia.

To elucidate which mutations are truly relevant, the group took cells from AML patients in various stages of the disease and transplanted them into immune-deficient mice engineered to accept human cells. They then examined how the cells behaved—in either a normal or leukemic way—in organs such as bone marrow or spleen. "What we did," says Fumihiko Ishikawa, the leader of the group, "is to connect the genomic information and biological functions of the cells."

Using this method, they were able to discover that a mutation in a gene coding FLT3, an important tyrosine kinase, is critical for transforming normal bone marrow cells into AML cells and that another gene, BCL2, functions to promote therapeutic resistance in FLT3-mutated AML. This mutation, called FLT3-ITD, is one of the most common mutations found in AML patients. The group showed that by using RK-20449 to block abnormal signaling caused by FLT3-ITD, AML cells with multiple mutations could be effectively eliminated. In addition, by simultaneously targeting BCL-2 with a second drug called venetoclax (ABT-199), they could achieve the complete elimination of AML in the transplanted mice in most of the AML cases tested (Figure).

"This shows," says Fumihiko Ishikawa, "that determining which of the mutations in a diverse landscape are critical in leukemia onset and which of the pathways are critical for therapeutic resistance in leukemia, and simultaneously targeting those pathways is an encouraging way to treat difficult cancers such as AML."

This article was redacted from RIKEN Press Release http://www.riken.jp/en/pr/press/2017/20171026\_1/ Original paper:

Saito Y, Mochizuki Y, Ogahara I, Watanabe T, Hogdal L, Takagi S, Sato K, Kaneko A, Kajita H, Uchida N, Fukami T, Shultz LD, Taniguchi S, Ohara O, Letai AG, Ishikawa F. Overcoming mutational complexity in acute myeloid leukemia by inhibition of critical pathways. *Sci Transl Med* 9, eaao1214 (2017)

## New asthma risk loci have been identified and found to colocalize with immune cell *cis*-acting regulatory elements

Figure: The results of multi-ancestry GWAS meta-analysis of asthma risk. The analysis included a total of 23,948 cases and 118,538 controls. Black, previously known loci; red, new loci identified in the European-ancestry meta-analysis; blue, additional new loci identified in the multi-ancestry meta-analysis. The dashed horizontal line denotes  $P=5\times10^{-8}$ .



A n international study by the Trans-National Asthma Genetics Consortium (TAGC) has discovered five new regions of the genome that are associated with an increased risk of asthma. As TAGC members, Tatsuhiko Tsunoda and his colleagues at the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences contributed to this effort, the world's largest meta-analysis.

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease that affects more than 300 million people worldwide. The prevalence rate of asthma varies from 5–8% in Japan, 3.9% in Mexican Americans and 12.5% in African Americans. The genetic effect on the risk of asthma is estimated to vary from 25–80%. Such high variability reflects the complex nature of the disease, influenced not only by genetics but also by environmental factors such as air pollution and allergens. Moreover, asthma is not a single disease and has heterogeneous symptomatic features. Thus, more than 45 worldwide groups of investigators established TAGC to construct a comprehensive catalog of genetic asthma risk regions that are robust across populations and environmental conditions.

TAGC conducted genome-wide association studies (GWAS) on a total of 142,486 individuals (19,954 asthma cases and 107,715 controls of European ancestry, 2,149 cases and 6,055 controls of African ancestry, 1,239 cases and 3,976

controls of Japanese ancestry, and 606 cases and 792 controls of Latino ancestry.)

As a result, they discovered 18 genetic loci associated with asthma, including five novel loci (Figure). Among them, the strongest correlation with asthma was found in the *BACH2* genomic region, a gene known to be important in the immune response against infections. The second strongest signal was located near the *GNGT2* genomic region, a gene that promotes NF- $\kappa$ B activation. Further study revealed shared overlaps of asthma risk variants with risk alleles for autoimmune diseases and other diseases featuring chronic inflammation, including cardiovascular diseases, cancers, and neuropsychiatric diseases, which strengthens the concept that asthma is a multifactorial disease.

The study also showed that genetic risk variants associated with asthma are often located near epigenetic markers in immune cells of *cis*-acting regulatory elements such as enhancers and promoters. These results suggest a role of asthma risk variants in the epigenetic regulation of immune-related processes.

These discoveries highlight the importance of integrating genomic and epigenomic data to better understand the pathogenesis of complex diseases like asthma and for the development of effective new therapies.

**Original paper:** 

Demenais F, Kubo M, Takahashi A, Tsunoda T, et al. Multiancestry association study identifies new asthma risk loci that colocalize with immune-cell enhancer marks. **Nat Genet** 50, 42–53 (2018)



# Part 2 Lab Activities

## Core for Homeostatic Regulation

The ultimate goal of the Core for Homeostatic Regulation is to elucidate the mechanisms of onset of human diseases and to create new scientific paradigms. This Core clarifies the regulation of homeostasis in individuals, focusing on their immune, metabolic and environmental response systems. In addition, the Core for Homeostatic Regulation will validate the disease models established by the Core for Precise Measuring and Modeling in a multitier timeframe from before to after the onset of diseases.

The Core for Homeostatic Regulation is composed of 15 laboratories, which are divided into four areas;

[1] Immune homeostasis

Cell signaling (T. Saito), Lymphocyte differentiation (T. Kurosaki), Immune homeostasis (T. Akiyama), Metabolic homeostasis (N. Kubota)

[2] Lymphocyte development

Transcriptional regulation (I. Taniuchi), Human disease models (F. Ishikawa) [3] Mucosal immunity

Intestinal ecosystem (H. Ohno), Mucosal immunity (S. Fagarasan), Immune cell systems (S. Koyasu), Gut homeostasis (K. Honda), Immune crosstalk (H. Cheroutre)

[4] Allergy and inflammation

Skin homeostasis (M. Amagai), Inflammatory regulation (T. Tanaka), Cytokine regulation (M. Kubo), Innate immune systems (K. Moro)

All of these areas elucidate the basic mechanisms of immune regulation at cellular, tissue and systemic levels. We ultimately aim to analyze the onset of autoimmune diseases, metabolic disorders [1], primary immunodeficiency [2], inflammatory bowel disease and colitis [3], and atopic dermatitis and allergic diseases [4].



## Laboratory for Cell Signaling Group Director: Takashi Saito

Figure: STING stimulation induces growth arrest and type I-IFN production in T cells.

Stimulation of T cells through TCR (antigen) and STING (STING ligand) induced T cell growth arrest by inhibiting mTORC1 and simultaneously induced production of type-I IFN by T cells. Effector T cells such as Th1 and activated CD8 T cells produce high levels of type-I IFN, which may contribute to anti-tumor immunity and protection from viral infection.



Recent Major Publications Takeuchi A, Saito T. CD4<sup>+</sup> CTL, a Cytotoxic Subset of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, Their Differentiation and Function. *Front Immunol* 8, 194 (2017)

Hayashi M, Aoshi T, Haseda Y, Kobiyama K, Wijaya E, Nakatsu N, Igarashi Y, Standley DM, Yamada H, Honda-Okubo Y, Hara H, Saito T, Takai T, Coban C, Petrovsky N, Ishii KJ. Advax, a delta inulin microparticle, potentiates in-built adjuvant property of co-administered vaccines. **EBioMedicine** 15, 127–136 (2017)

Hashimoto-Tane A, Sakuma M, Ike H, Yokosuka T, Kimura Y, Ohara O, Saito T. The Micro adhesion-ring surrounding each TCR microclusters forms synapse-like structure essential for T cell activation. *J Exp Med* 213, 1609–1625 (2016)

**Invited Presentations** 

Saito T. "Regulation of T cell activation and function by innate signals" Hokkaido University Seminar (Sapporo, Japan) December, 2017

Saito T. "Regulation of T cell activation and function by innate signals" IFReC Colloquium, August, 2017

Saito T. "STING activation in T cells induces growth arrest and IFN production" FASEB Summer Conference (Snowmass, USA) June, 2017

Saito T. "Dynamic regulation of T cell activation and co-stimulation" MSD special seminar (Boston, USA) June, 2017

Saito T. "Initiation of immune response for protection of our body" RIKEN Wako open campus seminar (Wako, Japan) April, 2017 T cells play central roles in immune regulation. They initiate immune responses, and upon activation generate various effector T cells that protect against infection and oncogenesis. Aberrant T cell function results in infectious and autoimmune diseases and cancer. Our group aims to determine the molecular mechanism of T cell activation, differentiation and homeostasis, particularly from a signaling perspective.

T cell activation is induced through TCR-microclusters (MC), the signaling clusters generated by recruiting TCR and proximal signaling molecules. We have analyzed function and dynamics of TCR-MC and downstream signal molecules such as the downstream adaptor molecule CIN85. Analysis of T cell-specific CIN85-deficient mice revealed that CIN85 functions in negatively regulating TCR signals by recruiting several negative regulators such as Sts-2 phosphatase as a feedback regulation of activation.

We also investigated the regulation of T cell activation by innate signals. We have already analyzed the function of TLRs and nucleic acid recognition in T cells. Since STING, a major intracellular DNA sensor in innate cells, is highly expressed in T cells, its function in T cell activation was analyzed. STING activation in T cells induced growth arrest and production of type I-IFN, in an mTORC1 dependent manner. The level of type 1-IFN produced by effector T cells was much higher than by innate cells (Figure). Together with our observation that STING in T cells contributes to anti-tumor immune responses, STING activation in T cells can be utilized for modulating both T cell proliferation and anti-tumor immunity.

The ultimate aim of our diverse approaches is to elucidate the mechanisms of induction of autoimmune diseases through aberrant T cell function in order to be able to modulate them and inhibit/prevent autoimmunity and allergic inflammation. We have analyzed the regulation of T cell function by phosphatases (PTPN22 and PTPN2), whose deficiency is related to the induction of autoimmune diseases. We generated and analyzed mice with a T cell-specific deficiency in these phosphatases and the function of these phosphatases in T cell activation by identifying associated proteins and performing imaging analysis. The onset of autoimmunity will be then analyzed in these mouse models.



## Laboratory for Lymphocyte Differentiation

Group Director: Tomohiro Kurosaki

### Figure: Development of plasma cell precursors in the germinal center

(Left) A population of Bcl6<sup>Io</sup>CD69<sup>Ini</sup> light zone (LZ) GC cells with IRF4 and higher affinity BCR favors the plasma cell fate. In contrast, Bcl6<sup>Ini</sup>CD69<sup>Ini</sup> cells with lower affinity BCRs favors GC recycling. CD40 acts as a dose-dependent regulator for plasma cell precursor formation. (Right) CD40 signaling up-regulates adhesion molecules, such as ICAM-1 or SLAM, thereby affording more stable GC B-T**FH** contacts. The consequence of strong interaction with T**FH** is the formation of IRF4<sup>+</sup>Bcl6<sup>Io</sup> plasma cell-prone GC B cells.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Ise W, Fujii K, Shiroguchi K, Ito A, Kometani K, Takeda K, Kawakami E, Yamashita K, Suzuki K, Okada T, Kurosaki T. T Follicular Helper Cell-Germinal Center B Cell Interaction Strength Regulates Entry into Plasma Cell or Recycling Germinal Center Cell Fate. *Immunity* 48, 702–715 (2018)

Inoue T, Shinnakasu R, Ise W, Kawai C, Egawa T, Kurosaki T. The transcription factor Foxo1 controls germinal center B cell proliferation in response to T cell help. *J Exp Med* 214, 1181–1198 (2017)

Shinnakasu R, Kurosaki T. Regulation of memory B and plasma cell differentiation. *Curr Opin Immunol* 45, 126–131 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Kurosaki T. "Molecular mechanisms of generating human immune memory responses" Consortium of Biological Sciences 2017 (Kobe, Japan) December, 2017

Kurosaki T. "Selection of Germinal Center B Cells into the Memory B Cell or Plasma Cell Compartment" KAI Internationl Meeting 2017 (Seoul, South Korea) November, 2017

Kurosaki T. "Selection mechanism of germinal center cells into plasma fate" The 19th Germinal Centre Conference (Venice, Italy) September, 2017

Kurosaki T. "Molecular mechanisms of generating human immune memory responses" The 19th JSI Immunology Summer School (Hayama, Japan) July, 2017

Kurosaki T. "Selection of germinal-center B cells into memory B cell or plasma cell Compartment" The 6th NIF Winter School on Advanced Immunology (Singapore, Singapore) January, 2017



H umoral memory relies on the development of memory B cells and long-lived plasma cells, and the vast majority of these cells are derived from germinal center (GC) B cells. Therefore, our lab has been focusing on characterizing of these three cell types and clarifying how memory B and plasma cells are generated through GC reactions.

For plasma cell differentiation, BCRs in post-GC plasma cells were heavily dominated by somatic mutations that result in high affinity antibodies, even at a time when such mutations were present in only a small fraction of GC cells. Hence, higher-affinity B cells are directed to the plasma cell fate, whereas lower-affinity cells enter into the recycling GC cell pool.

Regarding the selection mechanism, it has been postulated that precursor cells selected towards recycling GC or plasma cell fates already become committed in the GC, thereafter entering the recycling dark zone (DZ) or plasmablast pool, respectively. Indeed, it was already reported that IRF4, a key factor for initiating plasma cell differentiation, is expressed in a small subset of mouse light zone (LZ) GC B cells. However, these IRF4<sup>+</sup> cells did not express the GC transcription factor Bcl6, therefore the observed IRF4<sup>+</sup> cells are not GC cells, but early plasmablasts. Thus, this "already committed" GC precursor model still remains speculative.

To rigorously test the GC precursor model, we first identified a small population of Bcl6<sup>lo</sup>CD69<sup>hi</sup> LZ GC cells with higher-affinity BCRs and that express IRF4, which favors the plasma cell fate over GC recycling. In contrast, Bcl6<sup>hi</sup>CD69<sup>hi</sup> LZ GC cells with lower-affinity BCRs favored GC recycling. The Bcl6<sup>lo</sup>CD69<sup>hi</sup> population has begun to down-regulate Bcl6 and S1pr2 and to upregulate EBI2, which likely represent the process of restraining the GC program and of exiting the GC. Mechanistically, the generation of Bcl6<sup>lo</sup>CD69<sup>hi</sup> cells relied on CD40 in a dose-dependent manner. Moreover, we found that ICAMI and SLAM levels on LZ GC cells were up-regulated by CD40 stimulation. Consequently, Bcl6<sup>lo</sup>CD69<sup>hi</sup> cells expressed higher levels of these adhesion molecules than Bcl6<sup>hi</sup>CD69<sup>hi</sup> cells, thereby affording more stable GC B-TFH contacts; attenuating this interaction decreased expression of IRF4. Therefore, we propose a precursor model in which the duration of the TFH-GC B interaction is a key decisive factor for formation of plasma cell precursor versus GC recycling precursor cells.

Lab activities



## Laboratory for Transcriptional Regulation

Group Director: Ichiro Taniuchi

## Figure: Lineage scrambling by loss of Bcl11b in helper vs cytotoxic lineage choice.

(A) Predicted structure of wild type and mutant Bcl11b protein lacking the last zinc finger motif at the C-terminal end because of a frameshift mutation. Numbers above the diagrams indicate amino acid positions of the five Bcl11b zinc fingers in the mature protein. Loss of Bcl11b function results in (B) redirection of MHC class-I selected cells into CD4+CD8<sup>-</sup> cells and (C) emergence of CD4+CD8<sup>-</sup> T cells expressing both ThPOK and RunX3.



**Recent Major Publications** 

Tenno M, Kojo S, Lawir D-F, Hess I, Shiroguchi K, Ebihara T, Endo T, Muroi S, Satoh R, Kawamoto H, Boehm T and Taniuchi I. Cbf $\beta$ 2 controls differentiation of and confers homing capacity to pre-thymic progenitors. *J Exp Med* 215, 595–610 (2018)

Kojo S, Tanaka H, Endo TA, Muroi S, Liu Y, Seo W, Tenno M, Kakugawa K, Naoe Y, Nair K, Moro K, Katsuragi Y, Kanai A, Inaba T, Egawa T, Venkatesh B, Minoda A, Kominami R, Taniuchi I. Priming of lineage-specifying genes by Bcl11b is required for lineage choice in post-selection thymocytes. **Nat Commun** 8, 702 (2017)

Kakugawa K, Kojo S, Tanaka H, Seo W, Endo T, Kitagawa Y, Muroi S, Tenno M, Yasmin N, Kohwi Y, Sakaguchi S, Kohwi-Shigematsu, T, Taniuchi I. Essential roles of SATB1 in specifying T lymphocyte subsets. *Cell Rep* 19, 1176–1188 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Taniuchi I. "Roles of Runx Transcription Factors in Immune Cell Development" The 46th Annual Meeting of the Japanese Society for Immunology (Sendai, Japan) December, 2017

Taniuchi I. "Unique roles of the C-terminal end sequences in Runx and Cbfb proteins" The 21st International RUNX Conference (Pennsylvania, USA) October, 2017

Taniuchi I. "Roles of Runx Transcription Factors in Immune System Development" IMS-JSI International Symposium on Immunology 2017 - Decoding Immune Complexity from Cell to System - (Tokyo, Japan) June, 2017.

Taniuchi I. "T cell development and Runx transcription factors" Seminar at the University of Massachusetts (Amherst, USA) May, 2017.

Taniuchi I. "Regulation of T cell development in the thymus by transcription factors" Symposium in Honor of Ellen Rothenberg, The Molecular Developmental Biology of Lymphocytes (Los Angeles, USA) April, 2017. The vertebrate immune system consists of two components, innate and acquired. The acquired immune system, as defined by the acquisition of a system for generating pools of lymphocytes with a broad variety of antigen-specificities, appeared latter during evolution. Thus, a primary developmental program of T lymphocytes that occurs in a primary lymphoid organ, the thymus, has been shaped to select useful and non-self-reactive immune soldiers by using a sophisticated nuclear program that integrates environmental cues sensed by T cell antigen receptors (TCR).

My laboratory has been addressing how TCR signals are integrated into cell fate determination in the cell nucleus by using helper- versus cytotoxic-lineage choice as a model, in which expression of ThPOK transcription factors serves as a key determinant. Our previous studies identified a transcriptional silencer, referred to as the Thpok silencer, in the Thpok locus as a switch to turn off Thpok expression and direct MHC class I-selected thymocytes to become cytotoxic-lineage cells. Our recent studies have identified Bcl11b and Satb1 as novel Thpok silencer-binding proteins. Interestingly, both positive and negative regulation of the Thpok gene are impaired by loss of either Bcl1b or Satb1, suggesting that these proteins regulate higher-ordered chromatin structures at the Thpok locus. In line with this assumption, a site-specific chromatin-immune precipitation technology revealed that the Thpok silencer is assembled in close proximity to enhancer/promoter regions specifically in cytotoxic-lineage T cells. We also found that the last Zn-finger domain in the Bcl11b protein is crucial for regulation of not only Thpok but also *Runx3* and *Foxp3*, another lineage-specifying gene essential for cytotoxic and regulatory T cell differentiation, respectively. Thus, dysregulated expression of ThPOK and Runx3 by loss of Bcl11b function led to lineage scrambling, in which a significant proportion of both MHC class I- and class II-selected cells are redirected into the opposite lineage.

Lab activities



## Laboratory for Immune Cell Systems

Group Director: Shigeo Koyasu

Figure: IL-33-ILC2 axis plays an important role in anti-melanoma immunity.

B16 melanoma cells grow in the recipient mice but intraperitoneal administration of IL-33 significantly suppresses tumor growth. IL-33 administration induces infiltration of ILC2 and eosinophils, which likely have anti-tumor activity, into the tumor tissue.



**Recent Major Publications** 

Ealey KN, Moro K, Koyasu S. Are ILC2s Jekyll and Hyde in airway inflammation? *Immunol Rev* 278, 207–218 (2017)

Wagner M, Moro K, Koyasu S. Plastic heterogeneity of innate lymphoid cells in cancer. *Trends Cancer* 5, 326–335 (2017)

### **Invited Presentations**

Koyasu S. "Innate lymphoid cells in helminth infection" The 10th Federation of African Immunological Societies (FAIS) Congress (Hammamet, Tunisia) December, 2017

**T**e have been studying the role of group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2). ILC2 are capable of producing large amounts of type 2 cytokines such as IL-5 and IL-13. We examined the role of the IL-33-ILC2 axis in tumor immunity using the transplantable B16 melanoma model system. We found that intraperitoneal administration of IL-33 significantly reduced melanoma growth in the recipient mice. The protective effect of IL-33 was not observed when we used IL-33 receptor (T1/ST2)-deficient mice as a B16 melanoma cell recipient, indicating that IL-33 signals are critical for the anti-tumor effect. When we examined the tumor tissues, we found an infiltration of ILC2 as well as eosinophils, implying that infiltration and proliferation of eosinophils by ILC2-derived eotaxin and IL-5 plays a role in anti-tumor immunity. We have also found that lactic acid produced by tumor cells suppressed ILC2 expansion in the tumor tissues and that B16 melanoma cells lacking lactate dehydrogenase failed to suppress ILC2 expansion, resulting in a slower melanoma growth rate in the recipient mice compared to mice transplanted with lactate dehydrogenase-sufficient melanoma cells. The effect of IL-33 treatment was stronger against lactate dehydrogenase-deficient melanoma cells compared to lactate dehydrogenase-sufficient melanoma cells. These results suggest that the balance between the IL-33-ILC2 axis and lactate production by tumor cells affects melanoma growth in vivo.



## Laboratory for Human Disease Models Group Director: Fumihiko Ishikawa

## Figure: Creating new therapeutic strategies targeting poor prognosis leukemia through a multifaceted approach

(Upper) Mutations acquired as early as at the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) level accumulate over time creating clonal, but non-malignant, hematopoiesis. In acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients, pre-malignant HSCs continue to generate multilineage hematopoietic cells as permissive mutations accumulate. With acquisition of a critical mutation, occurring at various levels of human hematopoietic development, non-malignant clonal hematopoiesis is converted to malignant hematopoiesis. This creates a state in which non-malignant multilineage hematopoiesis and leukemic hematopoiesis co-exist. (Lower left) In FLT3-mutated AML cells, the balance between cell survival and cell death is disturbed by strong BCL2 function (Lower right) By targeting a mutation with high malignant potential and a molecule related to therapeutic resistance, leukemia cells harboring multiple co-existing somatic mutations are eliminated.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Saito Y, Mochizuki Y, Ogahara I, Watanabe T, Hogdal L, Takagi S, Sato K, Kaneko A, Kajita H, Uchida N, Fukami T, Shultz LD, Taniguchi S, Ohara O, Letai AG, Ishikawa F. Overcoming mutational complexity in acute myeloid leukemia by inhibition of critical pathways. *Sci Trans Med* 9, eaao1214 (2017)

Najima Y, Tomizawa-Murasawa M, Saito Y, Watanabe T, Ono R, Ochi T, Suzuki N, Fujiwara H, Ohara O, Shultz LD, Yasukawa M, Ishikawa F. Induction of WT1-specific human CD8\* T cells from human HSCs in HLA class I Tg NOD/SCID/IL2rgKO mice. *Blood* 127, 722–734 (2016)

Ishikawa F. "Functional single cell genomics for leukemia" Stanford ISCBRM-RIKEN IMS Joint Symposium (Stanford, USA) May, 2017



The specific aim of our laboratory has been to understand the dynamics of human hematopoiesis, immunity, and diseases, and to apply our research findings to clinical medicine. By transplanting human normal and malignant stem cells into immune-compromised NOD/SCID/Il2rgKO (NSG) newborns, we have succeeded in reconstituting multiple organs of the recipients with human normal or malignant hematopoiesis. We further aim to create next generation humanized mice expressing human proteins, such as cytokines and adhesion molecules, that serve essential roles in mediating signaling in the hematopoietic microenvironment.

In malignant stem cell research, we previously discovered how acute myeloid leukemia (AML) development and relapse occurs using the humanized mouse model. Since whole genome sequencing has revealed the presence of multiple mutations in individual patients' leukemia cells, we have sought to identify critical mutations that need to be targeted to destroy genetically complex human leukemia. To this end, we are currently approaching the disease by integrating single cell genomics and the humanized mouse system.

**Invited Presentations** 

Ishikawa F. "Understanding normal and malignant human hematopoiesis with humanized mice" The 76th Annual Meeting for Japan Cancer Association (Yokohama, Japan) October, 2017



## Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem

Group Director: Hiroshi Ohno

Figure: Schematic representation of the mechanism for the role of mast cells in activation of ILC2s upon helminth infection

Upon helminth infection, ATP is released from injured epithelial cells (top left) and activates mast cells (bottom left). Activated mast cells release IL-33 which in turn stimulates ILC2s leading to the production of IL-13 (bottom center). Finally, IL-13 promotes mucin secretion by goblet cells (top right) to eradicate helminths.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Date Y, Ebisawa M, Fukuda S, Shima H, Obata Y, Takahashi D, Kato T, Hanazato M, Nakato G, Williams IR, Hase K, Ohno H. NALT M cells are important for immune induction for the common mucosal immune system. Potential Role of the Formation of Tunneling Nanotubes in HIV-1 Spread in Macrophages. *Int Immunol* 29, 471–478 (2017)

Jinnohara T, Kanaya T, Hase K, Sakakibara S, Kato T, Tachibana N, Sasaki T, Hashimoto Y, Sato T, Watarai H, Kunisawa J, Shibata N, Williams IR, Kiyono H, Ohno H. IL-22BP dictates characteristics of Peyer's patch follicle-associated epithelium for antigen uptake. *J Exp Med* 214, 1607–1618 (2017)

Shimokawa C, Kanaya T, Hachisuka M, Ishiwata K, Hisaeda H, Kurashima Y, Kiyono H, Yoshimoto T, Kaisho T, Ohno H. Mast Cells Are Crucial for Induction of Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells and Clearance of Helminth Infections. *Immunity* 46, 863–874 (2017)

### **Invited Presentations**

Ohno H. "Small Intestinal Microbes Accelerate Autoimmune Inflammation in the Central Nerve System" CIMI-PARIS SYMPOSIUM "Microbiota and Medicine" (Paris, France) December, 2017

Ohno H. "Crucial roles of mast cells for induction of group 2 innate lymphoid cells and clearance of helminth infections" 2017 International Conference, Korean Society for Molecular and Cellular Biology (Seoul, Korea) September, 2017

Ohno H. "The function of M cells in host-microbe interaction" Falk Foundation Symposium 207 Gut Microbiome and Mucosal or Systemic Dysfunction: Mechanisms, Clinical Manifestations and Interventions (Brisbane, Australia) May, 2017

Ohno H. "Integrated multi-omics approach for understanding the gut ecosystem" Institut Necker Enfants Malades 2nd International Symposium. Immunology 2017: New Horizons (Paris, France) April, 2017

Ohno H. "The impact of gut microbiome on the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice, a model of multiple sclerosis" The 3rd Microbiome R&D and Business Collaboration Congress: Asia (Hong Kong, China) March, 2017



Shimokawa et al., Immunity, 2017

E normous numbers of commensal bacteria, called the gut microbiota, reside in our intestines; nevertheless, we do not unconditionally accept those microorganisms. The intestinal immune system somehow senses the type and quantity of bacteria in the gut lumen and tries to contain them. Reciprocally, the gut microbiota shape the host immune system, and the host-gut microbiota interaction profoundly impacts our physiology and pathology.

Gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) such as Peyer's patches is crucial for intestinal immune responses. GALT are covered by a specialized epithelium called follicle-associated epithelium (FAE). The intestinal epithelium is protected from the gut microbiota in several ways, e.g., the epithelial cells secrete antimicrobial proteins such as Reg3 $\gamma$  and are covered by mucus secreted from goblet cells. Fuco-sylation of the epithelium has also been shown to protect from infection by pathogens such as *Salmonella*. IL-22 signaling induces all these epithelial phenotypes. Interestingly, these features are suppressed in FAE by unknown mechanisms. Recently, we have shown that IL-22BP, an endogenous inhibitor of IL-22 signaling, is strongly expressed only under the FAE and confers the characteristic FAE phenotypes.

We have also reported that mast cells are crucial for induction of group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) during the clearance of helminth infection. We found that Spi-B-KO mice, which exhibit mast cell hyperplasia, rapidly expelled the *Heligmosomoides polygyrus* (Hp) nematode. This was accompanied by induction of ILC2s and goblet cell hyperplasia. Upon Hp infection, mast cells were rapidly activated to produce IL-33, a potent ILC2 activator, in response to ATP released from Hp-damaged intestinal epithelium. Inhibition of the ATP receptor on mast cells rendered the Spi-B-KO mice susceptible to Hp, concomitant with elimination of mast-cell activation and ILC2 induction. These results reveal a previously unknown role for mast cells in innate immunity in that activation of mast cells by ATP results in secretion of IL-33 crucial for ILC2 activation (Figure).

Lab activities



## **Laboratory for Mucosal Immunity**

Team Leader: Sidonia Fagarasan

Figure: Reduced levels of monoamine neurotransmitters in the brain of Pdcd1<sup>-/-</sup> mice Imaging mass spectrometry showing the distribution and relative level of dopamine (DA) and serotonin (5-HT) in sagittal brain sections from WT and Pdcd1-/-, the gene encoding PD-1, mice.



### T cell activation has far-reaching effects on other major physiological systems

### **Recent Major Publications**

Miyajima M, Zhang B, Sugiura Y., Sonomura K., Guerrini MM, Tsutsui Y, Maruva M, Vogelzang A, Chamoto K, Honda K, Hikida T, Qin H, Sanuki R, Suzuki K, Furukawa T, Ishihama Y, Matsuda F, Suematsu M, Honjo T, Fagarasan S. Metabolic shift induced by systemic activation of T cells in PD-1 deficient mice perturbs brain monoamines and emotional behavior. Nat Immunol 18, 1342-1352 (2017)

Chamoto K, Chowdhury PS, Kumar A, Fagarasan S, Honjo T. Mitochondria activation chemicals synergize with PD-1 checkpoint blockade for T cell-dependent anti-tumor activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114, E761-E770 (2017)

Zhang B, Chikuma S, Hori S, Fagarasan S, Honjo T. Nonoverlapping roles of PD-1 and FoxP3 in maintaining immune tolerance in a novel autoimmune pancreatitis mouse model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113, 8490-8495 (2016)

**Invited Presentations** 

Fagarasan S. "Excessive T cell activation in the absence of PD-1 affects behavior" The 1st Cold Spring Harbor Asia conference on inflammation: Basic Mechanisms and Relevant Diseases (Shuzou, China) December, 2017

Fagarasan S. "Involvement of PD-1 in antibody diversification and body homeostasis" 19th International Conference on Lymphatic Tissues and Germinal Centers in Immune Reactions (Venice, Italy) September, 2017 Organizer

Fagarasan S. "Involvement of PD-1 in antibody diversification and systemic homeostasis" 2017 NHRI/IBMS Joint International Conference on inflammation and Disease (Taipei, Taiwan) February, 2017

We have discovered a novel impact of T cell activation on systemic metabolic homeostasis. We demonstrate that besides boosting immunity, the activation of the immune system has far-reaching effects on other major physiological systems of

the body. We found that persistent T cell activation resulted in drastic systemic metabolic changes, including significant reduction of almost all proteinogenic amino acids (AA) levels from the serum. Remarkably the reduction of aromatic AA like tryptophan, tyrosine and phenylalanine was evident from a relatively young age (two months old) and seems to precede all other aminome changes. Furthermore, we linked the depletion of tyrosine and tryptophan in the periphery to reduced synthesis of brain monoamine neurotransmitters such as dopamine and serotonin. We further demonstrated that such biochemical alterations caused abnormal behavior in mice, dominated by anxiety and enhanced fear responses. Dietary tryptophan supplementation aimed at increasing serotonin in PD-1-deficient mice restored neurotransmitter homeostasis and normal behavior phenotypes.

### Mechanistic insights into the T cell-mediated systemic metabolomic shift

We found in vitro and in vivo that activated T cells increased expression of AA transporters and, as a result, accumulated high concentrations of intracellular AA. Thus, the observed systemic AA depletion is the result of accumulation of AA inside the activated immune cells, particularly effector/memory T cells.

A remarkable and unexpected finding was that the increase of intracellular AA cargo occurred despite the concurrent increase in anabolic activity following activation. This finding illustrates a novel and counterintuitive direct rather than inverse relationship between certain intracellular metabolite concentrations and their downstream catabolism rates. Our results challenge the dogma that increased protein synthesis and catabolism reduce the levels of free AA within cells, a notion strongly held in the field of metabolomics.



## Laboratory for **Gut Homeostasis**

Team Leader: Kenya Honda

Figure: Th1 cell induction and inflammation by ectopic colonization of oral microbiota

Scanning electron micrograph of the proximal colons of Klebsiella pneumoniae strain 2H7 mono-associated wild-type or colitis-prone IL-10 deficient mice. K. pneumoniae strain 2H7 induced severe inflammation only in IL-10 deficient mice, suggesting that it acts as a gut pathobiont in the context of a genetically susceptible host.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Atarashi K, Suda W, Luo C, Kawaguchi, Motoo, Narushima S, Kiguchi Y, Yasuma K, Watanabe E, Tanoue T, Thaiss CA, Sato M, Toyooka K, Said HS, Yamagami H, Rice SA, Gevers D, Johnson RC, Segre JA, Chen K, Kolls JK, Elinav E, Morita H, Xavier RJ, Hattori M, Honda K. Ectopic colonization of oral bacteria in the intestine drives TH1 cell induction and inflammation. Science 358, 359-365 (2017)

Honda K, Littman DR. The microbiota in adaptive immune homeostasis and disease. Nature 535, 75-84 (2016)

Tanoue T, Atarashi K, Honda K. Development and maintenance of intestinal regulatory T cells. Nat Rev Immunol 16, 295-309 (2016)

**Invited Presentations** 

Honda K. "Activation of CD8 T cells by the gut microbiota" CSH ASIA CONFERENCES Microbiota, Metagenomics & Health (Suzhou, China) September, 2017

Honda K. "Intestinal Colonization Resistance Against Oral Resident Bacteria" 18th International Congress of Mucosal Immunology (ICMI 2017) (Washington D.C. USA) July, 2017

Honda K. "Modulation of the immune system by the gut microbiota" CSHL Fundamental Immunology & Its Therapeutic Potential (Cold Spring Harbor, USA) April, 2017

Honda K. "Immune modulation by the gut microbiota" CSH ASIA CONFERENCES Bacterial Infection & Host Defense (Suzhou, China) April, 2017

Honda K. "Regulation of the immune system by the gut microbiota" Alberta-Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED) Workshop for Medical Innovation (Calgary, Canada) February, 2017

GF WT + Klebsiella pneumoniae 2H7



he Laboratory for Gut Homeostasis has been trying to identify specific members of the gut microbiota that regulate specific branches of the host mucosal immune system. Our long-term goal is to develop new strategies to treat pathological conditions such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), allergy, cancer, and obesity by well-informed manipulation of the gut microbiota.

Previously, we succeeded in isolation of 17 human gut-derived clostridial strains that are potent inducers of intestinal CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T (Treg) cells. These strains are able to trigger the accumulation of colonic Treg cells with strong suppressive activity for effector T cells. Oral introduction of these 17 strains resulted in reduced GVHD severity and this was mediated through production of short chain fatty acids by the 17 strains. We also isolated 20 strains of TH17-inducing bacteria strains consisting of various genera from an ulcerative colitis patient fecal sample. The 20 strains induce TH17 cells through adhesion to colonic epithelial cells.

This year, we searched for immune stimulatory bacteria in the human saliva microbiota, because it has been reported that intestinal colonization by bacteria of oral origin correlates with several negative health outcomes, such as IBD. Moreover, oral bacteria are often resistant to multiple antibiotics and can cause healthcare-associated intestinal infections. However, the precise influence exerted by ectopically colonized oral bacteria in the gut still remains unclear. To identify immune stimulatory bacteria of human oral origin, saliva samples were obtained from healthy human donors and patients with Crohn's disease (CD) and inoculated into germ-free (GF) mice. A saliva sample from one CD patient induced a marked accumulation of TH1 cells in the colonic lamina propria of the inoculated mice. We cultured cecal contents from the mice inoculated with the CD patient saliva and succeeded in isolation of 8 individual bacterial strains. A significant increase in Th1 cells was observed in GF mice inoculated with a mixture of the isolated 8 strains. Among the 8 strains, a Klebsiella pneumoniae strain was found to be responsible for TH1 cell induction. The isolated Klebsiella strain was resistant to multiple antibiotics, tended to colonize in dysbiotic microbiota and elicited a severe gut inflammation in mice genetically prone to colitis (Fig). These bacteria appeared to produce innate immune ligands, most likely packaged in outer membrane vesicles, to induce TH1 cells. Our work suggests that there is a subtype of IBD in which bacteria of oral origin contribute to the pathogenesis.

Lab activities



## Laboratory for Immune Homeostasis

Team Leader: Taishin Akiyama

Figure: A hypothetical model of mTEC differentiation

Aire-expressing mature mTECs differentiate from common progenitor cells through pro-pMEC and pMEC stages. Mechanisms underlying commitment to mTEC lineage remain to be determined. We are trying to identify critical regulators for mTEC commitment (referred to as "X").



**Recent Major Publications** 

Inuki S, Aiba T, Kawakami S, Akiyama T, Inoue JI, Fujimoto Y. Chemical Synthesis of d-glycero-d-manno-Heptose 1,7-Bisphosphate and Evaluation of Its Ability to Modulate NF-κB Activation. **Org Lett** 19, 3079–3082 (2017)

Kawasaki M, Kawasaki K, Oommen S, Blackburn J, Watanabe M, Nagai T, Kitamura A, Maeda T, Liu B, Schmidt-Ullrich R, Akiyama T, Inoue J, Hammond NL, Sharpe PT, Ohazama A. Regional regulation of Filiform tongue papillae development by Ikkα/Irf6. **Dev Dyn** 245, 937–946 (2016)

Akiyama N, Takizawa N, Miyauchi M, Yanai H, Tateishi R, Shinzawa M, Yoshinaga R, Kurihara M, Demizu Y, Yasuda H, Yagi S, Wu G, Matsumoto M, Sakamoto R, Yoshida N, Penninger JM, Kobayashi Y, Inoue J, Akiyama T. Identification of embryonic precursor cells that differentiate into thymic epithelial cells expressing autoimmune regulator. *J Exp Med* 213, 1441-1458 (2016) M edullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) play an essential role in self-tolerance induction. mTECs have the unique ability to express many kinds of self-antigens, including proteins that are expressed in a tissue-specific manner (tissue specific antigens; TSAs). TSAs are presented to developing T cells in the thymic medulla either directly by mTECs or indirectly by thymic dendritic cells. As result, developing T cells recognizing TSA peptide-MHC complexes undergo apoptosis or conversion into regulatory T cells, which suppress immune reactions. The transcription factor autoimmune regulator (Aire) promotes expression of some TSAs and controls self-tolerance induction mediated by mTECs.

Several studies showed that mTEC development is dependent on signaling from tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor family, receptor activator of NF- $\kappa$ B (RANK), CD40, and lymphotoxin  $\beta$ -receptor (Lt $\beta$ R). It was reported that signaling through these receptors activates the NF- $\kappa$ B transcription factor via two distinct intracellular signaling pathways, classical and non-classical NF- $\kappa$ B pathways. These two modes of NF- $\kappa$ B activation have non-redundant roles in development of Aire-expressing mTECs (Aire<sup>+</sup> mTECs). However, it remained to be determined which mTEC differentiation stages are regulated by these signaling pathways.

We recently identified embryonic precursor cells of Aire<sup>+</sup> mTECs (pMECs). The pMECs expresses both the mTEC maker UEA-1 ligand and cortical TEC molecules and differentiate into mTECs that are capable of suppressing autoimmune disease onset caused by mTEC dysfunction. Classical NF- $\kappa$ B activation by RANK signaling promotes differentiation of pMEC into Aire<sup>+</sup> mTECs. Non-classical NF- $\kappa$ B activation triggered by RANK and Lt $\beta$ R signaling promotes pMEC induction from their progenitors Thus, cytokine-dependent differentiation of embryonic Aire<sup>+</sup> mTECs is divided into two stages regulated by distinct intracellular signaling pathways. We are currently investigating gene expression profiles of pMECs and their precursor pro-pMECs to identify molecules critical for commitment to mTEC differentiation.



## Laboratory for Skin Homeostasis

Team Leader: Masayuki Amagai

### Figure: Comprehensive analysis of skin barrier homeostasis

Our team is trying to clarify the mechanisms of skin barrier homeostasis by focusing on stratum corneum (SC), tight junction (TJ), and SG1 cells. We established a live imaging system to study the cornification process in mice. We also focus on the study of host-microbe interactions on skin.

### **Recent Major Publications**

Miyamoto A, Lee S, Cooray NF, Lee S, Mori M, Matsuhisa N, Jin H, Yoda L, Yokota T, Itoh A, Sekino M, Kawasaki H, Ebihara T, Amagai M, Someya T. Inflammation-free, gas-permeable, lightweight, stretchable on-skin electronics with nanomeshes. *Nat Nanotechnol* 12, 907–913 (2017)

Amagai M. Modulating immunity to treat autoimmune disease. *New Eng J Med* 375, 1487–1489 (2016)

Yokouchi M, Atsugi T, Logtestijn MV, Tanaka RJ, Kajimura M, Suematsu M, Furuse M, Amagai M, Kubo A. Epidermal cell turnover across tight junctions based on Kelvin's tetrakaidecahedron cell shape. *eLife* 5, e19593 (2016)

### **Invited Presentations**

Amagai M. "Stratum corneum as niche to control skin microbiota" The 6th Global Network Forum on Infection and Immunity (Chiba, Japan) October, 2017

Amagai M. "Cracking the codes of autoimmune and allergic skin diseases" Rudi Cormane Lecture at 47th Annual Meeting of the European Society of Dermatological Research (Salzburg, Austria) September, 2017

Matsui T. "Regulation of skin epidermal barrier formation by Ca<sup>2+</sup> and pH" The Leibniz-AMED Workshop, Chronic Inflammation, Infection and Healthy Aging (Ettal, Germany) September, 2017

Matsui T. "Involvement of endogenous retrovirus in the adaptive evolution of skin" The 2nd Japan-Korea International Symposium for Transposable Elements (Tokyo, Japan) June, 2017

Amagai M. "Skin barrier homeostasis and its failure" 2017 NHRI/IBMS Joint International Conference on Inflammation & Diseases (Taipei, Taiwan) February, 2017



kin is the site where immunity meets external antigens. Cutaneous sensitiza- $\bigcirc$  tion is now thought to be the initial key step for many allergic disorders, not only atopic dermatitis (AD), but also asthma, food allergy and anaphylaxis. Skin harbors several barriers to prevent easy penetration of external antigens into the body; however, the exact molecular mechanisms by which the skin barriers form and are maintained are largely unknown. The epidermis is keratinized stratified squamous epithelia and is the outermost component of the skin. From bottom to top, the epidermis is composed of the stratum basale, stratum spinosum, stratum granulosum (SG) and stratum corneum (SC). Our group has been focusing on the SC barrier as an air-liquid barrier, and on tight junctions (TJ) as a liquid-liquid barrier formed between SG2 cells, among many other skin barriers. There is a fundamental biophysical paradox regarding the function of the epidermis, namely, how it can maintain the barrier but still constantly replace and shed cells. Our group is trying to clarify how epidermal barrier homeostasis in maintained under normal conditions and how impaired barrier function occurs and affects microenvironments of the skin in various disease conditions. We use comprehensive approaches combining molecular biology, biochemistry, ultrastructural anatomy, live cell imaging, microbiology, and systems biology. For example, we have recently succeeded in isolating and characterizing SG1 cells and also in visualizing SC-pH in living mice, which enables us to perform several unique experiments to understand SC homeostasis. Another of our strengths is to be able to go back and forth between the findings in basic science in mice and those in clinical science in humans with various skin diseases. Our goal is to understand skin barrier homeostasis in health and diseases, and to provide patients suffering from severe allergic diseases with more targeted, ideal therapeutic approaches with fewer side effects.



## Laboratory for Metabolic Homeostasis

Team Leader: Naoto Kubota

### Figure: Pathology arising from failure of insulin homeostasis

In chronic energy excessive conditions, e.g., sustained hyperinsulinemia observed in obesity, there is a consistent reduction in the expression levels of Irs2, but not of Irs1, in endothelial cells, liver cells and macrophages. This results in impaired insulin-induced glucose uptake and suppression of gluconeogenesis. On the other hand, since the expression level of Irs1 is not decreased, excessive insulin activity is observed in liver, smooth muscle cells, cancer cells and adipose tissue, where Irs1 plays pivotal role in insulin signaling. This results in increased hepatic lipogenesis, progression of atherosclerosis, cancer, and obesity under conditions of sustained hyperinsulinemia.



### **Recent Major Publications**

Sasaki M, Sasako T, Kubota N, Sakurai Y, Takamoto I, Kubota T, Inagi R, Seki G, Goto M, Ueki K, Nangaku M, Jomori T, Kadowaki T. Dual Regulation of Gluconeogenesis by Insulin and Glucose in the Proximal Tubules of the Kidney. **Diabetes** 66, 2339–2350 (2017)

Sakurai Y, Kubota N, Takamoto I, Obata A, Iwamoto M, Hayashi T, Aihara M, Kubota T, Nishihara H, Kadowaki T. Role of insulin receptor substrates in the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Sci Rep* 7, 5387 (2017)

Kubota T, Kubota N, Kadowaki T. Imbalanced Insulin Actions in Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes: Key Mouse Models of Insulin Signaling Pathway. *Cell Metab* 25, 797–810 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Kubota T. "Molecular mechanisms of impairment of M2-type macrophage activation in obesity" 22th Adiposcience Symposium (Osaka, Japan) Aug, 2017

Kubota N, Kubota N, Kadowaki T. "Insulin resistance and atherosclerosis" The 60th Annual Meeting of the Japan Diabetes Society (Nagoya, Japan) May, 2017

Kubota N, Kubota N, Kadowaki T. "New concept of insulin resistance-Metabolic zonation in liver-" The 60th Annual Meeting of the Japan Diabetes Society (Nagoya, Japan) May, 2017 In recent years, there has been a rapid increase in the incidence of type 2 diabetes in both Western and Asian countries. However, the precise molecular mechanisms underlying the progression of type 2 diabetes remain poorly understand. The goal of our team is to identify molecular mechanisms of insulin secretion and insulin resistance.

### 1) Molecular mechanism of insulin secretion

Impaired insulin secretion leads to the development of type 2 diabetes. This impaired insulin secretion is thought to be partially caused by genetic factors. Most of the common variant single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) identified by genome-wide association study (GWAS) have been reported to be associated with defective pancreatic islet function. However, the functional role of genes identified by GWAS remains unclear. To elucidate the physiology and pathophysiological role of such genes *in vivo*, we have generated genetically engineered mice (Diabetologia 2014). Specifically, we are investigating common variants in potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily Q member 1 *(KCNQ1)* and ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2 E2 *(UBE2E2)*, which confer the largest effect on the risk of type 2 diabetes in Asians.

### 2) Molecular mechanism of insulin resistance

Obesity-induced insulin resistance plays a crucial role as the pathogenesis of lifestyle-related diseases, including metabolic syndrome, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and type 2 diabetes. Insulin resistance is defined as a condition in which physiological insulin signals are impaired for some reason, such as chronic inflammation. Once insulin binds to the insulin receptor, insulin receptor substrate (IRS)-1 and IRS-2 are activated, and mediate intracellular insulin signaling. Until now, we have been studying the role of IRS-1 and IRS-2, which show ubiquitous expression patterns (Diabetes 2000, Circulation 2003, J Clin Invest 2004, Cell Metab 2008, Cell Metab 2011, Cell 2012, Nat Commun 2016, Sci Rep 2017, Cell Metab 2017). We will continue to clarify the underlying mechanisms of insulin resistance by studying new aspects of these two molecules.



# Laboratory for Immune Crosstalk

Team Leader: Hilde Cheroutre

Figure: Our major interest is to understand the link between T cell receptor (TCR) signals at the plasma membrane and nuclear gene expression in developing thymocytes and activated T cells We identified a novel RARa isoform that localizes preferentially in the cytoplasm (cRARg). This isoform is distinct from the nuclear RARa (nRARa) and is involved in proximal TCR signaling and TCR-induced Notch and c-myc activation, which promote initial T cell proliferation. In another project we examine Themis. Cytoplasmic Themis resides proximal to the TCR and is constitutively associated with Grb2, which binds both LAT and SHP1 and negatively affects TCR signaling. We found that Themis also localizes to the nucleus and that its translocation to the nucleus is critical for its function in developing thymocytes. We are now aiming to elucidate the nuclear function of Themis and evaluate the importance of its genomic function in thymocyte development and T cell activation.

### **Recent Major Publications**

Nieke S, Yasmin N, Kakugawa K, Yokomizo T, Muroi S, Taniuchi I. Unique N-terminal sequences in two Runx1 isoforms are dispensable for Runx1 function. *BMC Dev Biol* 17, 14 (2017)

Kakugawa K, Kojo S, Tanaka H, Seo W, Endo TA, Kitagawa Y, Muroi S, Tenno M, Yasmin N, Kohwi Y, Sakaguchi S, Kowhi-Shigematsu T, Taniuchi I. Essential Roles of SATB1 in Specifying T Lymphocyte Subsets. *Cell Rep* 19, 1176–1188 (2017)

Larange A, Cheroutre H. Retinoic Acid and Retinoic Acid Receptors as Pleiotropic Modulators of the Immune System. **Annu Rev Immunol** 34, 369–394 (2016)

Verstichel G, Vermijlen D, Martens L, Goetgeluk G, Brouwer M, Thiault N, Van Caeneghem Y, De Munter S, Weening K, Bonte S, Leclerq G, Taghon T, Kerre T, Saevs Y, Van Dorpe J, Cheroutre H, Vandekerckhove B. The checkpoint for agonist selection precedes conventional selection in human thymus. *Sci Immunol* 2, eaah4232 (2017)

### **Invited Presentations**

Cheroutre H. "Control of the Functional Fate of CD4 T Cells by LncRNA" National Institute of Health MIST meeting (Bethesda, USA) June, 2017

Cheroutre H. "Non-genomic function of RARalpha in T cells" Institute for Research in Biomedicine (Bellinzona, Switzerland) April, 2017

Cheroutre H. "CD4 CTL at the mucosal barrier" The Chiba-UCSD Mucosal Immunology and Vaccine Symposium, UCSD (La Jolla, USA) March, 2017

Cheroutre H. "A Give-and-Take Relation between TGFbeta and the Gut Environment Drives the CD4 CTL Fate." Keystone Symposia: TGF- $\beta$  in Immunity, Inflammation and Cancer (Taos, USA) January, 2017



 $\mathbf{T}$ e discovered cytoplasmic retinoic acid receptor alpha (cRAR $\alpha$ ) as a new member of the TCR signalosome and an interacting partner with ZAP70. We found that cRARa plays a critical non-genomic role in the proximal TCR signaling complex as well as in TCR-induced NOTCH activation and c-Myc expression and early activation-induced proliferation. Furthermore, we characterized cRARa at the molecular level and identified it as an alternative splice form of the nuclear RARa1 and -2, with a shared conserved C-terminal region containing the ligand binding domain (LBD). Cytoplasmic RARa is expressed by mature T cells as well as immature thymocytes, indicating that RARa might also serve non-genomic roles during thymic development and selection. We are now designing various in vitro and in vivo strategies to fully characterize the non-genomic function of RARa at the molecular and cellular level and under physiological and disease settings. In another study, we newly identified Themis as an essential gene for T cell development by phenotype screening of ENU-induced mutant mice. Themis functions by interacting with Grb2 and SHP1, thus down-modulating TCR signal strength and allowing positive selection of thymocytes that further mature to conventional naïve T cells. By generating specific nuclear localization signal deletion mutants, we now find that the nuclear localization of Themis is critical and essential for its function. Therefore, in addition to its function in proximal TCR signaling, we speculate that Themis also plays a role in the nucleus to control TCR-induced gene expression. We are now aiming to elucidate the genomic function of Themis. We generated a Themis-ERT2 fusion protein, which tethers Themis protein in the cytoplasm and induces nuclear translocation upon tamoxifen administration. In addition, we are also generating ChIP-seq data using a newly generated x3FLAG tagged Themis knock-in mouse.

Lab activities



## Laboratory for Inflammatory Regulation

Team Leader: Takashi Tanaka

Figure: Microbiota-dependent development of NASH in PDLIM2-deficient mice

Representative Hematoxylin and Eosin (HE)-stained liver histopathology in wild-type and PDLIM2-deficient mice. PDLIM2-deficient liver showed massive accumulation of lipid droplets in the hepatocytes and the infiltration of inflammatory cells.



Liver, HE staining

### **Recent Major Publications**

Shin C, Ito Y, Ichikawa S, Tokunaga M, Sakata-Sogawa K, Tanaka T. MKRN2 is a novel ubiquitin E3 ligase for the p65 subunit of NF- $\kappa\beta$  and negatively regulates inflammatory responses. *Sci Rep* 7, 46097 (2017)

Tanaka T. Clarification of the molecular mechanisms that negatively regulate inflammatory responses. In: Miyasaka M, Takatsu K. (eds.), *Chronic Inflammation: Mechanisms and Regulation, 1st edition,* Tokyo, Japan: Springer Japan KK, pp109–118 (2016)

#### Invited Presentations

Tanaka T. "Microbiota-dependent development of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) in PDLIM2-deficient mice" Luxembourg FNR-RIKEN Joint Symposium, Understanding Inflammatory Diseases beyond Complexity (Yokohama, Japan) October, 2017

Tanaka T. "Molecular mechanism how Nahlsgen controls biological function of the skin" NAHLS Research Symposium (Osaka, Japan) October, 2017

Tanaka T. "Negative regulation of inflammatory responses by LIM proteins" The 1st RIKEN-McGill Symposium, Excellence in Immunology & Genetics (Montreal, Canada) May, 2017 The inflammatory response is an important host defense mechanism to sense and eliminate invading microbial pathogens. However, these inflammatory responses must be terminated at the appropriate time point, otherwise excessive and uncontrolled responses can damage normal tissue and lead to chronic inflammatory diseases. Our research goal is to identify a series of key negative regulators of inflammation and clarify the complete picture of the molecular mechanisms for regulating inflammatory responses.

Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) is a chronic hepatic inflammation associated with immune cell infiltration and fibrosis. In recent years, NASH has become clinically important, since 10-20% of NASH cases may progress to liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying the development of NASH remain unclear. PDLIM2 is a nuclear ubiquitin E3 ligase containing PDZ and LIM domains. In our previous study, we demonstrated that PDLIM2 functions as a ubiquitin E3 ligase for NF-KB and STAT3/4 transcription factors, negatively regulating inflammatory responses. We recently found that PDLIM2-deficient mice spontaneously develop NASH-like pathology. Notably, the onset of NASH in these mice completely depends on their environment. PDLIM2-deficient mice develop NASH in the animal facility of Harvard University but not in the RIKEN Yokohama facility. It is well known that systemic inflammation can be modified by gut microbiota. We therefore colonized gut microbiota from Taconic Farms mice into germ-free PDLIM2-deficient mice and found that PDLIM2-deficient mice with Taconic microbiota environment could develop NASH even in the RIKEN facility when fed a higher fat diet. Microarray analysis of PDLIM2-deficient liver showed the upregulation of several inflammation and metabolism-related genes. These data suggest that the Taconic microbiota environment is essential for the development of NASH in combination with PDLIM2-deficiency. We are now trying to identify the specific microbes or microbiota-derived metabolites that contribute to the NASH phenotype.



## Laboratory for **Cytokine Regulation** Team Leader: Masato Kubo

Figure: Innate and adaptive immunity crosstalk during the sensitization and challenge phase of lung inflammation

In the sensitization phase (solid lines), pulmonary epithelial cells can be activated directly by protease allergens. In response, lung epithelial cells release IL-33 that directly or indirectly activates ILC2 to produce IL-13. In some cases, lung eosinophils could be an alternative source of IL-13. IL-13 drives the maturation of CD11b+ cDCs, which depend on the transcription factor IRF4 for their maturation from pre-cDCs. After activation, the CD11b+ cDCs migrate into the draining mediastinal lymph nodes, where naïve T cells differentiate into Th2 cells. During the challenge phase (dashed lines), DCs again have a predominant role in Th2 effector function. A high dose of protease allergen activates monocytic DCs (moDCs) and recruits effector Th2 cells through the production of CCL17 and CCL22. In this case, moDCs need to express pattern-recognition receptors, such as TLRs, to stimulate release of these chemokines. The pulmonary epithelial cell-derived IL-33 directly activates effector Th2 cells to produce IL-5 and IL-13, while the allergen-bearing DCs activate the production of all Th2 cytokines, including IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, in the response to allergen.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Wang Y, Kuang Z, Yu X, Ruhn KA, Kubo M, Hooper LV. The intestinal microbiota regulates body composition through NFIL3 and the circadian clock. *Science* 357, 912–916 (2017)

Kubo M. Innate and adaptive type 2 immunity in lung allergic inflammation. *Immunol Review*, 278, 162–172 (2017)

Kubo M. T follicular helper and TH2 cells in allergic responses. *Allergol Int* 66,377–381 (2017)

**Invited Presentations** 

Kubo M. "Role of T follicular helper (TFH) and TH1 in flu specific humoral immunity" Cytokine 2017 (Kanazawa, Japan) October-November, 2017

Kubo M. "A Role of STAT3 in Barrier Integrity and Microbiota Composition of the Skin" Annual Conference of the Wide River Institute of Immunology International Symposium (Soul, Korea) October, 2017

Kubo M. "Role of cytokine in skin homeostasis and atopic dermatitis" The 4th Japan-Lithuania Natural and Life Sciences Joint Symposium (Tokyo, Japan) October, 2017

Kubo M. "Cytokine signaling in allergic responses" The 3rd Tsinghua-RIKEN Joint Workshop (Beijing, China) September, 2017

Kubo M. "New therapeutic approach for atopic dermatitis (AD) using comprehensive analysis and system biology" International Biomedical Interface Symposium (Taipei, Taiwan) March, 2017



cells play a central role in the effector and regulatory functions of the immunological surveillance system, and aberrations in these functions can lead to various immunological disorders. IL-4 is a cytokine commonly secreted by TH2 and follicular helper T (TFH) cells after antigenic sensitization. TFH-derived IL-4 is the major contributor to class switch recombination to Immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) and E (IgE). We have summarized in a review article in Allergology International (2017) how TH2 and TFH cells contribute to asthma, a pulmonary allergic inflammatory disease, resulting in bronchial hyper reactivity. Atopic asthma is defined by IgE antibody-mediated mast cell degranulation, while in non-atopic asthma there is no allergen specific IgE and more involvement of innate immune cells, such as basophils, group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2), and eosinophils. An innate cell network (IL-33/TSLP - basophil - ILC2 - IL-5/IL-13 axis) can facilitate the sensitization phase of a type 2 inflammatory responses, and this innate network further contributes to the adaptive Th2 cell response in the chronic state. We have discussed the interface and cross-talk between innate and adaptive immune cells in asthma in a review article in *Immunological Reviews* (2017).

We have accumulated evidence that NFIL3/E4BP4 is a CLOCK regulating transcription factor that also has a critical role in the pulmonary allergic inflammatory response via controlling development of ILC2s and IL-10 and IL-13 production. Recently, in collaboration with our group, Lora Hooper found a novel role for NFIL-3 as a CLOCK regulator of circadian oscillation-controlled lipid absorption and export in intestinal epithelial cells thorough a DC-ILC3 innate immune cell network (*Science*, 2017).

Lab activities



## Laboratory for Innate Immune Systems Team Leader: Kazuyo Moro

### Figure: Development of ILC2 occur in the peripheral tissues.

Step 1 (Lineage commitment): Strength and duration of Notch signals and IL-7 concentrations coordinately regulate the cell fate decision to T cell, B cell, or ILCs from CLP. Step 2 (Terminal differentiation): After commitment to the ILC lineage, CHILP or ILCP migrate to the peripheral tissues during the fetal stage. CCR9<sup>+</sup> ILC2 committed progenitors (CCR9<sup>+</sup> ILCP) predominantly differentiate to immature ILC2 *in situ* with the support of CD45-CD31- PDGFRa\*gp38<sup>+</sup> mesenchymal cells in the mesentery. STAT5 activators are essential for their maturation after birth.



**Recent Major Publications** 

Koga S, Hozumi K, Hirano K, Yazawa M, Terooatea T, Minoda A, Koyasu S, Moro K. Peripheral PDGFRa<sup>+</sup>gp38<sup>+</sup> mesenchymal cells support the differentiation of fetal liver-derived ILC2. *J. Exp. Med.* in press

Kamatani T, Fukunaga K, Miyata K, Shirasaki Y, Tanaka J, Baba R, Matsusaka M, Kamatani N, Moro K, Betsuyaku T, Uemura S. Construction of a system using a deep learning algorithm to count cell numbers in nanoliter wells for viable single-cell experiments. *Sci Rep* 7, 16831 (2017)

Moro K, Kabata H, Tanabe M, Koga S, Takeno N, Mochizuki M, Fukunaga K, Asano K, Betsuyaku T, Koyasu S. Interferon and IL-27 antagonize the function of group 2 innate lymphoid cells and type 2 innate immune responses. **Nat Immunol** 17, 76–86. (2016)

### **Invited Presentations**

Moro K. "Role of fetal liver and peripheral tissues in development and maturation of ILC2" The 46th Annual Meeting of The Japanese Society for Immunology (Sendai, Japan) December, 2017

Moro K. "Current topics in the innate immune system" The 5th Annual Meeting of the International Cytokine and Interferon Society (Kanazawa, Japan) November, 2017

Moro K. "Regulation of lipid metabolite-mediated IL-4 production in group 2 innate lymphoid cells." The 65th Annual Meeting of Japanese Society of Allergology (Tokyo, Japan) June, 2017

Moro K. "Discovery of group 2 innate lymphoid cells" The American Association of Immunologists Annual Meeting (Washington D.C., USA) May, 2017

Moro K. "Group 2 innate lymphoid cell and allergic inflammation" Advances in Targeted Therapies Meeting 2017 (Mandelieu, France) March, 2017 O ur research group focuses on group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2), an innate lymphocyte lineage that we identified in 2010. ILC2 localize to a variety of tissues such as fat, lung, intestine, liver and skin, and mediate immunity to helminth and fungal infections via strong type 2 cytokine production. Infection with helminths or fungi induces IL-25 and IL-33 production by epithelial cells or endothelial cells and activates ILC2, leading to eosinophilia and goblet cell hyperplasia resulting from the activity of IL-5 and IL-13, respectively.

ILC2 are thought to derive from common lymphoid progenitors (CLP) in the bone marrow (BM). The transcription factors essential for ILC2 differentiation have been extensively studied. However, the external factors regulating commitment of CLP to the ILC lineage, as well as the sites and stromal cells that constitute the optimal microenvironment for ILC2-specific differentiation, are not fully defined. To this end, we focused on the development of ILC2 in the peripheral tissues. First, we found that concentration of IL-7, strength and duration of Notch signaling are three key external factors important in the process of CLP to common helper-like ILC progenitor (CHILP) differentiation in the fetal liver. Next, we identified three different stages of ILC2 in the fetal mesentery: ILC progenitors lacking the developmental potential to become T or B cells; CCR9+ ILC2 progenitors that differentiate predominantly into ILC2; and KLRG1- immature ILC2 that require STAT5 signals for maturation. We further demonstrated that ILC2 differentiation from ILC progenitors, but not from CLP, is supported by mesenteric PDGFRa<sup>+</sup>gp38<sup>+</sup> mesenchymal cells. Collectively, our results suggest that early differentiation of ILC2 up until the ILC-committed progenitor stage occurs in the fetal liver via IL-7 and Notch signals, while final differentiation after the CHILP/ ILCP stage occurs in the peripheral tissues with the aid of PDGFRa<sup>+</sup>gp38<sup>+</sup> stromal cells.

## Core for Precise Measuring and Modeling

oward the ultimate goal of obtaining a comprehensive understanding of the pathogenesis of human diseases, the functions of the Core for Precise Measuring and Modeling are three pronged: production of mouse models, multiomics measurements and quantitative bioimaging, and bioinformatics/modeling of human disease processes. Through close interactions among these three branches of the core, we aim to collect a wide variety of quantitative data in order to build a computational and predictive network of the disease process. As for the production of genetically engineered mice that will be used as models of human diseases, the laboratory for Developmental Genetics has begun to apply recent advances in genome engineering technology, e.g., CRISPR/Cas9-based genome editing, and thereby considerably enhance the production capacity and power of the disease models. Regarding the precise quantitative measurements branch, we have recently enhanced the power of metabolite analysis by the Laboratory for Metabolomics. Together with mRNA/protein profiling by the Laboratory for Integrative Genomics, the enhanced multiomics measurements and bio-imaging (Laboratory for Tissue Dynamics) will greatly contribute to exploration of the etiology of human diseases. After being processed by bioinformatics (Laboratory for Integrated Bioinformatics), the datasets are used for modeling (Laboratories for Disease Systems Modeling and Integrated Cellular Systems). The laboratory for Medical Science Mathematics is working to fill the gap between humans and mice. As a leading IMS project, an atopic dermatitis model mouse, provided by the Laboratory for Immunogenetics, has been extensively analyzed from several different angles, fully exploiting the analysis powers of this core. These efforts should enable us to identify new biomarkers for early diagnosis and prevention of atopic dermatitis in the very near future.


## Laboratory for **Developmental Genetics** Group Director: Haruhiko Koseki

Figure: RNF20-mediated H2BK120ub1 facilitates initiation of early replication RNF20-mediated H2B monoubiquitination demarcates very early replicating regions and contributes to maintain precise replicating timing.





**Recent Major Publications** 

Dong Y, Isono KI, Ohbo K, Endo TA, Ohara O, Maekawa M, Toyama Y, Ito C, Toshimori K, Helin K, Ogonuki N, Inoue K, Ogura A, Yamagata K, Kitabayashi I, Koseki H. EPC1/TIP60-mediated histone acetylation facilitates spermiogenesis in mice. *Mol Cell Biol* 37, e00082–17 (2017)

Almeida M, Pintacuda G, Masui O, Koseki Y, Gdula M, Cerase A, Brown D, Mould A, Innocent C, Nakayama M, Schermelleh L, Nesterova TB, Koseki H, Brockdorff N. PCGF3/5-PRC1 initiates Polycomb recruitment in X chromosome inactivation. *Science* 356, 1081–1084 (2017)

Endoh M, Endo TA, Shinga J, Hayashi K, Farcas A, Ma KW, Ito S, Sharif J, Endoh T, Onaga N, Nakayama M, Ishikura T, Masui O, Kessler BM, Suda T, Ohara O, Okuda A, Klose RJ, Koseki H. PCGF6-PRC1 suppresses premature differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells by regulating germ cell-related genes. *Elife* 6, e21064 (2017)

**Invited Presentations** 

Koseki H. "Activating Polycomb-repressed genes in mammals" France-Japan Epigenetics Workshop (Paris, France) November, 2017

Koseki H. "Development of adoptive immunotherapy for cancer using iPS-derived NKT cells" The 21st Annual Meeting of Japanese Association of Cancer Immunology (Chiba, Japan) June, 2017

Koseki H. "Polycomb-mediated regulation of transition of transcriptional status" The 69th Annual Meeting of the Japan Society for Cell Biology (Sendai, Japan) June, 2017

Koseki H. "Clinical potential of iPS cell-derived invariant NKT cells" Stanford ISCBRM-RIKEN IMS Joint Symposium (Stanford, USA) May, 2017

Koseki H. "Gene regulation by Polycomb variants" RIK-EN-McGill Symposium (Montreal, Canada) May, 2017 The Developmental Genetics Research Group is pursuing a research program to elucidate the molecular mechanisms underlying organ development and stem cell functions. Particular emphasis has been put on epigenetic regulation mediated by the combinatorial actions of Polycomb group (PcG) gene products, DNA methylation mechanisms and cell cycle regulation.

DNA replication timing - a term coined to describe the temporal order of DNA segments being replicated in S phase - is recently considered a new epigenetic mark. Like its epigenetic counterparts, DNA replication timing is also cell type-specific and highly correlated with gene transcription status. However, it remains unclear how DNA replication timing is established and whether it is a regulator of gene transcription, or vice versa. To answer these questions, we exploited H2B ubiquitination (H2BK120ub1), a histone modification required for efficient DNA replication and gene transcription, as our study model. By comparing the global distribution of H2BK120ub1 with the DNA replication timing profile, we found that H2BK120ub1 is mostly enriched at the earliest replicating regions. To ask whether H2BK120ub1 was responsible for initiating early replication, we tethered Rnf20, the E3 ubiquitination ligase of H2B ubiquitination, at a particular genomic region and observed earlier replication. Nevertheless, domains according to our genome wide scale analysis, not only the H2BK120ub1 enriched early regions, but also the entire genome rely on this mark, at least partially, to define the replication timing. But interestingly, a shift in DNA replication timing in Rnf20 knockout cells was not accompanied by significant changes in gene expression, suggesting that gene transcription does not depend on DNA replication timing for regulation. By using a series of DNA replication assays, we found that H2B ubiquitination regulates DNA replication timing by modulating the time of replication origin initiation.



## Laboratory for Integrative Genomics Group Director: Osamu Ohara

Figure: Comparison of columns packed with non-porous and porous reverse-phase particles for shotgun proteomics

(A) Schematic representations of the flow path in a non-porous and a porous particle. (B) A scatter plot of Peak intensities of common peptides identified in tryptic digests of proteins of HEK293-F cells using columns packed with non-porous and porous reverse-phase particles. (C) Comparison of the number of proteins identified in 200 ng, 100 ng and 20ng of protein digests of HEK293-F cells by chromatographic separation on non-porous and porous reverse-phase particles. We observed that the use of non-porous reverse-phase particles considerably enhances protein identification in a small amount of sample.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Kadowaki T, Ohnishi H, Kawamoto N, Hori T, Nishimura K, Kobayashi C, Shigemura T, Ogata S, Inoue Y, Kawai T, Hiejima E, Takagi M, Imai K, Nishikomori R, Ito S, Heike T, Ohara O, Morio T, Fukao T, Kanegane H. Haploinsufficiency of A20 causes autoinflammatory and autoimmune disorders. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 141, 1485–1488 (2018)

Saito Y, Mochizuki Y, Ogahara I, Watanabe T, Hogdal L, Takagi S, Sato K, Kaneko A, Kajita H, Uchida N, Fukami T, Shultz LD, Taniguchi S, Ohara O, Letai AG, Ishikawa F. Overcoming mutational complexity in acute myeloid leukemia by inhibition of critical pathways. *Sci Transl Med* 9, eaao1214 (2017)

Fujiki R, Hijikata A, Shirai T, Okada S, Kobayashi M, Ohara O. Molecular mechanism and structural basis of gain-of-function of STAT1 caused by pathogenic R274Q mutation. *J Biol Chem* 292, 6240-6254 (2017)

**Invited Presentations** 

Ohara O. "Dissection of the immune cell society by single-cell technologies: Sequencing, production, and characterization of B-cell immunorepertoires retrieved from single cells" Single Cell Science Symposium: TECHNOLOGY MEETS BIOLOGY (Yokohama, Japan) July, 2017

Ohara O. "Applications and future perspectives of advanced genomics for clinical diagnosis" The 27th Annual Meeting of Pediatric Rheumatology Association of Japan (Kyoto, Japan) October, 2017



Because genomics is now an approach of choice when we tackle complex problems in medical sciences, our laboratory is currently involved in many intramural and extramural collaborations and various strategic projects organized by the center, in addition to providing our colleagues in the center with technical support as a central function. While we spend a considerable amount of time and effort on these activities, a part of effort is also dedicated to continuously updating our approaches with the least delay, but only after new technologies become mature and robust enough for applications in medical sciences.

In addition to this basic mission, we certainly keep it in mind that technology development has had a significant impact on the design of biological experiments and greatly deepens our understanding of biological systems. As we have experienced it first hand by the recent emergence of next-generation DNA sequencing technology, we believe that newly emerging technology frequently changes the experimental approaches in biology. In this context, the most critical issue for our laboratory is to correctly decide on the direction of technology development. We have recently taken advantage of single-cell analysis platforms, but our approaches so far have mainly been based on next-generation DNA sequencing and antibody-assisted imaging technologies. However, we believe that high-sensitivity proteome analysis will play a key role in the very near future. To begin to address this, we recently developed a liquid-chromatography (LC) system to improve the detection sensitivity of mass-spectrometry equipped with LC (Figure). While this is just an example, our laboratory will continue pursuing development of new measurement techniques in genomics for medical science researches at the center.



# Laboratory for Disease Systems Modeling

Group Director: Hiroaki Kitano

#### Figure: Transcription regulator network analysis revealed that several regulators of AP-1 are altered in Socs3 cKO.

(A) Upstream analysis was performed using IPA software to identify highly regulated transcription factors at 2 and 10 weeks in Socs3 cKO. Activator protein-1 (AP-1)-related transcription factors were differentially regulated at both time points. (B) Predicted mechanistic network of AP-1 regulation; numbers represent log2(fold change) of AP-1–related genes. Different structures of nodes represent different functional classes of gene products. Red indicates DEGs selected for validation. The nature of the relationship between nodes (direct or indirect) is indicated by a solid or dotted line, respectively.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Bajpai A, Ishii T, Miyauchi K, Gupta V, Nishio-Masaike Y, Shimizu-Yoshida Y, Kubo M, Kitano H. Insights into gene expression profiles induced by Socs3 depletion in keratinocytes. *Sci Rep* 7, 15830 (2017)

Kawakami E, Nakaoka S, Tazro Ohta T, Kitano H. Weighted enrichment method for prediction of transcription regulators from transcriptome and global chromatin immunoprecipitation data. *Nucleic Acids Res* 44, 5010–5021 (2016)

Kawakami E, Singh VK, Matsubara K, Ishii T, Matsuoka Y, Hase T, Kulkarni P, Siddiqui K, Kodilkar J, Danve N, Subramanian I, Katoh M, Shimizu-Yoshida Y, Ghosh S, Jere A, Kitano H. Network analyses based on comprehensive molecular interaction maps reveal robust control structures in yeast stress response pathways. *NPJ Syst Biol Appl* 2, 15018 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Kitano H. "Nobel Turing Challenge: The Day Al win The Nobel Prize and Future of Civilization" Luxembourg Centre for Systems Biomedicine seminar (Luxembourg, Luxembourg) May, 2017

Kitano H. "Al-driven Life Science Innovation and Grand Challenge" Al x Life Science Symposium (Tokyo, Japan) May, 2017

Kitano H. "Impacts of Artificial Intelligence for Pharmaceutical Industry: Disruptive Innovations in Scientific Discovery and Biomedical Sciences" The FIP 6th Pharmaceutical Sciences World Congress 2017(PSWC 2017) (Stockholm, Sweden) May, 2017

Kitano H. "Systems Toxicology by artificial intelligence" The 44th Annual Meeting of the Japanese Society of Toxicology (Yokohama, Japan) July, 2017

Kitano H. "Systems Biology: Tools and Integrated Platforms for the 3Rs" The 10th World Congress on Alternatives and Animals in the Life Sciences (Seattle, USA) Aug, 2017



The Laboratory for Disease Systems Modeling (LDSM) is focusing on an in-depth understanding of several biological processes relevant to disease systems, with possible applications to clinical practice. We carried out two major projects, one is to uncover the functions of Socs3 in keratinocytes and the other is study effects of the NAD+ biosynthesis pathway and Sirtuins in aging.

### A) Socs3 Project

Specific *in vivo* deletion of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (Socs3) in keratinocytes causes severe skin inflammation with infiltration of immune cells. To investigate the role of Socs3 in keratinocytes, we studied global RNA-Seq profiles from Socs3 conditional knockout (cKO) mice at two different ages (2 and 10 weeks). Over 400 genes were differentially expressed at both time points. In samples from 2-week-old mice, there was down-regulation of genes involved in keratin-related functions and up-regulation of genes involved in lipid metabolism. At week 10, multiple chemokine and cytokine genes were up-regulated. Functional annotation revealed that the genes differentially expressed in the 2-week-old mice play roles in keratinization, keratinocyte differentiation, and epidermal cell differentiation. By contrast, differentially expressed genes in the 10-week-old animals are involved in acute immune-related functions. A group of Activator Protein-1–related genes was highly up-regulated in Socs3 cKO mice at both ages. This observation was validated using qRT-PCR in SOCS3-depleted human keratinocyte–derived HaCaT cells. Our results suggest that, in addition to participating in immune-mediated pathways, SOCS3 also plays important roles in skin barrier homeostasis.

### **B) Aging Project**

The effect of SIRT1 (mammalian) and Sir2 (budding yeast), and nicotinamide monoucleotide as a chemical substance to affect these genes via the NAD+ biosynthesis circuit has been investigated. Precision systems biology using budding yeast strengthens our understanding of key biological processes by providing deeper insights into detailed molecular processes with our original gTOW genome-wide assay system. Quantitative analyses using the gTOW assay revealed that a high level of SIR2 expression was permissive in strains with low NAD levels and that SIR2 expression increased NAD levels and growth speed, but SIR2 cannot be highly expressed in strains with normal NAD levels. This implies that SIR2 expression may be precisely regulated with NAD levels.



## Laboratory for Medical Science Mathematics

Group Director: Tatsuhiko Tsunoda

#### Figure: Medical Big Data Analysis for Precision Medicine

(a) Common analysis steps and methodologies. (b) Application to omics data from 300 hepatocellular carcinoma cases revealed six clusters, which showed significantly different disease-free survival rates (**Nat Genet** 48, 500–509 (2016)). (c) Multi-ancestry meta-GWAS revealed novel asthma-related loci (**Nat Genet** 50, 42–53 (2018)). The known asthma loci are in black. The seven novel loci detected in the European-ancestry meta-analysis are in red. The two additional loci detected in the multi-ancestry meta-analysis are in blue.



Demenais F, et al. Multiancestry association study identifies new asthma risk loci that colocalize with immune-cell enhancer marks. **Nat Genet** 50, 42–53 (2018)

Shigemizu D, Iwase T, Yoshimoto M, Suzuki Y, Miya F, Boroevich KA, Katagiri T, Zembutsu H, Tatsuhiko Tsunoda. The prediction models for postoperative overall survival and disease-free survival in patients with breast cancer. *Cancer Med* 6, 1627–1638 (2017).

Fujimoto A<sup>+</sup>, Furuta M<sup>+</sup>, Totoki Y<sup>+</sup>, Tsunoda T<sup>+</sup>, Kato M<sup>+</sup> (\*: co-first), ..., Nakagawa H. Whole genome mutational landscape and characterization of non-coding and structural mutations in liver cancer. **Nat Genet** 48, 500–509 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Tsunoda T. "Exploring etiologies, sub-classification, and risk prediction of diseases based on big-data analysis of clinical and whole omics data in medicine" CREST Big Data Fields Joint Meeting (Tokyo, Japan) December, 2017

Tsunoda T. "Trans-omic analysis drives precision medicine" The 1st International Symposium for Trans-Omics (Tokyo, Japan) November, 2017

Tsunoda T. "Multi-omic analysis for precision cancer medicine" DNA sequencing technologies and their application in practice WS (Yerevan, Armenia) October, 2017

Tsunoda T. "Omic analysis drives precision medicine" International Conference for Precision Cancer Medicine (Tokyo, Japan) June, 2017

Tsunoda T. "Multiomics and clinical analysis of cancer" CREST International Symposium on Big Data Application (Tokyo, Japan) January, 2017



he application of rapidly progressing omic profiling technologies and, in particular, the promotion of personalized/precision/preventive medicine have recently become major goals of medical research. Traditional therapies do not adequately take into account the individuality of each patient. Our laboratory develops strategies to overcome such medical science limitations through a combination of mathematics and computational sciences. Nowadays, biomedical big data, consisting of both clinical and omic profiles, are collected from hospitals and medical institutions. First, driven by need for integrative analysis of clinical and omic data, we explore etiologies of intractable diseases, e.g., cancer, common diseases, and neurodegenerative diseases. Next, we classify each disease into finer categories through molecular profiles, and clarify disease causing mechanisms through a systems approach. Last, we apply mathematical methods, e.g., machine learning techniques, to optimize therapy prediction for each patient when she/he visits a hospital or medical institute. We can also apply these methods to disease prevention based on an individual's medical history. Recently, we developed statistical and computational methodologies for analyzing up-to-date omics data, as well as for understanding and predicting cancer progression based on genomic data, with a final aim of establishing precision medicine and applying it to real data [Nat Genet 48, 500-509 (2016); Cancer Med 6, 1627-1638 (2017); IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 64, 112-122 (2016); J Theor Biol 393, 67-74 (2016); BMC Bioinformatics 17, 319 (2016); BMC Med Genomics 9 (Suppl 3), 74 (2016)]. On the basis of these methodologies, we succeeded in observing a significant correlation between the molecular clustering of omic data and clinical information, e.g. survival time, based on liver and breast cancer omic analysis, and have recently published these results [Nat Genet 48, 500-509 (2016); Cancer Med 6, 1627-1638 (2017)]. Another success in medical big data analysis that we have achieved is multi-ancestry GWAS, which revealed five novel asthma-related loci [Nat Genet 50, 42-53 (2018)].



### Laboratory for Immunogenetics Team Leader: Tadashi Yamamoto

Figures: Research projects in the laboratory

A. mRNA deadenylation in tissue development Cnot complex-mediated mRNA deadenylation promotes liver development by decreasing undifferentiated cell-specific genes.

#### B. The responses of Ag-specific CD8 T cells following Ag encounter

IL-7, IL-15, and CD4 help are required for memory CD8 T cell maintenance. Long-lived memory CD8 T cells expand and exert their function quickly when they reencounter Ag.

# C. The transcription factor "X" determines the mTEC fate from a common progenitor expressing Foxn1

Cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTECs) and mTECs share a common endodermal origin. We hypothesize that transcription factor "X" determine the development and function from progenitors to mTECs.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Hayatsu N, Miyao T, Tachibana M, Murakami R, Kimura A, Kato T, Kawakami E, Endo TA, Setoguchi R, Watarai H, Nishikawa T, Yasuda T, Yoshida H and Hori S. Analyses of a mutant FoxP3 allele reveal BATF as a critical transcription factor in the differentiation and accumulation of tissue regulatory T cells. *Immunity* 47, 268–283 (2017)

Li T, Amari T, Semba K, Yamamoto T and Takeoka S. Construction and evaluation of pH-sensitive immunoliposomes for enhanced delivery of anticancer drug to ErbB2 over-expressing breast cancer cells. *Nanomedicine* 13, 1219–1227(2017)

Akiyama N, Takizawa N, Miyauchi M, Yanai H, Tateishi R, Shinzawa M, Yoshinaga R, Kurihara M, Demizu Y, Yasuda H, Yagi S, Wu G, Matsumoto M, Sakamoto R, Yoshida N, Penninger JM, Inoue J and Akiyama T. Identification of embryonic precursor cells that differentiate into thymic epithelial cells. *J Exp Med* 213, 1441–1458 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Yamamoto T. "Post-transcriptional regulation by mRNA poly(A) tail" OIST & University of the Ryukyus Joint Symposium 2017 (Naha, Japan) October, 2017

Setoguchi R. "The mechanisms for memory CD8 T cell maintenance" The 7th Awaodori Symposium for Life Science (Tokushima, Japan) August, 2017

Yamamoto T. "Physiology of mRNA poly(A) tail and CCR4-NOT" Department of Biochemistry, McGill University (Montreal, Canada) May, 2017

Yamamoto T. "The CCR4-NOT deadenylase: its role in controlling cells' survival and differentiation in various biological systems" The 6th Symposium of the RIKEN-Max Planck Joint Research Center for Systems Chemical Biology (Naha, Japan) April, 2017



Our team is carrying out three projects to understand the molecular basis of tissue development and function.

**1)** Tissue development involves dramatic gene expression changes, which are mediated by regulation of mRNA transcription and degradation. Suppression of mRNA deadenylase activity leads to abnormal tissue development concomitant with loss of the ability to eliminate unnecessary mRNAs. We are investigating how the deadenylase regulates tissue development and function in a developmental stage-specific manner and how it is deregulated in diseases.

**2)** Memory CD8 T cells are long-lived antigen (Ag)-specific cells that proliferate and exert effector functions more robustly than naïve CD8 T cells upon reencounter with their cognate Ag. Memory CD8 T cells are maintained at a stable population over a long period. One of the objectives of our study is to new discover mechanisms by which memory CD8 T cells are maintained *in vivo*. These research findings should lead to innovative vaccination strategies for induction of protective immunity against tumor cells and chronic infections.

**3)** Medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) expressing autoimmune regulator (Aire) are critical for induction of immune tolerance. However, the differentiation program of Aire-expressing mTECs (Aire<sup>+</sup> mTECs) is not fully understood. We have recently identified the precursors of Aire<sup>+</sup>mTECs (pMECs) by monitoring the expression of RANK, which is required for Aire<sup>+</sup> mTEC differentiation. We are now investigating what molecules define cell fates from progenitors to pMECs, and how these molecules regulate the development and functions of mTECs.



## Laboratory for Integrated Bioinformatics Team Leader: Todd D. Taylor

#### Figure: iCLiKVAL Overview

iCLiKVAL is a web-based tool that uses the power of crowdsourcing to accumulate annotation information for all scientific media found online. Annotations in the form of key-relationship-value tuples are added by users through a variety of methods. Users can create or join common interest groups to work as part of a community. Controlled vocabulary lists can be created, edited and shared. Media can be bookmarked, followed, reviewed and searched. Annotations can be sorted, filtered and edited. The database is completely searchable, without registration, and all of the data are freely available to registered users via our application programming interface.



#### **Recent Major Publications**

Ong SY, Kho H-P, Riedel SL, Kim S-W, Gan C-Y, Taylor TD, Sudesh K. An integrative study on biologically recovered polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) and simultaneous assessment of gut microbiome in yellow mealworm. *J Biotechnol* 265, 31–39 (2018)

Chin KCJ, Taylor TD, Hebrard M, Anbalagan K, Dashti MG, Phua KK. Transcriptomic study of Salmonella enterica subspecies enterica serovar Typhi biofilm. **BMC Genomics** 18, 836–844 (2017)

Lye HS, Kato T, Low W-Y, Taylor TD, Prakash T, Lew LC, Ohno H, Liong MT. Lactobacillus fermentum FTDC 8312 combats hypercholesterolemia via alteration of gut microbiota. *J Biotechnol* 262, 75–83 (2017)

**Invited Presentations** 

We are developing an integrated database and sample-tracking system to handle both small- and large-scale datasets of various types of experimental outputs. The system brings together an array of wet-lab experimental types being generated by various labs. Our goal is to develop a flexible system that makes it easy for users to manage, access, analyze, integrate, and visualize their own data as per their requirements.

We also develop general-purpose bioinformatic tools capable of efficiently processing and analyzing data from a variety of sources, with an emphasis on metagenomic data (e.g., taxonomic classification, phylogenic tree visualization, 16S rRNA curation), host-microbiome interactions and scientific discovery through big data curation. We have constructed a highly-curated genomic-based 16S ribosomal RNA gene database, which is continually being updated as new sequences appear in the public databases. Because metagenomic samples can contain hundreds or thousands of different species and are not easy to visualize or quantify, we developed an alternative visualization method for displaying phylogenic trees that allows users to, at a glance, comprehend the distribution of the species within their samples. Big data in the form of scientific media comes in many languages and formats: journal articles, books, images, videos, etc. While there are many resources for browsing, searching and annotating some of this media, there is no single place to search them all at once, and generalized search engines do not allow for the comprehensive and precise searches researchers require. To address these issues, we have developed a web-based tool that uses the power of crowdsourcing to accumulate annotation information for all scientific media found online. This will allow for richer data searches and discovery of novel connections by integrating all forms of scientific knowledge through a common terminology.

Taylor TD. "Turning big data into small data through crowdsourced curation: integrating all types of medical and scientific knowledge" Malaysia International Genetics Conference (Selangor, Malaysia) September, 2017



## Laboratory for **Tissue Dynamics**

Team Leader: Takaharu Okada

### Figure: 3D imaging of skin nerves and dendritic cell subsets

A whole-mount confocal fluorescence image of the ear skin from an Xcr1<sup>gfp/+</sup> CD11c-YFP mouse. PGP9.5<sup>+</sup> nerve fibers (red) are visualized together with XCR1<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells (light blue) and other dendritic cells (green).



#### **Recent Major Publications**

Herndler-Brandstetter D, Ishigame H, Shinnakasu R, Plajer V, Stecher C, Zhao J, Lietzenmayer M, Kroehling L, Takumi A, Kometani K, Inoue T, Kluger Y, Kaech SM, Kurosaki T, Okada T, Flavell RA. Developmental Plasticity of KLRG1<sup>+</sup> Effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells Promotes Protective Immunity. *Immunity* in press

Okada T, Takahashi S, Ishida A, Ishigame H. *In vivo* multiphoton imaging of immune cell dynamics. *Pflugers Arch* 468, 1793–1801 (2016)

Kitano M, Yamazaki C, Takumi A, Ikeno T, Hemmi H, Takahashi N, Shimizu K, Fraser SE, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Okada T. Imaging of the cross-presenting dendritic cell subsets in the skin-draining lymph node. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 113, 1044–1049 (2016)

**Invited Presentations** 

Okada T. "Imaging of peripheral nerves involved in the inflammatory diseases." The 3rd Annual Meeting of Japanese Society of Osteoimmunology (Ishigaki, Japan) June, 2017

Okada T. "Dynamic imaging of immune cells and sensory nerves." RIKEN-McGill Symposium (Montreal, Canada) May, 2017 The goal of the laboratory is to mechanistically understand the *in vivo* cellular dynamics that shape immune responses and inflammation. For this purpose, we generate and analyze various fate-mapping reporter mice to analyze differentiation plasticity of immune cells and other cells. Using this approach, for example, we have analyzed differentiation of cytotoxic T cells to identify developmental pathways of highly protective memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Our new data establish that developmental plasticity of KLRG1<sup>+</sup> effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells plays a crucial role in promoting functionally versatile memory cells that mount highly protective responses against infections and cancer.

In addition, we are studying the roles for the peripheral nervous system in modulation of inflammation. Through this study, we aim to find strategies to suppress chronic inflammation based on the modulation of neuronal activities. Particularly, we are interested in structural and functional changes in sensory neurons in dermatitis, and their interactions with immune cells and other cells such as keratinocytes. In this study, multi-dimensional fluorescent imaging analysis is very powerful for deciphering the diversity and dynamics of cellular activities. Our imaging data have started to reveal that previously-unknown interactions between sensory neurons and keratinocytes may play an important role in preventing pruritic dermatitis.



## Laboratory for Integrated Cellular Systems

Team Leader: Mariko Okada

Figure: Super-enhancer(SE)-based analysis of hematopoietic development Flow chart of the data analysis (left) Specific transcrip

Flow chart of the data analysis (left). Specific transcription factors in hematopoietic cells (right).



#### **Recent Major Publications**

Magi S, Iwamoto K, Yumoto N, Hiroshima M, Nagashima T, Ohki R, Garcia-Munoz A, Volinsky N, von Kriegsheim A, Sako Y, Takahashi K, Kimura S, Kholodenko BN. and Okada-Hatakeyama M. Transcriptionally inducible Pleckstrin homology-like domain family A member 1 attenuates ErbB receptor activity by inhibiting receptor oligomerization. *J Biol Chem* jbc. M117.778399 (2017)

Magi S, Iwamoto K and Okada-Hatakeyama, M. Current Status of Mathematical Modeling of Cancer – From the Viewpoint of Cancer Hallmarks. *Curr Opin Syst Biol* 2, 38–47 (2017)

Inoue K, Shinohara H, Behar M, Yumoto N, Tanaka G, Hoffmann A, Aihara K and Okada-Hatakeyama M. Oscillation dynamics underlies functional switching of NF-кB for B cell activation. *NPJ Syst Biol Appl* 2, 16024 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Okada M. "Trans-Omics analysis of NF-κB regulation" CREST & Scientific Research on Innovative Areas Symposium. The 1st International Symposium for Trans-Omics (Tokyo, Japan) November, 2017

Okada M. "Classic yet unique dynamic properties of NF-B gene regulation" OIST-JST Joint Seminar (Okinawa, Japan) November, 2017

Okada M. "Cell shape and metabolism" The 11th Metabolome Symposium (Osaka, Japan) November, 2017

Okada M. "Systems Biology and Database" NBDC Workshop (Tokyo, Japan) November, 2017

Okada M. "Mathematical modeling of cancer signaling network" The Third Trilateral Workshop for Frontier Protein Studies 2017 (Shanghai, China). August–September, 2017 T he aims of the laboratory are to define the general regulatory rules in signal transduction-transcriptional networks in cell determination processes and to apply this knowledge of regulatory principles to the understanding and treatment of human diseases. We are currently pursuing three projects; (1) dynamics of nuclear NF- $\kappa$ B and gene regulation, (2) mathematical modeling of cancer hallmarks and (3) cell adhesion regulated metabolism.

To understand the regulation of NF-κB-mediated gene expression, we are performing integrative transcriptome and epigenetics analyses. Our analyses using H3K27Ac-ChIP, RelA-ChIP and ATAC-seq revealed super-enhancer (SE)-regulated gene expression mechanisms at the single-cell level. The results indicated that a cooperative mechanism for DNA-protein binding mediated by SEs results in threshold responses in mRNA expression in individual B cells. The computational methods are also being applied to understanding hematopoietic development (Figure).

Signaling network is highly complex and exibits dynamic behavior to control cell functions. To understand the complex regulatory mechanism of the cancer cell signaling network, we are attempting to integrate all mathematical models developed in our laboratory that cover 60 % of the pathways in cancer hallmarks. The model parameters can also be integrated with clinical gene expression data and thus can form the basis for personalized simulation analysis.

Cell shapes regulated by cell adhesion are an important visible output of cell systems. We used a mouse model, lacking *Crk* and *Crkl* genes, of which gene products control cell adhesion and performed multi-omics analysis together with quantitative cell shape analysis on mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEF). The MEF obtained from the double-knockout mice were smaller and had a round shape compared with spindle-shaped normal MEFs and this morphology was associated with lower central metabolic activity. This phenotype was rescued by overexpression of an adhesion signaling molecule. Our study reveals a novel mechanism for cell adhesion-dependent activation of metabolism.



### Laboratory for Metabolomics Team Leader: Makoto Arita

Figure: Comprehensive analysis of oxidized phospholipids (OxPLs) using a measured MS/MS spectra library



**Recent Major Publications** 

Aoyagi R, Ikeda K, Isobe Y, Arita M. Comprehensive analyses of oxidized phospholipids using a measured MS/MS spectra library. *J Lipid Res* 58, 2229–2237 (2017)

Tsugawa H, Ikeda K, Arita M. The importance of bioinformatics for connecting data-driven lipidomics and biological insights. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1862, 762–765 (2017)

Tsugawa H, Ikeda K, Tanaka W, Senoo Y, Arita M, Arita M. Comprehensive identification of sphingolipid species by in silico retention time and tandem mass spectral library. *J Cheminform* 9, 19 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Arita M. "Omega-3 fatty acid metabolism in controlling inflammation and related diseases" The 7th Mind-Body Interface International Symposium (Taichung, Taiwan) November, 2017

Arita M. "Eosinophil polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism and its potential control of inflammation and allergy" The 15th International Conference on Bioactive Lipids in Cancer, Inflammation, and Related Diseases (Puerto Vallarta, Mexico) October, 2017

Arita M. "The importance of lipoquality in biological systems" The 1st International Conference on Lipoquality (Tokyo, Japan) September, 2017

Arita M. "Lipidomics and discovery of novel bioactive omega-3 fatty acid metabolites" The 1st International Symposium on Lipid Science and Biotechnology (ISLSB2017) (Guangzou, China) April, 2017

Arita M. "Omega-3 fatty acid metabolism in controlling inflammation and related diseases" The 4th International Forum on Omega-3 and Human Health (Chongqing, China) March, 2017 L ipids are recognized as extremely diverse molecules. The precise determination of each molecular species of lipid, namely Lipo-Quality (Quality of Lipids), becomes a prerequisite not only to understand their biological functions in physiology and disease, but also to discover novel bioactive lipids that may link lipid metabolism and biological phenotypes. A powerful method for the analysis of lipid metabolites is liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/ MS). Our research is aimed at elucidating the structure and function of endogenous lipid metabolites that regulate inflammation and tissue homeostasis.

Recently we successfully developed a comprehensive analytical method for oxidized phospholipids (OxPLs) (Figure). OxPLs are widely thought to be associated with various diseases such as arteriosclerosis, diabetes and cancer. Biogenic OxPLs were prepared by the addition of specific oxidized fatty acids to cultured cells, where they were incorporated into cellular phospholipids. Untargeted lipidomics by LC-quadrupole/time-of-flight (QTOF) MS was then applied to collect MS/MS spectra for the OxPLs. Based on the measured MS/MS spectra of the biogenic OxPLs, we developed a broad-targeted lipidomics system using triple quadrupole (tripleQ) MS. This advanced method will enable us to elucidate the structure-specific behavior of OxPLs and their physiological relevance *in vivo*.

By taking advantage of Q-TOF (global lipid screening) and TripleQ (quantitative analyses) mass spectrometry, our new approach has a great potential to identify lipids of interest globally and to identify unknown lipid species in a non-biased fashion. Also, we are developing a comprehensive analytical platform with an MS/ MS spectra library especially focusing on bioactive lipid mediators and complex structures of lipid metabolites produced by commensal microbiota. We are also developing software that enables us to search for lipid structures more precisely and comprehensively.

# Core for Genomic Medicine

The Core for Genomic Medicine is performing genomic research on human diseases, especially the common diseases. The aims of Core for Genomic Medicine are 1) to identify genetic variations related to disease susceptibility, disease outcome and drug responses (efficacy/adverse reaction), 2) to provide useful information about possible molecular targets for drug discovery, 3) to examine the interactions between genetic and environmental factors to understand the pathogenesis and the progression of diseases, and 4) finally to construct the evidence base for the implementation of personalized medicine.

To identify genetic variations related to disease susceptibility and drug responses, the Core for Genomic Medicine first showed the proof of concept of the genome-wide association study (GWAS) in 2002. To advance this strategy, the Core for Genomic Medicine has organized laboratories to facilitate comprehensive genomic research on common diseases. To produce comprehensive genomic information, the Laboratory for Genotyping Development is mainly working on large-scale SNP genotyping and genome sequencing for various diseases. The resulting huge amount of genomic variation data was mainly analyzed at the Laboratory for Statistical Analysis to extract significant genomic variations related to disease susceptibility and drug responses. These laboratories are in close communication with the research group of pharmacogenomics (Laboratory for Pharmacogenomics and Laboratory for International Alliance on Genomic Research), laboratories for disease-causing mechanisms (Laboratory for Cardiovascular Diseases, Autoimmune Diseases, Digestive Diseases, Bone and Joint Diseases, Endocrinology, Metabolism and Kidney Diseases, and Respiratory and Allergic Diseases) and many other collaborators worldwide for further analyses. In addition to this strategy, the Laboratory for Genome Sequencing Analysis is mainly working on whole genome sequencing of cancer genomes to clarify the pathogenesis of carcinogenesis.



## Laboratory for Genotyping Development Team Leader: Yukihide Momozawa

Figure: Our high throughput dispensing system necessary for large scale genomic analyses



#### **Recent Major Publications**

Akiyama M, Okada Y, Kanai M, Takahashi A, Momozawa Y, Ikeda M, Iwata N, Ikegawa S, Hirata M, Matsuda K, Iwasaki M, Yamaji T, Sawada N, Hachiya T, Tanno K, Shimizu A, Hozawa A, Minegishi N, Tsugane S, Yamamoto M, Kubo M, Kamatani Y. Genome-wide association study identifies 112 new loci for body mass index in the Japanese population. **Nat Genet** 49, 1458–1467 (2017)

Huang H, Fang M, Jostins L, Umićević Mirkov M, Boucher G, Anderson CA, Andersen V, Cleynen I, Cortes A, Crins F, D'Amato M, Deffontaine V, Dmitrieva J, Docampo E, Elansary M, Farh KK, Franke A, Gori AS, Goyette P, Halfvarson J, Haritunians T, Knight J, Lawrance IC, Lees CW, Louis E, Mariman R, Meuwissen T, Mni M, Momozawa Y, Parkes M, Spain SL, Théâtre E, Trynka G, Satsangi J, van Sommeren S, Vermeire S, Xavier RJ; International Inflammatory Bowel Disease Genetics Consortium, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, Mathew CG, Rioux JD, McGovern DPB, Cho JH, Georges M, Daly MJ, Barrett JC. Fine-mapping inflammatory bowel disease loci to single-variant resolution. **Nature** 547, 173–178 (2017)

Ishigaki K, Kochi Y, Suzuki A, Tsuchida Y, Tsuchiya H, Sumitomo S, Yamaguchi K, Nagafuchi Y, Nakachi S, Kato R, Sakurai K, Shoda H, Ikari K, Taniguchi A, Yamanaka H, Miya F, Tsunoda T, Okada Y, Momozawa Y, Kamatani Y, Yamada R, Kubo M, Fujio K, Yamamoto K. Polygenic burdens on cell-specific pathways underlie the risk of rheumatoid arthritis. **Nat Genet** 49, 1120–1125 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Momozawa Y. "Genomic analysis of disease of companion animals in Europe" The 160th meeting of the Japanese Society of Veterinary Science (Kagoshima, Japan) September, 2017

Momozawa Y. "Germline pathogenic variants of 11 hereditary breast cancer genes" Pharmacogenomics Research Network – RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences (IMS) Strategic Alliance Meeting (San Francisco, USA) September, 2017 The aims of the Laboratory for Genotyping Development are 1) to produce precise and large-scale genomic data to identify genetic variants related to disease susceptibility, outcomes, and drug responses in close collaboration with the Laboratory for Statistical Analysis and 2) to develop methods and databases useful for personalized medicine. Our laboratory has worked as a research hub of large-scale genomic analysis, collaborating with domestic and international universities, research institutes, and companies.

Our laboratory contributed to various projects and published 37 papers in 2017.

- Development of a new *in silico* method from data of genome wide association study into one causative variant with Broad Institute, Sanger Center, and University of Liege (Nature 547, 173–178).
- Identification of 112 new genomic loci for body mass index in Japanese with the Laboratory for Statistical Analysis (Nat Genet 49, 1458–1467).
- Development of Japanese eQTL dataset in six cell types with the Laboratory for Autoimmune Diseases and the Laboratory for Statistical Analysis (Nat Genet 49, 1120– 1125)
- Identification of the mechanism of CCDC88B in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease with McGill University (Nat Commun 8, 932).
- Identification of new protein-altering variants of PTPN2 in childhood-onset Type 1A diabetes with the National Research Institute for Child Health and Development (Diabetic Med, in press)
- Identification of ZNF384-related fusion genes consisting of a distinct subgroup of B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia with the National Research Institute for Child Health and Development (Haematologica 102,118–129)

We will continue to work as a research hub for large-scale genomic analysis so that we can contribute to the implementation of personalized medicine.



## Laboratory for Genome Sequencing Analysis

Team Leader: Hidewaki Nakagawa

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Wardell CP, Fujita M, Yamada T, Simbolo M, Fassan M, Karlic R, Polak P, Kim J, Hatanaka Y, Maejima K, Lawlor RT, Nakanishi Y, Mitsuhashi T, Fujimoto A, Furuta M, Ruzzenente A, Conci S, Oosawa A, Sasaki-Oku A, Nakano K, Tanaka H, Yamamoto Y, Kubo M, Kawakami Y, Aikata H, Ueno M, Hayami S, Gotoh K, Ariizumi S, Yamamoto M, Yamaue H, Chayama K, Miyano S, Getz G, Scarpa A, Hirano S, Nakamura T, Nakagawa H. Genomic characterization of biliary tract cancers identifies their driver genes and predisposing mutations. *J Hepatol* 68, 959–969 (2018)

Fujita M, Matsubara N, Matsuda I, Maejima K, Oosawa A, Yamano T, Fujimoto A, Furuta M, Nakano K, Oku-Sasaki A, Tanaka H, Shiraishi Y, Mateos RN, Nakai K, Miyano S, Tomita N, Hirota S, Ikeuchi H, Nakagawa H. Genomic landscape of colitis-associated cancer indicates the impact of chronic inflammation and its stratification by mutations in RNF43 and Wnt signaling. **Oncotarget** 9, 969–981 (2017)

Van Renne M, Roca Suarez A, Duong F, Gondeau C, Calabrese D, Fontaine N, Ababsa A, Bandiera S, Croonenborghs T, Pochet N, De Blasi V, Pessauz P, Piardi T, Sommacale D, Ono A, Chayama K, Fujita M, Nakagawa H, Hoshida Y, Zeisel M, Heim M, Baumert T, Lupberger J. miR-135a-5p-mediated downregulation of protein-tyrosine phosphatase delta is a candidate driver of HCV-associated hepatocarcinogenesis. **Gut**, gutjnl–2016–312270 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Nakagawa H. "Genomic Landscape of Hepato-Biliary Cancers and Forwarding to Precision Medicine" Molecular Analysis for Personalized therapy (MAP) Conference (Zurich, Switzerland) October, 2017

Nakagawa H. "The Pan-cancer Analysis of Whole Genome (PCAWG) project in the International Cancer Genome Consortium" The 76th Annual Meeting of Japanese Cancer Association (Yokohama, Japan) September, 2017

Fujita M, Nakagawa H. "Precision oncology by genomic profiling for colitic cancer indicate potentials of mutations for cancer diagnosis and treatment" The 76th Annual Meeting of Japanese Cancer Association (Yokohama, Japan) September, 2017

Nakagawa H. "Cancer Whole Genome Sequencing for Precision Oncology and Cancer Immunology" The 2017 Cold Spring Harbor Asia Conference (Suzhou, China) September, 2017

Nakagawa H, Imoto S. "Immuno-genomic landscape of pan-cancer reveals diverse pathways related with immune signature, immune escape, and immuno-editing history" The 13th Scientific Workshop of ICGC (Seoul, Korea) June, 2017



#### Figure:

We analyzed genomic features of 412 biliary tract cancer (BTC) samples from Japanese and Italian populations by whole genome or exome sequencing. We identified 32 significantly and commonly mutated genes, some of which negatively affected patient prognosis, including a novel deletion of *MUC17* at 7q22.1, which was also confirmed by tissue microarray analysis (TMA). Cell-of-origin predictions using whole-genome genetic and epigenetic features suggest a hepatocyte-origin of hepatitis-related intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. Deleterious germline mutations of cancer-predisposing genes were detected in 11% of BTC patients. BTCs have distinct genetic features including somatic events and germline predisposition.

ancer is essentially a "disease of the genome" that evolves in the background of germline variants with the accumulation of diverse mutations caused by environmental exposure and intrinsic factors. Germline variants predispose to cancer development and genetic analysis of certain specific genes, such as BRCA1/2, is commonly performed for cancer risk, while somatic mutants of driver genes have been targeted for cancer treatment and genotype-based personalized cancer therapy is now a reality. Furthermore, immunology is also an important factor to understand cancer because emerging immune therapies have been shown to be effective in many types of cancers. Now we must understand more about cancer genome-immune interactions and their diversity to develop new and more effective therapies by capitalizing on new technologies. Recent explosive advances in next-generation sequencing (NGS) and bioinformatics/IT enable a systematic, genome-wide identification of all somatic abnormalities and immune activity within cancer tissues by combining whole genome sequencing (WGS), RNA sequencing, and single-cell sequencing. It is important to analyze the likely implications of the huge human genome datasets from NGS and to reach a consensus about how to interpret the biological, immunological and clinical aspects of somatic and germline variants. Our research objectives are to understand cancer genome and microenvironmental activities, including immune activity, by utilizing NGS to identify novel genomic biomarkers and to develop analysis platforms that can be used in clinics for cancer precision medicine.



## Laboratory for Statistical Analysis

Team Leader: Yoichiro Kamatani

#### Figure: Human traits and cell type specificity network constructed from GWAS and epigenome data

We performed GWAS of 58 quantitative traits in 162,255 Japanese individuals and found 1,407 trait-associated loci. By incorporating 32 GWAS results from complex diseases and epigenetic data, we investigated the enrichment of the heritability and constructed a cell-type specificity network. The network illustrates where the identified genetic variants may induce functional changes in the human body and thereby affect quantitative trait levels or cause diseases.



#### **Recent Major Publications**

Kanai M, Akiyama M, Takahashi A, Matoba N, Momozawa Y, Ikeda M, Iwata N, Ikegawa S, Hirata M, Matsuda K, Kubo M, Okada Y, Kamatani Y. Genetic analysis of quantitative traits in the Japanese population links cell types to complex human diseases. **Nat Genet** 50, 390–400 (2018)

Akiyama M, Okada Y, Kanai M, Takahashi A, Momozawa Y, Ikeda M, Iwata N, Ikegawa S, Hirata M, Matsuda K, Iwasaki M, Yamaji T, Sawada N, Hachiya T, Tanno K, Shimizu A, Hozawa A, Minegishi N, Tsugane S, Yamamoto M, Kubo M, Kamatani Y. Genome-wide association study identifies 112 new loci for body mass index in the Japanese population. **Nat Genet** 49, 1458–1467 (2017)

Low SK, Takahashi A, Ebana Y, Ozaki K, Christophersen IE, Ellinor PT; AFGen Consortium, Ogishima S, Yamamoto M, Satoh M, Sasaki M, Yamaji T, Iwasaki M, Tsugane S, Tanaka K, Naito M, Wakai K, Tanaka H, Furukawa T, Kubo M, Ito K, Kamatani Y, Tanaka T. Identification of six new genetic loci associated with atrial fibrillation in the Japanese population. **Nat Genet** 49, 953–958 (2017).

#### **Invited Presentations**

Akiyama M, Kamatani Y. "Large-scale genome-wide association study: Past, Present, and Future" Japanese Society of Human Genetics Annual Meeting (Kobe, Japan) November, 2017

Kamatani Y. "GWAS using 200,000 participants of Biobank Japan" Genomic histology of Japonesian (Mishima, Japan) August, 2017 O ur laboratory aims at identifying susceptibility variants of complex traits by using the genetic association study, as well as then connecting the genetic association findings with biology and medicine using omics data, including epigenome and transcriptome. Until now, we have used genome-wide SNP array data and performed genome wide association studies (GWAS) for dozens of traits. In 2017, we have reported results of GWAS for atrial fibrillation, BMI, and several laboratory tests. These catalogs represent the largest non-European GWAS ever collected for each trait. After their publication, we shared these results, which are freely available at http://jenger.riken.jp/.

We are now moving to address three key issues in this field; missing heritability, functional interpretation of the identified genetic variants, and the genetic architecture of the diseases in question. Firstly, we have finished imputation for the missing rare variants in the SNP results of the ~230,000 subjects described above by using whole genome sequencing (WGS) data of ~1,000 Japanese individuals. The results clearly demonstrated the roles of rare variants and highlight population-specific genetic effects. Secondly, we are now focusing on the interpretation of GWAS signals. Pathway analysis of the GWAS data for atrial fibrillation indicated that the identified genes were enriched for the fetal neural crest development pathway, which provides a novel research clue to elucidate how genetic variants lead to increased risk of developing that disease. We also conducted enrichment of either the lead genetic variants or polygenic effects and found several statistically significant enrichments for cell-type specific regulatory elements. Now we have begun using in-house eQTL data of lymphocyte subtypes generated by the Laboratory for Autoimmune Diseases and long non-coding RNA expression data from several cell types as a collaborative project with the RIKEN Center for Life Science Technologies (CLST). Lastly, we are attempting to use machine-learning techniques to reveal non-additive effects of genomic variants, which have not been investigated well in this field. These novel machine-learning techniques will facilitate detecting such effects.



## Laboratory for Pharmacogenomics

Group Director: Taisei Mushiroda

#### Figure: Road to implementation of PGx biomarkers into clinical practice

GWAS, HLA genotyping, and the 100 "Pharmacogene" panel identify PGx biomarkers. After *in vitro* functional evaluation of SNPs/rare variants associated with drug efficacy or risk of adverse drug reactions, the advantages of PGx biomarkers should be demonstrated by conducting prospective clinical trials that can evaluate the clinical utility of genetic testing for implementation of PGx tests.



#### **Recent Major Publications**

Mushiroda T, Takahashi Y Onuma T, Yamamoto Y, Kamei T, Hoshida T, Takeuchi K, Otsuka K, Okazaki M, Watanabe M, Kanemoto K, Ohshima T, Watanabe A, Minami S, Saito K, Tanii H, Shimo Y, Hara M, Saitoh S, Kinoshita T, Kato M, Yamada N, Akamatsu N, Fukuchi T, Ishida S, Yasumoto S, Takahashi A, Ozeki T, Furuta T, Saito Y, Izumida N, Kano Y, Shiohara T, Kubo M, on behalf of the GENCAT Study Group. Prospective *HLA-A\*31:01* screening and the incidence of carbamazepine-induced cutaneous adverse reactions in the Japanese patients. *JAMA Neurol* in press

Ujiie H, Muramatsu K, Mushiroda T, Ozeki T, Miyoshi H, Iwata H, Nakamura A, Nomoto H, Cho KY, Sato N, Nishimura M, Ito T, Izumi K, Nishie W, Shimizu H. *HLA-DQB1\*03:01* as a biomarker for genetic susceptibility to bullous pemphigoid induced by DPP-4 inhibitors. *J Invest Dermatol* 135, 1201–1204 (2018)

Giacomini KM, Yee SW, Mushiroda T, Weinshilboum RM, Ratain MJ, Kubo M. Genome-wide association studies of drug response and toxicity: an opportunity for genome medicine. **Nat Rev Drug Discov** 16, 1 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Mushiroda T. "Clinical utility of *HLA-A\*31:01* test for avoidance of carbamazepine-induced skin rash" The 12th Asia-Pacific Conference on Human Genetics (Bangkok, Thailand) November, 2017

Mushiroda T. "Identification of genomic biomarkers associated with cutaneous adverse drug reactions and validation of clinical utility of genetic testing" Genomic Medicine 2017 (Ho Chi Minh, Vietnam) August, 2017

Mushiroda T. "Validation of clinical utility of *HLA-A\*31:01* test for avoidance of carbamazepine-induced skin rash" The 2nd International Stevens-Johnson Syndrome Symposium (Kyoto, Japan) January, 2017

enomic analyses, such as genome-wide association study (GWAS) and HLA genotyping, are efficient for the identification of pharmacogenomics (PGx) biomarkers that can predict efficacy or risk of adverse drug reactions for various drugs. The GWAS presently stands as a standard method in IMS but can explain only a part of the association of genomic variations with drug responses. Pharmacokinetic variabilities are often responsible for inter-individual differences in drug responses. Thus, genetic variations in "Pharmacogenes" encoding proteins involved in pharmacokinetics, drug-metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters, are of increasing importance for identification of PGx biomarkers. However, it has been difficult to examine variations in the pharmacogenes because most of the genes are located within complex genomic regions. We have developed a targeted resequencing panel of 100 pharmacogenes related to pharmacokinetics using a combination of multiplex-PCR and next generation sequencing (NGS), which can analyze rare variants comprehensively and accurately, and thus will be effective for the identification of PGx biomarkers. After identification of the biomarkers, we conduct in vitro metabolic and transport experiments in order to evaluate effects of the variants on gene function for understanding of the molecular mechanisms of drug responses.

Since our mission is implementation of PGx testing, we also conduct prospective clinical studies to test the clinical utility of genetic tests using the PGx biomarkers identified by our basic research. If successful, this will lead to use of the PGx biomarkers as *in vitro* diagnostics under the Japan national health insurance system. Recently, we have completed two prospective PGx clinical trials, GEN-CAT and GENWAT, which showed clinical utility of the genetic tests for patients who needed treatment with the antiepileptic drug carbamazepine or the anticoagulant warfarin.



## Laboratory for Cardiovascular Diseases

Team Leader: Kaoru Ito

Figure: The Network for Chronic ThromboEmbolic Pulmonary Hypertension (CTEPH) Research Samples are provided by multiple centers that perform balloon angioplasty for CTEPH. An OMICS approach is taken to elucidate CTPEH disease mechanisms using collected samples.



**Recent Major Publications** 

Ito K, Patel PN, Gorham JM, McDonough B, DePalma SR, Adler EE, Lam L, MacRae CA, Mohiuddin SM, Fatkin D, Seidman CE, Seidman JG. Identification of pathogenic gene mutations in LMNA and MYBPC3 that alter RNA splicing. **Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A** 114, 7689–7694 (2017)

Nomura A, Won HH, Khera AV, Takeuchi F, Ito K, Mc-Carthy S, Emdin CA, Klarin D, Natarajan P, Zekavat SM, Gupta N, Peloso GM, Borecki IB, Teslovich TM, Asselta R, Duga S, Merlini PA, Correa A, Kessler T, Wilson JG, Bown MJ, Hall AS, Braund PS, Carey DJ, Murray MF, Kirchner HL, Leader JB, Lavage DR, Manus JN, Hartze DN, Samani NJ, Schunkert H, Marrugat J, Elosua R, McPherson R, Farrall M, Watkins H, Juang JJ, Hsiung CA, Lin SY, Wang JS, Tada H, Kawashiri MA, Inazu A, Yamagishi M, Katsuya T, Nakashima E, Nakatochi M, Yamamoto K, Yokota M, *et al.* Protein-Truncating Variants at the Cholesteryl Ester

Transfer Protein Gene and Risk for Coronary Heart Disease. *Circ Res* 121, 81–88 (2017)

Low SK, Takahashi A, Ebana Y, Ozaki K, Christophersen IE, Ellinor PT; AFGen Consortium, Ogishima S, Yamamoto M, Satoh M, Sasaki M, Yamaji T, Iwasaki M, Tsugane S, Tanaka K, Naito M, Wakai K, Tanaka H, Furukawa T, Kubo M, Ito K, Kamatani Y, Tanaka T. Identification of six new genetic loci associated with atrial fibrillation in the Japanese population. **Nat Genet** 49, 953–958 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Kaoru I. "Cutting Edge of Genomic Research: GWAS, NGS, and Others" The 10th Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society Scientific Session in Conjunction with the Annual Meeting of the Japanese Heart Rhythm Society 2017 (Yokohama, Japan) September, 2017

Kaoru I. "Genomic Analysis for Heart Disease by Bioinformatics and Next-Generation Sequencer." The 3rd Kyoto Cardiovascular Basic Research Seminar (Kyoto, Japan) February, 2017 S ince cardiovascular diseases cause more than 15% of the deaths in the Japanese population and represent more than 20% of the total medical expenses in Japan, it is important for our society to understand the mechanisms underlying these disorders and to uncover new therapeutic targets for their treatment. To achieve these goals, we combine "dry" (NGS technologies, OMICS strategies and computer science) and "wet" (so-called conventional molecular biology) technologies, in an attempt to achieve a comprehensive and precise understanding of these diseases. In other words, there is no border between "dry" and "wet" research in our lab, since we postulate that both will be required to expand the horizons of our knowledge.

Our diseases of interest to date are coronary artery diseases (CAD), atrial fibrillation (AF), Kawasaki disease (KD), peripheral artery disease (PAD), chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension (CTEPH), and cardiomyopathy (CM). We are currently seeking to 1) understand the genetic cause of CAD and highlight the difference between Japanese and European populations, 2) elucidate the mechanism of CTEPH development using human OMICS data from patients in multiple hospitals (see Figure) and 3) develop a more sophisticated genetic risk scoring system by machine learning algorithms in the AF project. Additionally, in the CM project, we developed an *in silico* splicing variant prediction algorithm, a high-throughput cell-based splicing assay and a downstream *in silico* pipeline to uncover cryptic splicing variants, which have been overlooked in the currently established pipeline. Using this pipeline, we are now tackling the *TTN* (titin) gene, which is expressed in striated muscle and encodes the largest protein in humans, consisting of 34,350 amino acids.

We are conducting our research with not only a scientific mind but also a clinical eye, because our ultimate goal is to provide improved diagnostic / management / therapeutic approaches for patients suffering from those diseases.



# Laboratory for Autoimmune Diseases

Team Leader: Kazuhiko Yamamoto

**Recent Major Publications** 

Okubo K, Kurosawa M, Kamiya M, Urano Y, Suzuki A, Yamamoto K, Hase K, Homma K, Sasaki J, Miyauchi H, Hoshino T, Hayashi M, Mayadas TN, Hirahashi J. Macrophage extracellular trap formation promoted by platelet activation is a key mediator of rhabdomyolysisinduced acute kidney injury. **Nat Med** 24, 232–238 (2018)

Kochi Y, Kamatani Y, Kondo Y, Suzuki A, Kawakami E, Hiwa R, Momozawa Y, Fujimoto M, Jinnin M, Tanaka Y, Kanda T, Cooper RG, Chinoy H, Rothwell S, Lamb JA, Vencovský J, Mann H, Ohmura K, Myouzen K, Ishigaki K, Nakashima R, Hosono Y, Tsuboi H, Kawasumi H, Iwasaki Y, Kajiyama H, Horita T, Ogawa-Momohara M, Takamura A, Tsunoda S, Shimizu J, Fujio K, Amano H, Mimori A, Kawakami A, Umehara H, Takeuchi T, Sano H, Muro Y, Atsumi T, Mimura T, Kawaguchi Y, Mimori T, Takahashi A, Kubo M, Kohsaka H, Sumida T, Yamamoto K. Splicing variant of WDFY4 augments MDA5 signalling and the risk of clinically amyopathic dermatomyositis **Ann Rheum Dis** annrheumdis–2017–212149 (2018)

Ishigaki K, Kochi Y, Suzuki A, Tsuchida Y, Tsuchiya H, Sumitomo S, Yamaguchi K, Nagafuchi Y, Nakachi S, Kato R, Sakurai K, Shoda H, Ikari K, Taniguchi A, Yamanaka H, Miya F, Tsunoda T, Okada Y, Momozawa Y, Kamatani Y, Yamada R, Kubo M, Fujio K, Yamamoto K. Polygenic burdens on cell-specific pathways underlie the risk of rheumatoid arthritis. **Nat Genet** 49, 1120–1125 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Yamamoto K. "Why should rheumatologists know genetics?" 19th Asia pacific league of Associations for Rheumatology Congress (Dubai, UAE) October, 2017

Yamamoto K. "Polygenic burdens on cell-specific pathways underlie the risk of rheumatoid arthritis" Karolinska University (Stockholm, Sweden) September, 2017

Yamamoto K. "Polygenic burdens on cell-specific pathways underlie the risk of rheumatoid arthritis" Stanford University School of Medicine (Stanford, USA) September, 2017

Yamamoto K. "Peptidyl arginine deiminase 4 and rheumatoid arthritis: from human genetics to murine models" Annual European Congress of Rheumatology (Madrid, Spain) June, 2017

Yamamoto K. "Genetics of rheumatoid arthritis: From genetic information to functional insights" Advances in Targeted Therapies (Cannes, France) March-April, 2017



#### Figure: Strategy to identify the candidate causal pathways of immune-related complex disease

Design of the eQTL study and analytical pipeline. eQTL analysis was conducted on five major subsets of immune cells and unfractionated PB from healthy Japanese individuals using FACS and RNA sequencing. We developed a three-step analytical pipeline. When the direction of change in candidate causal gene expression ( $Z_{case-control}$ ) was consistent with the activated state of the target cytokine, the gene was judged to be an activating gene. The total effect of each gene on the activity of the target cytokine was summarized, and  $Z_{cytokine}$  was calculated.

ur immune system consists of higher-order functions mediated through the interaction of various cell types, molecules and genes. To date, the immune system has mainly been investigated using mouse models, including through inactivation of specific genes (knockout mice). In general, mouse and human immune systems are similar; however, there are distinct and important differences. Therefore, immunological research in humans is vital for understanding the human immune system. In this respect, studies that examine only the phenomena of immune responses may not provide information about causal relationships. Therefore, similar to gene knockout studies in mice, an investigative methodology that clarifies both cause and consequence should be adopted for human immunology research. In this context, the study of disease-susceptible genetic variants is important. With the exception of antigen receptor genes, a patient's genetic information exists before the disease onset and does not change. These genetic findings provide us with evidence into the causal relationship of the observed phenomenon and its pathogenesis. Recently, many of the disease susceptible variants identified by genome wide association study (GWAS) have been found to function as an expression-quantitative trait locus (e-QTL), regulating the expression levels of genes. For example, the SNP risk regions associated with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) significantly overlap the histone mark of an active promoter and enhancer in T cells from patients. Therefore, using global genomic information, qualitative and quantitative analyses of gene expression, together with information about disease susceptible variants, cell-specific epigenomes and proteins, we will better understand the pathogenic components of immunocompetent cells in various immune-related diseases. This research will make it possible to elucidate causal intermediate phenotypes, such as gene expression, epigenome and protein expression patterns, in individual diseases. By obtaining a comprehensive understanding of the human immune system, it could be possible to elucidate the immune status of each individual in more detail, making precision medicine a reality.



## Laboratory for Digestive Diseases

Team Leader: Kazuaki Chayama

### Figure: Changes in the ctDNA levels of two TP53 mutations over the clinical course

The clinical course of a patient being treated with chemotherapy (mFOLFOX6) and immunotherapy (Bevacizumab, anti-VEGF) was followed by CT scans of liver metastases at baseline, remission and after progression. Changes in two *TP53* ctDNA mutations measured as % mutant allele frequency and in total cell-free DNA (cfDNA, bars) over the clinical course. Changes in the ctDNA levels of two *TP53* mutations are independent of changes in the amount of total cfDNA or tumor markers (CEA and CA19–9).



#### **Recent Major Publications**

Yamauchi M, Urabe Y, Ono A, Miki D, Ochi H, Chayama K. Serial profiling of circulating tumor DNA for optimization of anti-VEGF chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer patients. *Int J Cancer* (in press)

Furuta M, Ueno M, Fujimoto A, Hayami S, Yasukawa S, Kojima F, Arihiro K, Kawakami Y, Wardell CP, Shiraishi Y, Tanaka H, Nakano K, Maejima K, Sasaki-Oku A, Tokunaga N, Boroevich KA, Abe T, Aikata H, Ohdan H, Gotoh K, Kubo M, Tsunoda T, Miyano S, Chayama K, Yamaue H, Nakagawa H. Whole genome sequencing discriminates hepatocellular carcinoma with intrahepatic metastasis from multi-centric tumors. *J Hepatol* 66, 363–373 (2017)

Fujimoto A, Furuta M, Totoki Y, Tsunoda T, Kato M, Shiraishi Y, Tanaka H, Taniguchi H, Kawakami Y, Ueno M, Gotoh K, Ariizumi S, Wardell CP, Hayami S, Nakamura T, Aikata H, Arihiro K, Boroevich KA, Abe T, Nakano K, Maejima K, Sasaki-Oku A, Ohsawa A, Shibuya T, Nakamura H, Hama N, Hosoda F, Arai Y, Ohashi S, Urushidate T, Nagae G, Yamamoto S, Ueda H, Tatsuno K, Ojima H, Hiraoka N, Okusaka T, Kubo M, Marubashi S, Yamada T, Hirano S, Yamamoto M, Ohdan H, Shimada K, Ishikawa O, Yamaue H, Chayama K, Miyano S, Aburatani H, Shibata T, Nakagawa H. Whole-genome mutational landscape and characterization of noncoding and structural mutations in liver cancer. **Nat Genet** 48, 500–509 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Chayama K. "Baseline RAS Test: Clinical practice" The Liver Week 2017 (Incheon, Korea) June, 2017 A lthough not directly cytopathic, HBV and HCV are responsible for millions of deaths annually, and the aging patient population presents a critical public health challenge. Using a GWAS approach, we have focused on investigating host genetic factors involved in various liver diseases, such as chronic HBV and HCV infection, HCV-induced liver cirrhosis and cancer, and responsiveness to therapy. We have now intensively investigated and verified how to apply such genetic information to clinical practice. We demonstrated that a polymorphism in the interferon lambda-4 (*IFNL4*) gene affects the outcome of simeprevir, peginterferon and ribavirin therapy for older patients with genotype 1 chronic hepatitis C (*Hepatol Res* 2017). In addition, we found that an inosine triphosphatase (*ITPA*) polymorphism influences the decrease of hemoglobin during the interferon-free regimen of sofosbuvir plus ribavirin for patients with genotype 2 chronic hepatitis C (*J Gastroenterol* 2017).

We have also participated in whole-genome sequencing (WGS) analysis of liver cancer in collaboration with the Laboratory for Genome Sequencing Analysis (*Nat Genet* 2016, *Nat Commun* 2015). We showed that WGS of multiple liver tumors enabled the accurate diagnosis of multi-centric occurrence versus intrahepatic metastasis prior to selecting a therapeutic strategy for multiple tumors in the liver (*J Hepatol* 2017). By using WGS data, we analyzed circulating tumor DNA (ctD-NA) and found that it reflects tumor progression, microscopic vascular invasion of the portal vein and cancer recurrence (*Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2015). Recently, we analyzed ctDNA for optimization of anti-VEGF chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer patients. We finally found that changes in ctDNA levels could be useful as predictive biomarkers for survival. Mutations newly detected in ctDNA in the late treatment period might reveal the rise of a minor tumor subclone that may show resistance to the anti-VEGF therapy (*Int J Cancer in press*).



# Laboratory for Bone and Joint Diseases

Team Leader: Shiro Ikegawa

**Recent Major Publications** 

Sakamoto Y, Yamamoto T, Sugano N, Takahashi D, Watanabe T, Atsumi T, Nakamura J, Hasegawa Y, Akashi K, Narita I, Miyamoto T, Takeuchi T, Ikari K, Amano K, Fujie A, Kubo T, Tada Y, Kaneuji A, Nakamura H, Miyamura T, Kabata T, Yamaji K, Okawa T, Sudo A, Ohzono K, Tanaka Y, Yasunaga Y, Matsuda S, Imai Y; Japanese Research Committee on Idiopathic Osteonecrosis of the Femoral Head, Akiyama M, Kubo M, Kamatani Y, Iwamoto Y, Ikegawa S. Genome-wide Association Study of Idiopathic Osteonecrosis of the Femoral Head. **Sci Rep** 7, 15035 (2017)

Akiyama M, Okada Y, Kanai M, Takahashi A, Momozawa Y, Ikeda M, Iwata N, Ikegawa S, Hirata M, Matsuda K, Iwasaki M, Yamaji T, Sawada N, Hachiya T, Tanno K, Shimizu A, Hozawa A, Minegishi N, Tsugane S, Yamamoto M, Kubo M, Kamatani Y. Genome-wide association study identifies 112 new loci for body mass index in the Japanese population. **Nat Genet** 49, 1458–1467 (2017)

Ogura Y, Kou I, Takahashi Y, Takeda K, Minami S, Kawakami N, Uno K, Ito M, Yonezawa I, Kaito T, Yanagida H, Watanabe K, Taneichi H, Harimaya K, Taniguchi Y, Kotani T, Tsuji T, Suzuki T, Sudo H, Fujita N, Yagi M, Chiba K, Kubo M, Kamatani Y, Nakamura M, Matsumoto M; Japan Scoliosis Clinical Research Group, Watanabe K, Ikegawa S; Japan Scoliosis Clinical Research Group. A functional variant in MIR4300HG, the host gene of microRNA MIR4300 is associated with progression of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. *Hum Mol Genet* 26, 4086–4092 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Ikegawa S. "Axial spondylometaphyseal dysplasia" 13th International Skeletal Dysplasia Society Meeting (ISDS) (Bruges, Belgium) Sep 2017

Ikegawa S. "Genome study of skeletal dysplasia, rare orthopedic diseases" The 12th ICORD (International Conference on Rare Diseases and Orphan Drugs)/The 6th China Rare Disease Summit (Beijing, China) Sep 2017

Ikegawa S. "Genomic approaches to study idiopathic scoliosis" The combined ICSG and ICVAS meeting (Dallas, Texas, USA) March 2017

Ikegawa S. "Diagnostics of skeletal dysplasias in the next generation" The 4th Nordic skeletal dysplasia workshop (Helsinki, Finland) March 2017

Ikegawa S. "How to study genetic diseases." Taipei Medical University Invited Seminar (Taipei, Taiwan) January 2017 Figure: Manhattan plot of imputed GWAS data for idiopathic osteonecrosis of the femoral head in Japanese (from Sakamoto et al. Sci Rep 2017) (a) Idiopathic osteonecrosis of the femoral head vs BioBank Japan (BBJ), (b) alcohol-associated osteonecrosis of the femoral head (ONFH) vs BBJ, (c) alcohol-associated ONFH vs BBJ of heavy drinkers (400 ml/day or more ethanol consumption), (d) steroid-associated ONFH vs BBJ, and (e) neither-associated ONFH vs BBJ. SNPs with genome-wide significance were identified in (a) 12q24.11-12 and 20q12, (b) 12q24.11-13 and 20q12, (c) 20q12, and (d) 2q32 and 6p21. The red and blue lines represented the threshold of genome-wide significance ( $P = 5 \times 10^{-8}$ ) and suggestive association threshold ( $P = 1 \times 10^{-5}$ ), respectively.



### a) Genomic Study of Common Diseases

Common bone and joint diseases have become serious concerns for world health and the economy, as exemplified by the WHO initiative "Bone and Joint Decade" (2000–2010) and the "Locomo" campaign in Japan. We are searching for susceptibility genes for common (polygenic) bone and joint diseases including osteoarthritis (OA), lumbar disc disease (LDD)/herniation (LDH), osteoporosis, idiopathic osteonecrosis of the femoral head (ION), scoliosis, and ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the spine (OPLL).

Through genome-wide association studies (GWASs) and next-generation sequencing approaches, we identify and characterize susceptibility genes, and then clarify their disease-causing mechanisms at the molecular level. Using the genome information obtained by these studies, we will realize our final goal, "precision medicine" for these diseases. GWASs for OA, LDD/LDH, adolescent idiopathic scoliosis (AIS), OPLL, and ION are in progress and will be followed by functional studies of the genes *in vitro* and using animal models. We have already succeeded in identification of susceptibility genes by GWAS for ION (Figure) and the pathogenic mechanisms of the disease.

### b) Genomic Study of Skeletal Dysplasia

Skeletal dysplasia is a group of heritable (monogenic) disorders affecting the skeleton, with more than 400 diseases belonging to this category. Skeletal dysplasia is an intractable disease and thus many patients are waiting for treatment. We are engaging in clinical and basic studies of these refractory diseases. By large-scale mutation screening, including exome sequencing, we are identifying the disease-causing genes. So far, we identified new genes for 27 diseases.

Through analysis of their phenotypes and diseases genes, we approach molecular mechanisms of bone and joint formation, pathogenesis of common bone and joint diseases, as well as the diagnosis and treatment of these crippling intractable diseases ('nanbyo'). Using the disease genes for skeletal dysplasia as candidate genes, we are performing association studies for the corresponding common bone and joint diseases.



## Laboratory for Endocrinology, Metabolism and Kidney Diseases

Team Leader: Momoko Horikoshi

Figure: Results of GWAS meta-analysis for type 2 diabetes in the Japanese population Names of the previously identified loci are in black and the seven new loci identified in this study are shown in red.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Mägi R, Horikoshi M, Sofer T, Mahajan A, Kitajima H, Franceschini N, McCarthy MI; COGENT-Kidney Consortium, T2D-GENES Consortium, Morris AP. Trans-ethnic meta-regression of genome-wide association studies accounting for ancestry increases power for discovery and improves fine-mapping resolution. *Hum Mol Genet* 26, 3639–3650 (2017)

Horikoshi M, Beaumont RN, Day FR, Warrington NM, Kooijman MN, Fernandez-Tajes J, Feenstra B, van Zuydam NR, Gaulton KJ, Grarup N, Bradfield JP, Strachan DP, Li-Gao R, Ahluwalia TS, Kreiner E, Rueedi R, Lyytikäinen LP, Cousminer DL, Wu Y, Thiering E, Wang CA, Have CT, Hottenga JJ, Vilor-Tejedor N, Joshi PK, Boh ET, Ntalla I, Pitkänen N, Mahajan A, van Leeuwen EM, Joro R, Lagou V, Nodzenski M, Diver LA, Zondervan KT, Bustamante M, Marques-Vidal P, Mercader JM, Bennett AJ, Rahmioglu N, Nyholt DR, Ma RC, Tam CH, Tam WH; CHARGE Consortium Hematology Working Group., Ganesh SK, van Rooij FJ, Jones SE, Loh PR, Ruth KS, Tuke MA, et al. Genome-wide associations for birth weight and correlations with adult disease. **Nature** 538, 248–252 (2016)

Imamura M, Takahashi A, Yamauchi T, Hara K, Yasuda K, Grarup N, Zhao W, Wang X, Huerta-Chagoya A, Hu C, Moon S, Long J, Kwak SH, Rasheed A, Saxena R, Ma RC, Okada Y, Iwata M, Hosoe J, Shojima N, Iwasaki M, Fujita H, Suzuki K, Danesh J, Jørgensen T, Jørgensen ME, Witte DR, Brandslund I, Christensen C, Hansen T, Mercader JM, Flannick J, Moreno-Macías H, Burtt NP, Zhang R, Kim YJ, Zheng W, Singh JR, Tam CH, Hirose H, Maegawa H, Ito C, Kaku K, Watada H, Tanaka Y, Tobe K, Kawamori R, Kubo M, Cho YS, Chan JC, et al. Genome-wide association studies in the Japanese population identify seven novel loci for type 2 diabetes. *Nat Commun* 7, 10531 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

IHorikoshi M. "Genomic loci associated with birth weight identify genetic links between intrauterine growth and adult metabolic disease" CRG Symposium -7th International Workshop on Genomic Epidemiology (Barcelona, Spain) September, 2017

Horikoshi M. "Genomic loci associated with birth weight identify genetic links between intrauterine growth and adult metabolic disease" The 12th International Workshop on Advanced Genomics (Tokyo, Japan) June, 2017

Horikoshi M. "Linking birth weight and adult diseases through genetics" RCAST Symposium on New Dietetics (Tokyo, Japan) June, 2017



Our primary focus is on establishing the genetic contribution to type 2 diabetes (T2D) susceptibility in the Japanese population. To that end, we are working directly with the state-of-the-art genetic resources generated by Biobank Japan, which includes GWAS data for more than 35,000 T2D subjects. Our recent analyses of a subset of these GWAS data identified seven novel regions of the genome associated with T2D (Fig). Of the more than 90 T2D loci reported as of 2016, we have increased the number of loci reported from the Japanese population to 14 in total. We are currently expanding this effort to the full set of Biobank Japan. We have also investigated genomic regions associated with microvascular complications of T2D, namely, diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy. GWAS for these complications have been performed by several groups, but worldwide efforts to identify susceptibility to these diabetic complications have not met with clear success. We are strengthening our ties with neighboring collaborators by contributing our T2D association data to the Asian Genetic Epidemiology Network (AGEN) Consortium as well as to the world-wide DIAMANTE Consortium.



# Laboratory for Respiratory and Allergic Diseases

Team Leader: Mayumi Tamari

### Figure: Effects of the 10 associated loci of childhood FA with AD. Odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (Cls)

observed for AD or EoE in original articles versus those for FA and FA with AD in this study are shown.

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Hirata J, Hirota T, Ozeki T, Kanai M, Sudo T, Tanaka T, Hizawa N, Nakagawa H, Sato S, Mushiroda T, Saeki H, Tamari M, Okada Y. Variants at HLA-A, HLA-C, and HLA-DQB1 confer risk of psoriasis vulgaris in Japanese. *J Invest Dermatol* (2017) in press

Hirota T, Nakayama T, Sato S, Yanagida N, Matsui T, Sugiura S, Takaoka Y, Hizawa N, Fujieda S, Miyatake A, Sasaki T, Amagai M, Doi S, Ito K, Ebisawa M, Tamari M. Association study of childhood food allergy with GWAS-discovered loci of atopic dermatitis and eosinophilic esophagitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 140, 1713–1716 (2017)

Sunadome H, Matsumoto H, Petrova G, Kanemitsu Y, Tohda Y, Horiguchi T, Kita H, Kuwabara K, Tomii K, Otsuka K, Fujimura M, Ohkura N, Tomita K, Yokoyama A, Ohnishi H, Nakano Y, Oguma T, Hozawa S, Nagasaki T, Ito I, Oguma T, Inoue H, Tajiri T, Iwata T, Izuhara Y, Ono J, Ohta S, Hirota T, Tamari M, Yokoyama T, Niimi A, Izuhara K, Mishima M. IL4R $\alpha$  and ADAM33 as genetic markers in asthma exacerbations and type-2 inflammatory endotype. *Clin Exp Allergy* 47, 998–1006 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Tamari M. "Genetic Factors of Allergic Diseases" The 4th Seminar of Japanese Society of Allergology (Kanagawa, Japan) December, 2017

Tamari M. "Genomics in Atopic Dermatitis and Psoriasis" Seminar in Department of Dermatology, The Jikei University of Medicine (Tokyo, Japan) July, 2017

Tamari M. "Genetic Factors of Allergic Diseases" Symposium, The 66th meeting of Japanese Society of Allergology (Tokyo, Japan) June, 2017

Tamari M. "Genetic Study of Allergic Diseases" Nature Conference (Guangzhou, China) May, 2017

| ND<br>A<br>A with AD<br>ND<br>A<br>A with AD<br>ND<br>A<br>A with AD<br>ND<br>A<br>A with AD<br>ND<br>A<br>A with AD<br>ND<br>A<br>A with AD   | 11. []. []. [].   |   |   |   |   | 1.24 (1.<br>1.34 (1.<br>1.39 (1.<br>1.23 (1.<br>1.23 (1.<br>1.21 (1.<br>1.22 (1.<br>1.22 (1.<br>1.40 (1.<br>1.54 (1.<br>1.25 (1. | 13-1.35<br>17-1.52<br>20-1.62<br>13-1.33<br>03-1.30<br>05-1.39<br>13-1.33<br>24-1.59<br>33-1.77<br>19-1.32 |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|
| A with AD AD AWITH | tri []  |   |   | -<br>-  |   | 1.34 (1.<br>1.39 (1.<br>1.23 (1.<br>1.15 (1.<br>1.21 (1.<br>1.22 (1.<br>1.40 (1.<br>1.54 (1.<br>1.25 (1.                         | 17-1,52<br>20-1,62<br>13-1,33<br>03-1,30<br>05-1,39<br>13-1,33<br>24-1,59<br>33-1,77<br>19-1,32            |
| A with AD<br>AD<br>A with AD<br>AD<br>AD<br>A with AD<br>AD<br>A<br>A with AD<br>A<br>A with AD<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A  | nr      .   |   | •   |   |   | 1.39 (1.<br>1.23 (1.<br>1.15 (1.<br>1.21 (1.<br>1.22 (1.<br>1.40 (1.<br>1.54 (1.<br>1.25 (1.                                     | 20-1.62<br>13-1.33<br>03-1.30<br>05-1.39<br>13-1.33<br>24-1.59<br>33-1.77<br>19-1.32                       |
| AD<br>A with AD<br>A<br>A with AD<br>A<br>A with AD<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A  | 11. I.I.I.  |   | •   | -   |   | 1.23 (1.<br>1.15 (1.<br>1.21 (1.<br>1.22 (1.<br>1.40 (1.<br>1.54 (1.   | 13-1.33)<br>03-1.30)<br>05-1.39]<br>13-1.33)<br>24-1.59)<br>33-1.77)<br>19-1.32                            |
| A with AD<br>AD<br>A with AD<br>A with AD<br>AD<br>A<br>A with AD<br>A with AD<br>A<br>A with AD<br>A  | 11. 11  |   | •   | -   |   | 1.15 (1.<br>1.21 (1.<br>1.22 (1.<br>1.40 (1.<br>1.54 (1.<br>1.25 (1.   | 03-1.30)<br>05-1.39)<br>13-1.33)<br>24-1.59)<br>33-1.77)<br>19-1.32  |
| A with AD<br>AD<br>A with AD<br>AD<br>AD<br>AD<br>A with AD<br>A with AD<br>AD<br>A  | 117   |   |   | ÷   |   | 1.21 (1.<br>1.22 (1.<br>1.40 (1.<br>1.54 (1.<br>1.25 (1.   | 05-1.39)<br>13-1.33,<br>24-1.59)<br>33-1.77)<br>19-1.32  |
| AD<br>A with AD<br>AD<br>A with AD<br>A with AD<br>AD  | the I   |   |   | •   |   | 1.22 (1.<br>1.40 (1.<br>1.54 (1.<br>1.25 (1.   | 13-1.33)<br>24-1.59)<br>33-1.77)<br>19-1.32  |
| A with AD<br>AD<br>A with AD<br>A with AD<br>AD  | -11   | ;<br>;;   |   | •   |   | 1.40 (1.<br>1.54 (1.<br>1.25 (1.   | 24-1.59)<br>33-1.77)<br>19-1.32)   |
| A with AD<br>AD<br>A with AD<br>A with AD  | -11   | -   |   | •   |   | 1.54 (1.   | 33-1.77)   |
| AD<br>A with AD<br>AD  | 1   | -   |   |   |   | 1.25 (1.   | 19-1.32  |
| A with AD  | 4   | _;  | -   |   |   |  |  |
| A with AD  |   |   |   |   |   | 1.32 (1  | 17-1.49)   |
| A  |   |   |   | ÷   |   | 1,33 (1  | 16-1.53)   |
| A  |   |   | -   |   |   | 1.29 (1  | 22-1.37)   |
| S  |   |   | -   |   |   | 1.25 (1  | 11-1.41)   |
| A with AD  | +   | -   | -   | -   |   | 1.34 (1.   | 16-1.54)   |
| D  |   |   | -   |   |   | 1.28 (1  | 22-1.36)   |
| A  |   |   |   |   |   | 1.25 (1  | 11-1.41)   |
| A with AD  | -   |   |   | ÷   |   | 1.30 (1.   | 14-1.49)   |
| D  |   |   | -   |   |   | 1.31 (1  | 24-1.38)   |
| A  |   |   |   |   |   | 1.16 (1.   | 03-1.31)   |
| A with AD  | -   |   |   |   |   | 1.23 (1  | 07-1,41)   |
| D  | -   | -   |   |   |   | 1.23 (1.   | 17-1,29)   |
| A  |   |   |   |   |   | 1.16 (1.   | 02-1.32)   |
| A with AD  | -   |   |   | -   |   | 1.29 (1  | 11-1.51)   |
| D  |   | ÷   |   |   |   | 1.17 (1.   | 11-1.17)   |
| A  | +   | -   |   | -   |   | 1.27 (1.   | 08-1.50)   |
| A with AD  | -   |   |   |   |   | 1.31 (1.   | 08-1.58)   |
| D  |   | -   | _   |   | - | 1.49 (1  | 31-1.70)   |
| A  |   | -   |   |   |   | 1.25 (1  | 09-1.44)   |
| A with AD  |   |   | -   |   |   | 1.18 (1  | 00-1.40)   |
|  | A<br>A with AD<br>D<br>A<br>A with AD<br>D<br>A<br>A with AD<br>D<br>A<br>A<br>A with AD<br>D<br>A<br>A<br>A with AD<br>D<br>A<br>A<br>A with AD<br>D<br>D<br>A<br>A<br>A with AD<br>D<br>D<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>With AD<br>D<br>D<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>VITH A<br>D<br>D<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A<br>A | A with AD A with AD A with AD A with AD A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A | A with AD<br>A with AD<br>D<br>A with AD<br>A A A A WITH AD<br>A A A A A WITH AD<br>A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A | A with AD<br>A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A | D | D  | D  |

T he aim of our project is to explore genetic components of respiratory and allergic diseases. Genome-wide association study (GWAS) is a method for comprehensive assessment of genes underlying susceptibility to human disorders. Food allergy (FA) is a problem throughout the world, but the genetic factors affecting FA susceptibility in children remain largely unexplored. We recruited patients with FA who had been diagnosed by pediatric specialists based on positive oral food challenge or a definitive clinical history after food intake. We conducted an association study of childhood FA with GWAS-discovered loci for atopic dermatitis (AD) and eosinophilic esophagitis (EoE). We assessed 19 and seven susceptibility variants previously reported in GWAS for AD and EoE, respectively, and found an association between FA and 14 of these loci. We then stratified the case subjects by AD comorbidity and a total of 10 loci were associated with childhood FA and AD (Figure). We further assessed associations of a total of six filaggrin (*FLG*) null variants with childhood FA, and found a significant association. These findings improve our understanding of the complex heterogeneity of FA.

Wheat-dependent exercise-induced anaphylaxis (WDEIA) is severe food allergy that usually develops after ingestion of wheat products followed by physical exercise. Hydrolysed wheat gluten protein (HWP) is used as an additive for facial soap. In Japan, a total of 2026 cases of immediate wheat allergy and WDEIA due to HWP have been reported. Most patients seemed to be sensitized to HWP (Glupearl 19S<sup>®</sup>) through the use of the facial soap "Cha-no-shizuku". Glupearl 19S<sup>®</sup> is a degraded gluten made by the direct resolution of wheat by hydrochloric acid. We conducted GWAS of WDEIA induced by HWP-containing facial soap of 464 cases and 3,099 controls and identified associated SNPs at a region on chromosome 6.

# Program for Medical Innovations

**F** our original projects for clinical applications have been performed: 1) A chemical compound recently developed using the  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide ( $\alpha$ -GalCer) analog, RCAI-X. The RCAI-X-loaded autologous cell therapy has been studied preclinically for cancer therapy. 2) The artificial adjuvant vector cell as an anti-tumor vaccine project has been accepted by the translational research network program and developed. This vaccine can be dosed with tumor antigen mRNA together with  $\alpha$ -GalCer, so that it activates both innate and acquired protective immunity and also induces long-term memory. 3) The human iPS project for clinical use of *in vitro* generated NKT cells has been accepted as a Center for Clinical Application Research (Type B) in the Research Center Network for Realization of Regenerative Medicine, Japan in 2013. 4) A humanized mouse model for MLL gene-rearranged leukemia was established. Also, certain genes were identified that are differentially expressed between normal stem cells and leukemic stem cells.



# Laboratory for Immune Regulation

Group Director: Masaru Taniguchi

# Figure: Superior antitumor activity of dendritic cells (DCs) pulsed with the novel NKT cell-activating ligand RK

(A) Inhibition of B16 melanoma metastasis by specific activation of natural killer T cells with RK-pulsed DCs. The antitumor effect was assessed using the B16 melanoma liver metastasis model. Tumor cells were inoculated into B6 mice on day 0, and the indicated numbers of DCs pulsed with RK or the previous NKT cell ligand  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide (GC) were injected intravenously on day 4. Untreated control mice were inoculated only with the B16 melanoma. Individual liver tissue images obtained from three mice per experimental group on day 14 post-injection are shown. (B) Standard curve generated by melanin measurement using visible light spectroscopy at 405 nm obtained from serially diluted B16 melanoma cells. (C) Quantitative analysis of B16 melanoma burden in the liver tissues shown in panel (A). Values represent calculated ratios of melanin concentrations assessed by visible light spectroscopy relative to the untreated animals inoculated only with the B16 melanoma (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 5 mice per group).

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Dashtsoodol N, Shigeura T, Tashiro T, Aihara M, Chikanishi T, Okada H, Hanada K, Sano H, Kurogi A, Taniguchi M. Natural Killer T Cell-Targeted Immunotherapy Mediating Long-term Memory Responses and Strong Antitumor Activity. *Front Immunol* 8, 1206 (2017)

Dashtsoodol N, Shigeura T, Aihara M, Ozawa R, Kojo S, Harada M, Endo T, Watanabe T, Ohara O, Taniguchi M. Alternative pathway for the development of Va14<sup>+</sup> NKT cells directly from CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> thymocytes that bypasses the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> stage. **Nat Immunol** 18, 274–282 (2017)

Dashtsoodol N, Shigeura T, Ozawa R, Harada M, Kojo S, Watanabe T, Koseki H, Nakayama M, Ohara O, Taniguchi M. Generation of Novel Traj18-Deficient Mice Lacking Vα14 Natural Killer T Cells with an Undisturbed T Cell Receptor α-Chain Repertoire. **PLoS One** 11, e0153347 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Taniguchi M. "NKT cell-targeted anti-cancer therapy" 2017 World Alliance Forum in San Francisco (San Francisco, USA) November, 2017

Taniguchi M. "Alternative pathway for the development of Va14<sup>+</sup> NKT cells directly from CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> thymocytes that bypasses the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> stage" CD1-MR1 2017 (Napa, USA) November, 2017

Dashtsoodol N. "Revisiting a dogma: Identification of a novel alternative pathway of V $\alpha$ 14<sup>+</sup> NKT cell development directly from thymic DN stage bypassing the DP stage" Annual Scientific Conference of the Mongolian National University of Medical Sciences (Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia) April, 2017



urrent tumor therapies, including immunotherapies, focus on passive eradication or at least reduction of the tumor mass. However, cancer patients quite often suffer from tumor relapse or metastasis after such treatments. To overcome these problems, we have developed an NKT cell-targeted immunotherapy focusing on active engagement of the patient's immune system, but not directly targeting the tumor cells themselves. Natural Killer T (NKT) cells express an invariant antigen receptor a chain encoded by Trav11 (Va14)-Traj18 (Ja18) gene segments in mice and TRAV10 (Va24)-TRAJ18 (Ja18) in humans and recognize glycolipid ligand in conjunction with a monomorphic CD1d molecule. The NKT cells play a pivotal role in the orchestration of antitumor immune responses by mediating adjuvant effects that activate various antitumor effector cells of both innate and adaptive immune systems and also aid in establishing a long-term memory response. As a result of our group's long term commitment to translational research supported by AMED, we have recently established an NKT cell-targeted therapy using a newly discovered NKT cell glycolipid ligand, RK, which has a stronger capacity to stimulate both human and mouse NKT cells compared to previously used NKT cell ligands. Moreover, RK mediates strong adjuvant effects in activating various effector cell types and establishes long-term memory responses, resulting in a continuous attack on the tumor that confers long-lasting and potent antitumor effects. Since the NKT cell ligand presented by the monomorphic CD1d can be used for all humans irrespective of HLA types, and also because NKT cell-targeted therapy does not directly target tumor cells, this therapy can potentially be applied to all cancer patients and any type of tumor.



## Laboratory for Immunotherapy

Team Leader: Shin-ichiro Fujii

#### Figure: Preclinical study with aAVC-WT1

Mice were inoculated with a WT1-expressing plasmacytoma cell line (J558-WT1) and then treated with mouse aAVC-WT1 at day 7. In the control untreated group, all of the mice died within 30 days. In contrast, 75% of the aAVC-WT1-treated mice survived for more than 6 months.



**Recent Major Publications** 

Iyoda T, Yamasaki S, Hidaka M, Kawano F, Abe Y, Suzuki K, Kadowaki N, Shimizu K, Fujii S. Amelioration of NK cell function driven by  $Va24^*$  invariant NKT cell activation in multiple myeloma. *Clin Immunol* S1521-6616(17)30503-X (2017)

Harrer DC, Simon B, Fujii S, Shimizu K, Uslu U, Schuler G, Gerer KF, Hoyer S, Dörrie J, Schaft N. RNA-transfection of  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells with a chimeric antigen receptor or an  $\alpha/\beta$  T-cell receptor: a safer alternative to genetically engineered  $\alpha/\beta$  T cells for the immunotherapy of melanoma. **BMC Cancer** 17, 551 (2017)

Fujii S, Shimizu K. Exploiting antitumor immunotherapeutic novel strategies by deciphering the cross talk between invariant NKT cells and dendritic cells. *Front Immunol* 8, 886 (2017)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Fujii S. "Development of new cellular vaccine systems with synergistic immunopotentiating effects" The 46th Japanese Society for Immunology (Sendai, Japan) December, 2017

Fujii S. "*in vivo* DC targeting therapy triggered by NKT cell activation" The 21st Annual Meeting of Japanese Association of Cancer Immunology (Tokyo, Japan) June, 2017

Fujii S. "NKT cell-targeted anti-cancer immunotherapy" The 27th Annual Meeting of Japan Cytometry Society (Kobe, Japan) June, 2017

Fujii S, Shimizu K. "Systemic and Potent Dendritic Cell (DC) Activation Modulates the Tumor Microenvironment and Shapes the Long-lived Tumor Specific Memory CD8+T Cells" The 8th JSH International Symposium 2017 (Miyazaki, Japan) May, 2017

Fujii S. "Development of multifunctional anti-cancer vaccine - artificial adjuvant vector cells (aAVC)" The 54th Annual Meeting of Japan Society of Molecular Medicine (Tokyo, Japan) April, 2017

he aims of our laboratory are to extend basic studies for advancing immunotherapy and translational research, from basic studies back and forth to the bedside in the field of cancer and the control of other diseases. In this fiscal year, we have started the first-in-human clinical trial using artificial adjuvant vector cells (aAVC), which we first developed in 2009. The aAVC is comprised of allogeneic cells as vector cells, NKT ligand and CD1d complex on the cell surface and cancer-related protein inside of the cells. This aAVC cellular drug therapy activates dendritic cells in vivo, resulting in multifunctional immune responses, i.e., not only innate and adaptive immunity, but also memory T cells. Because of this powerful immune response, we observe a strong antitumor therapeutic effect and also a block in tumor metastasis. Since aAVC is a basic platform, we can replace any type of cancer antigen and, therefore, it would possibly be applicable for a variety of diseases. In fact, we have confirmed the activation of multifunctional immune responses by administration of aAVC-OVA, -MART-1, -WT1 and -TRP2 in different tumor-bearing mouse models. In addition, we demonstrated that therapy with aAVC-expressing hemagglutinin (aAVC-HA) should also be useful to combat influenza virus infection. We established a human aAVC product, WT-1 tumor antigen-expressing human aAVC (aAVC-WT1) and finished many pre-clinical studies by consulting with the Japan Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency (PMDA), similar to the US FDA. As discussed above, we have recently launched an investigator-initiated clinical trial of aAVC-WT1 for relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia patients in collaboration with the group of the Dept. of Hematology and Oncology, The University of Tokyo, The Institute of Medical Science. This clinical study has been supported by the Translation Research center of Tokyo University and RIKEN DMP.



# Drug Discovery Antibody Platform Unit

Unit Leader: Toshitada Takemori

### Figure: Induction of phosphorylated proteins by mAb treatment.

A mutant B cell lymphoma cell line lacking HLA-DRa was transfected with HA-tagged HLA-DRa and stimulated with L243 (mlgG2a, $\kappa$ ) or anti-HA (mlgG2a, $\kappa$ ) mAbs. Proteins were extracted from whole cell lysates (nonstimulated (none), stimulated with anti-HA tag mAb or L243 mAb), digested, followed by enrichment of phosphopeptides and finally analyzed by LC-MS/MS. Hierarchical clustering was performed on each protein and the heat map was generated using Java TreeView software (http://jtreeview.sourceforge.net/). The boxed clusters indicate phosphorylated proteins that are only enhanced with L243 stimulation. The color in the map depicts the relative expression value (log2-scale) for each sample.



Miyauchi K, Sugimoto-Ishige A, Harada Y, Adachi Y, Usami Y, Kaji T, , Hasegawa H, Watanabe T, Hijikata A, Fukuyama S, Maemura T, Ohara O, Kawaoka Y, Takahashi Y, Takemori T, Kubo M. Protective neutralizing influenza antibody response in the absence of T follicular helper cells. **Nat Immunol** 17, 1447–1458 (2016)

Kaji T, Hijikata A, Ishige A, Kitami T, Watanabe T, Ohara O, Yanaka N, Okada M, Shimoda M, Taniguchi M, Takemori T. CD4 memory T cells develop and acquire functional competence by sequential cognate interactions and stepwise gene regulation. *Int Immunol* 28, 267–282 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**



 $\mathbf{N}$  on-Hodgkin lymphoma is a heterogeneous group of malignancies, most of which have a B cell phenotype. HLA-DR is highly expressed on hematologic malignancies, and HLA-DR engagement by a pan-HLA-DR mAb recognizing a conformational epitope in the N-terminal  $\alpha$  chain of HLA-DR, such as murine L243, directly kill the cells by non-apoptotic cell death. However, the mechanism remains elusive.

HLA-DR molecules do not possess any known signaling motifs in their cytoplasmic domain, but we found that their transmembrane domain is critical to mediate the killing signals, probably via associated molecules including tetraspanin family proteins.

Due to the importance of protein phosphorylation in many aspects of cell signaling, we have focused on the identification of phosphorylated proteins triggering non-apoptotic cell death in B cell lymphoma cell lines. To this end, we prepared a mutant B cell lymphoma cell line that is deficient in HLA-DRa expression as a result of genomic manipulation using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. The mutant was transfected with HA-tagged HLA-DRa and stimulated with the killing mAb, L243, or an anti-HA mAb that stimulates cell lines but does not induce cell killing. We detected a total of 11 proteins (marked by asterisks in Figure), that were phosphorylated on multiple sites upon stimulation with L243 but not with anti-HA mAbs. These proteins are known as regulators of energy and RNA metabolism, cell cycle and signal transduction. We are now analyzing signaling pathways related to energy metabolism, which could be involved in HLA-DR mediated direct killing by a non-apoptotic pathway in B cell lymphomas.

This work is a collaboration with Drs. Ohara and Kawashima (Laboratory for Integrative Genomics) and Dr. Kawakami (Healthcare and Medical Data Driven AI based Predictive Reasoning Development Unit).

Harada M, Sugimoto A, Matsuoka S. Takemori T. "CD81 is associated with non-apoptotic cell death in B cell lymphoma cell lines through HLA-DR alpha/beta engagement" The 46th Annual Meeting of Japanese Society for Immunology (Okinawa, Japan) December, 2016



## YCI Laboratory for Immune Regeneration

Young Chief Investigator: Tomokatsu Ikawa

### Figure: Transcriptional network during B cell fate determination

The heatmap represents gene expression profiles of highly variable transcription factors. Networks are shown in three time phases (Early, Mid and Late). The color of each node represents the transcriptional activity (activation or suppression of expression of their postulated downstream target genes) at the indicated time phase. Thickness of the edge indicates the probability of protein-protein interaction (experimental score in the STRING database).

#### **Recent Major Publications**

Miyai T, Takano J, Endo TA, Kawakami E, Agata Y, Motomura Y, Kubo M, Kashima Y, Suzuki Y, Kawamoto H, Ikawa T. Three-step transcriptional priming that drives the commitment of multipotent progenitors toward B cells. **Genes Dev** 32, 112–126 (2018)

Noguchi S, Arakawa T, Fukuda S, Furuno M, Hasegawa A, Hori F, Ishikawa-Kato S, Kaida K, Kaiho A, Kanamori-Katayama M, Kawashima T, Kojima M, Kubosaki A, Manabe RI, Murata M, Nagao-Sato S, Nakazato K, Ninomiya N, Nishiyori-Sueki H, Noma S, Saijyo E, Saka A, Sakai M, Simon C, Suzuki N, Tagami M, Watanabe S, Yoshida S, Arner P, Axton RA, Babina M, Baillie JK, Barnett TC, Beckhouse AG, Blumenthal A, Bodega B, Bonetti A, Briggs J, Brombacher F, Carlisle AJ, Clevers HC, Davis CA, Detmar M, Dohi T, Edge ASB, Edinger M, Ehrlund A, Ekwall K, Endoh M, Enomoto H, *et al.* FAN-TOM5 CAGE profiles of human and mouse samples. *Sci Data* 4, 170112 (2017)

Ikawa T, Masuda K, Endo TA, Endo M, Isono K, Koseki Y, Nakagawa R, Kometani K, Takano J, Agata Y, Katsura Y, Kurosaki T, Vidal M, Koseki H, Kawamoto H. Conversion of T cells to B cells by inactivation of polycomb-mediated epigenetic suppression of the B-lineage program. *Genes Dev* 30, 2475–2485 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Ikawa T, Miyai T, Takano J. "Three-step transcriptional priming that drives multipotent progenitors toward B cells." The 46th Annual Meeting of The Japanese Society for Immunology. (Sendai, Japan) December, 2017

Ikawa T. "Epigenetic maintenance of T cell identity by Polycomb-mediated suppression of Pax5." BMB2017. (Kobe, Japan) December, 2017

Ikawa T. "Lymphocyte differentiation and Epigenetics." Biken Seminar, Osaka University (Suita, Japan) November, 2017

Ikawa T, Miyai T, Takano J. "A road map that guides the development of B cells" The 3rd Tsinghua-RIKEN Joint Symposium (Beijing, China) September, 2017



B lymphocytes are generated from pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) through a successive series of lineage restriction processes. Although many essential transcription factors (TFs), such as Ikaros, PU.1, E2A, EBF1 and Pax5 have been implicated in regulating cell fate choice in the B cell lineage, molecular mechanisms underlying the generation of these patterns during cell fate determination remain unexplored because of the absence of suitable experimental systems.

We have recently established an ideal system that can be used to examine gene regulatory networks during lymphoid lineage specification from HSCs. We over-expressed Id3 protein fused with ERT2 (Estrogen receptor) protein, whose nuclear translocation is induced by 4-hydroxytamoxifen (4-OHT), in hematopoietic progenitors and cultured them in B cell differentiation conditions. In the presence of 4-OHT, B cell differentiation of Id3-transduced cells was blocked at an early developmental stage but the cells grew enormously and maintained multipotency (Ikawa et al. Stem Cell Reports, 2015). We named these multipotent progenitors as induced leukocyte stem (iLS) cells.

This novel system enabled the analysis of a large set of regulatory molecules that control the generation of T and B lymphocytes. We have recently described the complex transcriptional network operative during B lineage commitment (Figure). This system can also be applied for *ex vivo* expansion of human hematopoietic stem/progenitors, which will be required for immune cell therapy or transplantation of HSCs. Thus, the aims of our study are 1) from a basic science perspective, to elucidate the mechanisms that orchestrate cell fate specification, commitment and differentiation during lymphocyte development and 2) from a clinical medicine perspective, to establish a novel method to expand human hematopoietic stem/progenitors for the development of HSC transplantation as a clinical strategy.



## YCI Laboratory for Cellular Bioenergetic Network

Young Chief Investigator: Toshimori Kitami

Figure: Searching for chemicals that modulate mitochondrial function using the NLRP3 inflammasome as a disease pathway model In order to identify chemicals that could activate as well

as suppress the NLRP3 inflammasome pathway, we performed multiple layers of screens using IL-1 $\beta$  as a readout of the pathway activity.



Kaji T, Hijikata A, Ishige A, Kitami T, Watanabe T, Ohara O, Yanaka N, Okada M, Shimoda M, Taniguchi M, Takemori T. CD4 memory T cells develop and acquire functional competence by sequential cognate interactions and stepwise gene regulation. *Int Immunol* 28, 267–282 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Kitami T. "Mitochondrial chemical compendium v2: Building a genotype-chemical interaction database for mitochondrial toxicity" The 1st Annual COCKPI-T (Co-create Knowledge for Pharma Innovation with Takeda) (Kanagawa, Japan) July, 2017

Combinatorial chemical screen Activator screen 3 Suppressor screens 1280 +G chemicals NLRP3 -PYCARD-CASP1 pro-IL-1β → IL-1β Model building Ex vivo / in vivo analysis (2) 3 (1) pH ATP NLRP3-PYCARD-CASP1 pro-IL-1 $\beta \xrightarrow{\psi}$ Model refinement

The overarching goal of our laboratory is to understand the role of cellular metabolism in the pathogenesis of complex diseases. Research over the past decades has shown that monogenic mutations in metabolic pathways cause a wide variety of human diseases. However, more recent studies have highlighted the role of cellular metabolism in the development of a wide variety of complex human diseases. Our laboratory in particular has been studying the function of mitochondrial energy metabolism, which is associated with neurodegeneration, cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, and aging. We hope to identify novel pathways that restore or improve mitochondrial function through genetic and chemical screens and to examine their potential therapeutic value using genetically engineered mouse models and unique chemical probes.

Towards our goal, we have begun to explore the role of mitochondria in an innate immune pathway called the NLRP3 inflammasome, which is involved in a variety of age-associated diseases. The NLRP3 inflammasome is activated by cell physiological changes, including mitochondrial damage, although the molecular players involved have not been fully elucidated. To systematically identify key players in this complex pathway, we performed a series of chemical screens and have successfully identified compounds that can activate as well as suppress the NLRP3 inflammasome via mitochondria. Our analysis of these unique chemicals highlighted an important role of mitochondrial energy metabolism in maintaining intracellular ion homeostasis and preventing NLRP3 activation. Moreover, two outputs of the mitochondria, ATP and reactive oxygen species, both compete for activation and suppression of the NLRP3 inflammasome.

In the coming year, we hope to gain a more in-depth quantitative understanding of the interplay between mitochondria and the key interacting molecular players we identified from the screen. In addition, we hope to understand the mechanism by which suppressors of the NLRP3 inflammasome pathway alter or restore the function of mitochondria.



## YCI Laboratory for Trans-omics

Young Chief Investigator: Katsuyuki Yugi

Figure: Metabolic priming in the adipocyte Integration of time-series phosphoproteome and

<sup>13</sup>C-labeled metabolome data revealed that insulin-dependent phosphorylation of widespread metabolic enzymes occurs significantly early before the start of glucose transport, which potentially could direct glucose flux towards specific metabolic pathways. (Krycer, Yugi, et al., **Cell Rep** 2017)



†Krycer JR, †Yugi K(† equal contribution), Hirayama A, Fazakerley DJ, Quek LE, Scalzo R, Ohno S, Hodson MP, Ikeda S, Soji F, Suzuki K, Domanova W, Parker BK, Nelson ME, Humphrey SJ, Turner N, Hoehn KL, Cooney GJ, Soga T, Kuroda S, James DE. Dynamic metabolomics reveals that insulin primes the adipocyte for glucose metabolism. *Cell Rep* 21, 3536–3547 (2017)

Yugi K, Kuroda S. Metabolism-centric trans-omics. *Cell Syst* 4, 19–20 (2017)

Yugi K, Kubota H, Hatano A, Kuroda, S. Trans-omics: how to reconstruct biochemical networks across multiple 'omic' layers. **Trends Biotechnol** 34, 276–290 (2016) (Cover Article)

**Invited Presentations** 

Yugi K. "Trans-omic analysis reveals fed and fasting insulin signal across phosphoproteome, transcriptome, and metabolome" The 1st International Symposium for Trans-Omics (Tokyo, Japan) November. 2017

Yugi K. "A trans-omic reconstruction of insulin-dependent regulatory networks for metabolism" The 4th International Symposium of Gunma University Initiative for Advanced Research (Maebashi, Japan) November, 2017

Yugi K. "Reconstruction of insulin-dependent metabolic regulatory networks from phosphoproteome and metabolome data" RIKEN IMS-Japan Society for Immunology International Symposium on Immunology 2017 (Tokyo, Japan) June, 2017

Yugi K. "A trans-omic analysis of insulin-dependent metabolic regulation based on proteomics, metabolomics, and public databases" The 146th Kanto-area Colloquium, The Mass Spectrometry Society of Japan (Tokyo, Japan) January, 2017



Trans-omics is a discipline that aims to reconstruct a global and multi-layered molecular network, not as a group of indirect statistical correlations but as chains of direct mechanistic interactions (Yugi *et al.*, *Trends Biotechnol* 2016; Yugi and Kuroda, *Cell Syst* 2017). The network reconstruction is performed based on comprehensive measurement data of multiple omic layers not taken from heterogeneous sources but measured under an identical condition.

We applied methodologies of trans-omics to reveal how insulin acts on adipocyte metabolism in a global manner by integrating phosphoproteome and <sup>13</sup>C-labeled metabolome data (Krycer, Yugi, *et al.*, *Cell Rep* 2017). It has been thought that the major role of insulin is to provide anabolic substrates by activating GLUT4 transporter-dependent glucose uptake. However, recent phosphoproteomic analysis showed us that insulin provides widespread phosphorylation changes in the metabolic enzymes of the adipocyte (Humphrey *et al.*, *Cell Metab* 2013), and it is unclear how these changes influence the dynamics of glucose metabolism upon insulin exposure. To examine the implications of phosphorylation of these metabolic enzymes, we performed dynamic tracer metabolomics in cultured adipocytes treated with insulin.

By combining phosphoproteome and <sup>13</sup>C-labeled metabolome data, we found that insulin-dependent phosphorylation of metabolic enzymes occurs significantly early before glucose transport begins. This allows activation of key anabolic pathways that guide glucose influx into particular pathways where substrate metabolites are needed. We propose that this is a demand-driven system complementing a supply-driven mechanism by substrate accumulation. We named this phenomenon 'metabolic priming', a phenomenon in which insulin signaling kick starts catabolic reactions that generate a thermodynamic driving force that eventually pulls glucose into specific anabolic pathways.



## YCI Laboratory for Immunological Transcriptomics

Young Chief Investigator: Hideyuki Yoshida

Figure: Open Chromatin Regions (OCRs) associating with altered gene expressions along T cell differentiation pathways

Left: k-means clustering of differentially expressed genes during T cell differentiation. Normalized gene expression is shown. Center: ATAC-seq signals in plausible enhancers for each gene. Right: Enriched TF motifs in corresponding OCRs in each cluster.



#### **Recent Major Publications**

Bansal K, Yoshida H, Benoist C and Mathis D. The transcriptional regulator Aire binds to and activates super-enhancers. **Nat Immunol** 18, 263–73 (2017)

Moodley D, Yoshida H, Mostafavi S, Asinovski N, Ortiz-Lopez A, Symanowicz P, Telliez JB, Hegen M, Clark JD, Mathis D and Benoist C. Network pharmacology of JAK inhibitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 113, 9852–9857 (2016)

Mostafavi S, Yoshida H (Co-first), Moodley D, LeBoite H, Rothamel K, Raj T, Ye CJ, Chevrier N, Zhang S, Feng T, Lee M, Casanova JL, Clark JD, Hegen M, Telliez JB, Hacohen N, DeJager PL, Regev A, Mathis D. Benoist C, Immunological Genome Project Consortium. Parsing the Interferon transcriptional network and its disease associations. **Cell** 164, 564–578 (2016)

#### **Invited Presentations**

Yoshida H. "ATACseq, cool results, what next?" 2017 Workshop, Immunological Genome Project (Boston, USA) December, 2017

Yoshida H. "IFN response: analysis of transcriptional network by an unbiased approach" The 11th International Symposium of The Institute Network Frontiers in Biomedical Sciences (Tokushima, Japan) January, 2017 have been engaging two projects employing transcriptomics, a powerful and effective tool to investigate biological phenomenon.

### 1) Identifying novel factors involved in thymic negative selection

While some factors including Aire and Fezf2 are known to induce tissue specific antigens (TSAs) in thymic epithelial cells (TECs) and are essential for negative selection, thousands of TSA genes are induced in a manner independent of these factors. By utilizing publicly available databases, I found RNA-binding proteins that lead to mRNA degradation are specifically down-regulated in TECs and can be involved in the regulation of TSA expression. We are assessing the possible functions of these candidates using cell lines and preparing mouse models to investigate their significance *in vivo*. As the concept of TSA regulation by RNA stability is novel, this project can greatly increase our understanding of immune tolerance.

### 2) Comprehensive analysis of the cis-regulatory elements in immunocytes

The establishment and maintenance the unique transcriptional identity of a differentiated cell is largely driven by the combined activity of transcription factors (TFs) and chromatin remodelers at promoters and/or distal enhancer elements. While the existence of enhancers whose activity is restricted to a given cell-type has been recognized in specific context, i.e. specific genes or specific cell populations, their broader integration in related immune cell-types and their cascades along their respective differentiation pathways were not clear. In collaboration with Immunological Genome Project, I have performed paired epigenomic mapping by ATAC-seq and gene expression measurements by RNA-seq to profile 90 immune cell populations and define a *cis*-regulatory atlas of the mouse immune system. This atlas is both comprehensive, likely defining the entirety of the *cis*-regulatory elements in immunocytes, and highly granular, due to scanning of closely related cell-types in differentiation cascades. We are preparing the manuscript for submission.



## YCI Laboratory for Next-Generation Proteomics

Young Chief Investigator: Yibo Wu

#### Figure: A multilayered omics study of liver mitochondrial activity

(A) General model of the multilayered omics approach. Arrows indicate causality between metabolic layers. (B) Phenotyping pipeline for all individuals. (C) Body weight in two BXD strains for both diets over the full phenotyping experiment. (D) Error in SWATH-MS measurements due to technical (median CV = 6.5%), biological (CV = 17.0%), across strain within diet (CV = 31.4% in CD, 29.6% in HFD) and across all measurements (CV = 30.8%). (E) Histogram of 2600 transcript-protein pair Spearman correlations in CD. (F) Diet-consistent cis-eQTLs were observed. (G) Super Complex (SC) bands 4 and 5 mapped significantly as cQTLs to a locus on chromosome 17. This region includes *Cox7a2l*.



**Recent Major Publications** 

Wu Y, Williams EG, Aebersold R. Application of SWATH Proteomics to Mouse Biology. *Curr Protoc Mouse Biol* 7, 130–143 (2017)

Williams EG, Wu Y, Jha P, Dubuis S, Blattmann P, Argmann CA, Houten SM, Amariuta T, Wolski W, Zamboni N, Aebersold R, Auwerx J. Systems proteomics of liver mitochondria function. *Science* 52, aad0189 (2016) (\*Co-first author)

**Invited Presentations** 

Wu Y. "Systems proteomics of liver mitochondrial activity" The 1st International Symposium for Trans-Omics (Tokyo, Japan) November, 2017 Recent improvements in mass spectrometry-based proteomics, including Selected Reaction Monitoring (SRM) and Sequential Window Acquisition of all Theoretical Mass Spectra (SWATH-MS), have been driving the capacity for defining relationships between genetics, molecular pathways and overall phenotypes (Wu and Williams, et al. Cell 2014, Williams and Wu, et al. Science 2016). SWATH-MS has enabled accurate quantification of thousands of proteins across a large number of cohorts (Wu and Williams, et al. Curr Protoc Mouse.Biol 2017).

Here, we have demonstrated the quantification capacity of SWATH-MS by examining mitochondrial function and liver metabolism through the genome, transcriptome, proteome and metabolome in 386 individuals of the BXD mouse genetic reference population. Phenotypic traits, including body weight, vary significantly among these mice due to genetic, environmental and/or gene-by-environment (GxE) factors. SWATH-MS has allowed quantification of 2622 unique proteins with excellent reproducibility. Among these 2622 proteins, we have quantified 2600 transcript-protein pairs and observed only a nominal correlation between mRNA and protein levels, indicating the necessity of proteomic measurement of metabolic pathways to identify unknown molecular mechanisms.

We have identified and validated several links between genetic variants toward transcripts, proteins, metabolites and phenotypes. Among these, sequence variants in *Cox7a2l* alter its protein levels, but not transcript levels. The differences in COX7A2L protein in turn lead to downstream differences in mitochondrial supercomplex formation. These findings indicate that data generated by next-generation proteomics and metabolomics have reached a scope to complement genomics, transcriptomics and phenomics for transomic analyses of complex traits. This integrated omics strategy has provided us a new tool that brings personalized medicine closer.

# **Central Facilities**

Central Facilities in IMS provide all researchers in the Center with access to the most advanced equipment and technologies. Central Facilities consist of four sections; the FACS Laboratory managed by Dr. Takashi Saito, the Confocal Laboratory managed by Dr. Takaharu Okada, the Genomics Laboratory managed by Dr. Osamu Ohara, and the Animal Facility managed by Dr. Haruhiko Koseki.

## **FACS Laboratory**

The FACS Laboratory provides a range of support for flow cytometry and cell sorting techniques that are essential for nearly all experiments in immunology and disease studies. The FACS Lab has upgraded all FACS Arias including an Aria Fusion for multi-color analyses. In addition to FACS machines, the lab upgraded CyTOF2, a mass-spectrometry-based cytometer that has the potential to analyze more than 40 markers simultaneously with metal-labeled antibodies.

In 2017, 1496 analytical and 3996 sorting experiments were performed in the lab. Two staff members offer various services for users of the FACS machines (cell analyzers and cell sorters): (1) Technical support and training: In 2017, the facility offered 8 technical courses (4 for cell sorting and 4 for cell analysis). Courses were held at 3 different levels, Calibur basic, Canto II and Aria basic. A total of 31 researchers took the courses in 2017. (2) Cell sorting operation service: The FACS Lab provides a cell sorting operation service, in which researchers can ask an experienced operator to conduct the sorting experiment. In 2017, the lab provided 266 such services. Advanced cell sorting techniques, such as single cell sorting, have also been performed. (3) Management/ maintenance of FACS machines: FACS machines are available for registered users 24 hours a day and reservations are accepted up to one month in advance through an internal website. In addition to the in-house FACS Lab staff, engineers from Becton Dickinson visit once a week to provide maintenance and technical support.

#### Table: Instruments and the usage in the FACS Lab

| Machine types      | Machines                           | # of<br>machines | # of<br>users      | # of<br>training<br>sessions |
|--------------------|------------------------------------|------------------|--------------------|------------------------------|
| FACS cell analyzer | Calibur<br>Canto II                | 4<br>2           | 58<br>1438         | 2<br>12                      |
| FACS cell sorter   | Aria II<br>Aria III<br>Aria Fusion | 3<br>2<br>1      | 1971<br>1985<br>40 | 17                           |
| Mass-cytometer     | CyTOF2                             | 1                | 18                 | 2                            |

### **Confocal Laboratory**

The Confocal Laboratory provides equipment for cell and tissue imaging, and coordinates technical support. There are eight fluorescence microscopes available to researchers at IMS.

- 1. Inverted Leica SP5 system with visible lasers for single-photon excitation including a 405 violet laser.
- Inverted Leica SP2 system with visible lasers for single-photon excitation including a 405 violet laser. This microscope is equipped with a chamber system that controls CO2 concentration, temperature and humidity for live cell imaging.
- 3. Inverted Leica SP8 system with two femtosecond Ti:Sa lasers for multiphoton excitation. This system is equipped with two types of scanners (resonant and galvano) and hybrid detectors with high sensitivity and low background noise. One of the two Ti:-Sa lasers is connected to an optical parametric oscillator (OPO) that enables two-photon imaging by long wavelength excitation.
- Upright Leica SP5 system with two femtosecond Ti:Sa lasers for multiphoton excitation. This system utilizes resonant scanners that enable high-speed acquisition of large z-stacks for live tissue imaging.
- 5. Inverted Olympus FV1200 system with visible lasers for sin-



Photo: Leica SP8 multiphoton microscope (3), Nikon N-SIM/N-STORM super-resolution microscope (6), GE Healthcare DeltaVision Elite system (7), and Keyence BZ-X700 microscope (8).

gle-photon excitation.

- 6. Inverted Nikon N-SIM/N-STORM super-resolution microscope for dual color imaging.
- 7. GE Healthcare DeltaVision Elite system.
- 8. Keyence BZ-X700 all-in-one fluorescence microscope.

### **Central Facilities**

### **Genomics Laboratory**

re are a technical support service lab that provides genomeand proteome-wide analysis for research groups in IMS. We offer a variety of services to suit the needs of different labs. These include DNA sequencing, proteomics analysis, multiplex suspension array, cDNA/Genomic clone distribution, and Primer/labeled probe distribution for qRT-PCR analysis of immune cells (Table). Supplying advanced technologies on demand, we provide comprehensive interrogation of nucleic-acid based information in a cell at single-base resolution with the Illumina HiSeq1500 and as well as proteomic approaches using the AB SCIEX TripleTOF 5600. Using this unbiased sequencing approach, we have interrogated: transcription units, mapping/genome annotation, alternative splice sites, and transcription factor binding sites. Our mass spectrometry system will make it possible to use quantitative proteomic approaches in various immunological studies. These technologies will help to reveal additional hidden features of the dynamic genomic and proteomic landscape that are regulated by both genetic and epigenetic pathways in all organisms.

#### Table: Central services provided by the Genomics Lab in 2017

| Next-generation DNA sequencing                           | # of samples       | # of teams   |
|--|--------------------|--------------|
| RNA-sequencing<br>Chip-sequencing<br>Others (Exome etc)  | 1,756<br>432<br>49 | 24<br>5<br>2 |
| Proteomics   | # of samples       | # of teams   |
| Mass Spectrometry Analysis<br>Multiplex suspension array | 1<br>1,219         | 1<br>8       |
| Sanger DNA sequencing                                    | # of samples       | # of teams   |
| 36cm capillary<br>50cm capillary                         | 6,856<br>3,336     | 13<br>15     |
| cDNA clone delivery                                      | # of samples       | # of teams   |
|  | 43                 | 5            |
| Primer/labeled probe delivery                            | # of samples       | # of teams   |
|  |                    |              |

### **Animal Facility**

e continue to maintain over 50,000 mice in the SPF area, and 1,500 mice in an isolated area. The SPF area also contains 550 germ-free or gnotobiotic mice in Vinyl Isolator rooms, and in Vinyl Isolator bio-bubble rooms. The former is used by several IMS research groups, in particular the mucosal immunologists, and the latter is for "humanized mice". We introduce mouse lines into the SPF area via a combination of in vitro fertilization (IVF) and embryo transfer methods, and have also generated cryostocks of genetic resources (frozen embryos and sperm) for 782 lines. We also maintain relatively large colonies of several commonly used strains such as Rag1 KO and Cre deleters, and provide them to users on demand. We have also provided technical assistance to generate knockout and transgenic mice (80 lines). In addition, we made KO and KI mice (73 lines) using the CRISPR/Cas system and have created 17 lines of germ-free mice. We have provided space for new experiments, e.g., behavioral testing for germ-free mice, in the animal facility.

We generated mice to improve the efficacy of transplantation of human hematopoietic stem cells into NOD.Cg-*Prkdc<sup>scid</sup> Il2rg<sup>π</sup>*/ SzJ (NSG) mice by better "humanizing" the host strain. For this purpose, we have introduced large genomic fragments containing human genes encoding MHC, cytokines, adhesion molecules, virus receptors and others into the NSG mice. We maintain transgenic mice and knock-in mice with confirmed expression of human genes on a C57BL/6 background and have begun backcrossing these mice onto the NSG background using the speed-congenic method.



Photo: Behavioral testing equipment for germ-free mice Vinyl Isolator in a soundproof room in the SPF area

**Other programs** 

### **RIKEN International Program Associate** (IPA)

I MS accepted three international students as RIKEN International Program Associates (IPA). Under this IPA program, IMS lab heads host international students from collaborating graduate schools and supervise their Ph.D. program as Joint Supervisors. The students receive a daily living allowance and housing costs for up to a maximum of three years. The IPA students who studied at IMS in 2017 were

**Krutula Nair** (Graduate School of Frontier Biosciences, Osaka University) from India studied in the Laboratory for Transcriptional Regulation.

**Su Yean Ong** (University of Science, Malaysia) in the Laboratory for Integrated Bioinformatics

**Yan Yan Hor** (University of Science, Malaysia) in the Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem.

### **RIKEN Foreign Postdoctoral Researcher (FPR) Program**

The RIKEN Foreign Postdoctoral Researcher (FPR) program offers aspiring young foreign researchers with creative ideas and who show promise of becoming internationally active in the future the opportunity to pursue innovative research at RIKEN under the direction of a RIKEN laboratory head. The FPR Program is one of RIKEN's initiatives to open up its facilities and resources to the forefront of global science and technology. In 2017, two young researchers studied at IMS as RIKEN FPRs.

**Michelle Kendle Maslowski** studied in the Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem.

**Ealey Nequan Kafi** studied in the Laboratory for Innate Immune Systems.

### **RIKEN Junior Research Associate (JRA) Program**

The Junior Research Associate Program was launched in 1996 to encourage young scientists with fresh ideas and youthful enthusiasm to collaborate with, and learn from, senior scientists with years of experience. This program provides part-time positions at RIKEN for young researchers enrolled in university Ph.D. programs. The JRA program serves the dual purpose of fostering the development of these young scientists while also energizing RIKEN with their innovative thinking.

This year, 26 JRA students studied in IMS.

Junichiro Takano (Laboratory for Developmental Genetics) Yoshihiro Ito (Laboratory for Skin Homeostasis) Eiichiro Watanabe (Laboratory for Gut Homeostasis) Satoko Yokoyama (Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem) Yuki Furuichi (Laboratory for Skin Homeostasis) Tadashi Takeuchi (Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem) Rintaro Ono (Laboratory for Human Disease Models) Yurina Miyajima (Laboratory for Innate Immune Systems) Takato Kobayashi (Laboratory for Innate Immune Systems) Takaaki Kawaguchi (Laboratory for Gut Homeostasis) Keiko Usui (Laboratory for Skin Homeostasis) Natsuko Otaki (Laboratory for Innate Immune Systems) Mamoru Ogawa (Laboratory for Metabolomics) Hiroki Sugishita (Laboratory for Developmental Genetics) **Hiroe Tetsu** (Laboratory for Innate Immune Systems) Manabu Nagayama (Laboratory for Gut Homeostasis) Daisuke Hisamatsu (Laboratory for Developmental Genetics) Ari Morimoto (Laboratory for Skin Homeostasis) Tomoko Yoshihama (Laboratory for Pharmacogenomics) Yuki Ariyasu (Laboratory for Metabolomics) Shohei Egami (Laboratory for Skin Homeostasis) Shintaro Ono (Laboratory for Integrative Genomics) **Ryota Sato** (Laboratory for Lymphocyte Differentiation) Kyosuke Shishikura (Laboratory for Metabolomics) lori Motoo (Laboratory for Gut Homeostasis) Tsuyoshi Yamane (Laboratory for Metabolomics)

### **RIKEN Special Postdoctoral Researcher (SPDR) Program**

RIKEN's Special Postdoctoral Researcher Program was instituted to provide young and creative scientists the opportunity to be involved in autonomous and independent research in line with RIKEN objectives and research fields. The positions are competitive, but if selected, researchers receive salaries and research budgets (1 million yen) from RIKEN and they are able to conduct their research at one of its laboratories.

This year, seven postdocs conducted their research at IMS through the SPDR program.

Yosuke Isobe (Laboratory for Metabolomics) Yasutaka Motomura (Laboratory for Innate Immune Systems) Eiji Miyauchi (Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem) Alexis Vogelzang (Laboratory for Mucosal Immunity) Keiichiro Shiraga (Laboratory for Skin Homeostasis) Xiaoxi Liu (Laboratory for Genotyping Development)



Part 3 Research Projects

**Project** 

## **iPS project**

I nduced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells possess tremendous therapeutic potential in many areas, including regenerative medicine and immune therapy. We have begun an activity to apply iPS technology to both mouse and human immunology research and to develop therapeutics. On a collaborative basis with individual RCAI-IMS research laboratories, the core facility for iPS research is engaged in developing efficient protocols to reprogram various types of lymphocytes into iPS cells as well as to induce differentiation of iPS cells into a variety of lymphoid lineage cells. This activity is partly supported by the Research Center Network for Realization of Regenerative Medicine from the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED) and CREST, Japan Science and Technology Agency.

This year, the facility established bioluminescent human iPS-Va24<sup>+</sup>iNKT cells for *in vivo* live-cell imaging. We were able to introduce GFPLuc into the human AAVS1 (adeno-associated virus integration site 1) locus in NKT-iPSC using CRISPR/Cas9 and then differentiate the cells into iPS-Va24<sup>+</sup>iNKT cells. These iPS-Va24<sup>+</sup>iNKT cells showed GFP expression and luciferase activity *in vitro*. Furthermore, the iPS-Va24<sup>+</sup>iNKT cells could be monitored

**Figure: Live-cell imaging of iPS-Va24**\***iNKT cells** *in vitro* **and** *in vivo***. (A) Representative phase contrast and fluorescence microscope images of human iPS-Va24\*iNKT cells containing introduced GFPLuc. (B) A representative flow cytometry plot of GFPLuc-expressing human iPS-Va24\*iNKT cells. (C) Luciferase activity of GFPLuc-expressing human iPS-Va24\*iNKT cells (GFPLuc). Wild type (WT) human iPS-Va24\*iNKT cells were used as a control. (D) GFPLuc iPS-Va24\*iNKT cells were intraperitoneal injected into human cytokine knock-in NSG mice (kindly provided by the animal facility) and then monitored at the indicated time points for bioluminescence using the IVIS imaging system.**  by luciferase activity for at least 19 days after inoculation into immunodeficient mice.

The facility has also managed an IMS Cell Manufacturing Unit (CMU) to produce iPS-V $\alpha$ 24<sup>+</sup>iNKT cells under GMP (Good Manufacturing Practice)/GCTP (Good Gene, Cellular, and Tissue-based Products Manufacturing Practice) guidelines and has started preclinical studies on the safety of these iPS-V $\alpha$ 24<sup>+</sup>iNKT cells. The facility has also started PMDA (Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency) consultation for eventual clinical trials of iPS-V $\alpha$ 24<sup>+</sup>iNKT cell mediated-tumor immunotherapy.



### **Medical Sciences Innovation Hub Program (MIH)**

P tersonalized medicine is a new paradigm that represents a shift from a statistical abstraction of the patients toward the view that each patient is unique. This is a new scientific challenge as well as a new social challenge. Although linear causations and correlations have been used in the explanation of biological phenomena, biological systems form complex network whose collective behavior cannot be reduced to simple correlations. In addition, explanations usually eliminate information on differences between each individual patient. To overcome this problem, we are developing a new biomedical science based on pure description of diseases by using multiomics data. To describe personal differences, it is necessary to consider the life course trajectory. We have applied a Markov chain model, which is a well-known tool to model temporal properties of many phenomena, to describe life-course changes

Figure: Description of life course trajectory by Markov chain and reverse translation

The state allocation is done by the reduction of dimensionality and data granularity using machine learning and energy land scale analysis The relation between the present and future state is described by Markov constraints. The causality model is developed by animal studies. Knowledge obtained from human data is applied in developing the animal models. in individual conditions. The data are being gathered from patients with immune disorders, cancer and developmental disorders. Human studies are then reversed translated in animal studies. We are collaborating with IMS in these studies.



**Project** 

## Integrated omics approach to elucidate the impact of the gut microbiome on the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes

cent findings in gut microbiome studies indicate that the loss K of microbial diversity, a condition termed dysbiosis, is not the consequence but rather the cause of various diseases including type 2 diabetes (T2D). As an IMS Center project, we are applying a comprehensive integrated omics approach to elucidate the impact of the gut microbiome on the pathogenesis of T2D. This is a collaborative effort with Professors Takashi Kadowaki and Tsutomu Yamazaki from the University of Tokyo Hospital. From RIKEN IMS, the Laboratories for Metabolic Homeostasis, Intestinal Ecosystem, Microbiome Sciences, Metabolomics, Integrative Genomics, and Integrated Bioinformatics are taking the lead on this project. This year, we have started a collaboration with the National Institute of Health and Nutrition to collect data on the nutritional intake and activity of the many participants in this study. Fecal metagenomic, metatranscriptomic and metabolomic data, as well as plasma and urine metabolomic data are obtained from three groups of volunteers undergoing a complete medical checkup at the University of Tokyo

Figure: Analytical scheme to identify microbial biomarkers for type 2 diabetes

Metadata sets shown in the figure are collected from the volunteers (three groups: healthy, obese without metabolic abnormality, and those with impaired glucose tolerance; 100 each) and comprehensively analyzed to identify differential microbial and/or microbial metabolic factors among the groups, which should be candidate biomarkers for the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Hospital (n=100 each): 1) no abnormal examination outcome, 2) obesity (BMI  $\geq$  25), and 3) glucose intolerance (fasting blood glucose  $\geq$  110 mg/dl and HbA1c  $\geq$  6.0%). In addition, exomes and SNPs of T2D susceptibility genes are being analyzed. The goal of the project is to identify T2D risk factors, such as certain bacteria and/ or their metabolites, by analyzing the metadata from the comprehensive multiple omics analyses, combined with clinical and genetic datasets. We have already finished the recruitment of one hundred volunteers for each group and data acquisition is underway.



**Microbial Biomarkers for Type 2 Diabetes** 

### **NKT cell projects**

NKT cells have the capacity to enhance immune responses. The medical innovation groups in IMS have launched projects aimed at application of NKT cell-mediated therapy to cancer as translational research. Here we introduce four NKT cell-related projects aimed at cancer treatment.

In the first project, we have been collaborating with 15 National Hospital Organization (NHO) hospitals on clinical therapeutic studies using the NKT glycolipid,  $\alpha$ -GalCer pulsed autologous DCs (DC/Gal) in a randomized phase IIa trial in early stage lung cancer. At present, we have been performing immunological analyses on 53 DC/Gal-treated and control cancer patients. As a second project, IMS was selected to be part of the research center network for realization of regenerative medicine. So far, we have been performing a preclinical study of human iPS-NKT cells for clinical application. Third, as a new type of cancer vaccine, we established artificial adjuvant vector cells (aAVC). In this fiscal year, we launched an investigator-initiated clinical trial of aAVC-WT1 for relapsed or

Figure: NKT cell-mediated anti-cancer projects in IMS as translational research

refractory acute myeloid leukemia patients by collaborating with The University of Tokyo, The Institute of Medical Science. This is the First in Man trial. Fourth, we developed several new NKT cell ligand candidates and have been testing their efficacy in preclinical studies for next generation NKT cell ligand cancer immunotherapy. Three of these projects (iPS-NKT therapy, and aAVC therapy and new NKT ligand therapy) have been supported by the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED) and are also supported by the RIKEN Drug Discovery and Medical Technology Platforms (DMP).



We have four NKT cell-mediated anti-cancer projects underway. Three are cancer therapy translational research projects and the fourth is the analysis of the patients in the Phase II clinical study. All have progressed in this fiscal year.

Project

## Linkage to **RIKEN** Program for **Drug Discovery and Medical Technology Platforms (DMP)**

2

3

8.

MS collaborates with DMP to develop innovative new pharmaceuticals and medical technologies by facilitating the transfer of basic research within the institute. DMP was founded in RIKEN in 2010 in order to support all phases of development of new therapeutics, from the discovery of promising targets to the identification of potential lead compounds, such as small molecules and antibodies, and the acquisition of intellectual property rights to drugs and technologies that can then be brought to the development phase.

To achieve effective progress in this area, DMP established nine Drug Discovery Basic Units, in which the types of studies being performed are organized according to the expertise of each PI. IMS contributes to this effort in several ways, including by setting up a facility for the development of antibody drugs, the Drug Discovery

Antibody Platform Unit. In addition, IMS now has eight collaborative programs with DMP: Artificial adjuvant vector cells (Shin-ichiro Fujii), Cancer therapy with iPS-derived NKT cells (Haruhiko Koseki), Cancer therapy with NKT cells (Masaru Taniguchi), Drugs for allergic diseases (Yasushi Ishii), Leukemia treatment mAb targeting leukemic stem cells (Fumihiko Ishikawa), mAb therapy for lymphomas (Yasushi Ishii), neutralizing mAb for HBV infection (Daiki Miki) and therapeutic mAb for IBD (Takashi Saito). The preclinical study of the Artificial adjuvant vector cell project for cancer therapy has been completed and, therefore, Fujii et al. are preparing for an investigator initiated-clinical trial.



Figure: Collaboration between IMS and DMP for the development of innovative new pharmaceuticals and medical technologies

## **PGRN-RIKEN IMS Project**

he US NIH Pharmacogenomics Research Network (PGRN) is a consortium of research groups funded as individual cooperative agreements with the NIH. PGRN investigators are top researchers from US academic institutions and conduct pharmacogenomics (PGx) studies to identify genes associated with drug responses. We run the PGRN-RIKEN IMS Project under a PGRN-Hub, a resource established to enhance scientific exchange between the PGRN and the scientific community at large, for identification of genetic factors associated with drug efficacy and risk of severe adverse drug reactions.

In this international collaboration, the PGRN has been successfully assembling a very large collection of DNA samples from well-phenotyped patients receiving specific drugs and drug combinations in clinical trials conducted in the US. RIKEN IMS focuses

on high-throughput genome-wide SNP scans and targeted sequencing of selected genes or regions using next generation sequencing (NGS) and also provides technological and methodological expertise to identify genomic biomarkers. Together, the PGRN-RIKEN IMS Project capitalizes on these strengths to advance discoveries in PGx research. To date, we have initiated 48 collaborative projects and have 60 publications through the collaboration, which will lead to development of better and safer medications and realize the dream of global precision medicine. This year, we are going to expand the collaborative activity in the global PGx network involving US, Europe and Japan for implementation of PGx in clinical practice.



Figure: The Pharmacogenomics Research Network (PGRN)-RIKEN IMS strategic alliance Please visit http://www.pgrn.org/pgrn-riken.html
Project

### Collaboration with Asian institutes and SEAPharm

I thas been noticed that severe cutaneous adverse drug reactions (ADRs), including Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS) and toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN), occur at a much higher frequency in Asian populations, and several genomic biomarkers have been reported to be associated with the risk of cutaneous ADRs. In the case of the anti-epileptic drug carbamazepine, the US FDA now recommends HLA-B\*15:02 screening prior to the administration of this drug for Han Chinese and other Asian populations with a high prevalence of HLA-B\*15:02, due to the risk of SJS-TEN associated with this allele. To tackle this problem regionally, in 2012 we established the South East Asian Pharmacogenomics Research Network (SEAPharm) together with five other Asian countries (Korea, Indonesia, Malaysia, Taiwan, and Thailand). Membership has been steadily increasing, with Singapore joining in 2014, and Vietnam in 2016. This year, SEAPharm has three newcomers, Nepal, Laos and the Philippines, on the team.

The aim of the collaboration is to identify genomic biomarkers associated with ADRs, such as skin rash induced by anti-epileptics and antibi-

Figure: Members of the South East Asian Pharmacogenomics Research Network (SEAPharm) Please visit

http://www.pharmagtc.org/seapharm/index.php/seapharm/about-seapharm

otics, and hepatic injury induced by anti-tuberculosis agents. In addition, we have started a new project involving next generation sequencing of genomic DNA from 1,000 people from 10 countries to clarify the genetic diversity of drug-metabolizing enzymes and drug transporters in South-east Asian populations. The discoveries from our collaborative efforts will lead to the establishment of "stratified medicine" based on pharmacogenomic-guided drug therapies.



# International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC) and PCAWG

Laboratory for Genome Sequencing Analysis Laboratory for Medical Science Mathematics Laboratory for Digestive Diseases

he primary goals of the ICGC is to generate comprehensive catalogues of genomic abnormalities in ~25,000 cases of different cancer types and to make the data available to the entire research community with minimal restrictions. At the end of 2017, 78 cancer genome projects across 16 countries and the EU were ongoing, and the ICGC released genomic data from more than 17,000 donors as Release 26 (November, 2017). For this release, the RIKEN group performed whole genome sequencing (WGS) and analysis on 300 liver cancer samples. ICGC launched a "pan-cancer" whole genome project (PCAWG) in 2014, in which WGS data together with RNA-Seq of 2834 donors were analyzed in uniform pipelines within the same computational environment. RIKEN and IMUT are contributing to this project as a member of a technical working group arranging ten cloud data centers and PI/researchers in working groups for driver gene, mutational signature, germline, immuno-genomics, and mitochondrial genomics. We also provided sample data from 270 liver cancers to the PCAWG (10% of the total), making us the most pro-

### Figure: Immuno-genomic landscape of pan-cancer in PCAWG-15 working group

PCAWG-15 and RIKEN analyzed the immuno-genomic landscape of 2800 WGS pan-cancer data. Neoantigens and neoantigen presentation mechanisms are examined by using information on HLA genotype and somatic mutations (SNVs, indels, and SVs) from the WGS. Immune microenvironment or signatures are analyzed by combined RNA expression profiles of immuno-genes and GSEA. We are exploring immune escape mechanisms and cancer genome evolution and history by analysis of these Immuno-genomic landscapes. ductive group within the ICGC. In 2017, as a PCAWG-15 working group, we analyzed the immuno-genomic landscape from PCAWG data, including mutations in the HLA/antigen presentation complex and immune suppressor genes, neo-antigen profiles from somatic SNVs and indels, GSEA (gene-set enrichment analysis), and immune micro-environmental signatures from RNA-seq data. We observed that tumors acquired many types of immune escape mechanisms through genomic alterations of selective copy number gain of immune genes and failure of the antigen presentation system and immune checkpoint molecules in a tumor-specific manner.



### **Humanized mouse**

O ne of the obstacles to treating malignant diseases is their biological heterogeneity and genetic complexity. Recent reports have identified pre-malignant stem cells that may foster emergence of malignant stem cells, which can progress to overt disease. To understand the pathophysiology of pre-malignant and malignant cells in human hematopoiesis, we took an approach to link *in vivo* disease biology with genomic profiling by combining a humanized mouse model with single-cell sequencing using human acute myeloid leukemia (AML) samples This integrative approach enabled demarcation of pre-malignant versus malignant cells and the identification of permissive versus disease-initiating mutations among multiple mutations within patient specimens. Inhibition of pathways activated by disease-initiating mutations resulted in efficient

Figure: Heterogenous hematopoietic cells are present in blood or bone marrow of AML patients.

By injecting multiple blood/BM subsets into immune-deficient NOD/SCID/Il2rgKO mice, we identified hematopoietic stem cells and leukemia-initiating stem cells in each patient. With single cell sequencing, we found somatic mutations in functionally-defined normal and leukemic stem cells. The genomic profiling of single human stem cells enabled us to demarcate leukemia-initiating and permissive mutations.

eradication of human leukemia cells in AML-engrafted humanized mice. This integrative approach using humanized mice may help our understanding of malignant hematopoiesis in humans and development of new therapeutic strategies for human leukemia.



### **Award winners 2017**

| Name of the awardee   | Name of the award  | Date of the announcement |
|---|--|--------------------------|
| Kazuhiko Yamamoto,<br>Team Leader, Laboratory for Autoimmune Diseases                         | Medal with Purple Ribbon   | Apr, 2017                |
| Fumihiko Ishikawa,<br>Group Director, Laboratory for Human Disease Models                     | German Innovation Award "Gottfried Wagener Prize 2017"   | Jun, 2017                |
| Kazuyo Moro,<br>Team Leader, Laboratory for Innate immune systems                             | The 13th JSPS PRIZE  | Jan, 2017                |
| Kazuyo Moro,<br>Team Leader, Laboratory for Innate immune systems                             | The13th Japan Academy Medal  | Jan, 2017                |
| Yoichiro Kamatani,<br>Team Leader, Laboratory for Statistical Analysis                        | The Young Scientists' Prize (The Commendation for Science and Technology<br>by the Minister of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology) | May, 2017                |
| Mariko Okada,<br>Team Leader, Laboratory for Integrated Cellular Systems                      | Nagase Foundation Award  | Apr, 2017                |
| Momoko Horikoshi,<br>Team Leader, Laboratory for Endocrinology, Metabolism and Renal diseases | The 4th Yamato Science Award   | Mar, 2017                |
| Tetsuya Kubota,<br>Senior Researcher, Laboratory for Metabolic Homeostasis                    | The 38th Japan Society for the Study of Obesity (JASSO) Academic Award   | Oct, 2017                |
| Yasutaka Motomura,<br>Special Postdoctoral Researcher, Laboratory for Innate immune systems   | SMI/MI Journal Poster Award  | Jul, 2017                |
| Naoko Satoh,<br>Research Scientist, Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem                       | The 12th JSI Young Investigator Award (The Japanese Society for Immunology)  | Nov, 2017                |
| Chikashi Terao,<br>Senior Scientist, Laboratory for Statistical Analysis                      | Incentive Award (The 62nd Annual Meeting of the Japan Society of Human Genetics)   | Nov, 2017                |
| Nyambayar Dashtsoodol,<br>Research Scientist, Laboratory for Immune Regulation                | Best Paper Award (Mongolian National University of Medical Sciences)   | Feb, 2017                |
| Nyambayar Dashtsoodol,<br>Research Scientist, Laboratory for Immune Regulation                | Best Presentation Award (The 45th Annual Meeting of the Japanese Society for Immunology)   | Feb, 2017                |
| Hiroe Tetsu,<br>Junior Research Associate, Laboratory for Innate immune systems               | Ursula and Fritz Melchers Travel Award (The Japanese Society for Immunology)   | Dec, 2017                |
| Takaharu Sasaki,<br>Postdoctoral Researcher, Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem              | Young Investigator Travel Award (The 18th International Congress of Mucosal Immunology)  | Apr, 2017                |
| Takaharu Sasaki,<br>Postdoctoral Researcher, Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem              | Tadamitsu Kishimoto International Travel Award (The Japanese Society for Immunology)   | Apr, 2017                |
| Hirokuni Miyamoto,<br>Senior Visiting Scientist, Laboratory for Intestinal Ecosystem          | Technical Award of the Society for Biotechnology, Japan  | Sep, 2017                |



# Part 4 Events

# RIKEN IMS Summer Program (RISP) 2017

I MS was delighted to once again successfully organize the 11th RISP (RIKEN IMS Summer Program). RISP began as the RCAI International Summer Program (RISP) in 2006 and has been continued by IMS, beginning 4 years ago. The aim of this activity is to provide networking opportunities on a broad international scale for young scientists, as well as to encourage future collaboration and postdoctoral training experiences in Japan. Due to the broadened research activities of the new IMS, the RISP 2017 program included topics in genomic studies to understand human health and diseases, in addition to its original focus on immunology. The internship program, in which the participants perform research in IMS laboratories, has also been maintained. RISP 2017 was co-organized by the Chiba University Leading Graduate School Program.

We were pleased to welcome 42 graduate students and postdoctoral fellows from 11 countries, including 14 participants from Japan, who gathered at Yokohama from June 16 to 23. The scientific sessions consisted of 15 lectures presented by IMS PIs and other invited senior scientists from Japan and abroad. RISP students also presented their research in both oral and poster sessions. The RISP program ended with participation in a twoday International Symposium on Immunology, co-organized by IMS and the Japanese Society for Immunology.

RISP2017 was again a success; we received excellent feedback comments in the evaluation survey, and many students indicated that they would recommend this program to colleagues. From the other perspective, many lecturers commented on how impressed they were with the quality of the RISP students. In order to make this successful program even more recognized internationally, IMS is considering a renewal of the RISP and is planning to relaunch the program in a new format in 2019.



### Events The IMS-JSI International Symposium on Immunology 2017

he IMS-JSI International Symposium on Immunology, hosted by the RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences (IMS) in conjunction with the Japanese Society for Immunology (JSI), was held June 22-23 at the International Conference Hall, Plaza Heisei, Tokyo International Exchange Center. The symposium, entitled "Decoding Immune Complexity from Cell to System", included 19 outstanding speakers presenting their cutting-edge research and attracted close to 400 participants. There were four sessions: (1) Functional genomics of lymphocytes, (2) Animal model and immunotherapy, (3) Interface between the immune system and environment, and (4) Functional aspects of immunology. In the "Functional genomics of lymphocytes" session, several state-of-the-art research tools and statistical genetics recruiting diverse biological information resources were introduced. The "Animal model and immunotherapy" session expanded our knowledge on how we could apply basic immunology to translational medicine. Control of Treg development by manipulating super-enhancers, epigenetic and transcriptional regulation might open new avenues to prevent autoimmune diseases. Combining conventional electron-microscopic and new two-photon imaging technologies helps to advance our understanding of the pathogenesis of viral infections. The "Interface between the immune system and environment" session updated our view of host-microbe interactions by revealing the importance of innate lymphoid cells, neuro-immune regulation and the adaptive immune system for gut and body homeostasis. In the "Functional aspects of immunology" session, live-imaging technologies revealed new aspects of the dynamics of cell-cell interactions with functional implications for the immune responses. The possibility that a "neo-self" antigen derived from misfolded proteins and its occupation of MHC II might be linked to autoimmune diseases was also discussed. How Aire governs the thymic microenvironment through a unique tissue structure, Hassall's corpuscles, was revealed by elegant studies combining histological studies, molecular biology and immunological approaches. This year we hosted several young investigators to present their work in newly established short talk sessions.



### 14th/15th PGRN-RIKEN Strategic Alliance Meetings

The Global Alliance for Pharmacogenomics (GAP), a collaborative program between the former RIKEN Center for Genomic Medicine (now RIKEN IMS) and the US National Institute of Health (NIH) Pharmacogenomics Research Network (PGRN), was formed in 2008 with the objective of identifying the relationship between genetic variants and individual responses to drugs, including efficacy and side effects. PGRN-RIKEN strategic alliance meetings, held alternately in Japan and the United States, allow for face-to-face discussions about the progress of ongoing projects and future directions for the PGRN-RIKEN collaboration.

In 2017, the 14th and 15th PGRN-RIKEN Strategic Alliance Meetings were held in Yokohama on January 18–19 and in San Francisco on September 8-9, respectively.

The meetings provided a valuable forum for exchanging information on ongoing collaborative activities as well as for presenting interesting topics from both parties.

In addition to these presentations, some 40 participants also explored new research proposals from PGRN members, ultimately deciding to adopt the following themes as additional collaboration projects, and then the meetings concluded successfully.

#### Projects accepted at the 14th meeting:

- 1) Genetic biomarkers of thrombotic risk in African American cancer patients (PGRN PI: Minoli Perera, Northwestern University).
- 2) The relationship of the pharmacogenetics of enzalutamide to its pharmacokinetic disposition/metabolism and clinical pharmacodynamics in advanced prostate cancer patients enrolled in the Alliance A031201 study (PGRN PI: Lionel Lewis, Geisel School of Medicine and The Norris Cotton Cancer Center at Dartmouth).

#### Projects accepted at the 15th meeting:

- 1) Deep Sequencing to Identify Genetic Determinants of Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia (PGRN PI: Dan Roden, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine).
- 2) The Genetic Determinates of Metformin Pharmacokinetics (PGRN PI: Kathy M. Giacomini, University of California San Francisco).

### Events RIKEN IMS-Luxembourg FNR Joint Symposium

O n October 4, 2017, the Luxembourg Institute of Health (LIH), the Luxembourg Center for Systems Biomedicine (LCSB) in University of Luxembourg, and RIKEN IMS held a joint symposium at IMS in Tsurumi, Yokohama. The symposium began with a special greeting from H. E. Ms. Lydia Mutsch, Luxembourg's Minister of Health, and opening remarks by Professor Marc Schiltz of the National Research Fund, Luxembourg (FNR) and Dr. Shigeo Koyasu, the Executive Director of RIKEN. In her message, the minister expressed her expectations for the further development of research collaborations with RIKEN and research institutions in Luxembourg.

At the Symposium, eight research scientists from LIH and LCSB, and nine Japanese researchers from three RIKEN institutions [RIKEN IMS, RIKEN Center for Lifescience Technologies (CLST), RIKEN Medical Innovation Hub Program (MIH) and Juntendo University] gave presentations and discussed the latest research trends in the fields of immunology and systems biomedicine.

Professor Markus Ollert (LCSB) introduced the financial support for the collaboration by FNR and, in a keynote lecture, Dr. Kenya Honda (IMS) introduced an on-going collaboration between RIKEN and LCSB. The two organizers, Drs. Haruhiko Koseki (IMS) and Markus Ollert (FNR), discussed the expansion of the collaboration and the next joint symposium to be held in Luxembourg in 2019.





# Tsinghua-RIKEN Joint Symposium on Immunology and Immunotherapy

The third joint workshop between RIKEN IMS and Tsinghua University Institute of Immunology (IITU) was held on September 22nd and 23rd, 2017, at Tsinghua University in Beijing. The first day was a symposium with 14 speakers, six from IMS, four from IITU, and four guest speakers from Harvard Medical School and Amgen Inc.

At the opening remarks, Dr. Chen Dong, Director of IITU and Dr. Tadashi Yamamoto, Director of IMS, described a new tie between the two institutions. The research presentations widely covered topics in T cell immunology, immunoregulatory cytokines, antitumor immunity, B cell development, innate lymphoid cells, the neural immune system, and genomics. There were active questions from the audience, especially from the IITU students. In addition to the presentations, an IITU-RIKEN IMS collaboration agreement was signed by the two Directors on the first day.

The second day was reserved for individual discussions among the researchers.

In the morning of the second day, Dr. Yamamoto and the organizers of the symposium, Drs. Tomohiro Kurosaki and Yuncai Liu, visited Professor Qi-kun Xue, the Deputy President of Tsinghua University, to discuss strengthening the ties between Tsinghua University and RIKEN.

Based on the great success of this third joint workshop, both institutions agreed to cooperate with further collaborations.

### Events RIKEN IMS-McGill Symposium

RIKEN and McGill made comprehensive cooperation agree-ments/MOUs beginning in July 2010. In order to strengthen the relationship between RIKEN and McGill University, we organized the first RIKEN IMS - McGill Symposium, entitled "Excellence in Immunology & Genetics", which was held on 8th-9th May, 2017, at McGill University, Montreal, Canada. The goal of the symposium was not only to exchange information about research activity at each organization, but also to begin to establish international collaborative projects between the two organizations. There were eight sessions that covered a broad range of biological research areas including Genetics, Immunology, Inflammation, Tissue Dynamics, Cancer and Technology Development. In the two-day symposium, a total of 30 talks, fifteen from each side, were presented to about 200 participants, including post-docs and students at McGill University. At the close of the meeting, we discussed how we can proceed to set up collaborative projects. Both sides agreed on the importance of having an exchange of young researchers between the participating laboratories, as well as continuing the joint symposium within a short interval. Upon these agreements, the second RIKEN IMS -McGill Symposium will be held on 19th-20th February, 2018 in Yokohama, Japan.

Photo: From left: Drs. Tadashi Yamamoto and Chen Dong in the front row and Takashi Tanaka, Tomohiro Kurosaki, Yun-cai Liu and Yan Shi in the back row.





### Harvard Summer School 2017

I MS offers a summer internship program for undergraduate students from Harvard University. In this program students do a research internship in IMS laboratories, have basic biomedical sciences lectures given by PIs from IMS and other centers and attend a Japanese language course. They also participate in the RIKEN IMS Summer Program (RISP) and the RIKEN IMS-JSI International Symposium on Immunology. The participants receive a letter grade from IMS and course credit from Harvard. In 2017, we accepted three students from Harvard University, Gui Zhen Chen, Krystal Katherine Phu, and Lily Xu into the summer program, which was held from June 5 to August 14.

Mr. Chen conducted his research on the theme of "Memory and GC B cell selections" in the Drug Discovery Antibody Platform Unit (Dr. Takemori). He found that selection of high-affinity memory and GC B cells is differentially regulated in the GC reaction. Ms. Phu studied "Analysis of cell and nuclear polarities in epidermis" in the Laboratory for Skin Homeostasis (Dr. Amagai). She found that in differentiated keratinocytes, several polycomb markers were highly localized in pericentric heterochromatin. Ms. Xu worked on "Evaluation of the cytokine response and antitumor effect between NKT cells and iPS-NKT cells" in the Laboratory for Immunotherapy (Dr. Fujii). She studied a synergistic antitumor effect of IL-18 and IL-2 in not only human NKT cells, but also iPS-NKT cells. During their internships, the students had numerous discussions with IMS researchers and, at the end of the program, they gave oral presentations describing their research results.

Photo: From left: Mr. Chen, Ms. Xu, Ms. Phu and Dr. Tadashi Yamamoto (Dicrector, IMS)



#### **Events**

### Adjunct Professorship Programs

I MS collaborates with and accepts graduate students from 8 domestic university graduate schools. There are now a total of 28 adjunct professors/associate professors in IMS (Table), and 55 students studied at IMS in 2017. On September 23rd, IMS held a briefing session on adjunct graduate school programs to provide an opportunity for students to visit and talk directly with lab leaders and to consider their future directions.

#### Table: Joint graduate school programs

| Graduate Program  | Affiliated IMS Investigator   |  |
|---|---|--|
| Graduate School of Medicine,<br>Osaka University  | Takashi Saito (Visiting Professor),<br>Takashi Tanaka (Visiting Professor)  |  |
| Department of Immunology,<br>Graduate School of Medicine,<br>Chiba University             | Takashi Saito (Visiting Professor),<br>Haruhiko Koseki (Visiting Professor),<br>Hiroshi Ohno (Visiting Professor),<br>Ichiro Taniuchi (Visiting Professor),<br>Shin-ichiro Fujii (Visiting Professor),<br>Fumihiko Ishikawa (Visiting Professor)  |  |
| Graduate School of Medical and<br>Dental Sciences, Tokyo Medical<br>and Dental University | Ichiro Taniuchi (Visiting Professor)  |  |
| Graduate School of Medicine,<br>Yokohama City University                                  | Michiaki Kubo (Visiting Professor),<br>Shiro Ikegawa (Visiting Professor)<br>Hidewaki Nakagawa (Visiting Professor),<br>Taisei Mushiroda (Visiting Professor),<br>Yukihide Momozawa (Visiting Associate<br>Professor),<br>Kaoru Ito (Visiting Associate Professor),<br>Momoko Horikoshi (Visiting Associate<br>Professor) |  |
| Graduate School of Medical Life<br>Science,<br>Yokohama City University                   | Hiroshi Ohno (Visiting Professor), Makoto<br>Arita (Visiting Professor), Takaharu Okada<br>(Visiting Professor), Kazuyo Moro (Visiting<br>Professor), Hidehiro Fukuyama (Visiting<br>Associate Professor)   |  |
| Research Institute of Biological<br>Sciences,<br>Tokyo University of Science              | Masato Kubo (Professor),<br>Takashi Saito (Visiting Professor)  |  |
| Graduate School of Medicine,<br>Kyoto University  | Fumihiko Ishikawa (Visiting Associate<br>Professor)   |  |
| Graduate School of Medicine,<br>Keio University   | Masayuki Amagai (Professor),<br>Kenya Honda (Professor),<br>Shigeo Koyasu (Visiting Professor),<br>Haruhiko Koseki (Visiting Professor)   |  |

# **Guest lectures 2017**

Table: Guest Lectures Jan–Dec, 2017

| Date      | Speaker                      | Affiliation  | Country     | Title   |
|-----------|------------------------------|--|-------------|---|
| 16–Jan–17 | Dr. Masakatsu Yamashita      | Ehime University Graduate School of Medicine   | Japan       | Metabolic and epigenetic regulation of T-cell senescence  |
| 25–Jan–17 | Dr. Keisuke Chris Nagao      | National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health (NIH)                                       | USA         | Regulation of skin immunity during homeostasis and inflammation   |
| 8–Feb–17  | Dr. Nisar Malek              | University Hospital Tübingen   | Germany     | Integrating principles of personalized medicine at the university hospital in Tübingen-challenges and opportunities               |
| 8–Feb–17  | Dr. Rudi Balling             | Luxembourg Centre for Systems Biomedicine  | Luxembourg  | From systems biology to systems medicine – a long road ahead  |
| 9–Feb–17  | Dr. Yibo Wu                  | ETH Zurich, Institute of Molecular Systems Biology   | Switzerland | Systems proteomics of liver mitochondorial activity   |
| 10-Feb-17 | Dr. Takashi Satoh            | WPI Immunology Frontier Research Center (IFReC), Osaka<br>University                                 | Japan       | Functional diversity of various disorder-specific macrophages   |
| 16–Feb–17 | Dr. Jason E. Shoemaker       | University of Pittsburgh   | USA         | Emergent properties of influenza virus infections   |
| 27–Feb–17 | Dr. Hiroshi Kurosaka         | Graduate School of Dentistry, Osaka University   | Japapn      | Investigating the etiology of craniofacial abnormalities  |
| 9–Mar–17  | Dr. Keiji Hirota             | Institute for Frontier Life and Medical Sciences,<br>Kyoto University                                | Japapn      | Tissue inflammation mediated by Th17 cells  |
| 10–Mar–17 | Dr. Florent Ginhoux          | Singapore Immunology Network (SIgN), A*STAR  | Singapore   | Dendritic cell biology: from development to functions   |
| 14–Mar–17 | Dr. Claus Schneider          | Vanderbilt University Medical School   | USA         | Novel substrates and products in cyclooxygenase catalysis   |
| 17–Apr–17 | Dr. Masaru Ishii             | Graduate School of Medicine, Osaka University  | Japan       | In vivo dynamics and function of osteoclasts, bone-destroying macrophages   |
| 23–May–17 | Dr. Rahul Sinha              | Stanford University School of Medicine   | USA         | Single-cell RNA-seq: limitations and challenges   |
| 7–Jun–17  | Dr. Florian Winau            | Harvard Medical School   | USA         | Lipids in immunology: antigens and regulators of immune responses   |
| 21–Jun–17 | Dr. Azusa Inoue              | Harvard Medical School   | USA         | Discovery of polycomb-mediated genomic imprinting   |
| 27–Jun–17 | Prof. Koji Hase              | Faculty of Pharmaceutical Science, Keio University   | Japapn      | Microbial fermentation products shape host immune system through epigenetic modifications   |
| 18–Jul–17 | Prof. Irena Mlinaric-Rascan  | Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Ljubljana   | Slovenia    | Immunoproteasome targeting  |
| 26–Jul–17 | Dr. Zhuoming Sun             | Beckman Research Institute of the City of Hope   | USA         | Mechanism for RORgammat-regulated Th17 function   |
| 4–Aug–17  | Dr. Asuka Inoue              | Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences,<br>Tohoku University                                     | Japapn      | Developing methods to dissect GPCR signaling in health and disease  |
| 17–Aug–17 | Dr. Kazuki Nagashima         | Graduate School of Medicine and Faculty of Medicine,<br>The University of Tokyo                      | Japapn      | Identification of microfold cell-inducer (MCi) cells that promote IgA production and diversify the gut microbiota                 |
| 22-Aug-17 | Dr. Kyle M. Loh              | Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine,<br>Stanford University School of Medicine | USA         | Understanding how early human tissue progenitors develop by reconstituting them from stem cells                                   |
| 29-Aug-17 | Dr. Osamu Takeuchi           | Institute for Frontier Life and Medical Sciences,<br>Kyoto University                                | Japapn      | Posttranscriptional control of inflammatory responses   |
| 8–Sep–17  | Dr. Yuichi Hirata            | Columbia University  | USA         | Identification of specific Treg subset that regulates stem cells  |
| 19–Sep–17 | Dr. Keiji Kuba               | Akita University Graduate School of Medicine   | Japapn      | mRNA deadenylation-guided regulation of cardiac homeostasis   |
| 21–Sep–17 | Dr. Charles N. Serhan        | Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School  | USA         | Pro-resolving mediators & mechanisms in infectious<br>inflammation: metabololipidomics in human disease and<br>model organisms    |
| 29-Sep-17 | Dr. Nada Jabado              | McGill University  | Canada      | Oncohistones in cancer: professional highjackers of the epigenome   |
| 16–0ct–17 | Prof. Neil Brockdorff        | University of Oxford   | UK          | Advances towards understanding the mechanism of X chromosome inactivation   |
| 19–0ct–17 | Dr. Ferdinando Cerciello     | University Hospital Zurich   | Switzerland | Multiplexed biomarkers strategies for the detection of<br>malignant pleural mesothelioma in blood based on targeted<br>proteomics |
| 25–0ct–17 | Dr. Toshiro Moroishi         | Moores Cancer Center, University of California at San Diego  | USA         | Hippo pathway in immunity and tissue homeostasis  |
| 27–0ct–17 | Dr. Ludmila Prokunina-Olsson | National Cancer Institute  | USA         | From genetics to translational genomics of infection and cancer   |
| 30-Oct-17 | Dr. Marius Wernig            | Stanford University  | USA         | How to make a neuron  |
| 2–Nov–17  | Dr. Alejo Chorny             | Journal of Experimental Medicine   | USA         | Scientific publishing: what, how and why  |
| 6–Nov–17  | Dr. Sara Mostafavi           | Centre for Molecular Medicine and Therapeutics, University of British Columbia                       | Canada      | Identifying and interpreting genomic patterns in large population studies.  |
| 10-Nov-17 | Dr. Heidi H. Kong            | National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin<br>Diseases, NIH                        | USA         | The microbiome in healthy skin and atopic dermatitis  |
| 20-Nov-17 | Dr. Craig Mak                | Cell Systems   | USA         | How to publish with Cell Systems  |
| 21-Nov-17 | Dr. Hiroyuki Hosokawa        | California Institute of Technology   | USA         | Dynamic and competitive deployments of transcription factor<br>ensembles mediate T-cell lineage commitment                        |
| 24–Nov–17 | Dr. Yuki Sugiura             | Keio University  | Japan       | Visualization of immune-brain signaling in tissues by mass spectrometry based imaging   |
| 24-Nov-17 | Dr. Keisuke Kataoka          | National Cancer Center Research Institute  | Japan       | Genetic landscape in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma   |
| 25–Dec–17 | Dr. Toru Hirota              | The Cancer Institute Japanese Foundation for Cancer Research   | Japan       | Molecular grounds underlying chromosomal instability in cancers   |



Part 5 Data and Statistics

### **Publications 2017**

Table: IMS Publications Jan-Dec, 2017

| Journal                  | IF (2016) | Number of<br>Papers 2017 |
|--------------------------|-----------|--------------------------|
| Nat Rev Drug Discov      | 57.0      | 1                        |
| Nat Biotechnol           | 41.7      | 3                        |
| Nature                   | 40.1      | 3                        |
| Nat Rev Immunol          | 39.9      | 1                        |
| Nat Nanotechnol          | 39.0      | 1                        |
| Science                  | 37.2      | 3                        |
| Nat Med                  | 29.9      | 1                        |
| Nat Genet                | 28.0      | 5                        |
| Cell Stem Cell           | 23.4      | 1                        |
| Immunity                 | 22.8      | 4                        |
| Nat Immunol              | 21.5      | 4                        |
| Nat Cell Biol            | 20.1      | 1                        |
| Cancer Discov            | 20.0      | 1                        |
| Gastroenterology         | 18.4      | 1                        |
| Cell Metab               | 18.7      | 1                        |
| Sci Transl Med           | 16.2      | 1                        |
| Gut                      | 16.7      | 2                        |
|                          | 16.6      | 1                        |
| Mal Call                 | 14.7      | 1                        |
| Circ Dec                 | 14.7      | 1                        |
| Mol Bouchistr            | 14.0      | 1                        |
|                          | 13.2      | I                        |
| J Allergy Clin Immun     | 13.1      |                          |
| Ann Rheum Dis            | 12.8      | 1                        |
|                          | 12.8      |                          |
| J Hepatol                | 12.5      |                          |
| Nat Commun               | 12.1      | /                        |
| J Exp Med                | 12.0      | 5                        |
| Biol Psychiat            | 11.4      | 1                        |
| Nat Plants               | 10.3      | 1                        |
| EMBO J                   | 9.8       | 1                        |
| Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A | 9.7       | 8                        |
| Clin Cancer Res          | 9.6       | 2                        |
| Immunol Rev              | 9.6       | 2                        |
| Gene Dev                 | 9.4       | 1                        |
| Dev Cell                 | 9.2       | 1                        |
| Am J Hum Genet           | 9.0       | 1                        |
| Diabetes                 | 8.7       | 2                        |
| Cell Syst                | 8.4       | 1                        |
| Kidney Int               | 8.4       | 1                        |
| Curr Opin Immunol        | 8.4       | 1                        |
| Cancer Immunol Res       | 8.3       | 1                        |
| Cell Rep                 | 8.3       | 6                        |
| Elife                    | 7.7       | 11                       |
| Haematologica            | 7.7       | 1                        |
| J Autoimmun              | 7.6       | 1                        |
| Oncogene                 | 7.5       | 1                        |
| Bioinformatics           | 7.3       | 1                        |
| Clin Pharmacol Ther      | 7.3       | 2                        |
| Arthritis Rheumatol      | 6.9       | 1                        |
| Front Immunol            | 6.4       | 3                        |
| Breast Cancer Res        | 6.3       | 1                        |
| J Invest Dermatol        | 6.3       | 2                        |
| J Infect Dis             | 6.3       | 1                        |
| PLOS Genet               | 6.1       | 1                        |
| Lab Chip                 | 6.0       | 1                        |
| Stroke                   | 6.0       | 1                        |
| Others                   |           | 206                      |
| TOTAL                    |           | 312                      |
|                          |           |                          |

- 1 Aikawa, S., Kano, K., Inoue, A., Wang, J., Saigusa, D., Nagamatsu, T., Hirota, Y., Fujii, T., Tsuchiya, S., Taketomi, Y., Sugimoto, Y., Murakami, M., Arita, M., Kurano, M., Ikeda, H., Yatomi, Y., Chun, J. & Aoki, J. Autotaxin-lysophosphatidic acid-LPA3 signaling at the embryo-epithelial boundary controls decidualization pathways. *EMBO J* 36, 2146–2160 (2017).
- 2 Akiyama, M., Okada, Y., Kanai, M., Takahashi, A., Momozawa, Y., Ikeda, M., Iwata, N., Ikegawa, S., Hirata, M., Matsuda, K., Iwasaki, M., Yamaji, T., Sawada, N., Hachiya, T., Tanno, K., Shimizu, A., Hozawa, A., Minegishi, N., Tsugane, S., Yamamoto, M., Kubo, M. & Kamatani, Y. Genome-wide association study identifies 112 new loci for body mass index in the Japanese population. *Nat Genet* 49, 1458–1467 (2017).
- 3 Almeida, M., Pintacuda, G., Masui, O., Koseki, Y., Gdula, M., Cerase, A., Brown, D., Mould, A., Innocent, C., Nakayama, M., Schermelleh, L., Nesterova, T. B., Koseki, H. & Brockdorff, N. PCGF3/5-PRC1 initiates Polycomb recruitment in X chromosome inactivation. *Science* 356, 1081–1084 (2017).
- 4 Anbutsu, H., Moriyama, M., Nikoh, N., Hosokawa, T., Futahashi, R., Tanahashi, M., Meng, X. Y., Kuriwada, T., Mori, N., Oshima, K., Hattori, M., Fujie, M., Satoh, N., Maeda, T., Shigenobu, S., Koga, R. & Fukatsu, T. Small genome symbiont underlies cuticle hardness in beetles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 114, E8382–E8391 (2017).
- 5 Ando, T., Kashiwakura, J. I., Itoh-Nagato, N., Yamashita, H., Baba, M., Kawakami, Y., Tsai, S. H., Inagaki, N., Takeda, K., Iwata, T., Shimojo, N., Fujisawa, T., Nagao, M., Matsumoto, K. & Kawakami, T. Histamine-releasing factor enhances food allergy. *J Clin Invest* 127, 4541–4553 (2017).
- 6 Aoki, R., Kamikado, K., Suda, W., Takii, H., Mikami, Y., Suganuma, N., Hattori, M. & Koga, Y. A proliferative probiotic Bifidobacterium strain in the gut ameliorates progression of metabolic disorders via microbiota modulation and acetate elevation. *Sci Rep* 7, 43522 (2017).
- 7 Aoyagi, R., Ikeda, K., Isobe, Y. & Arita, M. Comprehensive analyses of oxidized phospholipids using a measured MS/MS spectra library. *J Lipid Res* 58, 2229–2237 (2017).
- 8 Asano, T., Kubota, N., Koizumi, N., Itani, K., Mitake, T., Yuhashi, K., Liao, H., Mitsuishi, M., Takeishi, S., Takahashi, T., Ohnishi, S., Sasaki, S., Sakuma, I. & Kadowaki, T. Novel and Simple Ultrasonographic Methods for Estimating the Abdominal Visceral Fat Area. *Int J Endocrinol* 2017, 8796069 (2017).
- 9 Atarashi, K., Suda, W., Luo, C., Kawaguchi, T., Motoo, I., Narushima, S., Kiguchi, Y., Yasuma, K., Watanabe, E., Tanoue, T., Thaiss, C. A., Sato, M., Toyooka, K., Said, H. S., Yamagami, H., Rice, S. A., Gevers, D., Johnson, R. C., Segre, J. A., Chen, K., Kolls, J. K., Elinav, E., Morita, H., Xavier, R. J., Hattori, M. & Honda, K. Ectopic colonization of oral bacteria in the intestine drives TH1 cell induction and inflammation. *Science* 358, 359–365 (2017).
- Atsumi, T., Suzuki, H., Jiang, J. J., Okuyama, Y., Nakagawa, I., Ota, M., Tanaka, Y., Ohki, T., Katsunuma, K., Nakajima, K., Hasegawa, Y., Ohara, O., Ogura, H., Arima, Y., Kamimura, D. & Murakami, M. Rbm10 regulates inflammation development via alternative splicing of Dnmt3b. *Int Immunol* 29, 581–591 (2017).
- 11 Bajpai, A., Ishii, T., Miyauchi, K., Gupta, V., Nishio-Masaike, Y., Shimizu-Yoshida, Y., Kubo, M. & Kitano, H. Insights into gene expression profiles induced by Socs3 depletion in keratinocytes. *Sci Rep* 7, 15830 (2017).
- Beaumont, R. N., Horikoshi, M., McCarthy, M. I. & Freathy, R. M. How Can Genetic Studies Help Us to Understand Links Between Birth Weight and Type 2 Diabetes? *Curr Diab Rep* 17, 22 (2017).
- 13 Bern, M. D., Beckman, D. L., Ebihara, T., Taffner, S. M., Poursine-Laurent, J., White, J. M. & Yokoyama, W. M. Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif-dependent functions of an MHC class I-specific NK cell receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 114, E8440–E8447 (2017).
- 14 Berrens, R. V., Andrews, S., Spensberger, D., Santos, F., Dean, W., Gould, P., Sharif, J., Olova, N., Chandra, T., Koseki, H., von Meyenn, F. & Reik, W. An endosiRNA-Based Repression Mechanism Counteracts Transposon Activation during Global DNA Demethylation in Embryonic Stem Cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 21, 694–703 e7 (2017).
- 15 Bin, B. H., Bhin, J., Seo, J., Kim, S. Y., Lee, E., Park, K., Choi, D. H., Takagishi, T., Hara, T., Hwang, D., Koseki, H., Asada, Y., Shimoda, S., Mishima, K. & Fukada, T. Requirement of Zinc Transporter SLC39A7/ZIP7 for Dermal Development to Fine-Tune Endoplasmic Reticulum Function by Regulating Protein Disulfide Isomerase. *J Invest Dermatol* 137, 1682–1691 (2017).
- Bin, B. H., Bhin, J., Takaishi, M., Toyoshima, K. E., Kawamata, S., Ito, K., Hara, T., Watanabe, T., Irie, T., Takagishi, T., Lee, S. H., Jung, H. S., Rho, S., Seo, J., Choi, D. H., Hwang, D., Koseki, H., Ohara, O., Sano, S., Tsuji, T., Mishima, K. & Fukada, T. Requirement of zinc transporter ZIP10 for epidermal development: Implication of the ZIP10-p63 axis in epithelial homeostasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 114, 12243–12248 (2017).
   Bougneres, P., Le Fur, S., Valtat, S., Kamatani, Y., Lathrop, M. & Valleron, A. J. Using spa-
- 17 Bougneres, P., Le Fur, S., Valtat, S., Kamatani, Y., Lathrop, M. & Valleron, A. J. Using spatio-temporal surveillance data to test the infectious environment of children before type 1 diabetes diagnosis. *PLoS One* 12, e0170658 (2017).
- 18 Brown, D. A., Di Cerbo, V., Feldmann, A., Ahn, J., Ito, S., Blackledge, N. P., Nakayama, M., McClellan, M., Dimitrova, E., Turberfield, A. H., Long, H. K., King, H. W., Kriaucionis, S., Schermelleh, L., Kutateladze, T. G., Koseki, H. & Klose, R. J. The SET1 Complex Selects Actively Transcribed Target Genes via Multivalent Interaction with CpG Island Chromatin. *Cell Rep* 20, 2313–2327 (2017).
- 19 Chai, J. N., Peng, Y., Rengarajan, S., Solomon, B. D., Ai, T. L., Shen, Z., Perry, J. S. A., Knoop, K. A., Tanoue, T., Narushima, S., Honda, K., Elson, C. O., Newberry, R. D., Stappenbeck, T. S., Kau, A. L., Peterson, D. A., Fox, J. G. & Hsieh, C. S. Helicobacter species are potent drivers of colonic T cell responses in homeostasis and inflammation. *Sci Immunol* 2, eaal5068 (2017).
- 20 Chamoto, K., Chowdhury, P. S., Kumar, A., Sonomura, K., Matsuda, F., Fagarasan, S. & Honjo, T. Mitochondrial activation chemicals synergize with surface receptor PD-1 blockade for T cell-dependent antitumor activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 114, E761–E770 (2017).
- 21 Chayama, K. & Hayes, C. N. Treatment of HCV patients on hemodialysis with daclatasvir and asunaprevir. J Gastroenterol 52, 125–126 (2017).
- Chikaraishi, K., Takenobu, H., Sugino, R., Mukae, K., Jesmin, A., Haruta, M., Kurosumi, M., Endo, T., Koseki, H., Shimojo, N., Ohira, M. & Kamijo, T. Effect of CFC1 on Cancer Cell Stemness in Neuroblastoma. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer* 64, 549–549 (2017).
   Chikaraishi, K., Takenobu, H., Sugino, R. P., Mukae, K., Akter, J., Haruta, M., Kurosumi, M.,
- 23 Chikaraishi, K., Takenobu, H., Sugino, R. P., Mukae, K., Akter, J., Haruta, M., Kurosumi, M., Endo, T. A., Koseki, H., Shimojo, N., Ohira, M. & Kamijo, T. CFC1 is a cancer stemness-regulating factor in neuroblastoma. *Oncotarget* 8, 45046–45059 (2017).
- 24 Chin, K. C. J., Taylor, T. D., Hebrard, M., Anbalagan, K., Dashti, M. G. & Phua, K. K. Transcriptomic study of Salmonella enterica subspecies enterica serovar Typhi biofilm. *BMC Genomics* 18, 836 (2017).
- 25 Cho, M., Lee, J. E., Lim, H., Shin, H. W., Khalmuratova, R., Choi, G., Kim, H. S., Choi, W. S., Park, Y. J., Shim, I., Kim, B. S., Kang, C. Y., Kim, J. O., Tanaka, S., Kubo, M. & Chung, Y. Fibrinogen cleavage products and Toll-like receptor 4 promote the generation of programmed cell death 1 ligand 2-positive dendritic cells in allergic asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* S0091–6749(0017)31582–31588 (2017).
- 26 Choi, J., Huebner, A. J., Clement, K., Walsh, R. M., Savol, A., Lin, K., Gu, H., Di Stefano, B., Brumbaugh, J., Kim, S. Y., Sharif, J., Rose, C. M., Mohammad, A., Odajima, J., Charron, J., Shioda, T., Gnirke, A., Gygi, S., Koseki, H., Sadreyev, R. I., Xiao, A., Meissner, A. & Hochedlinger, K. Prolonged Mek1/2 suppression impairs the developmental potential of embryonic stem

cells. *Nature* 548, 219–223 (2017).

- Christophersen, I. E., Rienstra, M., Roselli, C., Yin, X., Geelhoed, B., Barnard, J., Lin, H., Arking, 27 D. E., Smith, A. V., Albert, C. M., Chaffin, M., Tucker, N. R., Li, M., Klarin, D., Bihlmeyer, N. A., Low, S. K., Weeke, P. E., Muller-Nurasyid, M., Smith, J. G., Brody, J. A., Niemeijer, M. N., Dorr, M., Trompet, S., Huffman, J., Gustafsson, S., Schurmann, C., Kleber, M. E., Lyytikainen, L. P., Seppala, I., Malik, R., Horimoto, A., Perez, M., Sinisalo, J., Aeschbacher, S., Theriault, S., Yao, J., Radmanesh, F., Weiss, S., Teumer, A., Choi, S. H., Weng, L. C., Clauss, S., Deo, R., Rader, D. J., Shah, S. H., Sun, A., Hopewell, J. C., Debette, S., Chauhan, G., Yang, Q., Worrall, B. B., Pare, G., Kamatani, Y., Hagemeijer, Y. P., Verweij, N., Siland, J. E., Kubo, M., Smith, J. D., Van Wagoner, D. R., Bis, J. C., Perz, S., Psaty, B. M., Ridker, P. M., Magnani, J. W., Harris, T. B., Launer, L. J., Shoemaker, M. B., Padmanabhan, S., Haessler, J., Bartz, T. M., Waldenberger, M., Lichtner, P., Arendt, M., Krieger, J. E., Kahonen, M., Risch, L., Mansur, A. J., Peters, A., Smith, B. H., Lind, L., Scott, S. A., Lu, Y., Bottinger, E. B., Hernesniemi, J., Lindgren, C. M., Wong, J. A., Huang, J., Eskola, M., Morris, A. P., Ford, I., Reiner, A. P., Delgado, G., Chen, L. Y., Chen, Y. I., Sandhu, R. K., Boerwinkle, E., Eisele, L., Lannfelt, L., Rost, N., Anderson, C. D., Taylor, K. D., Campbell, A., Magnusson, P. K., Porteous, D., Hocking, L. J., Vlachopoulou, E., Pedersen, N. L., Nikus, K., Orho-Melander, M., Hamsten, A., Heeringa, J., Denny, J. C., Kriebel, J., Darbar, D., Newton-Cheh, C., Shaffer, C., Macfarlane, P. W., Heilmann-Heimbach, S., Almgren, P., Huang, P. L., Sotoodehnia, N., Soliman, E. Z., Uitterlinden, A. G., Hofman, A., Franco, O. H., Volker, U., Jockel, K. H., Sinner, M. F., Lin, H. J., Guo, X., Dichgans, M., Ingelsson, E., Kooperberg, C., Melander, O., Loos, R. J. F., Laurikka, J., Conen, D., Rosand, J., van der Harst, P., Lokki, M. L., Kathiresan, S., Pereira, A., Jukema, J. W., Hayward, C., Rotter, J. I., Marz, W., Lehtimaki, T., Stricker, B. H., Chung, M. K., Felix, S. B., Gudnason, V., Alonso, A., Roden, D. M., Kaab, S., Chasman, D. I., Heckbert, S. R., Benjamin, E. J., Tanaka, T., Lunetta, K. L., Lubitz, S. A. & Ellinor. P. T. Large-scale analyses of common and rare variants identify 12 new loci associated with atrial fibrillation. Nat Genet 49, 946-952 (2017).
- 28 Costea, P. I., Zeller, G., Sunagawa, S., Pelletier, E., Alberti, A., Levenez, F., Tramontano, M., Driessen, M., Hercog, R., Jung, F. E., Kultima, J. R., Hayward, M. R., Coelho, L. P., Allen-Vercoe, E., Bertrand, L., Blaut, M., Brown, J. R. M., Carton, T., Cools-Portier, S., Daigneault, M., Derrien, M., Druesne, A., de Vos, W. M., Finlay, B. 8., Flint, H. J., Guarner, F., Hattori, M., Heilig, H., Luna, R. A., van Hylckama Vlieg, J., Junick, J., Klymiuk, I., Langella, P., Le Chatelier, E., Mai, V., Manichanh, C., Martin, J. C., Mery, C., Morita, H., O'Toole, P. W., Orvain, C., Patil, K. R., Penders, J., Persson, S., Pons, N., Popova, M., Salonen, A., Saulnier, D., Scott, K. P., Singh, B., Slezak, K., Veiga, P., Versalovic, J., Zhao, L., Zoetendal, E. G., Ehrlich, S. D., Dore, J. & Bork, P. Towards standards for human fecal sample processing in metagenomic studies. *Nat Biotechnol* 35, 1069–1076 (2017).
- 29 Dashtsoodol, N., Shigeura, T., Aihara, M., Ozawa, R., Kojo, S., Harada, M., Endo, T. A., Watanabe, T., Ohara, O. & Taniguchi, M. Alternative pathway for the development of Valpha14(+) NKT cells directly from CD4(-)CD8(-) thymocytes that bypasses the CD4(+)CD8(+) stage. Nat Immunol 18, 274–282 (2017).
- 30 Dashtsoodol, N., Shigeura, T., Tashiro, T., Aihara, M., Chikanishi, T., Okada, H., Hanada, K., Sano, H., Kurogi, A. & Taniguchi, M. Natural Killer T Cell-Targeted Immunotherapy Mediating Long-term Memory Responses and Strong Antitumor Activity. *Front Immunol* 8, 1206 (2017).
- 31 Date, Y., Ebisawa, M., Fukuda, S., Shima, H., Obata, Y., Takahashi, D., Kato, T., Hanazato, M., Nakato, G., Williams, I. R., Hase, K. & Ohno, H. NALT M cells are important for immune induction for the common mucosal immune system. *Int Immunol* 29, 471–478 (2017).
- 32 de Rie, D., Abugessaisa, I., Alam, T., Arner, É., Arner, P., Ashoor, H., Astrom, G., Babina, M., Bertin, N., Burroughs, A. M., Carlisle, A. J., Daub, C. O., Detmar, M., Deviatiiarov, R., Fort, A., Gebhard, C., Goldowitz, D., Guhl, S., Ha, T. J., Harshbarger, J., Hasegawa, A., Hashimoto, K., Herlyn, M., Heutink, P., Hitchens, K. J., Hon, C. C., Huang, E., Ishizu, Y., Kai, C., Kasukawa, T., Klinken, P., Lassmann, T., Lecellier, C. H., Lee, W., Lizio, M., Makeev, V., Mathelier, A., Medvedeva, Y. A., Mejhert, N., Mungall, C. J., Noma, S., Ohshima, M., Okada-Htatkeyama, M., Persson, H., Rizzu, P., Roudnicky, F., Saetrom, P., Sato, H., Severin, J., Shin, J. W., Swoboda, R. K., Tarui, H., Toyoda, H., Vitting-Seerup, K., Winteringham, L., Yamaguchi, Y., Yasuzawa, K., Yoneda, M., Yumoto, N., Zabierowski, S., Zhang, P. G., Wells, C. A., Summers, K. M., Kawaji, H., Sandelin, A., Rehli, M., Hayashizaki, Y., Carninci, P., Forrest, A. R. R. & de Hoon, M. J. L. An integrated expression atlas of miRNAs and their promoters in human and mouse. *Nat Biotechnol* 35, 872–878 (2017).
- Dehzangi, A., Lopez, Y., Lal, S. P., Taherzadeh, G., Michaelson, J., Sattar, A., Tsunoda, T. & Sharma, A. PSSM-Suc: Accurately predicting succinylation using position specific scoring matrix into bigram for feature extraction. *J Theor Biol* 425, 97–102 (2017).
   Doki, N., Suyama, M., Sasajima, S., Ota, J., Igarashi, A., Mimura, I., Morita, H., Fujioka, Y.,
- 34 Doki, N., Suyama, M., Sasajima, S., Ota, J., Igarashi, A., Mimura, I., Morita, H., Fujioka, Y., Sugiyama, D., Nishikawa, H., Shimazu, Y., Suda, W., Takeshita, K., Atarashi, K., Hattori, M., Sato, E., Watakabe-Inamoto, K., Yoshioka, K., Najima, Y., Kobayashi, T., Kakihana, K., Takahashi, N., Sakamaki, H., Honda, K. & Ohashi, K. Clinical impact of pre-transplant gut microbial diversity on outcomes of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Ann Hematol* 96, 1517–1523 (2017).
- 35 Dolan, M. E., El Charif, O., Wheeler, H. E., Gamazon, E. R., Ardeshir-Rouhani-Fard, S., Monahan, P., Feldman, D. R., Hamilton, R. J., Vaughn, D. J., Beard, C. J., Fung, C., Kim, J., Fossa, S. D., Hertz, D. L., Mushiroda, T., Kubo, M., Einhorn, L. H., Cox, N. J. & Travis, L. B. Clinical and Genome-Wide Analysis of Cisplatin-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy in Survivors of Adult-Onset Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 23, 5757–5768 (2017).
- Dominguez-Huttinger, E., Christodoulides, P., Miyauchi, K., Irvine, A. D., Okada-Hatakeyama, M., Kubo, M. & Tanaka, R. J. Mathematical modeling of atopic dermatitis reveals "double-switch" mechanisms underlying 4 common disease phenotypes. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 139, 1861–1872 e7 (2017).
   Dong, Y., Isono, K. I., Ohbo, K., Endo, T. A., Ohara, O., Maekawa, M., Toyama, Y., Ito, C., Toshi-
- 37 Dong, Y., Isono, K. I., Ohbo, K., Endo, T. A., Ohara, O., Maekawa, M., Toyama, Y., Ito, C., Toshimori, K., Helin, K., Ogonuki, N., Inoue, K., Ogura, A., Yamagata, K., Kitabayashi, I. & Koseki, H. EPC1/TIP60-Mediated Histone Acetylation Facilitates Spermiogenesis in Mice. *Mol Cell Biol* 37, e00082–17 (2017).
- 38 Dudenkov, T. M., Ingle, J. N., Buzdar, A. U., Robson, M. E., Kubo, M., Ibrahim-Zada, I., Batzler, A., Jenkins, G. D., Pietrzak, T. L., Carlson, E. E., Barman, P., Goetz, M. P., Northfelt, D. W., Moreno-Aspita, A., Williard, C. V., Kalari, K. R., Nakamura, Y., Wang, L. & Weinshilboum, R. M. SLCO1B1 polymorphisms and plasma estrone conjugates in postmenopausal women with ER+ breast cancer: genome-wide association studies of the estrone pathway. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 164, 189–199 (2017).
- 39 Dujic, T., Zhou, K., Yee, S. W., van Leeuwen, N., de Keyser, C. E., Javorsky, M., Goswami, S., Zaharenko, L., Hougaard Christensen, M. M., Out, M., Tavendale, R., Kubo, M., Hedderson, M. M., van der Heijden, A. A., Klimcakova, L., Pirags, V., Kooy, A., Brosen, K., Klovins, J., Semiz, S., Tkac, I., Stricker, B. H., Palmer, C., t Hart, L. M., Giacomini, K. M. & Pearson, E. R. Variants in Pharmacokinetic Transporters and Glycemic Response to Metformin: A Metgen Meta-Analysis. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 101, 763–772 (2017).
- 40 Dwivedi, A., Reynes, C., Kuehn, A., Roche, D. B., Khim, N., Hebrard, M., Milanesi, S., Rivals, E., Frutos, R., Menard, D., Mamoun, C. B., Colinge, J. & Cornillot, E. Functional analysis of Plasmodium falciparum subpopulations associated with artemisinin resistance in Cambodia.

Malar J 16, 493 (2017)

- 41 Ealey, K. N. & Koyasu, S. How Many Subsets of Innate Lymphoid Cells Do We Need? Immunity 46, 10–13 (2017).
- 42 Ealey, K. N., Moro, K. & Koyasu, S. Are ILC2s Jekyll and Hyde in airway inflammation? *Immunol Rev* 278, 207–218 (2017).
- 43 Ebana, Y., Ozaki, K., Liu, L., Hachiya, H., Hirao, K., Isobe, M., Kubo, M., Tanaka, T. & Furukawa, T. Clinical utility and functional analysis of variants in atrial fibrillation-associated locus 4q25. J Cardiol 70, 366–373 (2017).
- 44 Ebihara, T., Seo, W. & Taniuchi, I. Roles of RUNX Complexes in Immune Cell Development. Adv Exp Med Biol 962, 395–413 (2017).
- 45 Ebina-Shibuya, R., Matsumoto, M., Kuwahara, M., Jang, K. J., Sugai, M., Ito, Y., Funayama, R., Nakayama, K., Sato, Y., Ishii, N., Okamura, Y., Kinoshita, K., Kometani, K., Kurosaki, T., Muto, A., Ichinose, M., Yamashita, M. & Igarashi, K. Inflammatory responses induce an identify crisis of alveolar macrophages, leading to pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. *J Biol Chem* 292, 18098–18112 (2017).
- 46 Einarsdottir, E., Grauers, A., Wang, J., Jiao, H., Escher, S. A., Danielsson, A., Simony, A., Andersen, M., Christensen, S. B., Akesson, K., Kou, I., Khanshour, A. M., Ohlin, A., Wise, C., Ikegawa, S., Kere, J. & Gerdhem, P. CELSR2 is a candidate susceptibility gene in idiopathic scoliosis. *PLoS One* 12, e0189591 (2017).
- 47 Endoh, M., Endo, T. A., Shinga, J., Hayashi, K., Farcas, A., Ma, K. W., Ito, S., Sharif, J., Endoh, T., Onaga, N., Nakayama, M., Ishikura, T., Masui, O., Kessler, B. M., Suda, T., Ohara, O., Okuda, A., Klose, R. & Koseki, H. PCGF6-PRC1 suppresses premature differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells by regulating germ cell-related genes. *Elife* 6, (2017).
- onic stem cells by regulating germ cell-related genes. *Elife* 6, (2017). Flannick, J., Fuchsberger, C., Mahajan, A., Teslovich, T. M., Agarwala, V., Gaulton, K. J., Caulkins, L., Koesterer, R., Ma, C., Moutsianas, L., McCarthy, D. J., Rivas, M. A., Perry, J. R. B., 48 Sim, X., Blackwell, T. W., Robertson, N. R., Rayner, N. W., Cingolani, P., Locke, A. E., Tajes, J. F., Highland, H. M., Dupuis, J., Chines, P. S., Lindgren, C. M., Hartl, C., Jackson, A. U., Chen, H., Huyghe, J. R., van de Bunt, M., Pearson, R. D., Kumar, A., Muller-Nurasyid, M., Grarup, N., Stringham, H. M., Gamazon, E. R., Lee, J., Chen, Y., Scott, R. A., Below, J. E., Chen, P., Huang, J., Go, M. J., Stitzel, M. L., Pasko, D., Parker, S. C. J., Varga, T. V., Green, T., Beer, N. L., Day-Williams, A. G., Ferreira, T., Fingerlin, T., Horikoshi, M., Hu, C., Huh, I., Ikram, M. K., Kim, B. J., Kim, Y., Kim, Y. J., Kwon, M. S., Lee, S., Lin, K. H., Maxwell, T. J., Nagai, Y., Wang, X., Welch, R. P., Yoon, J., Zhang, W., Barzilai, N., Voight, B. F., Han, B. G., Jenkinson, C. P., Kuulasmaa, T., Kuusisto, J., Manning, A., Ng, M. C. Y., Palmer, N. D., Balkau, B., Stancakova, A., Abboud, H. E., Boeing, H., Giedraitis, V., Prabhakaran, D., Gottesman, O., Scott, J., Carey, J., Kwan, P., Grant, G., Smith, J. D., Neale, B. M., Purcell, S., Butterworth, A. S., Howson, J. M. M., Lee, H. M., Lu, Kwak, S. H., Zhao, W., Danesh, J., Lam, V. K. L., Park, K. S., Saleheen, D., So, W. Y., Tam, C. H. T., Afzal, U., Aguilar, D., Arya, R., Aung, T., Chan, E., Navarro, C., Cheng, C. Y., Palli, D., Correa, A., Curran, J. E., Rybin, D., Farook, V. S., Fowler, S. P., Freedman, B. I., Griswold, M., Hale, D. E., Hicks, P. J., Khor, C. C., Kumar, S., Lehne, B., Thuillier, D., Lim, W. Y., Liu, J., Loh, M., Musani, S. K., Puppala, S., Scott, W. R., Yengo, L., Tan, S. T., Taylor, H. A., Thameem, F., Wilson, G., Wong, K., Uppara, S., Scott, W. K., Feigy, E., Tali, S. F., Jaylol, H. X., Haineen, T., Wilson, Y., Wolg, T. Y., Njolstad, P. R., Levy, J. C., Mangino, M., Bonnycastle, L. L., Schwarzmayr, T., Fadista, J., Surdulescu, G. L., Herder, C., Groves, C. J., Wieland, T., Bork-Jensen, J., Brandslund, I., Chris-tensen, C., Koistinen, H. A., Doney, A. S. F., Kinnunen, L., Esko, T., Farmer, A. J., Hakaste, L., Hodgkiss, D., Kravic, J., Lyssenko, V., Hollensted, M., Jorgensen, M. E., Jorgensen, T., Ladenvall, C., Justesen, J. M., Karajamaki, A., Kriebel, J., Rathmann, W., Lannfelt, L., Lauritzen, T., Narisu, N., Linneberg, A., Melander, O., Milani, L., Neville, M., Orho-Melander, M., Qi, L., Qi, Q., Roden, M., Rolandsson, O., Swift, A., Rosengren, A. H., Stirrups, K., Wood, A. R., Mihailov, E., Blancher, C., Carneiro, M. O., Maguire, J., Poplin, R., Shakir, K., Fennell, T., DePristo, M., de Angelis, M. H., Deloukas, P., Gjesing, A. P., Jun, G., Nilsson, P., Murphy, J., Onofrio, R., Thorand, B., Hansen, T., Meisinger, C., Hu, F. B., Isomaa, B., Karpe, F., Liang, L., Peters, A., Huth, C., O'Rahilly, S. P., Palmer, C. N. A., Pedersen, O., Rauramaa, R., Tuomilehto, J., Salomaa, V., Watanabe, R. M., Syvanen, A. C., Bergman, R. N., Bharadwai, D., Bottinger, E. P., Cho, Y.
   S., Chandak, G. R., Chan, J. C., Chia, K. S., Daly, M. J., Ebrahim, S. B., Langenberg, C., Elliott,
   P., Jablonski, K. A., Lehman, D. M., Jia, W., Ma, R. C. W., Pollin, T. I., Sandhu, M., Tandon, N., Froguel, P., Barroso, I., Teo, Y. Y., Zeggini, E., Loos, R. J. F., Small, K. S., Ried, J. S., DeFronzo, R. A., Grallert, H., Glaser, B., Metspalu, A., Wareham, N. J., Walker, M., Banks, E., Gieger, C., Ingelsson, E., Im, H. K., Illig, T., Franks, P. W., Buck, G., Trakalo, J., Buck, D., Prokopenko, I., Magi, R., Lind, L., Farjoun, Y., Owen, K. R., Gloyn, A. L., Strauch, K., Tuomi, T., Kooner, J. S., Lee, J. Y., Park, T., Donnelly, P., Morris, A. D., Hattersley, A. T., Bowden, D. W., Collins, F. S., Atzmon, G., Chambers, J. C., Spector, T. D., Laakso, M., Strom, T. M., Bell, G. I., Blangero, J., Duggirala, K., Tai, E. S., McVean, G., Hanis, C. L., Wilson, J. C., Seielstad, M., Frayling, T. M., Meigs, J. B., Cox, N. J., Sladek, R., Lander, E. S., Gabriel, S., Mohlke, K. L., Meitinger, T., Groop, L., Abecasis, G., Scott, L. J., Morris, A. P., Kang, H. M., Altshuler, D., Burtt, N. P., Florez, J. C., Boehnke, M. & McCarthy, M. I. Sequence data and association statistics from 12,940 type 2 diabetes cases and controls. *Sci Data* 4, 170179 (2017).
- Fodil, N., Moradin, N., Leung, V., Olivier, J. F., Radovanovic, I., Jeyakumar, T., Flores Molina, M., McFarquhar, A., Cayrol, R., Bozec, D., Shoukry, N. H., Kubo, M., Dimitrieva, J., Louis, E., Theatre, E., Dahan, S., Momozawa, Y., Georges, M., Yeretssian, G. & Gros, P. CCDC88B is required for pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Commun* 8, 932 (2017).
   Fujii, S. I. & Shimizu, K. Exploiting Antitumor Immunotherapeutic Novel Strategies by Deci-
- 50 Fujii, S. I. & Shimizu, K. Exploiting Antitumor Immunotherapeutic Novel Strategies by Deciphering the Cross Talk between Invariant NKT Cells and Dendritic Cells. *Front Immunol* 8, 886 (2017).
- 51 Fujita, M., Matsubara, N., Matsuda, I., Maejima, K., Oosawa, A., Yamano, T., Fujimoto, A., Furuta, M., Nakano, K., Oku-Sasaki, A., Tanaka, H., Shiraishi, Y., Mateos, R. N., Nakai, K., Miyano, S., Tomita, N., Hirota, S., Ikeuchi, H. & Nakagawa, H. Genomic landscape of colitis-associated cancer indicates the impact of chronic inflammation and its stratification by mutations in the Wnt signaling. *Oncotarget* 9, 969–981 (2017).
- 52 Furuta, M., Ueno, M., Fujimoto, A., Hayami, S., Yasukawa, S., Kojima, F., Arihiro, K., Kawakami, Y., Wardell, C. P., Shiraishi, Y., Tanaka, H., Nakano, K., Maejima, K., Sasaki-Oku, A., Tokunaga, N., Boroevich, K. A., Abe, T., Aikata, H., Ohdan, H., Gotoh, K., Kubo, M., Tsunoda, T., Miyano, S., Chayama, K., Yamaue, H. & Nakagawa, H. Whole genome sequencing discriminates hepatocellular carcinoma with intrahepatic metastasis from multi-centric tumors. *J Hepatol* 66, 363–373 (2017).
- 53 Garg, G., Nikolouli, E., Hardtke-Wolenski, M., Toker, A., Ohkura, N., Beckstette, M., Miyao, T., Geffers, R., Floess, S., Gerdes, N., Lutgens, E., Osterloh, A., Hori, S., Sakaguchi, S., Jaeckel, E. & Huehn, J. Unique properties of thymic antigen-presenting cells promote epigenetic imprinting of alloantigen-specific regulatory T cells. *Oncotarget* 8, 35542–35557 (2017).
- 54 Giacomini, K. M., Yee, S. W., Mushiroda, T., Weinshilboum, R. M., Ratain, M. J. & Kubo, M. Genome-wide association studies of drug response and toxicity: an opportunity for genome medicine. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 16, 1 (2017).
- 5 Graf, U., Casanova, E. A., Wyck, S., Dalcher, D., Gatti, M., Vollenweider, E., Okoniewski, M. J., Weber, F. A., Patel, S. S., Schmid, M. W., Li, J., Sharif, J., Wanner, G. A., Koseki, H., Wong, J., Pelczar, P., Penengo, L., Santoro, R. & Cinelli, P. Pramel7 mediates ground-state pluripotency through proteasomal-epigenetic combined pathways. *Nat Cell Biol* 19, 763–773 (2017).
- 56 Guo, L., Elcioglu, N. H., lida, A., Demirkol, Y. K., Aras, S., Matsumoto, N., Nishimura, G., Mi-

yake, N. & Ikegawa, S. Novel and recurrent XYLT1 mutations in two Turkish families with Desbuquois dysplasia, type 2. **J Hum Genet** 62, 447–451 (2017).

- Guo, L., Elcioglu, N. H., Mizumoto, S., Wang, Z., Noyan, B., Albayrak, H. M., Yamada, S., Ma-57 tsumoto, N., Mivake, N., Nishimura, G. & Ikegawa, S. Identification of biallelic EXTL3 mutations in a novel type of spondylo-epi-metaphyseal dysplasia. J Hum Genet 62, 797-801 (2017).
- Guo, L., Elcioglu, N. H., Wang, Z., Demirkol, Y. K., Isguven, P., Matsumoto, N., Nishimura, 58 G., Miyake, N. & Ikegawa, S. Novel and recurrent COL11A1 and COL2A1 mutations in the Marshall-Stickler syndrome spectrum. Hum Genome Var 4, 17040 (2017).
- Guo, L., Girisha, K. M., Iida, A., Hebbar, M., Shukla, A., Shah, H., Nishimura, G., Matsumoto, 59 N., Nismath, S., Miyake, N. & Ikegawa, S. Identification of a novel LRRK1 mutation in a family with osteosclerotic metaphyseal dysplasia. J Hum Genet 62, 437–441 (2017).
- Hachiya, T., Kamatani, Y., Takahashi, A., Hata, J., Furukawa, R., Shiwa, Y., Yamaji, T., Hara, M., 60 Tanno, K., Ohmomo, H., Ono, K., Takashima, N., Matsuda, K., Wakai, K., Sawada, N., Iwasaki, M., Yamagishi, K., Ago, T., Ninomiya, T., Fukushima, A., Hozawa, A., Minegishi, N., Satoh, M., Endo, R., Sasaki, M., Sakata, K., Kobayashi, S., Ogasawara, K., Nakamura, M., Hitomi, J., Kita, Y., Tanaka, K., Iso, H., Kitazono, T., Kubo, M., Tanaka, H., Tsugane, S., Kiyohara, Y., Yamamoto, M., Sobue, K. & Shimizu, A. Genetic Predisposition to Ischemic Stroke: A Polygenic Risk Score. Stroke 48, 253-258 (2017).
- Hamada, N., Negishi, Y., Mizuno, M., Miya, F., Hattori, A., Okamoto, N., Kato, M., Tsunoda, T., Yamasaki, M., Kanemura, Y., Kosaki, K., Tabata, H., Saitoh, S. & Nagata, K. I. Role of a 61 heterotrimeric G-protein, Gi2, in the corticogenesis: possible involvement in periventricular nodular heterotopia and intellectual disability. J Neurochem 140, 82–95 (2017).
- Hammarsjo, A., Wang, Z., Vaz, R., Taylan, F., Sedghi, M., Girisha, K. M., Chitayat, D., Neethukr-ishna, K., Shannon, P., Godoy, R., Gowrishankar, K., Lindstrand, A., Nasiri, J., Baktashian, M., 62 Newton, P. T., Guo, L., Hofmeister, W., Pettersson, M., Chagin, A. S., Nishimura, G., Yan, L Matsumoto, N., Nordgren, A., Miyake, N., Grigelioniene, G. & Ikegawa, S. Novel KIAA0753 mutations extend the phenotype of skeletal ciliopathies. *Sci Rep* 7, 15585 (2017). Harrer, D. C., Simon, B., Fujii, S. I., Shimizu, K., Uslu, U., Schuler, G., Gerer, K. F., Hoyer, S., Dor-
- 63 rie, J. & Schaft, N. RNA-transfection of gamma/delta T cells with a chimeric antigen receptor or an alpha/beta T-cell receptor: a safer alternative to genetically engineered alpha/beta T cells for the immunotherapy of melanoma. BMC Cancer 17, 551 (2017).
- Hashimoto, M., Ogata, S., Yamaguchi, A., Kawada, K., Kenmochi, M., Ebato, T., Nomoto, K., Bando, Y., Shimodera, S., Shibata, H., Ono, S., Nakayama, M., Yasumi, T. & Ishii, M. Hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis with high serum levels of IL-18 and predominant lymphocyte activation in a neonate born to a mother with adult-onset Still's disease. Clin Immunol 180, 95-96 (2017)
- Hashimoto-Tane, A., Yokosuka, T. & Saito, T. Analyzing the Dynamics of Signaling Microclus-65 ters. Methods Mol Biol 1584, 51-64 (2017).
- Hata, J., Nagai, A., Hirata, M., Kamatani, Y., Tamakoshi, A., Yamagata, Z., Muto, K., Matsuda, K., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y., Kiyohara, Y. & Ninomiya, T. Risk prediction models for mortality 66 in patients with cardiovascular disease: The BioBank Japan project. J Epidemiol 27, S71–S76 (2017)
- Hayashi, A., Mikami, Y., Miyamoto, K., Kamada, N., Sato, T., Mizuno, S., Naganuma, M., Ter-67 atani, T., Aoki, R., Fukuda, S., Suda, W., Hattori, M., Amagai, M., Ohyama, M. & Kanai, T. Intestinal Dysbiosis and Biotin Deprivation Induce Alopecia through Overgrowth of Lactobacillus murinus in Mice. *Cell Rep* 20, 1513–1524 (2017).
- Hayashi, M., Aoshi, T., Haseda, Y., Kobiyama, K., Wijaya, E., Nakatsu, N., Igarashi, Y., Standley, 68 D. M., Yamada, H., Honda-Okubo, Y., Hara, H., Saito, T., Takai, T., Coban, C., Petrovsky, N. & Ishii, K. J. Advax, a Delta Inulin Microparticle, Potentiates In-built Adjuvant Property of Co-administered Vaccines. *EBioMedicine* 15, 127–136 (2017).
- Hayatsu, N., Miyao, T., Tachibana, M., Murakami, R., Kimura, A., Kato, T., Kawakami, E., Endo, T. Á., Setoguchi, R., Watarai, H., Nishikawa, T., Yasuda, T., Yoshida, H. & Hori, S. Analyses of a Mutant Foxp3 Allele Reveal BATF as a Critical Transcription Factor in the Differentiation and Accumulation of Tissue Regulatory T Cells. *Immunity* 47, 268–283 e9 (2017).
- Haycock, P. C., Burgess, S., Nounu, A., Zheng, J., Okoli, G. N., Bowden, J., Wade, K. H., Timpson, N. J., Evans, D. M., Willeit, P., Aviv, A., Gaunt, T., Hemani, G., Mangino, M., Ellis, H. P., Kurian, K. M., Pooley, K. A., Eeles, R. A., Lee, J. E., Fang, S. Y., Chen, W. V., Law, M. H., Bowdler, L. M., Iles, M. M., Yang, Q., Worrall, B. B., Markus, H. S., Hung, R. J., Amos, C. I., Spurdle, A. B., Thompson, D. J., O'Mara, T. A., Wolpin, B., Amundadottir, L., Stolzenberg-Solomon, R., Trichopoulou, A., Onland-Moret, C., Lund, E., Duell, E. J., Canzian, F., Severi, G., Overvad, K., Gunter, M. J., Tumino, R., Svenson, U., van Rij, A., Baas, A. F., Bown, M. J., Samani, N. J., van t'Hof, F. N. G., Tromp, G., Jones, G. T., Kuivaniemi, H., Elmore, J. R., Johansson, M., McKay, J., Scelo, G., Carreras-Torres, R., Gaborieau, V., Brennan, P., Bracci, P. M., Neale, R. E., Olson, S. H., Gallinger, S., Li, D. H., Petersen, G. M., Risch, H. A., Klein, A. P., Han, J. L., Abnet, C. C., Freedman, N. D., Taylor, P. R., Maris, J. M., Aben, K. K., Kiemeney, L. A., Vermeulen, S. H., Wiencke, J. K., Walsh, K. M., Wrensch, M., Rice, T., Turnbull, C., Litchfield, K., Paternoster, L., Standl, M., Abecasis, G. R., SanGiovanni, J. P., Li, Y., Mijatovic, V., Sapkota, Y., Low, S. K., Zondervan, K. T., Montgomery, G. W., Nyholt, D. R., van Heel, D. A., Hunt, K., Arking, D. E., Ashar, F. N., So-toodehnia, N., Woo, D., Rosand, J., Comeau, M. E., Brown, W. M., Silverman, E. K., Hokanson, J. E., Cho, M. H., Hui, J., Ferreira, M. A., Thompson, P. J., Morrison, A. C., Felix, J. F., Smith, N. L., Christiano, A. M., Petukhova, L., Betz, R. C., Fan, X., Zhang, X. J., Zhu, C. H., Langefeld, C. D., Thompson, S. D., Wang, F. J., Lin, X., Schwartz, D. A., Fingerlin, T., Rotter, J. I., Cotch, M. F., Jensen, R. A., Munz, M., Dommisch, H., Schaefer, A. S., Han, F., Ollila, H. M., Hillary, R. P., Albagha, O., Ralston, S. H., Zeng, C. J., Zheng, W., Shu, X. O., Reis, A., Uebe, S., Huffmeier, U., Kawamura, Y., Otowa, T., Sasaki, T., Hibberd, M. L., Davila, S., Xie, G., Siminovitch, K., Bei, J. X., Zeng, Y. X., Forsti, A., Chen, B., Landi, S., Franke, A., Fischer, A., Ellinghaus, D., Flores, C., Noth, I., Ma, S. F., Foo, J. N., Liu, J. J., Kim, J. W., Cox, D. G., Delattre, O., Mirabeau, O., G., Hody, F., Hu, S. J., Ho, S. Y., Lu, J. J., Hu, J. Y., W., G. S., D. G., Dettaler, J., Hard, C. J., Kibola, C. F., Tang, C. S., Garcia-Barcelo, M., Chang, K. P., Su, W. H., Chang, Y. S., Martin, N. G., Gordon, S., Wade, T. D., Lee, C., Kubo, M., Cha, P. C., Nakamura, Y., Levy, D., Kimura, M., Hwang, S. J., Hunt, S., Spector, T., Soranzo, N., Manichaikul, A., Barr, G., Kahali, B., Speliotes, E., Yerges-Armstrong, L., Cheng, C. Y., Jonas, J. B., Wong, T. Y., Fogh, I., Lin, K., Powell, J. F., Rice, K., Relton, C. L., Martin, R. M., Smith, G. D. & Telomeres Mendelian, R. Association Between Telomere Length and Risk of Cancer and Non-Neoplastic Diseases A Mendelian Randomization Study. *JAMA Oncology* 3, 636–651 (2017). Hayes, C. N. & Chayama, K. Interferon stimulated genes and innate immune activation fol-
- 71 lowing infection with hepatitis B and C viruses. J Med Virol 89, 388–396 (2017).
- Hayes, C. N. & Chayama, K. Why highly effective drugs are not enough: the need for an affordable solution to eliminating HCV. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol* 10, 583–594 (2017). Hayes, C. N., Imamura, M. & Chayama, K. The practical management of chronic hepatitis C 72
- 73 infection in Japan - dual therapy of daclatasvir + asunaprevir. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 11, 103–113 (2017). Hirabayashi, S., Ohki, K., Nakabayashi, K., Ichikawa, H., Momozawa, Y., Okamura, K., Yaguchi,
- 74 A., Terada, K., Saito, Y., Yoshimi, A., Ogata-Kawata, H., Sakamoto, H., Kato, M., Fujimura, J., Hino, M., Kinoshita, A., Kakuda, H., Kurosawa, H., Kato, K., Kajiwara, R., Moriwaki, K., Morimoto, T., Nakamura, K., Noguchi, Y., Osumi, T., Sakashita, K., Takita, J., Yuza, Y., Matsuda,

K., Yoshida, T., Matsumoto, K., Hata, K., Kubo, M., Matsubara, Y., Fukushima, T., Koh, K. Manabe, A., Ohara, A. & Kiyokawa, N. ZNF384-related fusion genes define a subgroup of childhood B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia with a characteristic immunotype. Haematologica 102, 118-129 (2017).

- 75 Hirabayashi, T., Anjo, T., Kaneko, A., Senoo, Y., Shibata, A., Takama, H., Yokoyama, K., Nishito, Y., Ono, T., Taya, C., Muramatsu, K., Fukami, K., Munoz-Garcia, A., Brash, A. R., Ikeda, K., Arita, M., Akiyama, M. & Murakami, M. PNPLA1 has a crucial role in skin barrier function by directing acyleramide biosynthesis. **Nat Commun** 8, 14609 (2017). Hirata, J., Hirota, T., Ozeki, T., Kanai, M., Sudo, T., Tanaka, T., Hizawa, N., Nakagawa, H., Sato,
- 76 S., Mushiroda, T., Saeki, H., Tamari, M. & Okada, Y. Variants at HLA-A, HLA-C, and HLA-DQB1 Confer Risk of Psoriasis Vulgaris in Japanese. J Invest Dermatol S0022-202X(17)33037-3 (Epub 2017).
- Hirata, M., Kamatani, Y., Nagai, A., Kiyohara, Y., Ninomiya, T., Tamakoshi, A., Yamagata, Z., 77 Kubo, M., Muto, K., Mushiroda, T., Murakami, Y., Yuji, K., Furukawa, Y., Zembutsu, H., Tanaka, T., Ohnishi, Y., Nakamura, Y. & Matsuda, K. Cross-sectional analysis of BioBank Japan clinical data: A large cohort of 200,000 patients with 47 common diseases. J Epidemiol 27, S9-S21 (2017).
- Hirata, M., Nagai, A., Kamatani, Y., Ninomiya, T., Tamakoshi, A., Yamagata, Z., Kubo, M., 78 Muto, K., Kiyohara, Y., Mushiroda, T., Murakami, Y., Yuji, K., Furukawa, Y., Zembutsu, H., Tana-ka, T., Ohnishi, Y., Nakamura, Y. & Matsuda, K. Overview of BioBank Japan follow-up data in 32 diseases. J Epidemiol 27, S22-S28 (2017).
- Hirota, T., Nakayama, T., Sato, S., Yanagida, N., Matsui, T., Sugiura, S., Takaoka, Y., Hizawa, 79 N., Fujieda, S., Miyatake, A., Sasaki, T., Amagai, M., Doi, S., Ito, K., Ebisawa, M. & Tamari, M. Association study of childhood food allergy with genome-wide association studies-discovered loci of atopic dermatitis and eosinophilic esophagitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 140, 1713–1716 (2017).
- Ho, M. F., Ingle, J. N., Bongartz, T., Kalari, K. R., Goss, P. E., Shepherd, L. E., Mushiroda, T., Kubo, M., Wang, L. & Weinshilboum, R. M. TCL1A Single-Nucleotide Polymorphisms and Es-80 trogen-Mediated Toll-Like Receptor-MYD88-Dependent Nuclear Factor-kappaB Activation: Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism- and Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulator-Dependent Modification of Inflammation and Immune Response. *Mol Pharmacol* 92, 175–184 (2017). Honda, A., Choijookhuu, N., Izu, H., Kawano, Y., Inokuchi, M., Honsho, K., Lee, A. R., Nabeku-
- 81 ra, H., Ohta, H., Tsukiyama, T., Ohinata, Y., Kuroiwa, A., Hishikawa, Y., Saitou, M., Jogahara, T. & Koshimoto, C. Flexible adaptation of male germ cells from female iPSCs of endangered
- Tokudaia osimensis. **Sci Adv** 3, e1602179 (2017). Hong, F., Mohammad Rachidi, S., Lundgren, D., Han, D., Huang, X., Zhao, H., Kimura, Y., Hirano, H., Ohara, O., Udono, H., Meng, S., Liu, B. & Li, Z. Mapping the Interactome of a Major 82 Mammalian Endoplasmic Reticulum Heat Shock Protein 90. PLoS One 12, e0169260 (2017).
- Hori, I., Otomo, T., Nakashima, M., Miya, F., Negishi, Y., Shiraishi, H., Nonoda, Y., Magara, S., Tohyama, J., Okamoto, N., Kumagai, T., Shimoda, K., Yukitake, Y., Kajikawa, D., Morio, T., Hattori, A., Nakagawa, M., Ando, N., Nishino, I., Kato, M., Tsunoda, T., Saitsu, H., Kanemura, 83 Y., Yamasaki, M., Kosaki, K., Matsumoto, N., Yoshimori, T. & Saitoh, S. Defects in autophagosome-lysosome fusion underlie Vici syndrome, a neurodevelopmental disorder with multisystem involvement. Sci Rep 7, 3552 (2017).
- Hori, M., Yasumi, T., Shimodera, S., Shibata, H., Hiejima, E., Oda, H., Izawa, K., Kawai, T., Ishimura, M., Nakano, N., Shirakawa, R., Nishikomori, R., Takada, H., Morita, S., Horiuchi, H., Ohara, O., Ishii, E. & Heike, T. A CD57(+) CTL Degranulation Assay Effectively Identifies Familial Hemophagocytic Lymphohistiocytosis Type 3 Patients. J Clin Immunol 37, 92–99 (2017)
- Hori, S., Nomura, T. & Sakaguchi, S. Pillars Article: Control of Regulatory T Cell Development 85 by the Transcription Factor Foxp3, Science 2003, 299; 1057–1061, J Immunol 198, 981–985 (2017)
- Hosoe, J., Kadowaki, H., Miya, F., Aizu, K., Kawamura, T., Miyata, I., Satomura, K., Ito, T., Hara, 86 K., Tanaka, M., Ishiura, H., Tsuji, S., Suzuki, K., Takakura, M., Boroevich, K. A., Tsunoda, T., Yamauchi, T., Shojima, N. & Kadowaki, T. Structural Basis and Genotype-Phenotype Correlations of INSR Mutations Causing Severe Insulin Resistance. Diabetes 66, 2713–2723 (2017).
- 87 Huang, H., Fang, M., Jostins, L., Umicevic Mirkov, M., Boucher, G., Anderson, C. A., Andersen, V., Cleynen, I., Cortes, A., Crins, F., D'Amato, M., Deffontaine, V., Dmitrieva, J., Docampo, E., Elansary, M., Farh, K. K., Franke, A., Gori, A. S., Goyette, P., Halfvarson, J., Haritunians, T., Knight, J., Lawrance, I. C., Lees, C. W., Louis, E., Mariman, R., Meuwissen, T., Mni, M., Momozawa, Y., Parkes, M., Spain, S. L., Theatre, E., Trynka, G., Satsangi, J., van Sommeren, S., Vermeire, S., Xavier, R. J., Weersma, R. K., Duerr, R. H., Mathew, C. G., Rioux, J. D., McGovern, D. P. B., Cho, J. H., Georges, M., Daly, M. J. & Barrett, J. C. Fine-mapping inflammatory bowel disease loci to single-variant resolution. Nature 547, 173–178 (2017).
- Ichimura, S., Sasaki, S., Murata, T., Fukumura, R., Gondo, Y., Ikegawa, S. & Furuichi, T. An ENU-induced p.C225S missense mutation in the mouse Tgfb1 gene does not cause Camura-ti-Engelmann disease-like skeletal phenotypes. *Exp Anim* 66, 137–144 (2017). 88
- Igarashi, K., Kurosaki, T. & Roychoudhuri, R. BACH transcription factors in innate and adaptive immunity. **Nat Rev Immunol** 17, 437–450 (2017). Ikeda, M., Takahashi, A., Kamatani, Y., Okahisa, Y., Kunugi, H., Mori, N., Sasaki, T., Ohmori, T.,
- 90 Okamoto, Y., Kawasaki, H., Shimodera, S., Kato, T., Yoneda, H., Yoshimura, R., Iyo, M., Matsuda, K., Akiyama, M., Ashikawa, K., Kashiwase, K., Tokunaga, K., Kondo, K., Saito, T., Shimasaki, A., Kawase, K., Kitajima, T., Matsuo, K., Itokawa, M., Šomeya, T., Inada, T., Hashimoto, R., Inoue, T., Akiyama, K., Tanii, H., Arai, H., Kanba, S., Ozaki, N., Kusumi, I., Yoshikawa, T., Kubo, M. & Iwata, N. A genome-wide association study identifies two novel susceptibility loci and trans population polygenicity associated with bipolar disorder. Mol Psychiatry mp2016259
- (Epub 2017). Ikutani, M., Tsuneyama, K., Kawaguchi, M., Fukuoka, J., Kudo, F., Nakae, S., Arita, M., Nagai, 91 Y., Takaki, S. & Takatsu, K. Prolonged activation of IL-5-producing ILC2 causes pulmonary arterial hypertrophy. JCI Insight 2, e90721 (2017).
- Inoue, H., Ito, I., Niimi, A., Matsumoto, H., Oguma, T., Tajiri, T., Iwata, T., Nagasaki, T., Kane-mitsu, Y., Morishima, T., Hirota, T., Tamari, M., Wenzel, S. E. & Mishima, M. Association of 92 interleukin 1 receptor-like 1 gene polymorphisms with eosinophilic phenotype in Japanese adults with asthma. Respir Investig 55, 338-347 (2017).
- Inoue, T., Shinnakasu, R., Ise, W., Kawai, C., Egawa, T. & Kurosaki, T. The transcription factor Foxo1 controls germinal center B cell proliferation in response to T cell help. *J Exp Med* 214, 93 1181–1198 (2017).
- Ishigaki, K., Kochi, Y., Suzuki, A., Tsuchida, Y., Tsuchiya, H., Sumitomo, S., Yamaguchi, K., Na-gafuchi, Y., Nakachi, S., Kato, R., Sakurai, K., Shoda, H., Ikari, K., Taniguchi, A., Yamanaka, H., Miya, F., Tsunoda, T., Okada, Y., Momozawa, Y., Kamatani, Y., Yamada, R., Kubo, M., Fujio, K. 94 & Yamamoto, K. Polygenic burdens on cell-specific pathways underlie the risk of rheumatoid arthritis. **Nat Genet** 49, 1120–1125 (2017). Ishigaki, K., Kochi, Y. & Yamamoto, K. Genetics of human autoimmunity: From genetic infor-
- 95 mation to functional insights. Clin Immunol S1521-6616(17)30623-X (Epub 2017).
- Ishikawa, F. Guest editorial: Connecting multiple aspects of hematologic malignancies to 96 ward creation of new therapeutics. Int J Hematol 105, 547-548 (2017)

- Ito, K., Patel, P. N., Gorham, J. M., McDonough, B., DePalma, S. R., Adler, E. E., Lam, L., Mac-97 Rae, C. A., Mohiuddin, S. M., Fatkin, D., Seidman, C. E. & Seidman, J. G. Identification of pathogenic gene mutations in LMNA and MYBPC3 that alter RNA splicing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114, 7689-7694 (2017).
- 98 Ito, Y., Sakata-Sogawa, K. & Tokunaga, M. Multi-color single-molecule tracking and subtrajectory analysis for quantification of spatiotemporal dynamics and kinetics upon T cell activation. Sci Rep 7, 6994 (2017).
- Iwasawa, K., Suda, W., Tsunoda, T., Oikawa-Kawamoto, M., Umetsu, S., Inui, A., Fujisawa, T., Morita, H., Sogo, T. & Hattori, M. Characterisation of the faecal microbiota in Japanese 99 patients with paediatric-onset primary sclerosing cholangitis. Gut 66, 1344-1346 (2017).
- lyoda, T., Yamasaki, S., Hidaka, M., Kawano, F., Abe, Y., Suzuki, K., Kadowaki, N., Shimizu, K. 100 & Fujii, S. I. Amelioration of NK cell function driven by Valpha24+ invariant NKT cell activation in multiple myeloma. Clin Immunol S1521-6616(17)30503-X (Epub 2017).
- Jia, S., Nakano, T., Hattori, M. & Nara, K. Root-associated fungal communities in three Py-101 roleae species and their mycobiont sharing with surrounding trees in subalpine coniferous forests on Mount Fuji, Japan. **Mycorrhiza** 27, 733–745 (2017).
- Jin, H., Komita, M., Koseki, H. & Aoe, T. Sublethal endoplasmic reticulum stress caused by the 102 mutation of immunoglobulin heavy chain-binding protein induces the synthesis of a mito chondrial protein, pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase 1. Cell Stress Chaperones 22, 77-85 (2017).
- Jinda, W., Taylor, T. D., Suzuki, Y., Thongnoppakhun, W., Limwongse, C., Lertrit, P., Trinavarat, 103 A. & Atchaneeyasakul, L. O. Whole Exome Sequencing in Eight Thai Patients With Leber Congenital Amaurosis Reveals Mutations in the CTNNA1 and CYP4V2 Genes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 58, 2413-2420 (2017).
- 104 Jinnohara, T., Kanaya, T., Hase, K., Sakakibara, S., Kato, T., Tachibana, N., Sasaki, T., Hashimoto, Y., Sato, T., Watarai, H., Kunisawa, J., Shibata, N., Williams, I. R., Kiyono, H. & Ohno, H. IL-22BP dictates characteristics of Peyer's patch follicle-associated epithelium for antigen uptake. *J Exp Med* 214, 1607–1618 (2017).
- Johnson, J. A., Caudle, K. E., Gong, L., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Stein, C. M., Scott, S. A., Lee, M. T., 105 Gage, B. F., Kimmel, S. E., Perera, M. A., Anderson, J. L., Pirmohamed, M., Klein, T. E., Limdi, N. A., Cavallari, L. H. & Wadelius, M. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) Guideline for Pharmacogenetics-Guided Warfarin Dosing: 2017 Update. *Clin Pharma*col Ther 102, 397-404 (2017).
- Jullien, J., Vodnala, M., Pasque, V., Oikawa, M., Miyamoto, K., Allen, G., David, S. A., Brochard, 106 V., Wang, S., Bradshaw, C., Koseki, H., Sartorelli, V., Beaujean, N. & Gurdon, J. Gene Resist-ance to Transcriptional Reprogramming following Nuclear Transfer Is Directly Mediated by Multiple Chromatin-Repressive Pathways. Mol Cell 65, 873–884 e8 (2017).
- Justice, A. E., Winkler, T. W., Feitosa, M. F., Graff, M., Fisher, V. A., Young, K., Barata, L., Deng, 107 X., Zzajkowski, J., Hadley, D., Ngyma, J. S., Ahluwalia, T. S., Vol, A. Y., Heard-Costa, N. L., Lim, E., Perez, J., Eicher, J. D., Kutalik, Z., Xue, L., Mahajan, A., Renstrom, F., Wu, J., Qi, Q., Ahmad, S., Alfred, T., Amin, N., Bielak, L. F., Bonnefond, A., Bragg, J., Cadby, G., Chittani, M., Coggeshall, S., Corre, T., Direk, N., Eriksson, J., Fischer, K., Gorski, M., Neergaard Harder, M., Horikoshi, M., Huang, T., Huffman, J. E., Jackson, A. U., Justesen, J. M., Kanoni, S., Kinnunen, L., Kleber, M. E., Komulainen, P., Kumari, M., Lim, U., Luan, J., Lyytikainen, L. P., Mangino, M., Manichaikul, A., Marten, J., Middelberg, R. P. S., Muller-Nurasyid, M., Navarro, P., Perusse, L., Pervjakova, N., Sarti, C., Smith, A. V., Smith, J. A., Stancakova, A., Strawbridge, R. J., Strin-ham, H. M., Sung, Y. J., Tanaka, T., Teumer, A., Trompet, S., van der Laan, S. W., van der Most, N. J., Yan Viter-Ostaptchouk, J. V., Vedantam, S. L., Verweij, M., Vink, J. M., Vitart, V., Wu, Y., P. J., Van Viter-Ostaptchouk, J. V., Vedantam, S. L., Verweij, M., Vink, J. M., Vitart, V. Wu, Y., Yengo, L., Zhang, W., Hua Zhao, J., Zimmermann, M. E., Zubair, N., Abecasis, G. R., Adair, L. S., Afaq, S., Afzal, U., Bakker, S. J. L., Bartz, T. M., Beilby, J., Bergman, R. N., Bergmann, S., Biffar, R., Blangero, J., Boerwinkle, E., Bonnycastle, L. L., Bottinger, E., Braga, D., Buckley, B. M., Buyske, S., Campbell, H., Chambers, J. C., Collins, F. S., Curran, J. E., de Borst, G. J., de Craen, A. J. M., de Geus, E. J. C., Dedoussis, G., Delgado, G. E., den Ruijter, H. M., Eiriksdottir, G., Eriksson, A. L., Esko, T., Faul, J. D., Ford, I., Forrester, T., Gertow, K., Gigante, B., Glorioso, N., Gong, J., Grallert, H., Grammer, T. B., Grarup, N., Haitjema, S., Hallmans, G., Hamsten, A., Hansen, T., Harris, T. B., Hartman, C. A., Hassinen, M., Hastie, N. D., Heath, A. C., Hernandez, D., Hindorff, L., Hocking, L. J., Hollensted, M., Holmen, O. L., Homuth, G., Jan Hottenga, J., Huang, J., Hung, J., Hutri-Kahonen, N., Ingelsson, E., James, A. L., Jansson, J. O., Jarvelin, M. R., Jhun, M. A., Jorgensen, M. E., Juonala, M., Kahonen, M., Karlsson, M., Koistinen, H. A., Kolcic, I., Kolovou, G., Kooperberg, C., Kramer, B. K., Kuusisto, J., Kvaloy, K., Lakka, T. A., Langenberg, C., Launer, L. J., Leander, K., Lee, N. R., Lind, L., Lindgren, C. M., Linneberg, A., Lobbens, S., Loh, M., Lorentzon, M., Luben, R., Lubke, G., Ludolph-Donislawski, A., Lupoli, S., Madden, P. A. F., Mannikko, R., Marques-Vidal, P., Martin, N. G., McKenzie, C. A., McKnight, B., Mellstrom, D., Menni, C., Montgomery, G. W., Musk, A. B., Narisu, N., Nauck, M., Nolte, I. M., Oldehinkel, A. J., Olden, M., Ong, K. K., Padmanabhan, S., Peyser, P. A., Pisinger, C., Porteous, D. J., Raitakari, O. T., Rankinen, T., Rao, D. C., Rasmussen-Torvik, L. J., Rawal, R., Rice, T., Ridker, P. M., Rose, L. M., Bien, S. A., Rudan, I., Sanna, S., Sarzynski, M. A., Sattar, N., Savonen, K., Schlessinger, D., Scholtens, S., Schurmann, C., Scott, R. A., Sennblad, B., Siemelink, M. A., Silbernagel, G., Slagboom, P. E., Snieder, H., Staessen, J. A., Stott, D. J., Swertz, M. A., Swift, A. J., Taylor, K. D., Tayo, B. O., Thorand, B., Thuillier, D., Tuomilehto, J., Uitterlinden, A. G., Vandenput, L., Vohl, M. C., Volzke, H., Vonk, J. M., Waeber, G., Waldenberger, M., Westendorp, R. G. J., Wild, S., Willemsen, G., Wolffenbuttel, B. H. R., Wong, A., Wright, A. F., Zhao, W., Zillikens, M. C., Baldassarre, D., Balkau, B., Bandinelli, S., Boger, C. A., Boomsma, D. I., Bouchard, C., Bruinen-berg, M., Chasman, D. I., Chen, Y. D., Chines, P. S., Cooper, R. S., Cucca, F., Cusi, D., Faire, U., Ferrucci, L., Franks, P. W., Froguel, P., Gordon-Larsen, P., Grabe, H. J., Gudnason, V., Haiman, C. A., Hayward, C., Hveem, K., Johnson, A. D., Wouter Jukema, J., Kardia, S. L. R., Kivimaki, M., Kooner, J. S., Kuh, D., Laakso, M., Lehtimaki, T., Marchand, L. L., Marz, W., McCarthy, M. I., Metspalu, A., Morris, A. P., Ohlsson, C., Palmer, L. J., Pasterkamp, G., Pedersen, O., Peters, A., Peters, U., Polasek, O., Psaty, B. M., Qi, L., Rauramaa, R., Smith, B. H., Sorensen, T. I. A., Strauch, K., Tiemeier, H., Tremoli, E., van der Harst, P., Vestergaard, H., Vollenweider, P. Wareham, N. J., Weir, D. R., Whitfield, J. B., Wilson, J. F., Tyrrell, J., Frayling, T. M., Barroso, I., Boehnke, M., Deloukas, P., Fox, C. S., Hirschhorn, J. N., Hunter, D. J., Spector, T. D., Strachan, D. P., van Duijn, C. M., Heid, I. M., Mohlke, K. L., Marchini, J., Loos, R. J. F., Kilpelainen, T. O. Liu, C. T., Borecki, I. B., North, K. E. & Cupples, L. A. Genome-wide meta-analysis of 241,258 adults accounting for smoking behaviour identifies novel loci for obesity traits. Nat Commun 8, 14977 (2017).
- Kagawa, R., Fujiki, R., Tsumura, M., Sakata, S., Nishimura, S., Itan, Y., Kong, X. F., Kato, Z., Ohnishi, H., Hirata, O., Saito, S., Ikeda, M., El Baghdadi, J., Bousfiha, A., Fujiwara, K., Oleastro, M., Yancoski, J., Perez, L., Danielian, S., Ailal, F., Takada, H., Hara, T., Puel, A., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Bustamante, J., Casanova, J. L., Ohara, O., Okada, S. & Kobayashi, M. Alanine-scanning mutagenesis of human signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 to estimate loss- or gain-of-function variants. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 140, 232–241 (2017). Kajihara, Y., Yoshikawa, S., Cho, Y., Ito, T., Miyamoto, H. & Kodama, H. Preferential isolation
- 109 of Megasphaera elsdenii from pig feces. Anaerobe 48, 160-164 (2017).
- Kakugawa, K., Kojo, S., Tanaka, H., Seo, W., Endo, T. A., Kitagawa, Y., Muroi, S., Tenno, M. 110 Yasmin, N., Kohwi, Y., Sakaguchi, S., Kowhi-Shigematsu, T. & Taniuchi, I. Essential Roles of

- SATB1 in Specifying T Lymphocyte Subsets. **Cell Rep** 19, 1176–1188 (2017). Kamatani, T., Fukunaga, K., Miyata, K., Shirasaki, Y., Tanaka, J., Baba, R., Matsusaka, M., 111 Kamatani, N., Moro, K., Betsuyaku, T. & Uemura, S. Construction of a system using a deep learning algorithm to count cell numbers in nanoliter wells for viable single-cell experiments Sci Rep 7, 16831 (2017).
- Kamo, T., Akazawa, H., Suda, W., Saga-Kamo, A., Shimizu, Y., Yagi, H., Liu, Q., Nomura, S., 112 Naito, A. T., Takeda, N., Harada, M., Toko, H., Kumagai, H., Ikeda, Y., Takimoto, E., Suzuki, J. I., Honda, K., Morita, H., Hattori, M. & Komuro, I. Dysbiosis and compositional alterations with aging in the gut microbiota of patients with heart failure. *PLoS One* 12, e0174099 (2017).
- Kan, H., Imamura, M., Kawakami, Y., Daijo, K., Teraoka, Y., Honda, F., Nakamura, Y., Morio, 113 K., Kobayashi, T., Nakahara, T., Nagaoki, Y., Kawaoka, T., Tsuge, M., Aikata, H., Hayes, C. N., Miki, D., Ochi, H., Honda, Y., Mori, N., Takaki, S., Tsuji, K. & Chayama, K. Emergence of drug resistance-associated variants and changes in serum lipid profiles in sofosbuvir plus ledipasvir-treated chronic hepatitis C patients. J Med Virol 89, 1963-1972 (2017).
- Kanazawa, J., Masuko, H., Yamada, H., Yatagai, Y., Sakamoto, T., Kitazawa, H., Iijima, H., Naito, T., Hirota, T., Tamari, M. & Hizawa, N. How important is allergic sensitization as a cause 114 of atopic asthma? Allergol Int S1323-8930(17)30158-2 (Epub 2017).
- Kanazawa, J., Masuko, H., Yatagai, Y., Sakamoto, T., Yamada, H., Kaneko, Y., Kitazawa, H., 115 lijima, H., Naito, T., Saito, T., Noguchi, E., Konno, S., Nishimura, M., Hirota, T., Tamari, M. & Hizawa, N. Genetic association of the functional CDHR3 genotype with early-onset adult asthma in Japanese populations. Allergol Int 66, 563-567 (2017).
- Kasahara, K., Tanoue, T., Yamashita, T., Yodoi, K., Matsumoto, T., Emoto, T., Mizoguchi, T., 116 Hayashi, T., Kitano, N., Sasaki, N., Atarashi, K., Honda, K. & Hirata, K. I. Commensal bacteria at the crossroad between cholesterol homeostasis and chronic inflammation in atherosclerosis. J Lipid Res 58, 519-528 (2017).
- 117 Kato, A., Takatani, N., Ikeda, K., Maeda, S. I. & Omata, T. Removal of the product from the culture medium strongly enhances free fatty acid production by genetically engineered Syne-chococcus elongatus. *Biotechnol Biofuels* 10, 141 (2017).
- 118 Kato, K., Miya, F., Hori, I., Ieda, D., Ohashi, K., Negishi, Y., Hattori, A., Okamoto, N., Kato, M., Tsunoda, T., Yamasaki, M., Kanemura, Y., Kosaki, K. & Saitoh, S. A novel missense mutation in the HECT domain of NEDD4L identified in a girl with periventricular nodular heterotopia, polymicrogyria and cleft palate. J Hum Genet 62, 861-863 (2017).
- Kawakami, Y., Ando, T., Lee, J. R., Kim, G., Nakasaki, T., Nakasaki, M., Matsumoto, K., Choi, Y. S. & Kawakami, T. Defective natural killer cell activity in a mouse model of eczema herpeticum. J Allergy Clin Immunol 139, 997–1006 e10 (2017).
- Kawamura, S., Onai, N., Miya, F., Sato, T., Tsunoda, T., Kurabayashi, K., Yotsumoto, S., Kuroda, 120 S., Takenaka, K., Akashi, K. & Ohteki, T. Identification of a Human Clonogenic Progenitor with Strict Monocyte Differentiation Potential: A Counterpart of Mouse cMoPs. Immunity 46, 835-848 e4 (2017).
- Kawaoka, T., Imamura, M., Morio, K., Nakamura, Y., Tsuge, M., Nelson Hayes, C., Kawakami, 121 Y., Aikata, H., Ochi, H., Ishiyama, K., Ohdan, H. & Chayama, K. Three patients treated with sofosbuvir plus ledipasvir for recurrent hepatitis C after liver transplantation. Clin J Gastroenterol 10, 179-184 (2017).
- 122 Kawasaki, Y., Oda, H., Ito, J., Niwa, A., Tanaka, T., Hijikata, A., Seki, R., Nagahashi, A., Osawa, M., Asaka, I., Watanabe, A., Nishimata, S., Shirai, T., Kawashima, H., Ohara, O., Nakahata, T., Nishikomori, R., Heike, T. & Saito, M. K. Identification of a High-Frequency Somatic NLRC4 Mutation as a Cause of Autoinflammation by Pluripotent Cell-Based Phenotype Dissection. Arthritis Rheumatol 69, 447-459 (2017).
- Kim, J. J., Yun, S. W., Yu, J. J., Yoon, K. L., Lee, K. Y., Kil, H. R., Kim, G. B., Han, M. K., Song, M. 123 S., Lee, H. D., Ha, K. S., Sohn, S., Johnson, T. A., Takahashi, A., Kubo, M., Tsunoda, T., Ito, K., Onouchi, Y., Hong, Y. M., Jang, G. Y. & Lee, J. K. A genome-wide association analysis identifies NMNAT2 and HCP5 as susceptibility loci for Kawasaki disease. J Hum Genet 62, 1023-1029 (2017)
- Kim, J. M., To, T. K., Matsui, A., Tanoi, K., Kobayashi, N. I., Matsuda, F., Habu, Y., Ogawa, D., Sakamoto, T., Matsunaga, S., Bashir, K., Rasheed, S., Ando, M., Takeda, H., Kawaura, K., Ku-124 sano, M., Fukushima, A., Endo, T. A., Kuromori, T., Ishida, J., Morosawa, T., Tanaka, M., Torii, C., Takebayashi, Y., Sakakibara, H., Ogihara, Y., Saito, K., Shinozaki, K., Devoto, A. & Seki, M. Acetate-mediated novel survival strategy against drought in plants. Nat Plants 3, 17097 (2017).
- 125 Kim, S., Kim, H., Yim, Y. S., Ha, S., Atarashi, K., Tan, T. G., Longman, R. S., Honda, K., Littman, D. R., Choi, G. B. & Huh, J. R. Maternal gut bacteria promote neurodevelopmental abno ities in mouse offspring. **Nature** 549, 528–532 (2017). Kimura, S., Kitazawa, K., Tokuhisa, M. & Okada-Hatakeyama, M. Using A Priori Knowledge
- 126 after Genetic Network Inference: Integrating Multiple Kinds of Knowledge. Chem-Bio Informatics Journal 17, 53-71 (2017).
- Kiso, M., Iwatsuki-Horimoto, K., Yamayoshi, S., Uraki, R., Ito, M., Nakajima, N., Yamada, S., Imai, M., Kawakami, E., Tomita, Y., Fukuyama, S., Itoh, Y., Ogasawara, K., Lopes, T. J. S., 127 Watanabe, T., Moncla, L. H., Hasegawa, H., Friedrich, T. C., Neumann, G. & Kawaoka, Y. Emergence of Oseltamivir-Resistant H7N9 Influenza Viruses in Immunosuppressed Cynomolgus Macaques. J Infect Dis 216, 582–593 (2017).
- Kitagawa, Y., Ohkura, N., Kidani, Y., Vandenbon, A., Hirota, K., Kawakami, R., Yasuda, K., 128 Motooka, D., Nakamura, S., Kondo, M., Taniuchi, I., Kohwi-Shigematsu, T. & Sakaguchi, Guidance of regulatory T cell development by Satb1-dependent super-enhancer establish-ment. **Nat Immunol** 18, 173–183 (2017).
- Kojo, S., Tanaka, H., Endo, T. A., Muroi, S., Liu, Y., Seo, W., Tenno, M., Kakugawa, K., Naoe, 129 Y., Nair, K., Moro, K., Katsuragi, Y., Kanai, A., Inaba, T., Egawa, T., Venkatesh, B., Minoda, A. Kominami, R. & Taniuchi, I. Priming of lineage-specifying genes by Bcl11b is required for lineage choice in post-selection thymocytes. *Nat Commun* 8, 702 (2017).
- Kondo, T., Morita, R., Okuzono, Y., Nakatsukasa, H., Sekiya, T., Chikuma, S., Shichita, T., Kan-130 amori, M., Kubo, M., Koga, K., Miyazaki, T., Kassai, Y. & Yoshimura, A. Notch-mediated conversion of activated T cells into stem cell memory-like T cells for adoptive immunotherapy. Nat Commun 8, 15338 (2017).
- 131 Koyama, T., Kuriyama, N., Ozaki, E., Matsui, D., Watanabe, I., Takeshita, W., Iwai, K., Watanabe, Y., Nakatochi, M., Shimanoe, C., Tanaka, K., Oze, I., Ito, H., Uemura, H., Katsuura-Kamano, S., Ibusuki, R., Shimoshikiryo, I., Takashima, N., Kadota, A., Kawai, S., Sasakabe, T., Okada, R., Hishida, A., Naito, M., Kuriki, K., Endoh, K., Furusyo, N., Ikezaki, H., Suzuki, S., Hosono, A., Mikami, H., Nakamura, Y., Kubo, M. & Wakai, K. Genetic Variants of RAMP2 and CLR are Associated with Stroke. J Atheroscler Thromb 24, 1267–1281 (2017).
- Krycer, J. R., Yugi, K., Hirayama, A., Fazakerley, D. J., Quek, L. E., Scalzo, R., Ohno, S., Hodson, M. P., Ikeda, S., Shoji, F., Suzuki, K., Domanova, W., Parker, B. L., Nelson, M. E., Humphrey, 132 S. J., Turner, N., Hoehn, K. L., Cooney, G. J., Soga, T., Kuroda, S. & James, D. E. Dynamic M tabolomics Reveals that Insulin Primes the Adipocyte for Glucose Metabolism. Cell Rep 21, 3536-3547 (2017)
- 133 Kubo, M. T follicular helper and TH2 cells in allergic responses. Allergol Int 66, 377-381 (2017)
- 134 Kubo, M. Innate and adaptive type 2 immunity in lung allergic inflammation. Immunol Rev

278, 162-172 (2017).

- 135 Kubota, T., Kubota, N. & Kadowaki, T. Imbalanced Insulin Actions in Obesity and Type 2 Diabates: Kay Mays Medals of Insuling Pathway. Coll Metab 35, 707, 910 (2017).
- betes: Key Mouse Models of Insulin Signaling Pathway. *Cell Metab* 25, 797–810 (2017).
   Kumar, S., Mamun, K. & Sharma, A. CSP-TSM: Optimizing the performance of Riemannian tangent space mapping using common spatial pattern for MI-BCI. *Comput Biol Med* 91, 231–242 (2017).
- 137 Kumar, S., Sharma, A. & Tsunoda, T. An improved discriminative filter bank selection approach for motor imagery EEG signal classification using mutual information. *BMC Bioinformatics* 18, 545 (2017).
- 138 Kwon, Y. C., Kim, J. J., Yun, S. W., Yu, J. J., Yoon, K. L., Lee, K. Y., Kil, H. R., Kim, G. B., Han, M. K., Song, M. S., Lee, H. D., Ha, K. S., Sohn, S., Ebata, R., Hamada, H., Suzuki, H., Ito, K., Onouchi, Y., Hong, Y. M., Jang, G. Y. & Lee, J. K. Male-specific association of the FCGR2A His167Arg polymorphism with Kawasaki disease. *PLoS One* 12, e0184248 (2017).
- 139 Laidlaw, B. J., Schmidt, T. H., Green, J. A., Allen, C. D., Okada, T. & Cyster, J. G. The Eph-related tyrosine kinase ligand Ephrin-B1 marks germinal center and memory precursor B cells. J Exp Med 214, 639–649 (2017).
- 140 Li, X., Morita, M., Kikuguchi, C., Takahashi, A., Suzuki, T. & Yamamoto, T. Adipocyte-specific disruption of mouse Cnot3 causes lipodystrophy. *FEBS Lett* 591, 358–368 (2017).
- 141 Lim, H. M., Woon, H., Han, J. W., Baba, Y., Kurosaki, T., Lee, M. G. & Kim, J. Y. UDP-Induced Phagocytosis and ATP-Stimulated Chemotactic Migration Are Impaired in STIM1(-/-) Microglia In Vitro and In Vivo. *Mediators Inflamm* 2017, 8158514 (2017).
- 142 Liu, D., Ho, M. F., Schaid, D. J., Scherer, S. E., Kalari, K., Liu, M., Biernacka, J., Yee, V., Evans, J., Carlson, E., Goetz, M. P., Kubo, M., Wickerham, D. L., Wang, L., Ingle, J. N. & Weinshilboum, R. M. Breast cancer chemoprevention pharmacogenomics: Deep sequencing and functional genomics of the ZNF423 and CTSO genes. *NPJ Breast Cancer* 3, 30 (2017).
- 143 Loo, T. M., Kamachi, F., Watanabe, Y., Yoshimoto, S., Kanda, H., Arai, Y., Nakajima-Takagi, Y., Iwama, A., Koga, T., Sugimoto, Y., Ozawa, T., Nakamura, M., Kumagai, M., Watashi, K., Taketo, M. M., Aoki, T., Narumiya, S., Oshima, M., Arita, M., Hara, E. & Ohtani, N. Gut Microbiota Promotes Obesity-Associated Liver Cancer through PGE2-Mediated Suppression of Antitumor Immunity. *Cancer Discov* 7, 522–538 (2017).
- 144 Lopez, Y., Dehzangi, A., Lal, S. P., Taherzadeh, G., Michaelson, J., Sattar, A., Tsunoda, T. & Sharma, A. SucStruct: Prediction of succinylated lysine residues by using structural properties of amino acids. *Anal Biochem* 527, 24–32 (2017).
- 145 Low, S. K., Takahashi, A., Ebana, Y., Ozaki, K., Christophersen, I. E., Ellinor, P. T., Ogishima, S., Yamamoto, M., Satoh, M., Sasaki, M., Yamaji, T., Iwasaki, M., Tsugane, S., Tanaka, K., Naito, M., Wakai, K., Tanaka, H., Furukawa, T., Kubo, M., Ito, K., Kamatani, Y. & Tanaka, T. Identification of six new genetic loci associated with atrial fibrillation in the Japanese population. *Nat Genet* 49, 953–958 (2017).
- 146 Lye, H. S., Kato, T., Low, W. Y., Taylor, T. D., Prakash, T., Lew, L. C., Ohno, H. & Liong, M. T. Lactobacillus fermentum FTDC 8312 combats hypercholesterolemia via alteration of gut microbiota. *J Biotechnol* 262, 75–83 (2017).
- Lysenko, A., Boroevich, K. A. & Tsunoda, T. Arete candidate gene prioritization using biological network topology with additional evidence types. *BioData Min* 10, 22 (2017).
   Maceiras, A. R., Almeida, S. C. P., Mariotti-Ferrandiz, E., Chaara, W., Jebbawi, F., Six, A., Hori,
- Maceiras, A. R., Almeida, S. C. P., Mariotti-Ferrandiz, E., Chaara, W., Jebbawi, F., Six, A., Hori, S., Klatzmann, D., Faro, J. & Graca, L. T follicular helper and T follicular regulatory cells have different TCR specificity. *Nat Commun* 8, 15067 (2017).
   Maenohara, S., Unoki, M., Toh, H., Ohishi, H., Sharif, J., Koseki, H. & Sasaki, H. Role of UHRF1
- 149 Maenohara, S., Unoki, M., Toh, H., Ohishi, H., Sharif, J., Koseki, H. & Sasaki, H. Role of UHRF1 in de novo DNA methylation in oocytes and maintenance methylation in preimplantation embryos. *PLoS Genet* 13, e1007042 (2017).
- 150 Maezawa, S., Hasegawa, K., Yukawa, M., Sakashita, A., Alavattam, K. G., Andreassen, P. R., Vidal, M., Koseki, H., Barski, A. & Namekawa, S. H. Polycomb directs timely activation of germline genes in spermatogenesis. *Genes Dev* 31, 1693–1703 (2017).
- 151 Magi, R., Horikoshi, M., Sofer, T., Mahajan, A., Kitajima, H., Franceschini, N., McCarthy, M. I. & Morris, A. P. Trans-ethnic meta-regression of genome-wide association studies accounting for ancestry increases power for discovery and improves fine-mapping resolution. *Hum Mol Genet* 26, 3639–3650 (2017).
- 152 Magi, S., Iwamoto, K. & Okada-Hatakeyama, M. Current status of mathematical modeling of cancer – From the viewpoint of cancer hallmarks. *Curr Opin Systems Biol* 2, 39–48 (2017).
- 153 Magvanjav, O., Gong, Y., McDonough, C. W., Chapman, A. B., Turner, S. T., Gums, J. G., Bailey, K. R., Boerwinkle, E., Beitelshees, A. L., Tanaka, T., Kubo, M., Pepine, C. J., Cooper-DeHoff, R. M. & Johnson, J. A. Genetic Variants Associated With Uncontrolled Blood Pressure on Thiazide Diuretic/beta-Blocker Combination Therapy in the PEAR (Pharmacogenomic Evaluation of Antihypertensive Responses) and INVEST (International Verapamil-SR Trandolapril Study) Trials. J Am Heart Assoc 6, e006522 (2017).
- 154 Makino, H., Kawaguchi, Y., Seki, S., Nakano, M., Yasuda, T., Suzuki, K., Ikegawa, S. & Kimura, T. Lumbar disc degeneration progression in young women in their 20's: A prospective tenyear follow up. *J Orthop Sci* 22, 635–640 (2017).
- 155 Marangoni, R. G., Masui, Y., Fang, F., Korman, B., Lord, G., Lee, J., Lakota, K., Wei, J., Scherer, P. E., Otvos, L., Yamauchi, T., Kubota, N., Kadowaki, T., Asano, Y., Sato, S., Tourtellotte, W. G. & Varga, J. Adiponectin is an endogenous anti-fibrotic mediator and therapeutic target. Sci Rep 7, 4397 (2017).
- 156 Masunaga, H., Sugimoto, Y., Magi, S., Itasaki, R., Okada-Hatakeyama, M. & Kurata, H. Robustness analysis of the detailed kinetic model of an ErbB signaling network by using dynamic sensitivity. *PLoS One* 12, e0178250 (2017).
- 157 Matsui-Hasumi, A., Sato, Y., Uto-Konomi, A., Yamashita, S., Uehori, J., Yoshimura, A., Yamashita, M., Asahara, H., Suzuki, S. & Kubo, M. E3 ubiquitin ligases SIAH1/2 regulate hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1)-mediated Th17 cell differentiation. *Int Immunol* 29, 133–143 (2017).
- 158 Matsumoto, H., Kanemitsu, Y., Nagasaki, T., Tohda, Y., Horiguchi, T., Kita, H., Kuwabara, K., Tomii, K., Otsuka, K., Fujimura, M., Ohkura, N., Tomita, K., Yokoyama, A., Ohnishi, H., Nakano, Y., Oguma, T., Hozawa, S., Izuhara, Y., Ito, I., Inoue, H., Tajiri, T., Iwata, T., Ono, J., Ohta, S., Hirota, T., Kawaguchi, T., Tamari, M., Yokoyama, T., Tabara, Y., Matsuda, F., Izuhara, K., Niimi, A. & Mishima, M. Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxin sensitization involvement and its association with the CysLTRI variant in different asthma phenotypes. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 118, 197–203 (2017).
- 159 Matsumura, H., Nakano, Y., Ochi, H., Onohara, Y., Sairaku, A., Tokuyama, T., Tomomori, S., Motoda, C., Amioka, M., Hironobe, N., Toshishige, M., Takahashi, S., Imai, K., Sueda, T., Chayama, K. & Kihara, Y. H558R, a common SCN5A polymorphism, modifies the clinical phenotype of Brugada syndrome by modulating DNA methylation of SCN5A promoters. *J Biomed Sci* 24, 91 (2017).
- 160 Migita, T., Takayama, K. I., Urano, T., Obinata, D., Ikeda, K., Soga, T., Takahashi, S. & Inoue, S. ACSL3 promotes intratumoral steroidogenesis in prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Sci* 108, 2011–2021 (2017).
- 161 Miyajima, M., Zhang, B., Sugiura, Y., Sonomura, K., Guerrini, M. M., Tsutsui, Y., Maruya, M., Vogelzang, A., Chamoto, K., Honda, K., Hikida, T., Ito, S., Qin, H., Sanuki, R., Suzuki, K., Furukawa, T., Ishihama, Y., Matsuda, F., Suematsu, M., Honjo, T. & Fagarasan, S. Metabolic shift

induced by systemic activation of T cells in PD-1-deficient mice perturbs brain monoamines and emotional behavior. **Nat Immunol** 18, 1342–1352 (2017).

- 162 Miyaki, E., Hiraga, N., Imamura, M., Uchida, T., Kan, H., Tsuge, M., Abe-Chayama, H., Hayes, C. N., Makokha, G. N., Serikawa, M., Aikata, H., Ochi, H., Ishida, Y., Tateno, C., Ohdan, H. & Chayama, K. Interferon alpha treatment stimulates interferon gamma expression in type I NKT cells and enhances their antiviral effect against hepatitis C virus. *PLoS One* 12, e0172412 (2017).
- 163 Miyama, T., Kawase, T., Kitaura, K., Chishaki, R., Shibata, M., Oshima, K., Hamana, H., Kishi, H., Muraguchi, A., Kuzushima, K., Saji, H., Shin, I. T., Suzuki, R. & Ichinohe, T. Highly functional T-cell receptor repertoires are abundant in stem memory T cells and highly shared among individuals. *Sci Rep* 7, 3663 (2017).
- 164 Miyamoto, A., Lee, S., Cooray, N. F., Mori, M., Matsuhisa, N., Jin, H., Yoda, L., Yokota, T., Itoh, A., Sekino, M., Kawasaki, H., Ebihara, T., Amagai, M. & Someya, T. Inflammation-free, gas-permeable, lightweight, stretchable on-skin electronics with nanomeshes. *Nat Nanotechnol* 12, 907–913 (2017).
- 165 Miyamoto, T., Tanikawa, C., Yodsurang, V., Zhang, Y. Z., Imoto, S., Yamaguchi, R., Miyano, S., Nakagawa, H. & Matsuda, K. Identification of a p53-repressed gene module in breast cancer cells. *Oncotarget* 8, 55821–55836 (2017).
- 166 Miyauchi, K. Helper T Cell Responses to Respiratory Viruses in the Lung: Development, Virus Suppression, and Pathogenesis. *Viral Immunol* 30, 421–430 (2017).
- 167 Miyauchi, K. & Kubo, M. Is germinal center selection required for influenza vaccination? Cell Mol Immunol 14, 655–657 (2017).
- 168 Mizowaki, Y., Sugawara, S., Yamamoto, K., Sakamoto, Y., Iwagaki, Y., Kawakami, Y., Igarashi, M. & Tsuduki, T. Comparison of the Effects of the 1975 Japanese Diet and the Modern Mediterranean Diet on Lipid Metabolism in Mice. *J Oleo Sci* 66, 507–519 (2017).
- 169 Mizuno, S., Masaoka, T., Naganuma, M., Kishimoto, T., Kitazawa, M., Kurokawa, S., Nakashima, M., Takeshita, K., Suda, W., Mimura, M., Hattori, M. & Kanai, T. Bifidobacterium-Rich Fecal Donor May Be a Positive Predictor for Successful Fecal Microbiota Transplantation in Patients with Irritable Bowel Syndrome. *Digestion* 96, 29–38 (2017).
- 170 Mizuno, S., Nanki, K., Matsuoka, K., Saigusa, K., Ono, K., Arai, M., Sugimoto, S., Kiyohara, H., Nakashima, M., Takeshita, K., Naganuma, M., Suda, W., Hattori, M. & Kanai, T. Single fecal microbiota transplantation failed to change intestinal microbiota and had limited effectiveness against ulcerative colitis in Japanese patients. *Intest Res* 15, 68–74 (2017).
- 171 Molineros, J. E., Yang, W., Zhou, X. J., Sun, C., Okada, Y., Zhang, H., Heng Chua, K., Lau, Y. L., Kochi, Y., Suzuki, A., Yamamoto, K., Ma, J., Bang, S. Y., Lee, H. S., Kim, K., Bae, S. C., Shen, N., Looger, L. L. & Nath, S. K. Confirmation of five novel susceptibility loci for systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and integrated network analysis of 82 SLE susceptibility loci. *Hum Mol Genet* 26, 1205–1216 (2017).
- 172 Mori, N., Imamura, M., Kawakami, Y., Nagaoki, Y., Kawaoka, T., Tsuge, M., Hiramatsu, A., Hayes, C. N., Aikata, H., Miki, D., Ochi, H., Honda, Y., Takaki, S., Tsuji, K. & Chayama, K. IFNL4 polymorphism effects on outcome of simeprevir, peginterferon, and ribavirin therapy for older patients with genotype 1 chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatol Res* 47, E5–E13 (2017).
- er patients with genotype 1 chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatol Res* 47, E5–E13 (2017).
  Morio, K., Imamura, M., Daijo, K., Teraoka, Y., Honda, F., Nakamura, Y., Kobayashi, T., Nakahara, T., Nagaoki, Y., Kawaoka, T., Tsuge, M., Hiramatsu, A., Kawakami, Y., Aikata, H., Nelson Hayes, C., Tsugawa, K., Yokozaki, M. & Chayama, K. Wisteria floribunda agglutinin positive Mac-2-binding protein level increases in patients with acute liver injury. *J Gastroenterol* 52, 1252–1257 (2017).
- 174 Morio, K., Imamura, M., Kawakami, Y., Morio, R., Kobayashi, T., Yokoyama, S., Nagaoki, Y., Kawaoka, T., Tsuge, M., Hiramatsu, A., Makokha, G. N., Hayes, C. N., Aikata, H., Miki, D., Ochi, H., Honda, Y., Mori, N., Takaki, S., Tsuji, K. & Chayama, K. Real-world efficacy and safety of daclatasvir and asunaprevir therapy for hepatitis C virus-infected cirrhosis patients. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 32, 645–650 (2017).
- 175 Morio, K., Imamura, M., Kawakami, Y., Nakahara, T., Nagaoki, Y., Kawaoka, T., Tsuge, M., Hiramatsu, A., Aikata, H., Hayes, C. N., Makokha, G. N., Ochi, H., Amano, H., Arataki, K., Moriya, T., Ito, H., Tsuji, K., Kohno, H., Waki, K., Tamura, T., Nakamura, T. & Chayama, K. ITPA polymorphism effects on decrease of hemoglobin during sofosburi rand ribavirin combination treatment for chronic hepatitis C. *J Gastroenterol* 52, 746–753 (2017).
- 176 Morio, R., Imamura, M., Kawakami, Y., Morio, K., Kobayashi, T., Yokoyama, S., Kimura, Y., Nagaoki, Y., Kawaoka, T., Tsuge, M., Hiramatsu, A., Nelson Hayes, C., Aikata, H., Takahashi, S., Miki, D., Ochi, H., Mori, N., Takaki, S., Tsuji, K. & Chayama, K. Safety and efficacy of dual therapy with daclatasvir and asunaprevir for older patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Gastroenterol 52, 504–511 (2017).
- 177 Mukai, K., Karasuyama, H., Kabashima, K., Kubo, M. & Galli, S. J. Differences in the Importance of Mast Cells, Basophils, IgE, and IgG versus That of CD4(+) T Cells and ILC2 Cells in Primary and Secondary Immunity to Strongyloides venezuelensis. *Infect Immun* 85, e00053–17 (2017).
- 178 Muller-Luda, K., Ahmadi, F., Ohno, H., Kotarsky, K. & Agace, W. W. GP2 is selectively expressed by small intestinal CD103(+)CD11b(+) cDC. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology 86, 292 (2017).
- 179 Nagai, A., Hirata, M., Kamatani, Y., Muto, K., Matsuda, K., Kiyohara, Y., Ninomiya, T., Tamakoshi, A., Yamagata, Z., Mushiroda, T., Murakami, Y., Yuji, K., Furukawa, Y., Zembutsu, H., Tanaka, T., Ohnishi, Y., Nakamura, Y. & Kubo, M. Overview of the BioBank Japan Project: Study design and profile. *J Epidemiol* 27, 52–58 (2017).
- 180 Naganuma, M., Sugimoto, S., Mitsuyama, K., Kobayashi, T., Yoshimura, N., Ohi, H., Tanaka, S., Andoh, A., Ohmiya, N., Saigusa, K., Yamamoto, T., Morohoshi, Y., Ichikawa, H., Matsuoka, K., Hisamatsu, T., Watanabe, K., Mizuno, S., Suda, W., Hattori, M., Fukuda, S., Hirayama, A., Abe, T., Watanabe, M., Hibi, T., Suzuki, Y. & Kanai, T. Efficacy of Indigo Naturalis in a Multi-center Randomized Controlled Trial of Patients With Ulcerative Colitis. *Gastroenterology* S0016–5085(17)36382–5 (Epub 2017).
- 181 Nagaoki, Y., İmamura, M., Aikata, H., Daijo, K., Teraoka, Y., Honda, F., Nakamura, Y., Hatooka, M., Morio, R., Morio, K., Kan, H., Fujino, H., Kobayashi, T., Masaki, K., Ono, A., Nakahara, T., Kawaoka, T., Tsuge, M., Hiramatsu, A., Kawakami, Y., Hayes, C. N., Miki, D., Ochi, H. & Chayama, K. The risks of hepatocellular carcinoma development after HCV eradication are similar between patients treated with peg-interferon plus ribavirin and direct-acting antiviral therapy. *PLoS One* 12, e0182710 (2017).
- Nakagome, S., Chinen, H., Iraha, A., Hokama, A., Takeyama, Y., Sakisaka, S., Matsui, T., Kidd, J. R., Kidd, K. K., Said, H. S., Suda, W., Morita, H., Hattori, M., Hanihara, T., Kimura, R., Ishida, H., Fujita, J., Kinjo, F., Mano, S. & Oota, H. Confounding effects of microbiome on the susceptibility of TNFSF15 to Crohn's disease in the Ryukyu Islands. *Hum Genet* 136, 387–397 (2017).
   Nakajima, A., Kaga, N., Nakanishi, Y., Ohno, H., Miyamoto, J., Kimura, I., Hori, S., Sasaki, T.,
- 183 Nakajima, A., Kaga, N., Nakanishi, Y., Ohno, H., Miyamoto, J., Kimura, I., Hori, S., Sasaki, T., Hiramatsu, K., Okumura, K., Miyake, S., Habu, S. & Watanabe, S. Maternal High Fiber Diet during Pregnancy and Lactation Influences Regulatory T Cell Differentiation in Offspring in Mice. *J Immunol* 199, 3516–3524 (2017).
- 184 Nakamoto, N., Amiya, T., Aoki, R., Taniki, N., Koda, Y., Miyamoto, K., Teratani, T., Suzuki, T., Chiba, S., Chu, P. S., Hayashi, A., Yamaguchi, A., Shiba, S., Miyake, R., Katayama, T., Suda, W., Mikami, Y., Kamada, N., Ebinuma, H., Saito, H., Hattori, M. & Kanai, T. Commensal Lactoba-

cillus Controls Immune Tolerance during Acute Liver Injury in Mice. *Cell Rep* 21, 1215–1226 (2017).

- 185 Nakamura, K., Okada, E., Ukawa, S., Hirata, M., Nagai, A., Yamagata, Z., Kiyohara, Y., Muto, K., Kamatani, Y., Ninomiya, T., Matsuda, K., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y. & Tamakoshi, A. Characteristics and prognosis of Japanese female breast cancer patients: The BioBank Japan project. *J Epidemiol* 27, S58–S64 (2017).
- 186 Nakamura, K., Ukawa, S., Okada, E., Hirata, M., Nagai, A., Yamagata, Z., Ninomiya, T., Muto, K., Kiyohara, Y., Matsuda, K., Kamatani, Y., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y. & Tamakoshi, A. Characteristics and prognosis of Japanese male and female lung cancer patients: The BioBank Japan Project. *J Epidemiol* 27, 549–557 (2017).
- 187 Nakamura, Y., Imamura, M., Kawakami, Y., Teraoka, Y., Daijo, K., Honda, F., Morio, K., Kobayashi, T., Nakahara, T., Nagaoki, Y., Kawaoka, T., Tsuge, M., Hiramatsu, A., Aikata, H., Hayes, C. N., Miki, D., Ochi, H. & Chayama, K. Efficacy and safety of daclatasvir plus asunaprevir therapy for chronic hepatitis C patients with renal dysfunction. *J Med Virol* 89, 665–671 (2017).
- 188 Nakayama, A., Nakaoka, H., Yamamoto, K., Sakiyama, M., Shaukat, A., Toyoda, Y., Okada, Y., Kamatani, Y., Nakamura, T., Takada, T., Inoue, K., Yasujima, T., Yuasa, H., Shirahama, Y., Nakashima, H., Shimizu, S., Higashino, T., Kawamura, Y., Ogata, H., Kawaguchi, M., Ohkawa, Y., Danjoh, I., Tokumasu, A., Ooyama, K., Ito, T., Kondo, T., Wakai, K., Stiburkova, B., Pavelka, K., Stamp, L. K., Dalbeth, N., Sakurai, Y., Suzuki, H., Hosoyamada, M., Fujimori, S., Yokoo, T., Hosoya, T., Inoue, I., Takahashi, A., Kubo, M., Ooyama, H., Shimizu, T., Ichida, K., Shinomiya, N., Merriman, T. R. & Matsuo, H. GWAS of clinically defined gout and subtypes identifies multiple susceptibility loci that include urate transporter genes. *Ann Rheum Dis* 76, 869–877 (2017).
- 189 Negishi, Y., Miya, F., Hattori, A., Johmura, Y., Nakagawa, M., Ando, N., Hori, I., Togawa, T., Aoyama, K., Ohashi, K., Fukumura, S., Mizuno, S., Umemura, A., Kishimoto, Y., Okamoto, N., Kato, M., Tsunoda, T., Yamasaki, M., Kanemura, Y., Kosaki, K., Nakanishi, M. & Saitoh, S. A combination of genetic and biochemical analyses for the diagnosis of PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway-associated megalencephaly. *BMC Med Genet* 18, 4 (2017).
- 190 Nieke, S., Yasmin, N., Kakugawa, K., Yokomizo, T., Muroi, S. & Taniuchi, I. Unique N-terminal sequences in two Runx1 isoforms are dispensable for Runx1 function. *BMC Dev Biol* 17, 14 (2017).
- 191 Noguchi, S., Arakawa, T., Fukuda, S., Furuno, M., Hasegawa, A., Hori, F., Ishikawa-Kato, S., Kaida, K., Kaiho, A., Kanamori-Katayama, M., Kawashima, T., Kojima, M., Kubosaki, A., Manabe, R. I., Murata, M., Nagao-Sato, S., Nakazato, K., Ninomiya, N., Nishiyori-Sueki, H., Noma, S., Saijyo, E., Saka, A., Sakai, M., Simon, C., Suzuki, N., Tagami, M., Watanabe, S., Yoshida, S., Arner, P., Axton, R. A., Babina, M., Baillie, J. K., Barnett, T. C., Beckhouse, A. G., Blumenthal, A., Bodega, B., Bonetti, A., Briggs, J., Brombacher, F., Carlisle, A. J., Clevers, H. C., Davis, C. A., Detmar, M., Dohi, T., Edge, A. S. B., Edinger, M., Ehrlund, A., Ekwall, K., Endoh, M., Enomoto, H., Eslami, A., Fagiolini, M., Fairbairn, L., Farach-Carson, M. C., Faulkner, G. J., Ferrai, C., Fisher, M. E., Forrester, L. M., Fujita, R., Furusawa, J. I., Geijtenbeek, T. B., Gingeras, T., Goldowitz, D., Guhl, S., Guler, R., Gustincich, S., Ha, T. J., Hamaguchi, M., Hara, M., Hasea awa, Y., Herlyn, M., Heutink, P., Hitchens, K. J., Hume, D. A., Ikawa, T., Ishizu, Y., Kai, C., Ka-wamoto, H., Kawamura, Y. I., Kempfle, J. S., Kenna, T. J., Kere, J., Khachigian, L. M., Kitamura, T., Klein, S., Klinken, S. P., Knox, A. J., Kojima, S., Koseki, H., Koyasu, S., Lee, W., Lennartsson, A., Mackay-Sim, A., Mejhert, N., Mizuno, Y., Morikawa, H., Morimoto, M., Moro, K., Morris, K. J., Motohashi, H., Mummery, C. L., Nakachi, Y., Nakahara, F., Nakamura, T., Nakamura, Y., Nozaki, T., Ogishima, S., Ohkura, N., Ohno, H., Ohshima, M., Okada-Hatakeyama, M., Okazaki, Y., Orlando, V., Ovchinnikov, D. A., Passier, R., Patrikakis, M., Pombo, A., Pradhan-Bhatt, S., Qin, X. Y., Rehli, M., Rizzu, P., Roy, S., Sajantila, A., Sakaguchi, S., Sato, H., Satoh, H., Savi, S., Saxena, A., Schmidl, C., Schneider, C., Schulze-Tanzil, G. G., Schwegmann, A., Sheng, G., Shin, J. W., Sugiyama, D., Sugiyama, T., Summers, K. M., Takahashi, N., Takai, J., Tanaka, H., Tatsukawa, H., Tomoiu, A., Toyoda, H., van de Wetering, M., van den Berg, L. M., Verardo, R., Vijayan, D., Wells, C. A., Winteringham, L. N., Wolvetang, E., Yamaguchi, Y., Yamamoto, M., Yanagi-Mizuochi, C., Yoneda, M., Yonekura, Y., Zhang, P. G., Zucchelli, S., Abugessaisa, I., Arner, E., Harshbarger, J., Kondo, A., Lassmann, T., Lizio, M., Sahin, S., Sengstag, T., Severin, J., Shimoji, H., Suzuki, M., Suzuki, H., Kawai, J., Kondo, N., Itoh, M., Daub, C. O., Kasukawa, T., Kawaji, H., Carninci, P., Forrest, A. R. R. & Hayashizaki, Y. FANTOM5 CAGE profiles of human and mouse samples. Sci Data 4, 170112 (2017).
- 192 Nomura, A., Won, H. H., Khera, A. V., Takeuchi, F., Ito, K., McCarthy, S., Emdin, C. A., Klarin, D., Natarajan, P., Zekavat, S. M., Gupta, N., Peloso, G. M., Borecki, I. B., Teslovich, T. M., Asselta, R., Duga, S., Merlini, P. A., Correa, A., Kessler, T., Wilson, J. G., Bown, M. J., Hall, A. S., Braund, P. S., Carey, D. J., Murray, M. F., Kirchner, H. L., Leader, J. B., Lavage, D. R., Manus, J. N., Hartze, D. N., Samani, N. J., Schunkert, H., Marrugat, J., Elosua, R., McPherson, R., Farrall, M., Watkins, H., Juang, J. J., Hsiung, C. A., Lin, S. Y., Wang, J. S., Tada, H., Kawashiri, M. A., Inazu, A., Yamagishi, M., Katsuya, T., Nakashima, E., Nakatochi, M., Yamamoto, K., Yokota, M., Momozawa, Y., Rotter, J. I., Lander, E. S., Rader, D. J., Danesh, J., Ardissino, D., Gabriel, S., Willer, C. J., Abecasis, G. R., Saleheen, D., Kubo, M., Kato, N., Ida Chen, Y. D., Dewey, F. E. & Kathiresan, S. Protein-Truncating Variants at the Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein Gene and Risk for Coronary Heart Disease. *Circ Res* 121, 81–88 (2017).
- 193 Ogawa, T., Kryukov, K., Imanishi, T. & Shiroguchi, K. The efficacy and further functional advantages of random-base molecular barcodes for absolute and digital quantification of nucleic acid molecules. *Sci Rep* 7, 13576 (2017).
- 194 Ogura, M., Inoue, T., Yamaki, J., Homma, M. K., Kurosaki, T. & Homma, Y. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species suppress humoral immune response through reduction of CD19 expression in B cells in mice. *Eur J Immunol* 47, 406–418 (2017).
- 195 Ogura, Y., Kou, I., Takahashi, Y., Takeda, K., Minami, S., Kawakami, N., Uno, K., Ito, M., Yonezawa, I., Kaito, T., Yanagida, H., Watanabe, K., Taneichi, H., Harimaya, K., Taniguchi, Y., Kotani, T., Tsuji, T., Suzuki, T., Sudo, H., Fujita, N., Yagi, M., Chiba, K., Kubo, M., Kamatani, Y., Nakamura, M., Matsumoto, M. & Ikegawa, S. A functional variant in MIR4300HG, the host gene of microRNA MIR4300 is associated with progression of adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. *Hum Mol Genet* 26, 4086–4092 (2017).
- 196 Okada, E., Ukawa, S., Nakamura, K., Hirata, M., Nagai, A., Matsuda, K., Ninomiya, T., Kiyohara, Y., Muto, K., Kamatani, Y., Yamagata, Z., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y. & Tamakoshi, A. Demographic and lifestyle factors and survival among patients with esophageal and gastric cancer: The Biobank Japan Project. *J Epidemiol* 27, S29–S35 (2017).
- 197 Okada, R., Naito, M., Hattori, Y., Seiki, T., Wakai, K., Nanri, H., Watanabe, M., Suzuki, S., Kairupan, T. S., Takashima, N., Mikami, H., Ohnaka, K., Watanabe, Y., Katsuura-Kamano, S., Kubo, M., Hamajima, N. & Tanaka, H. Matrix metalloproteinase 9 gene polymorphisms are associated with a multiple family history of gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer* 20, 246–253 (2017).
- 198 Okada, Y. & Ueta, M. Data Sparsity in Study on Human Leukocyte Antigen Class I Genes Associated With Stevens-Johnson Syndrome and Severe Ocular Complications-Reply. JAMA Ophthalmol 135, 894–895 (2017).
- 199 Okamoto, N., Miya, F., Hatsukawa, Y., Suzuki, Y., Kawato, K., Yamamoto, Y., Tsunoda, T., Kato, M., Saitoh, S., Yamasaki, M., Kanemura, Y. & Kosaki, K. Siblings with optic neuropathy and RTN4IP1 mutation. *J Hum Genet* 62, 927–929 (2017).

- 200 Okamoto, N., Miya, F., Tsunoda, T., Kato, M., Saitoh, S., Yamasaki, M., Kanemura, Y. & Kosaki, K. Novel MCA/ID syndrome with ASH1L mutation. *Am J Med Genet A* 173, 1644–1648 (2017).
- 201 Okamoto, N., Tsuchiya, Y., Miya, F., Tsunoda, T., Yamashita, K., Boroevich, K. A., Kato, M., Saitoh, S., Yamasaki, M., Kanemura, Y., Kosaki, K. & Kitagawa, D. A novel genetic syndrome with STARD9 mutation and abnormal spindle morphology. *Am J Med Genet A* 173, 2690–2696 (2017).
- 202 Okano, T., Nishikawa, T., Watanabe, E., Watanabe, T., Takashima, T., Yeh, T. W., Yamashita, M., Tanaka-Kubota, M., Miyamoto, S., Mitsuiki, N., Takagi, M., Kawano, Y., Mochizuki, Y., Imai, K., Kanegane, H. & Morio, T. Maternal T and B cell engraftment in two cases of X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency with IgG1 gammopathy. *Clin Immunol* 183, 112–120 (2017).
- 203 Omae, Y., Toyo-Oka, L., Yanai, H., Nedsuwan, S., Wattanapokayakit, S., Satproedprai, N., Smittipat, N., Palittapongarnpim, P., Sawanpanyalert, P., Inunchot, W., Pasomsub, E., Wichukchinda, N., Mushiroda, T., Kubo, M., Tokunaga, K. & Mahasirimongkol, S. Pathogen lineage-based genome-wide association study identified CD53 as susceptible locus in tuberculosis. *JHum Genet* 62, 1015–1022 (2017).
- 204 Omori, Y., Kubo, S., Kon, T., Furuhashi, M., Narita, H., Kominami, T., Ueno, A., Tsutsumi, R., Chaya, T., Yamamoto, H., Suetake, I., Ueno, S., Koseki, H., Nakagawa, A. & Furukawa, T. Samd7 is a cell type-specific PRC1 component essential for establishing retinal rod photoreceptor identity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 114, E8264–E8273 (2017).
- 205 Ono Minagi, H., Sarper, S. E., Kurosaka, H., Kuremoto, K. I., Taniuchi, I., Sakai, T. & Yamashiro, T. Runx1 mediates the development of the granular convoluted tubules in the submandibular glands. *PLoS One* 12, e0184395 (2017).
- 206 Ota, M., Iwasaki, Y., Harada, H., Sasaki, O., Nagafuchi, Y., Nakachi, S., Sumitomo, S., Shoda, H., Tohma, S., Fujio, K. & Yamamoto, K. Efficacy of intensive immunosuppression in exacerbated rheumatoid arthritis-associated interstitial lung disease. *Mod Rheumatol* 27, 22–28 (2017).
- 207 Otsubo, K., Nosaki, K., Imamura, C. K., Ogata, H., Fujita, A., Sakata, S., Hirai, F., Toyokawa, G., Iwama, E., Harada, T., Seto, T., Takenoyama, M., Ozeki, T., Mushiroda, T., Inada, M., Kishimoto, J., Tsuchihashi, K., Suina, K., Nagano, O., Saya, H., Nakanishi, Y. & Okamoto, I. Phase I study of salazosulfapyridine in combination with cisplatin and pemetrexed for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Cancer Sci* 108, 1843–1849 (2017).
- 208 Otsubo, T., Yamada, K., Hagiwara, T., Oshima, K., Iida, K., Nishikata, K., Toyoda, T., Igari, T., Nohara, K., Yamashita, S., Hattori, M., Dohi, T. & Kawamura, Y. I. DNA hypermethyation and silencing of PITX1 correlated with advanced stage and poor postoperative prognosis of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget* 8, 84434–84448 (2017).
- 209 Petros, Z., Lee, M. T., Takahashi, A., Zhang, Y., Yimer, G., Habtewold, A., Schuppe-Koistinen, I., Mushiroda, T., Makonnen, E., Kubo, M. & Aklillu, E. Genome-Wide Association and Replication Study of Hepatotoxicity Induced by Antiretrovirals Alone or with Concomitant Anti-Tuberculosis Drugs. *OMICS* 21, 207–216 (2017).
- 210 Qin, S., Ingle, J. N., Liu, M., Yu, J., Wickerham, D. L., Kubo, M., Weinshilboum, R. M. & Wang, L. Calmodulin-like protein 3 is an estrogen receptor alpha coregulator for gene expression and drug response in a SNP, estrogen, and SERM-dependent fashion. *Breast Cancer Res* 19, 95 (2017).
- 211 Rapakoulia, T., Gao, X., Huang, Y., de Hoon, M., Okada-Hatakeyama, M., Suzuki, H. & Arner, E. Genome-scale regression analysis reveals a linear relationship for promoters and enhancers after combinatorial drug treatment. *Bioinformatics* 33, 3696–3700 (2017).
- 212 Ruamviboonsuk, P., Tadarati, M., Singhanetr, P., Wattanapokayakit, S., Kunhapan, P., Wanitchanon, T., Wichukchinda, N., Mushiroda, T., Akiyama, M., Momozawa, Y., Kubo, M. & Mahasirimongkol, S. Genome-wide association study of neovascular age-related macular degeneration in the Thai population. *J Hum Genet* 62, 957–962 (2017).
- 213 Saito, T., Ikeda, M., Hashimoto, R., Iwata, N., Yamamori, H., Yasuda, Y., Fujimoto, M., Kondo, K., Shimasaki, A., Kawase, K., Miyata, M., Mushiroda, T., Ozeki, T., Kubo, M., Fujita, K., Kida, N., Nakai, M., Otsuru, T., Fukuji, Y., Murakami, M., Mizuno, K., Shiratsuchi, T., Numata, S., Ohmori, T., Ueno, S. I., Yada, Y., Tanaka, S., Kishi, Y., Takaki, M., Mamoto, A., Taniguchi, N., Sawa, Y., Watanabe, H., Noda, T., Amano, Y., Kimura, T., Fukao, T., Suwa, T., Murai, T., Kubota, M., Ueda, K., Tabuse, H., Kanahara, N., Kawai, N., Nemoto, K., Makinodan, M., Nishihata, Y., Hashimoto, N., Kusumi, I., Fujii, Y., Miyata, R., Hirakawa, K. & Ozaki, N. Transethnic Replication Study to Asses the Association Between Clozapine-Induced Agranulocytosis/Granulocytopenia and Genes at 12p12.2 in a Japanese Population. *Biol Psychiatry* 82, e9–e10 (2017).
- 214 Saito, Y., Mochizuki, Y., Ógahara, I., Watanabe, T., Hogdal, L., Takagi, S., Sato, K., Kaneko, A., Kajita, H., Uchida, N., Fukami, T., Shultz, L. D., Taniguchi, S., Ohara, O., Letai, A. G. & Ishikawa, F. Overcoming mutational complexity in acute myeloid leukemia by inhibition of critical pathways. *Sci Transl Med* 9, eaao1214 (2017).
- 215 Sakamoto, Y., Yamamoto, T., Kajino, Y., Kabata, T., Tsuchiya, H., Miyake, N., Iwamoto, Y., Matsumoto, N. & Ikegawa, S. Multiple epiphyseal dysplasia mimicking osteoarthritis due to acetabular dysplasia: A report of a familial case with a COMP mutation. *J Orthop Sci* 22, 967–971 (2017).
- 216 Sakamoto, Y., Yamamoto, T., Miyake, N., Matsumoto, N., Iida, A., Nakashima, Y., Iwamoto, Y. & Ikegawa, S. Screening of the COL2A1 mutation in idiopathic osteonecrosis of the femoral head. *J Orthop Res* 35, 768–774 (2017).
- 217 Sakamoto, Y., Yamamoto, T., Sugano, N., Takahashi, D., Watanabe, T., Atsumi, T., Nakamura, J., Hasegawa, Y., Akashi, K., Narita, I., Miyamoto, T., Takeuchi, T., Ikari, K., Amano, K., Fujie, A., Kubo, T., Tada, Y., Kaneuji, A., Nakamura, H., Miyamura, T., Kabata, T., Yamaji, K., Okawa, T., Sudo, A., Ohzono, K., Tanaka, Y., Yasunaga, Y., Matsuda, S., Imai, Y., Akiyama, M., Kubo, M., Kamatani, Y., Iwamoto, Y. & Ikegawa, S. Genome-wide Association Study of Idiopathic Osteonecrosis of the Femoral Head. *Sci Rep* 7, 15035 (2017).
- Sakurai, Y., Kubota, N., Takamoto, I., Obata, A., Iwamoto, M., Hayashi, T., Aihara, M., Kubota, T., Nishihara, H. & Kadowaki, T. Role of insulin receptor substrates in the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Sci Rep* 7, 5387 (2017).
   Sapkota, Y., Steinthorsdottir, V., Morris, A. P., Fassbender, A., Rahmioglu, N., De Vivo, I.,
- 219 Sapkota, Y., Steinthorsdottir, V., Morris, A. P., Fassbender, A., Rahmioglu, N., De Vivo, I., Buring, J. E., Zhang, F., Edwards, T. L., Jones, S., O, D., Peterse, D., Rexrode, K. M., Ridker, P. M., Schork, A. J., MacGregor, S., Martin, N. G., Becker, C. M., Adachi, S., Yoshihara, K., Enomoto, T., Takahashi, A., Kamatani, Y., Matsuda, K., Kubo, M., Thorleifsson, G., Geirsson, R. T., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Wallace, L. M., Yang, J., Velez Edwards, D. R., Nyegaard, M., Low, S. K., Zondervan, K. T., Missmer, S. A., D'Hooghe, T., Montgomery, G. W., Chasman, D. I., Stefansson, K., Tung, J. Y. & Nyholt, D. R. Meta-analysis identifies five novel loci associated with endometriosis highlighting key genes involved in hormone metabolism. *Nat Commun* 8, 15539 (2017).
- 220 Sarashina-Kida, H., Negishi, H., Nishio, J., Suda, W., Nakajima, Y., Yasui-Kato, M., Iwaisako, K., Kang, S., Endo, N., Yanai, H., Asagiri, M., Kida, H., Hattori, M., Kumanogoh, A. & Taniguchi, T. Gallbladder-derived surfactant protein D regulates gut commensal bacteria for maintaining intestinal homeostasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 114, 10178–10183 (2017).
- 221 Sasaki, M., Sasako, T., Kubota, N., Sakurai, Y., Takamoto, I., Kubota, T., Inagi, R., Seki, G., Goto, M., Ueki, K., Nangaku, M., Jomori, T. & Kadowaki, T. Dual Regulation of Gluconeogenesis by

Insulin and Glucose in the Proximal Tubules of the Kidney. Diabetes 66, 2339–2350 (2017). Sato, A., Matsushima, K., Oshima, K., Hattori, M. & Koyama, Y. Draft Genome Sequencing 222 of the Highly Halotolerant and Allopolyploid Yeast Zygosaccharomyces rouxii NBRC 1876.

- Genome Announc 5, e01610–01616 (2017). Seo, W., Muroi, S., Akiyama, K. & Taniuchi, I. Distinct requirement of Runx complexes for 223 TCRbeta enhancer activation at distinct developmental stages. Sci Rep 7, 41351 (2017).
- Seo, W. & Taniuchi, I. Regulation of hematopoiesis and immune responses by long non-cod-224 ing RNAs. Int Immunol 29, 165–172 (2017).
- Seow, W. J., Matsuo, K., Hsiung, C. A., Shiraishi, K., Song, M., Kim, H. N., Wong, M. P., Hong, Y. C., Hosgood, H. D., 3rd, Wang, Z., Chang, I. S., Wang, J. C., Chatterjee, N., Tucker, M., Wei, H., 225 Mitsudomi, T., Zheng, W., Kim, J. H., Zhou, B., Caporaso, N. E., Albanes, D., Shin, M. H., Chung, L. P., An, S. J., Wang, P., Zheng, H., Yatabe, Y., Zhang, X. C., Kim, Y. T., Shu, X. O., Kim, Y. C., Bassig, B. A., Chang, J., Ho, J. C., Ji, B. T., Kubo, M., Daigo, Y., Ito, H., Momozawa, Y., Ashikawa, K., Kamatani, Y., Honda, T., Sakamoto, H., Kunitoh, H., Tsuta, K., Watanabe, S. I., Nokihara, H., Miyagi, Y., Nakayama, H., Matsumoto, S., Tsuboi, M., Goto, K., Yin, Z., Shi, J., Takahashi, A., Goto, A., Minamiya, Y., Shimizu, K., Tanaka, K., Wu, T., Wei, F., Wong, J. Y., Matsuda, F., Su, J., Kim, Y. H., Oh, I. J., Song, F., Lee, V. H., Su, W. C., Chen, Y. M., Chang, G. C., Chen, K. Y., Huang, M. S., Yang, P. C., Lin, H. C., Xiang, Y. B., Seow, A., Park, J. Y., Kweon, S. S., Chen, C. J., Li, H. Gao, Y. T., Wu, C., Qian, B., Lu, D., Liu, J., Jeon, H. S., Hsiao, C. F., Sung, J. S., Tsai, Y. H., Jung, Y. J., Guo, H., Hu, Z., Wang, W. C., Chung, C. C., Lawrence, C., Burdett, L., Yeager, M., Jacobs, K. B., Hutchinson, A., Berndt, S. I., He, X., Wu, W., Wang, J., Li, Y., Choi, J. E., Park, K. H., Sung, S. W., Liu, L., Kang, C. H., Hu, L., Chen, C. H., Yang, T. Y., Xu, J., Guan, P., Tan, W., Wang, C. L., Sihoe, A. D., Chen, Y., Choi, Y. Y., Hung, J. Y., Kim, J. S., Yoon, H. I., Cai, Q., Lin, C. C., Park, I. K., Xu, P., Dong, J., Kim, C., He, Q., Perng, R. P., Chen, C. Y., Vermeulen, R., Wu, J., Lim, W. Y., Chen, K. C., Chan, J. K., Chu, M., Li, Y. J., Li, J., Chen, H., Yu, C. J., Jin, L., Lo, Y. L., Chen, Y. H., Fraumeni, J. F., Jr., Yamaji, T., Yang, Y., Hicks, B., Wyatt, K., Li, S. A., Dai, J., Ma, H., Jin, G., Song, B., Cheng, S., Li, X., Ren, Y., Cui, P., Iwasaki, M., Shimazu, T., Tsugane, S., Zhu, J., Jiang, G., Fei, K., Wu, G., Chien, L. H., Chen, H. L., Su, Y. C., Tsai, F. Y., Chen, Y. S., Yu, J., Stevens, V. L., Laird-Offringa, I. A., Marconett, C. N., Lin, D., Chen, K., Wu, Y. L., Landi, M. T., Shen, H., Rothman, N., Kohno, T., Chanock, S. J. & Lan, Q. Association between GWAS-identified lung adenocarcinoma susceptibility loci and EGFR mutations in never-smoking Asian women, and comparison with findings from Western populations. Hum Mol Genet 26, 454–465 (2017).
- Shan, Q., Zeng, Z., Xing, S., Li, F., Hartwig, S. M., Gullicksrud, J. A., Kurup, S. P., Van Braeck-226 el-Budimir, N., Su, Y., Martin, M. D., Varga, S. M., Taniuchi, I., Harty, J. T., Peng, W., Badovinac, V. P. & Xue, H. H. The transcription factor Runx3 guards cytotoxic CD8(+) effector T cells against deviation towards follicular helper T cell lineage. *Nat Immunol* 18, 931–939 (2017).
- Sharif, J. & Koseki, H. No Winter Lasts Forever: Polycomb Complexes Convert Epigenetic Mem 227 ory of Cold into Flowering. Dev Cell 42, 563-564 (2017).
- Sharma, A., Boroevich, K. A., Shigemizu, D., Kamatani, Y., Kubo, M. & Tsunoda, T. Hierarchical 228 Maximum Likelihood Clustering Approach. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 64, 112–122 (2017).
- Sharma, A., Kamola, P. J. & Tsunoda, T. 2D-EM clustering approach for high-dimensional data 229 through folding feature vectors. BMC Bioinformatics 18, 547 (2017).
- Sharma, A., Lopez, Y. & Tsunoda, T. Divisive hierarchical maximum likelihood clustering, BMC 230 Bioinformatics 18, 546 (2017).
- 231 Sharma, R., Bayarjargal, M., Tsunoda, T., Patil, A. & Sharma, A. MoRFPred-plus: Computation al Identification of MoRFs in Protein Sequences using Physicochemical Properties and HMM profiles. *J Theor Biol* S0022–5193(17)30478–2 (Epub 2017).
- Shatabda, S., Saha, S., Sharma, A. & Dehzangi, A. iPHLoc-ES: Identification of bacteriophage 232 protein locations using evolutionary and structural features. J Theor Biol 435, 229-237 (2017).
- Shibagaki, N., Suda, W., Clavaud, C., Bastien, P., Takayasu, L., Ijoka, E., Kurokawa, R., Yamashi-233 ta, N., Hattori, Y., Shindo, C., Breton, L. & Hattori, M. Aging-related changes in the diversity of women's skin microbiomes associated with oral bacteria. Sci Rep 7, 10567 (2017)
- Shibata, H., Hiejima, E., Yasumi, T., Shimodera, S., Hori, M., Izawa, K., Matsuoka, M., Kojima, Y., Ohara, A., Nishikomori, R., Ohara, O. & Heike, T. Characterization of a Large UNC13D Gene 234 Duplication in a Patient with Familial Hemophagocytic Lymphohistiocytosis Type 3. Pediatr Blood & Cancer 64, S35 (2017).
- Shibata, H., Yasumi, T., Shimodera, S., Hiejima, E., Izawa, K., Kawai, T., Shirakawa, R., Wada, T., Nishikomori, R., Horiuchi, H., Ohara, O. & Heike, T. A Novel CTL-Based Functional Assay 235 Reveals a Strong Correlation between the Pathogenic of an UNC13D Variant and the Instability of its Translated MUNC13-4 Protein: MUNC13-4 Protein Expression Assay is a Reliable Method for Identification of Patients. Pediatr Blood & Cancer 64, S34–S35 (2017)
- Shigemizu, D., Iwase, T., Yoshimoto, M., Suzuki, Y., Miya, F., Boroevich, K. A., Katagiri, T., 236 Zembutsu, H. & Tsunoda, T. The prediction models for postoperative overall survival and disease-free survival in patients with breast cancer. **Cancer Med** 6, 1627–1638 (2017). Shimanaka, Y., Kono, N., Taketomi, Y., Arita, M., Okayama, Y., Tanaka, Y., Nishito, Y., Mochi-
- 237 zuki, T., Kusuhara, H., Adibekian, A., Cravatt, B. F., Murakami, M. & Arai, H. Omega-3 fatty acid epoxides are autocrine mediators that control the magnitude of IgE-mediated mast cell activation. Nat Med 23, 1287–1297 (2017).
- Shimokawa, C., Kanaya, T., Hachisuka, M., Ishiwata, K., Hisaeda, H., Kurashima, Y., Kiyono, H., Yoshimoto, T., Kaisho, T. & Ohno, H. Mast Cells Are Crucial for Induction of Group 2 Innate 238 Lymphoid Cells and Clearance of Helminth Infections. Immunity 46, 863–874 e4 (2017).
- Shin, C., Ito, Y., Ichikawa, S., Tokunaga, M., Sakata-Sogawa, K. & Tanaka, T. MKRN2 is a novel ubiquitin E3 ligase for the p65 subunit of NF-kappaB and negatively regulates inflammatory 239 responses. Sci Rep 7, 46097 (2017).
- Shinnakasu, R. & Kurosaki, T. Regulation of memory B and plasma cell differentiation. Curr 240 Opin Immunol 45, 126-131 (2017).
- Shirota, H., Klinman, D. M., Ito, S. E., Ito, H., Kubo, M. & Ishioka, C. IL4 from T Follicular Helper 241 Cells Downregulates Antitumor Immunity. Cancer Immunol Res 5, 61-71 (2017).
- Shitara, K., Doi, T., Nagano, O., Imamura, C. K., Ozeki, T., Ishi, Y., Tsuchihashi, K., Takahashi, S., Nakajima, T. E., Hironaka, S., Fukutani, M., Hasegawa, H., Nomura, S., Sato, A., Einaga, Y., Kuwata, T., Saya, H. & Ohtsu, A. Dose-escalation study for the targeting of CD44v(+) cancer 242 stem cells by sulfasalazine in patients with advanced gastric cancer (EPOC1205). Gastric Cancer 20, 341-349 (2017).
- Spracklen, C. N., Chen, P., Kim, Y. J., Wang, X., Cai, H., Li, S., Long, J., Wu, Y., Wang, Y. X., Takeuchi, F., Wu, J. Y., Jung, K. J., Hu, C., Akiyama, K., Zhang, Y., Moon, S., Johnson, T. A., Li, 243 H., Dorajoo, R., He, M., Cannon, M. E., Roman, T. S., Salfati, E., Lin, K. H., Guo, X., Sheu, W. H. H., Dobglo, R. He, M., Canhon, M. L., Konnan, F. S., Janka, E., Ehr, K. Hu, Guo, A., Shet, W. H. H., Absher, D., Adair, L. S., Assimes, T. L., Aung, T., Cai, Q., Chang, L. C., Chen, C. H., Chien, L. H., Chuang, L. M., Chuang, S. C., Du, S., Fan, Q., Fann, C. S. J., Feranil, A. B., Friedlander, Y., Gordon-Larsen, P., Gu, D., Gui, L., Guo, Z., Heng, C. K., Hixson, J., Hou, X., Hsiung, C. A., Hu, Y., Hwang, M. Y., Hwu, C. M., Isono, M., Juang, J. J., Khor, C. C., Kim, Y. K., Koh, W. P., Kubo, M. K., Koh, W. P., Kubo, M., Kang, J. J., Khor, C. C., Kim, Y. K., Koh, W. P., Kubo, M. K., Kubo, K. K., Kuba, K. Kubo, K. Kuba, K. Kub M., Lee, I. T., Lee, S. J., Lee, W. J., Liang, K. W., Lim, B., Lim, S. H., Liu, J., Nabika, T., Pan, W. H., Peng, H., Quertermous, T., Sabanayagam, C., Sandow, K., Shi, J., Sun, L., Tan, P. C., Tan, S. P., Taylor, K. D., Teo, Y. Y., Toh, S. A., Tsunoda, T., van Dam, R. M., Wang, A., Wang, F., Wang, J., Wei, W. B., Xiang, Y. B., Yao, J., Yuan, J. M., Zhang, R., Zhao, W., Chen, Y. I., Rich, S. S., Rotter, J. I., Wang, T. D., Wu, T., Lin, X., Han, B. G., Tanaka, T., Cho, Y. S., Katsuya, T., Jia, W., Jee, S. H.,

Chen, Y. T., Kato, N., Jonas, J. B., Cheng, C. Y., Shu, X. O., He, J., Zheng, W., Wong, T. Y., Huang, W., Kim, B. J., Tai, E. S., Mohlke, K. L. & Sim, X. Association analyses of East Asian individuals and trans-ancestry analyses with European individuals reveal new loci associated with cholesterol and triglyceride levels. Hum Mol Genet 26, 1770–1784 (2017).

- Sudo, T., Okada, Y., Ozaki, K., Urayama, K., Kanai, M., Kobayashi, H., Gokyu, M., Izumi, Y. 244 & Tanaka, T. Association of NOD2 Mutations with Aggressive Periodontitis. J Dent Res 96, 1100–1105 (2017).
- Sugita, J., Asada, Y., Ishida, W., Iwamoto, S., Sudo, K., Suto, H., Matsunaga, T., Fukuda, K., Fukushima, A., Yokoi, N., Ohno, T., Azuma, M., Ebihara, N., Saito, H., Kubo, M., Nakae, S. & 245 Matsuda, A. Contributions of Interleukin-33 and TSLP in a papain-soaked contact lens-induced mouse conjunctival inflammation model. Immun Inflamm Dis 5, 515–525 (2017).
- Sumitomo, S., Nagafuchi, Y., Tsuchida, Y., Tsuchiya, H., Ota, M., Ishigaki, K., Nakachi, S., Kato, 246 R., Sakurai, K., Hanata, N., Tateishi, S., Kanda, H., Suzuki, A., Kochi, Y., Fujio, K. & Yamamoto, K. A gene module associated with dysregulated TCR signaling pathways in CD4(+) T cell subsets in rheumatoid arthritis. J Autoimmun S0896-8411(17)30514-0 (Epub 2017).
- Sunadome, H., Matsumoto, H., Petrova, G., Kanemitsu, Y., Tohda, Y., Horiguchi, T., Kita, H., Kuwabara, K., Tomii, K., Otsuka, K., Fujimura, M., Ohkura, N., Tomita, K., Yokoyama, A., Ohni-247 shi, H., Nakano, Y., Oguma, T., Hozawa, S., Nagasaki, T., Ito, I., Inoue, H., Tajiri, T., Iwata, T., Izuhara, Y., Ono, J., Ohta, S., Hirota, T., Tamari, M., Yokoyama, T., Niimi, A., Izuhara, K. & Mishima, M. IL4Ralpha and ADAM33 as genetic markers in asthma exacerbations and type-2 inflammatory endotype. Clin Exp Allergy 47, 998-1006 (2017).
- Suzuki, H., Mitsuno, K., Shiroguchi, K., Tsugane, M., Okano, T., Dohi, T. & Tsuji, T. One-step 248 micromolding of complex 3D microchambers for single-cell analysis. Lab Chip 17, 647-652 (2017)
- 249 Suzuki, K., Yoshida, K., Nakanishi, Y. & Fukuda, S. An equation-free method reveals the ecological interaction networks within complex microbial ecosystems. Methods Ecol Evol 8, 1774-1785 (2017)
- 250 Takagi, S., Naito, M., Kawai, S., Okada, R., Nagata, C., Hosono, S., Nishida, Y., Takashima, N., Suzuki, S., Shimoshikiryo, I., Mikami, H., Uemura, H., Kuriyama, N., Ohnaka, K., Kubo, M., Hamajima, N., Tanaka, H. & Wakai, K. Macronutrient intakes and serum oestrogen, and interaction with polymorphisms in CYP19A1 and HSD17B1 genes: a cross-sectional study in postmenopausal Japanese women. **Br J Nutr** 118, 463–472 (2017).
- Takahashi, H., Shida, D., Tagawa, K., Iwamoto, R., Arita, M., Arai, H. & Suzuki, T. Therapeutic effects of flurbiprofen axetil on mesenteric traction syndrome: randomized clinical trial. BMC Sura 17, 90 (2017).
- Takahashi, Y., Kou, I., Ogura, Y., Miyake, A., Takeda, K., Nakajima, M., Minami, S., Kawakami 252 N., Uno, K., Ito, M., Yonezawa, I., Kaito, T., Yanagida, H., Watanabe, K., Taneichi, H., Harimaya, K., Taniguchi, Y., Kotani, T., Tsuji, T., Suzuki, T., Sudo, H., Fujita, N., Yagi, M., Chiba, K., Kono, K., Sakuma, T., Akazawa, T., Nishida, K., Kakutani, K., Shigematsu, H., Iida, T., Demura, S., Hosogane, N., Okada, E., Nakamura, M., Matsumoto, M. & Ikegawa, S. A Replication Study for the Association of rs11190870 With Curve Severity in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis in Japanese. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 10.1097/BRS.000000000002413 (Epub 2017).
- Takayasu, L., Suda, W., Takanashi, K., Iioka, E., Kurokawa, R., Shindo, C., Hattori, Y., Yamashi-253 ta, N., Nishijima, S., Oshima, K. & Hattori, M. Circadian oscillations of microbial and functional composition in the human salivary microbiome. DNA Res 24, 261-270 (2017).
- Takayasu, L., Suda, W., Watanabe, E., Fukuda, S., Takanashi, K., Ohno, H., Takayasu, M., Takayasu, H. & Hattori, M. A 3-dimensional mathematical model of microbial proliferation 254 that generates the characteristic cumulative relative abundance distributions in gut microbiomes. PLoS One 12, e0180863 (2017).
- Takeda, K., Kou, I., Kawakami, N., Iida, A., Nakajima, M., Ogura, Y., Imagawa, E., Miyake, N., Matsumoto, N., Yasuhiko, Y., Sudo, H., Kotani, T., Nakamura, M., Matsumoto, M., Watanabe, 255 K. & Ikegawa, S. Compound Heterozygosity for Null Mutations and a Common Hypomorphic Risk Haplotype in TBX6 Causes Congenital Scoliosis. Hum Mutat 38, 317–323 (2017)
- Takeda, K., Kou, I., Kawakami, N., Yasuhiko, Y., Ogura, Y., Imagawa, E., Miyake, N., Matsu-moto, N., Sudo, H., Kotani, T., Nakamura, M., Matsumoto, M., Watanabe, K. & Ikegawa, S. 256 Response to Lefebvre et al. Clin Genet 92, 563-564 (2017).
- 257 Takeuchi, A. & Saito, T. CD4 CTL, a Cytotoxic Subset of CD4(+) T Cells, Their Differentiation and Function. Front Immunol 8, 194 (2017).
- Takeuchi, T., Harigai, M., Tanaka, Y., Yamanaka, H., Ishiguro, N., Yamamoto, K., Miyasaka, 258 N., Koike, T., Ukyo, Y., Ishii, Y., Yoshinari, T. & Baker, D. Clinical efficacy, radiographic, and safety results of golimumab monotherapy in Japanese patients with active rheumatoid arthritis despite prior therapy with disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: Final results of the GO-MONO trial through week 120. *Mod Rheumatol* 1–10 (2017).
- 259 Takeuchi, T., Ohno, H. & Satoh-Takayama, N. Understanding the immune signature finger-
- print of peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis. *Kidney Int* 92, 16–18 (2017). Takigawa, H., Kitadai, Y., Shinagawa, K., Yuge, R., Higashi, Y., Tanaka, S., Yasui, W. & Chay-ama, K. Mesenchymal Stem Cells Induce Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition in Colon Can-260 cer Cells through Direct Cell-to-Cell Contact. Neoplasia 19, 429-438 (2017).
- Tamakoshi, A., Nakamura, K., Ukawa, S., Okada, E., Hirata, M., Nagai, A., Matsuda, K., Kamatani, Y., Muto, K., Kiyohara, Y., Yamagata, Z., Ninomiya, T., Kubo, M. & Nakamura, Y. 261 Characteristics and prognosis of Japanese colorectal cancer patients: The BioBank Japan Project. **J Epidemiol** 27, S36–S42 (2017).
- Tamakoshi, A., Nakamura, K., Ukawa, S., Okada, E., Hirata, M., Nagai, A., Matsuda, K., Kamatani, Y., Muto, K., Kiyohara, Y., Yamagata, Z., Ninomiya, T., Kubo, M. & Nakamura, Y. Er-ratum to "Characteristics and prognosis of Japanese colorectal cancer patients: The BioBank 262 Japan Project" [J Epidemiol 27(35) (2017) S36–S42]. **J Epidemiol** 27, 398–399 (2017).
- Tamari, M. & Hirota, T. Genome-Wide Association Study for Atopic Dermatitis in the Japanese Population. In **Evolution of Atopic Dermatitis in the 21st Century**, Ichiro Katayama, Hi-263 royuki Murota, & Takahiro Satoh, eds. (Springer, 2017), pp. 45-58.
- Tanaka, M., Endo, S., Kotake, F., Al-Saari, N., Amin, A., Feng, G., Mino, S., Doi, H., Ogura, Y., 264 Hayashi, T., Suda, W., Hattori, M., Yumoto, I., Sawabe, T. & Araki, T. Vibrio aphrogenes sp. nov., in the Rumoiensis clade isolated from a seaweed. *PLoS One* 12, e0180053 (2017).
- Tanaka, T., Nakajima-Takagi, Y., Aoyama, K., Tara, S., Oshima, M., Saraya, A., Koide, S., Si, S., 265 Manabe, I., Sanada, M., Nakayama, M., Masuko, M., Sone, H., Koseki, H. & Iwama, A. Internal deletion of BCOR reveals a tumor suppressor function for BCOR in T lymphocyte malignancies. *J Exp Med* 214, 2901–2913 (2017).
- Tanikawa, C., Zhang, Y. Z., Yamamoto, R., Tsuda, Y., Tanaka, M., Funauchi, Y., Mori, J., Imoto, S., Yamaguchi, R., Nakamura, Y., Miyano, S., Nakagawa, H. & Matsuda, K. The Transcriptional Landscape of p53 Signalling Pathway. *EBioMedicine* 20, 109–119 (2017). Tenno, M., Shiroguchi, K., Muroi, S., Kawakami, E., Koseki, K., Kryukov, K., Imanishi, T., Gin-
- 267 houx, F. & Taniuchi, I. Cbfbeta2 deficiency preserves Langerhans cell precursors by lack of
- selective TGFbeta receptor signaling. **J Exp Med** 214, 2933–2946 (2017). Teraishi, M., Takaishi, M., Nakajima, K., Ikeda, M., Higashi, Y., Shimoda, S., Asada, Y., Hijikata, A., Ohara, O., Hiraki, Y., Mizuno, S., Fukada, T., Furukawa, T., Wakamatsu, N. & Sano, S. Critical 268 involvement of ZEB2 in collagen fibrillogenesis: the molecular similarity between Mowat-Wilson syndrome and Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. Sci Rep 7, 46565 (2017).

- Terao, C., Okada, Y., Ikari, K., Kochi, Y., Suzuki, A., Ohmura, K., Matsuo, K., Taniguchi, A., Kubo, 269 M., Raychaudhuri, S., Yamamoto, K., Yamanaka, H., Kamatani, Y., Mimori, T. & Matsuda, F Genetic landscape of interactive effects of HLA-DRB1 alleles on susceptibility to ACPA(+) rheumatoid arthritis and ACPA levels in Japanese population. *J Med Genet* 54, 853–858 (2017). Tomitsuka, E., Igai, K., Tadokoro, K., Morita, A., Baba, J., Suda, W., Greenhill, A. R., Horwood,
- 270 P. F., Soli, K. W., Siba, P. M., Odani, S., Natsuhara, K., Morita, H. & Umezaki, M. Profiling of faecal water and urine metabolites among Papua New Guinea highlanders believed to be
- adapted to low protein intake. **Metabolomics** 13, s11306–017–1243–6 (2017). Tornack, J., Reece, S. T., Bauer, W. M., Vogelzang, A., Bandermann, S., Zedler, U., Stingl, G., Kaufmann, S. H. & Melchers, F. Human and Mouse Hematopoietic Stem Cells Are a Depot for 271 Dormant Mycobacterium tuberculosis. PLoS One 12, e0169119 (2017).
- Torrente, L., Sanchez, C., Moreno, R., Chowdhry, S., Cabello, P., Isono, K., Koseki, H., Honda, T., Hayes, J. D., Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. & de la Vega, L. Crosstalk between NRF2 and HIPK2 272 shapes cytoprotective responses. Oncogene 36, 6204–6212 (2017).
- Toyo-Oka, L., Mahasirimongkol, S., Yanai, H., Mushiroda, T., Wattanapokayakit, S., Wichuk-chinda, N., Yamada, N., Smittipat, N., Juthayothin, T., Palittapongarnpim, P., Nedsuwan, S., 273 Kantipong, P., Takahashi, A., Kubo, M., Sawanpanyalert, P. & Tokunaga, K. Strain-based HLA association analysis identified HLA-DRB1\*09:01 associated with modern strain tuberculosis. HLA 90, 149-156 (2017).
- Tsermpini, E. E., Zhang, Y., Niola, P., Chillotti, C., Ardau, R., Bocchetta, A., Patrinos, G. P., 274 Del Zompo, M., Severino, G., Lee, M. T. & Squassina, A. Pharmacogenetics of lithium effects on glomerular function in bipolar disorder patients under chronic lithium treatment: a pilot
- study. *Neurosci Lett* 638, 1–4 (2017). Tsuchida, Y., Sumitomo, S., Ishigaki, K., Suzuki, A., Kochi, Y., Tsuchiya, H., Ota, M., Komai, T., Inoue, M., Morita, K., Okamura, T., Yamamoto, K. & Fujio, K. TGF-beta3 Inhibits Antibody 275 Production by Human B Cells. PLoS One 12, e0169646 (2017).
- Tsuda, Y., Tanikawa, C., Miyamoto, T., Hirata, M., Yodsurang, V., Zhang, Y. Z., Imoto, S., Yama-guchi, R., Miyano, S., Takayanagi, H., Kawano, H., Nakagawa, H., Tanaka, S. & Matsuda, K. 276 Identification of a p53 target, CD137L, that mediates growth suppression and immune response of osteosarcoma cells. Sci Rep 7, 10739 (2017).
- Tsugawa, H., Ikeda, K. & Arita, M. The importance of bioinformatics for connecting data-driv-277 en lipidomics and biological insights. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1862, 762–765 (2017).
- Tsugawa, H., Ikeda, K., Tanaka, W., Senoo, Y. & Arita, M. Comprehensive identification of 278 sphingolipid species by in silico retention time and tandem mass spectral library. J Cheminform 9, 19 (2017).
- Tsuge, M., Uchida, T., Hiraga, N., Kan, H., Makokha, G. N., Abe-Chayama, H., Miki, D., Ima-279 mura, M., Ochi, H., Hayes, C. N., Shimozono, R., Iwamura, T., Narumi, H., Suzuki, T., Kainoh, M., Taniguchi, T. & Chayama, K. Development of a Novel Site-Specific Pegylated Interferon Beta for Antiviral Therapy of Chronic Hepatitis B Virus. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 61, e00183-17 (2017).
- Uchida, T., Imamura, M., Hayes, C. N., Hiraga, N., Kan, H., Tsuge, M., Abe-Chayama, H., Zhang, Y., Makokha, G. N., Aikata, H., Miki, D., Ochi, H., Ishida, Y., Tateno, C. & Chayama, 280 K. Persistent Loss of Hepatitis B Virus Markers in Serum without Cellular Immunity by Combination of Peginterferon and Entecavir Therapy in Humanized Mice. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 61, e00725-17 (2017).
- 281 Uchida, T., Imamura, M., Kan, H., Hiraga, N., Hayes, C. N., Tsuge, M., Abe-Chayama, H., Ai-kata, H., Makokha, G. N., Miki, D., Ochi, H., Ishida, Y., Tateno, C. & Chayama, K. Usefulness of humanized cDNA-uPA/SCID mice for the study of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus virology. **J Gen Virol** 98, 1040–1047 (2017).
- Ueki, M., Maeda, M., Sugiyama, T., Kohmoto, R., Kojima, S., Ikeda, T., Harada, A., Kanemura, Y., Miya, F., Tsunoda, T. & Yamasaki, M. A Case of Dandy-Walker Malformation Complicat-282 ed by Axenfeld-Rieger Syndrome. Intl J Opthalmol Eye Sci IJOES-2332-290X-S1-02-001 (2017).
- Ukawa, S., Nakamura, K., Okada, E., Hirata, M., Nagai, A., Yamagata, Z., Muto, K., Ma-tsuda, K., Ninomiya, T., Kiyohara, Y., Kamatani, Y., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y. & Tamakoshi, A. 283 Clinical and histopathological characteristics of patients with prostate cancer in the BioBank Japan project. **J Epidemiol** 27, S65–S70 (2017).
- Ukawa, S., Okada, E., Nakamura, K., Hirata, M., Nagai, A., Matsuda, K., Yamagata, Z., Kamatani, Y., Ninomiya, T., Kiyohara, Y., Muto, K., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y. & Tamakoshi, A. 284 Characteristics of patients with liver cancer in the BioBank Japan project. J Epidemiol 27, S43-S48 (2017).
- 285 Umevama, T. & Ito, T. DMS-Seg for In Vivo Genome-wide Mapping of Protein-DNA Interactions and Nucleosome Centers. **Cell Rep** 21, 289–300 (2017).
- Urushiyama, D., Suda, W., Ohnishi, E., Araki, R., Kiyoshima, C., Kurakazu, M., Sanui, A., Yotsumoto, F., Murata, M., Nabeshima, K., Yasunaga, S., Saito, S., Nomiyama, M., 286 Hattori, M., Miyamoto, S. & Hata, K. Microbiome profile of the amniotic fluid as a predictive biomarker of perinatal outcome. Sci Rep 7, 12171 (2017).
- Van Renne, N., Roca Suarez, A. A., Duong, F. H. T., Gondeau, C., Calabrese, D., Fontaine, N., 287 Ababsa, A., Bandiera, S., Croonenborghs, T., Pochet, N., De Blasi, V., Pessaux, P., Piardi, T., Sommacale, D., Ono, A., Chayama, K., Fujita, M., Nakagawa, H., Hoshida, Y., Zeisel, M. B., Heim, M. H., Baumert, T. F. & Lupberger, J. miR-135a-5p-mediated downregulation of protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor delta is a candidate driver of HCV-associated hepatocarcino
- genesis. **Gut** gutjnl-2016–312270 (Epub 2017). van Rooij, F. J. A., Qayyum, R., Smith, A. V., Zhou, Y., Trompet, S., Tanaka, T., Keller, M. F., Chang, L. C., Schmidt, H., Yang, M. L., Chen, M. H., Hayes, J., Johnson, A. D., Yanek, L. R., 288 Mueller, C., Lange, L., Floyd, J. S., Ghanbari, M., Zonderman, A. B., Jukema, J. W., Hofman, A., van Duijn, C. M., Desch, K. C., Saba, Y., Ozel, A. B., Snively, B. M., Wu, J. Y., Schmidt, R., Fornage, M., Klein, R. J., Fox, C. S., Matsuda, K., Kamatani, N., Wild, P. S., Stott, D. J., Ford, I., Slagboom, P. E., Yang, J., Chu, A. Y., Lambert, A. J., Uitterlinden, A. G., Franco, O. H., Hofer, E., Ginsburg, D., Hu, B., Keating, B., Schick, U. M., Brody, J. A., Li, J. Z., Chen, Z., Zeller, T. Guralnik, J. M., Chasman, D. I., Peters, L. L., Kubo, M., Becker, D. M., Li, J., Eiriksdottir, G., Rotter, J. I., Levy, D., Grossmann, V., Patel, K. V., Chen, C. H., Ridker, P. M., Tang, H., Launer, L. J., Rice, K. M., Li-Gao, R., Ferrucci, L., Evans, M. K., Choudhuri, A., Trompouki, E., Abraham, B. J., Yang, S., Takahashi, A., Kamatani, Y., Kooperberg, C., Harris, T. B., Jee, S. H., Coresh, J., Tsai, F. J., Longo, D. L., Chen, Y. T., Felix, J. F., Yang, Q., Psaty, B. M., Boerwinkle, E., Becker, L. C., Mook-Kanamori, D. O., Wilson, J. G., Gudnason, V., O'Donnell, C. J., Dehghan, A., Cupples, L. A., Nalls, M. A., Morris, A. P., Okada, Y., Reiner, A. P., Zon, L. I. & Ganesh, S. K. Genome-wide Trans-ethnic Meta-analysis Identifies Seven Genetic Loci Influencing Erythrocyte Traits and a Role for RBPMS in Erythropoiesis. **Am J Hum Genet** 100, 51–63 (2017).
- Verstichel, G., Vermijlen, D., Martens, L., Goetgeluk, G., Brouwer, M., Thiault, N., Van Cae-neghem, Y., De Munter, S., Weening, K., Bonte, S., Leclercq, G., Taghon, T., Kerre, T., Saeys, 289 Y., Van Dorpe, J., Cheroutre, H. & Vandekerckhove, B. The checkpoint for agonist selection precedes conventional selection in human thymus. **Sci Immunol** 2, eaah4232 (2017). Vodopiutz, J., Mizumoto, S., Lausch, E., Rossi, A., Unger, S., Janocha, N., Costantini, R., Seidl,
- 290 R., Greber-Platzer, S., Yamada, S., Muller, T., Jilma, B., Ganger, R., Superti-Furga, A., Ikegawa, S., Sugahara, K. & Janecke, A. R. Chondroitin Sulfate N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase-1

(CSGaINAcT-1) Deficiency Results in a Mild Skeletal Dysplasia and Joint Laxity. Hum Mutat 38, 34-38 (2017).

- Wagner, M., Moro, K. & Koyasu, S. Plastic Heterogeneity of Innate Lymphoid Cells in 291 Cancer. Trends Cancer 3, 326-335 (2017).
- Wakamatsu, T. H., Ueta, M., Tokunaga, K., Okada, Y., Loureiro, R. R., Costa, K. A., Sallum, J. M. 292 F., Milhomens, J. A., Inoue, C., Sotozono, C., Gomes, J. A. P. & Kinoshita, S. Human Leukocyte Antigen Class I Genes Associated With Stevens-Johnson Syndrome and Severe Ocular Complications Following Use of Cold Medicine in a Brazilian Population. JAMA Ophthalmol 135, . 355–360 (2017).
- Wang, L., Heckman, M. G., Aasly, J. O., Annesi, G., Bozi, M., Chung, S. J., Clarke, C., Crosiers, 293 D., Eckstein, G., Garraux, G., Hadjigeorgiou, G. M., Hattori, N., Jeon, B., Kim, Y. J., Kubo, M., Lesage, S., Lin, J. J., Lynch, T., Lichtner, P., Mellick, G. D., Mok, V., Morrison, K. E., Quattrone, A., Satake, W., Silburn, P. A., Stefanis, L., Stockton, J. D., Tan, E. K., Toda, T., Brice, A., Van Broeckhoven, C., Uitti, R. J., Wirdefeldt, K., Wszolek, Z., Xiromerisiou, G., Maraganore, D. M., Gasser, T., Kruger, R., Farrer, M. J., Ross, O. A. & Sharma, M. Evaluation of the interaction be-tween LRRK2 and PARK16 loci in determining risk of Parkinson's disease: analysis of a large Wang, Y., Kuang, Z., Yu, X., Ruhn, K. A., Kubo, M. & Hooper, L. V. The intestinal microbiota
- 294 regulates body composition through NFIL3 and the circadian clock. Science 357, 912-916 (2017).
- Wang, Z., Horemuzova, E., Iida, A., Guo, L., Liu, Y., Matsumoto, N., Nishimura, G., Nordgren, 295 A., Miyake, N., Tham, E., Grigelioniene, G. & Ikegawa, S. Axial spondylometaphyseal dysplasia is also caused by NEK1 mutations. J Hum Genet 62, 503-506 (2017).
- 296 Watanabe, H., Watanabe, Y., Tashiro, Y., Mushiroda, T., Ozeki, T., Hashizume, H., Sueki, H., Yamamoto, T., Utsunomiya-Tate, N., Gouda, H. & Kusakabe, Y. A docking model of dapsone bound to HLA-B\*13:01 explains the risk of dapsone hypersensitivity syndrome. J Dermatol Sci 88, 320-329 (2017).
- Wheeler, H. E., Gamazon, E. R., Frisina, R. D., Perez-Cervantes, C., El Charif, O., Mapes, B., Fos-sa, S. D., Feldman, D. R., Hamilton, R. J., Vaughn, D. J., Beard, C. J., Fung, C., Kollmannsberger, 297 C., Kim, J., Mushiroda, T., Kubo, M., Ardeshir-Rouhani-Fard, S., Einhorn, L. H., Cox, N. J., Dolan, M. E. & Travis, L. B. Variants in WFS1 and Other Mendelian Deafness Genes Are Associated with Cisplatin-Associated Ototoxicity. Clin Cancer Res 23, 3325-3333 (2017).
- Wing, J. B., Kitagawa, Y., Locci, M., Hume, H., Tay, C., Morita, T., Kidani, Y., Matsuda, K., Inoue, T., Kurosaki, T., Crotty, S., Coban, C., Ohkura, N. & Sakaguchi, S. A distinct subpopulation of CD25(-) T-follicular regulatory cells localizes in the germinal centers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114, E6400-E6409 (2017).
- Xiao, X., Wang, L., Wang, C., Yuan, T. F., Zhou, D., Zheng, F., Li, L., Grigoroiu-Serbanescu, M., ikeda, M., Iwata, N., Takahashi, A., Kamatani, Y., Kubo, M., Preisig, M., Kutalik, Z., Castelao, E., Pistis, G., Amin, N., van Duijn, C. M., Forstner, A. J., Strohmaier, J., Hecker, J., Schulze, T. G., Muller-Myhsok, B., Reif, A., Mitchell, P. B., Martin, N. G., Schofield, P. R., Cichon, S., Nothen, M. M., Chang, H., Luo, X. J., Fang, Y., Yao, Y. G., Zhang, C., Rietschel, M. & Li, M. Common variants at 2q11.2, 8q21.3, and 11q13.2 are associated with major mood disorders. Transl Psychiatry 7, 1273 (2017).
  Yachie, N. & Natsume, T. Robotic crowd biology with Maholo LabDroids. *Nat Biotechnol* 35,
- 300 310-312 (2017).
- 301 Yamada, D., Iyoda, T., Shimizu, K., Sato, Y., Koseki, H. & Fujii, S.-i. Efficient Production of Functional Human NKT Cells from Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells - Reprogramming of Human Va24+iNKT Cells. *Bio-Protocol* 7, e2277 (2017).
- Yamazaki, T., Ichihara, K., Suzuki, R., Oshima, K., Miyamura, S., Kuwano, K., Toyoda, A., Su-302 zuki, Y., Sugano, S., Hattori, M. & Kawano, S. Genomic structure and evolution of the mating type locus in the green seaweed Ulva partita. *Sci Rep* 7, 11679 (2017).
- Yanagihara, S., Kanaya, T., Fukuda, S., Nakato, G., Hanazato, M., Wu, X. R., Yamamoto, N. & 303 Ohno, H. Uromodulin-SIpA binding dictates Lactobacillus acidophilus uptake by intestinal epithelial M cells. Int Immunol 29, 357–363 (2017). Yokomichi, H., Nagai, A., Hirata, M., Kiyohara, Y., Muto, K., Ninomiya, T., Matsuda, K.,
- 304 Kamatani, Y., Tamakoshi, A., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y. & Yamagata, Z. Serum glucose, cholesterol and blood pressure levels in Japanese type 1 and 2 diabetic patients: BioBank Japan. J Epidemiol 27, S92-S97 (2017).
- Yokomichi, H., Nagai, A., Hirata, M., Kiyohara, Y., Muto, K., Ninomiya, T., Matsuda, K., 305 Kamatani, Y., Tamakoshi, A., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y. & Yamagata, Z. Survival of macrovas cular disease, chronic kidney disease, chronic respiratory disease, cancer and smoking in patients with type 2 diabetes: BioBank Japan cohort. J Epidemiol 27, S98-S106 (2017).
- Yokomichi, H., Nagai, A., Hirata, M., Tamakoshi, A., Kiyohara, Y., Kamatani, Y., Muto, K., Ni-306 nomiya, T., Matsuda, K., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y. & Yamagata, Z. Statin use and all-cause and cancer mortality: BioBank Japan cohort. J Epidemiol 27, S84-S91 (2017).
- 307 Yokomichi, H., Noda, H., Nagai, A., Hirata, M., Tamakoshi, A., Kamatani, Y., Kiyohara, Y., Matsuda, K., Muto, K., Ninomiya, T., Kubo, M., Nakamura, Y. & Yamagata, Z. Cholesterol levels of Japanese dyslipidaemic patients with various comorbidities: BioBank Japan. J Epidemiol 27, \$77-\$83 (2017).
- 308 Yoshihama, T., Hirasawa, A., Nomura, H., Akahane, T., Nanki, Y., Yamagami, W., Kataoka, F., Tominaga, E., Susumu, N., Mushiroda, T. & Aoki, D. UGT1A1 polymorphism as a prognostic indicator of stage I ovarian clear cell carcinoma patients treated with irinotecan. Jpn J Clin Oncol 47, 170-174 (2017).
- Yotsumoto, S., Muroi, Y., Chiba, T., Ohmura, R., Yoneyama, M., Magarisawa, M., Dodo, K., Te-309 rayama, N., Sodeoka, M., Aoyagi, R., Arita, M., Arakawa, S., Shimizu, S. & Tanaka, M. Hyperoxidation of ether-linked phospholipids accelerates neutrophil extracellular trap formation. Sci Rep 7, 16026 (2017).
- Yugi, K. & Kuroda, S. Metabolism-Centric Trans-Omics. Cell Syst 4, 19-20 (2017). 310
- Zaman, R., Chowdhury, S. Y., Rashid, M. A., Sharma, A., Dehzangi, A. & Shatabda, S. 311 HMMBinder: DNA-Binding Protein Prediction Using HMM Profile Based Features. Biomed Res Int 2017, 4590609 (2017).
- Zhao, W., Rasheed, A., Tikkanen, E., Lee, J. J., Butterworth, A. S., Howson, J. M. M., Assimes, 312 T. L., Chowdhury, R., Orho-Melander, M., Damrauer, S., Small, A., Asma, S., Imamura, M., Yamauch, T., Chambers, J. C., Chen, P., Sapkota, B. R., Shah, N., Jabeen, S., Surendran, P., Lu, Y., Zhang, W., Imran, A., Abbas, S., Majeed, F., Trindade, K., Qamar, N., Mallick, N. H., Yaqoob, Z., Saghir, T., Rizvi, S. N. H., Memon, A., Rasheed, S. Z., Memon, F. U., Mehmood, K., Ahmed, N., Qureshi, I. H., Tanveer Us, S., Iqbal, W., Malik, U., Mehra, N., Kuo, J. Z., Sheu, W. H., Guo, X., Hsiung, C. A., Juang, J. J., Taylor, K. D., Hung, Y. J., Lee, W. J., Quertermous, T., Lee, I. T., Hsu, C. C., Bottinger, E. P., Ralhan, S., Teo, Y. Y., Wang, T. D., Alam, D. S., Di Angelantonio, E., Epstein, S., Nielsen, S. F., Nordestgaard, B. G., Tybjaerg-Hansen, A., Young, R., Benn, M., Frikke-Schmidt, R., Kamstrup, P. R., Jukema, J. W., Sattar, N., Smit, R., Chung, R. H., Liang, K. W., Anand, S., Sanghera, D. K., Ripatti, S., Loos, R. J. F., Kooner, J. S., Tai, E. S., Rotter, J. I., Chen, Y. I., Frossard, P., Maeda, S., Kadowaki, T., Reilly, M., Pare, G., Melander, O., Salomaa, V., Rader, D. J., Danesh, J., Voight, B. F. & Saleheen, D. Identification of new susceptibility loci for type 2 diabetes and shared etiological pathways with coronary heart disease. Nat Genet 49, 1450-1457 (2017).

# **Budget, personnel and patents**

#### IMS Budget FY2017

| IMS Budget FY2017                 | JPY Million |
|-----------------------------------|-------------|
| Government funding for operations | 2,394       |
| Commissioned research             | 1,036       |
| External competitive funding      | 839         |
| Total                             | 4,269       |

#### Patents

There were 31 patents filed from January to December in 2017.

| Patents | Total | International<br>patents (PCT) | Domestic patents<br>(Japan) |
|---------|-------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| 2017    | 31    | 20                             | 11                          |

#### Personnel FY2017

| Category                          | Number |
|-----------------------------------|--------|
| Director                          | 1      |
| Deputy Director                   | 3      |
| Senior Advisor                    | 1      |
| Group Director                    | 10     |
| Team Leader                       | 23     |
| Coordinator                       | 2      |
| Partnership-Promotion Coordinator | 2      |
| Deputy Team Leader                | 7      |
| Senior Scientist                  | 22     |
| Senior Research Scientist         | 1      |
| Research Scientist                | 38     |
| Postdoctoral Researcher           | 16     |
| Special Postdoctoral Researcher   | 6      |
| Foreign Postdoctoral Researcher   | 2      |
| Research Fellow                   | 5      |
| Research Associate                | 9      |
| Senior Technical Scientist        | 3      |
| Technical Scientist               | 9      |
| Technical Staff I                 | 51     |
| Technical Staff II                | 62     |
| International Program Associate   | 1      |
| Junior Research Associate         | 26     |
| Intern                            | 1      |
| Student Trainee                   | 99     |
| Assistant                         | 26     |
| Part-time Staff                   | 28     |
| Senior Visiting Scientist         | 11     |
| Visiting Scientist                | 190    |
| Visiting Technical Scientist      | 5      |
| Visiting Researcher               | 1      |
| Temporary Staffing                | 13     |
| Research Consultant               | 4      |
| Consultant                        | 1      |
| Total                             | 679    |

### **Access to RIKEN Yokohama Campus**



#### **From the Airport**

#### **From Haneda Airport**

#### Route 1

Take the Keikyu Railways Airport Express\* (blue kanji sign) for Yokohama and get off at Keikyu Tsurumi Station (27–29 minutes). Airport Express trains run every 10–15 minutes between 9:30 a.m. and 9:30 p.m. Next, follow the Local Access directions above to get to RIKEN Yokohama.

#### Route 2

Take any train marked with a green (express), red or dark grey kanji sign to Keikyu Kamata Station. Transfer to the Keikyu Main Line and take a local train\* toward Yokohama until Keikyu Tsurumi Station\* (12 minutes).

\*Only Airport Express (blue kanji sign) and local trains (dark grey kanji sign) stop at Keikyu Tsurumi Station. Note that Keikyu Tsurumi Station and JR Tsurumi Station are two different railway stations and are separated by a bus rotary (the stations are about 150 meters apart).

#### **From Narita Airport**

From Narita Airport Station take the JR Sobu Line (Rapid Express), Airport Limousine Bus or JR Narita Express to JR Shinagawa Station. (JR Sobu Line is the most inexpensive option and takes about 1 hour and 15 minutes). From JR Shinagawa Station take the JR Keihin Tohoku Line (Yokohama direction) to JR Tsurumi Station (18 minutes). Next, follow the Local Access directions above to get to RIKEN Yokohama.

\* A reserved seat express that requires payment of a surcharge in addition to train fare.

Searchable train timetables in English are available at http://www.hyperdia.com/en/

#### **Local Access**

#### By Bus

Take the #08 bus from Platform 8 at the East Exit of Tsurumi Station (also accessible from the West Exit of Keikyu Tsurumi Station) and get off at the RIKEN Shidai Daigakuin Mae bus stop. The institute is across the street. All buses from this platform are bound for Fureyu.

Buses depart Tsurumi every 5–15 minutes. It takes about 15 minutes to arrive at RIKEN Yokohama. The fare is 220 yen.

#### **By Train**

A 15-minute walk from JR Tsurumi-Ono Station (JR Tsurumi Line), which is directly accessible by transfer from JR Tsurumi Station.

rains run about every 10 minutes during morning and evening rush hour, but less frequently at other times.

Searchable train timetables in English are available at http://www.hyperdia.com/en/

#### By Taxi

Use the taxi stand at the East Exit of JR Tsurumi Station or the West Exit of Keikyu Tsurumi Station. The trip takes about 10 minutes and costs around 1,200 yen.



#### **RIKEN Center for Integrative Medical Sciences**

http://www.ims.riken.jp/english/

RIKEN Yokohama Campus 1-7-22 Suehiro-cho, Tsurumi-ku, Yokohama City, Kanagawa, 230-0045, Japan

Tel : 045-503-9111 Fax : 045-503-9113 Email: yokohama@riken.jp

#### RIKEN IMS Annual Report 2017